
 
 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING: THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 
 

            
 
 

 
  
 DATE:  September 21, 2023 
 
 TIME:  5:30 p.m. Closed Session 
   6:30 p.m. Open Session 
 
           LOCATION: IN PERSON 
   Pacific Grove Unified School District Office 
   435 Hillcrest Avenue 
   Pacific Grove, CA 93950 
 

VIRTUAL ZOOM MEETING  
https://pgusd.zoom.us/j/82355756108?pwd=d3JFOHdhUVhCZ0RYYmRLVnBCWGd2Z
z09 
Meeting ID: 823 5575 6108 
Passcode: 539753 
One tap mobile +13017158592,,87820869443#,,,,*585985# US (Washington DC) 
+13092053325,,87820869443#,,,,*585985# US 
Find your local number: https://pgusd.zoom.us/u/kboYomZZvV 
 

The Board of Education welcomes you to its meetings, which are regularly scheduled for the first and third Thursdays of the month. Regular 
Board Meetings shall be adjourned by 10:00 pm, unless extended to a specific time determined by a majority of the Board.  This meeting 
may be extended no more than once and may be adjourned to a later date. Individuals who require special accommodation, including but not 
limited to an American Sign Language interpreter, accessible seating or documentation in accessible formats, should contact the 
Superintendent at least two days before the meeting date. 
 

Any writings or documents that are public records and are provided to a majority of the Governing Board regarding an open session item on 
this agenda will be made available for public inspection in the District Office located at 435 Hillcrest Avenue, Pacific Grove during normal 
business hours. 

 
AGENDA AND ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
I. OPENING BUSINESS 

 
A. Call to Order 

 
B. Land Acknowledgement 

Good evening.  As we begin this meeting, it’s important to pay respect to and acknowledge that we 
are on the traditional land of the Ohlone, Costanoan & Esselen people and additionally pay respect 
to elders both past and present.  

 
C. Roll Call 
 
D. Adoption of Agenda 
 

• Public Comment: 
• Move: _____________ Second: _____________ Vote: _____________ 

 
 
 
 

Mission Statement 
Pacific Grove Unified School District, in partnership with the community and with a focus on equity, will challenge every student by providing a quality 
instructional program in a positive, safe and stimulating environment.  The District will meet the diverse needs of all students by ensuring exceptional 
learning opportunities to acquire and apply the knowledge and skills that develop the insight and character necessary for a productive and rewarding 
life. 
 Trustees 

Carolyn Swanson, President 
Jennifer McNary, Clerk 

Dr. Elliott Hazen 
Laura Ottmar 

Brian Swanson 
Dayci Dishny/Dario Dimaggio, Student Representatives 

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 1

https://pgusd.zoom.us/j/82355756108?pwd=d3JFOHdhUVhCZ0RYYmRLVnBCWGd2Zz09
https://pgusd.zoom.us/j/82355756108?pwd=d3JFOHdhUVhCZ0RYYmRLVnBCWGd2Zz09
https://pgusd.zoom.us/u/kboYomZZvV


 
 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING: THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 
 

II. CLOSED SESSION 
 

A. Identify Closed Session Topics  
The Board of Education will meet in Closed Session to consider matters appropriate for Closed 
Session in accordance with Education and Government Code. 

 
1. Conference With Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation pursuant to Gov. Code, § 54956.9, subd. 

(d)(1) One Matter – OAH Case No. 2023080556 
 

2. Public Employee Discipline/Dismissal/Release/Complaint (1 case) [Government Code § 54957] 
 

B. Public comment on Closed Session Topics 
 

C. Adjourn to Closed Session  
 
III. RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION  

 
A. Report action taken in Closed Session: 

 
1. Conference With Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation pursuant to Gov. Code, § 54956.9, subd. 

(d)(1) One Matter – OAH Case No. 2023080556 
 

2. Public Employee Discipline/Dismissal/Release/Complaint (1 case) [Government Code § 54957] 
 

B. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
IV. COMMUNICATIONS 

 
A. Written Communication 
 
B. Board Member Comments 
 
C. Interim Superintendent Report 

 
V. INDIVIDUALS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 
 

Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be heard.  The Board will also 
take public comment on each specific action item prior to Board action on each item.  Any individual wishing to comment on a 
specific item on the current agenda are kindly asked to wait till that item is being discussed. The Board will allow a reasonable 
amount of time for public comment on each agenda item not to exceed 3 minutes per speaker and no more than 20 minutes per 
agenda item, pursuant to Board Policy 9323.  Speakers will be called sequentially until there is no speaker coming forward on 
the agenda item or the amount of time allocated for the agenda item has elapsed, whichever comes first.  This meeting of the 
Board of Education is a business meeting of the Board, conducted in public. Please note that the Brown Act limits the Board’s 
ability to respond to public comment. The Board may choose to direct items to the Administration for action or place an item on 
a future agenda. 

 
A. PGUSD Staff Comments (Non-Agenda Items) 

 
B. Community Members (Non-Agenda Items) 

 
VI. RECOGNITION 

 
The Board will recognize Teacher Sally Richmond for receiving the 2023 Yale Educator Award.  

 
 

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 2



 
 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING: THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 
 

VII. CONSENT AGENDA   
 

Items listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and/or may have been discussed at a previous Board 
meeting.  There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote unless a member of the Board requests specific 
items be discussed and/or removed from the Consent Agenda. Each item on the Consent Agenda approved by the Board of 
Trustees shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended. 
 
A.  Minutes of September 7, 2023 Board Meeting                                  7 

Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends 
that the Board review and approve the minutes as presented.   
 

B. Personnel Report                                15 
Recommendation: (Claudia Arellano, Director II of Human Resources) The District Administration 
recommends that the Board review and approve the Personnel Report. 
 

C. Cash Receipts #4                             18 
Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends that 
the Board review and approve the Cash Receipts #4. 
 

D. Revolving Cash Report #2                           20 
Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends the 
Board review and approve the Revolving Cash report #2. 
 

E. Out of County or Overnight Activities                       22 
Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends 
that the Board review and approve the Out of County or Overnight Activities requests. 
 

F. Acceptance of Donations                          30 
Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends 
that the Board review and accept the donations.  

 
G. Warrant Schedule 659                           31 

Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends that 
the Board review and approve the Warrant Schedule 659. 
 

H. Board Policy Updates                       33 
Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends the 
Board review the Board Policy, Administrative Regulation, and Board Bylaw updates recently 
reviewed by the Board Policy Committee on August 28, 2023.   
 

I. Surplus of Facilities Trailer                    303 
Recommendation: (Jon Anderson, Director of Maintenance, Operations and Transportation) The 
District Administration recommends that the Board review and approve the surplus sale of District 
owned trailer to allow for the purchase of a new trailer. 
 

J. Contract with Positive Behavior Supports Corp. for 2023-24          306 
Recommendation: (Yolanda Cork-Anthony, Director of Student Services) The District 
Administration recommends the Board review and approve the amended contract between Pacific 
Grove Unified School District and Positive Behavioral Supports Corp. 

 
• Public Comment: 
• Move: _____________ Second: _____________ Vote: _____________ 

 

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 3



 
 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING: THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 
 

VIII. PUBLIC HEARING I/ ACTION/DISCUSSION ITEM A 
 

I. Public Hearing of Pacific Grove Teachers Association Sunshine List for 2023-24     312 
Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The Administration recommends that the 
Board hold a public hearing for the sunshine topics for the 2023-2024 Pacific Grove Teachers 
Association negotiations. 
 
Open Public Hearing _____________________            Close Public Hearing _________________ 

 
A.   Approval of the Pacific Grove Teachers Association Sunshine List for 2023-24  315 

Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The Administration recommends that the 
Board review and approve the sunshine topics for the 2023-2024 Pacific Grove Teachers Association 
negotiations. 
 
• Public Comment: 
• Move: _____________ Second: _____________ Vote: _____________ 

 
IX.  PUBLIC HEARING II/ ACTION/DISCUSSION ITEM B 
 

II. Public Hearing of Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association 
Negotiations Sunshine Topics – 2023-2024              317 
Recommendation: (Buck Roggeman, Pacific Grove Unified School District Lead Negotiator) The 
District recommends that the Board hold a public hearing for the sunshine topics for 2023-2024 
Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association negotiations.  
 
Open Public Hearing _____________________            Close Public Hearing _________________ 

 
B.   Approval of Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association Negotiations 

Sunshine Topics – 2023-2024  320 
Recommendation: (Buck Roggeman, Pacific Grove Unified School District Lead Negotiator) The 
District recommends that the Board approve the sunshine topics for 2023-2024 Pacific Grove Unified 
School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association negotiations.  
 
• Public Comment: 
• Move: _____________ Second: _____________ Vote: _____________ 

 
X.  ACTION/DISCUSSION continued 

 
C. Resolution #1114 for the Gann Limit for 2023-2024   322 

Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The District Administration recommends 
that the Board review and approve Resolution #1114 for the Gann Limit calculations for 2023-2024. 

 
• Public Comment: 
• Move: _____________ Second: _____________ Roll Call Vote: _____________ 

President Swanson__ Clerk McNary __ Dr. Hazen__ Trustee Ottmar__ Trustee B. Swanson__  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 4



 
 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING: THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 
 

D. Resolution #1115 Recognizing National Hispanic Heritage Month          325 
Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The Administration recommends the Board 
adopt Resolution #1115 recognizing September 15, 2023 through October 15, 2023 as National 
Hispanic Heritage Month. 

 
• Public Comment: 
• Move: _____________ Second: _____________ Roll Call Vote: _____________ 

President Swanson__ Clerk McNary __ Dr. Hazen__ Trustee Ottmar__ Trustee B. Swanson__  
 
E. Board Calendar/Future Meetings    328 

Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The Administration recommends  
that the Board review and possibly modify meeting dates on the attached calendar and determine,  
given information from the Administration, whether additional Board dates or modifications need 
to be established.  

 
• Public Comment: 
• Move: _____________ Second: _____________ Vote: _____________ 

 
XI.  INFORMATION/DISCUSSION 
 

A. Elementary Campus Shade Structures 333 
Recommendation: (Jon Anderson, Director of Maintenance, Operations and Transportation) The 
District Administration recommends that the Board review and discuss the proposed options for 
Shade Structures at Forest Grove Elementary and Robert H. Down Elementary Schools. 
 
• Public Comment: 
• Direction: ______________________________________________________________ 

 
B. Summer School Review 2023 348 

Recommendation: (Buck Roggeman, Director of Curriculum and Special Projects) The District 
Administration recommends the Board review the attached information about Summer School 2023. 

 
• Public Comment: 
• Direction: ______________________________________________________________ 

 
C. Future Agenda Items 354 

Recommendation: (Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent) The Administration recommends  
that the Board review the list of future agenda items and direct Administration to add items to  
the list and/or schedule items for a particular agenda. 

 
• Added April 26, 2023: Sub Committee with the City of Pacific Grove (December 14, 2023) 
• Added April 26, 2023: Board Site Visits/Measure D Walk Abouts (Fall 2023) 
• Added May 4, 2023: Equine Healing Collaborative (October 2023) 
• Added June 1, 2023: Review of the business contracts fingerprinting section (January 2024) 
• Added August 3, 2023: Human Resources Organizational Review Plan (December 2023) 
• Added September 7, 2023: Board Cultural Proficiency Training  

 
• Public Comment: 
• Direction: ______________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 5



 
 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  
BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING: THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2023 
 

XII. ADJOURNMENT  
 
The Board will hold a Special Closed Session Board meeting on Monday, October 2, 2023 
Next regular Board meeting will be held on Thursday, October 5, 2023 

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 6



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION 
Minutes of Regular Meeting of September 7, 2023 – District Office 

I. OPENED BUSINESS

A. Called to Order 6:01 p.m. 

B. Land Acknowledgement
Good evening.  As we begin this meeting, it’s important to pay respect to and acknowledge 
that we are on the traditional land of the Ohlone, Costanoan & Esselen people and 
additionally pay respect to elders both past and present. 

President Swanson announced Trustee Brian Swanson was in attendance via 
teleconference.  

C. Roll Call
 Trustee(s) Present: President Carolyn Swanson (CS) 

Clerk Jennifer McNary (JM) 
Dr. Elliott Hazen (EH) 
Trustee Laura Ottmar (LO) 

Trustee(s) Virtual At Alternate Location: Trustee Brian Swanson (BS) 
Trustee(s) Absent: N/A 

 Administration Present: Interim Superintendent Jorn 
Board Recorder: Mandi Ackerman 

 Student Representative: Dayci Dishny 

D. Adopted Agenda

Changes to the agenda include:

• Consent Item H- Music Lab Equipment at Pacific Grove High School
o Incorrect description on agenda

• Consent J- Contract with Tacos Don Beto
o Revised cover sheet- clerical error, said Don Bento

• Consent L- Contract for Services with Play-Well TEKnologies
o Revised contract- corrected business entity to sole proprietorship

• Consent M- Contract with Chartwell School
o Revised cover sheet and contract- corrected fiscal impact

• Public Hearing/Action Discussion A- Developer Fees
o Developer Fee Study was left out of packet, clerical error

• Revised Board Calendar
o Minor corrections which will be addressed during the Board calendar item

Public Comment: 
None  

MOTION JM/EH to adopt agenda as amended 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 7



 

 

II. CLOSED SESSION   
 

A. Identified Closed Session Topics  
 
1. Conference With Labor Negotiators Regarding PGTA Negotiations for 2023-2024 for the 

purpose of giving direction and updates. [Government Code § 3549.1 (d)] District 
representatives:  Buck Roggeman and Joshua Jorn 
 

2. Conference With Labor Negotiators Regarding CSEA Negotiations for 2023-2024 for the 
purpose of giving direction and updates. [Government Code § 3549.1 (d)]  
District representatives:  Claudia Arellano and Joshua Jorn 
 

3. Conference With Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation (Government Code Section 
54956.9, subd.(d)(4)) One Case – OAH Case No. 2023080556 

 
B. Public comment on Closed Session Topics 
 

None 
 
C. Adjourned to Closed Session  6:06 p.m. 
 

III. RECONVENED IN OPEN SESSION  6:31 p.m. 
 
A. Reported action taken in Closed Session: 
 

1. Negotiations - Collective Bargaining Session planning and preparation with the PGTA 
Conference With Labor Negotiators Regarding PGTA Negotiations for 2023-2024 for the 
purpose of giving direction and updates. [Government Code § 3549.1 (d)] District 
representatives:  Buck Roggeman and Joshua Jorn 

 
No information was received. 
 

2. Conference With Labor Negotiators Regarding CSEA Negotiations for 2023-2024 for the 
purpose of giving direction and updates. [Government Code § 3549.1 (d)] District 
representatives:  Claudia Arellano and Joshua Jorn 

 
No information was received. 
 

3. Conference With Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation (Government Code Section 
54956.9, subd.(d)(4)) One Case – OAH Case No. 2023080556 
 
The Board received information and gave direction to Administration. 
 

B. Pledge of Allegiance lead by Trustee Hazen 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 8



 

 

IV.  COMMUNICATIONS 
 

 A. Written Communication 
 
CS reported the following: 

• Neurodiversity Employment Community Conference 
• Equity grading 
• Approval of Positive Coaching Alliance Contract 
• Pacific Grove High school Mattress Fundraiser 
• New Superintendent 
• Terminated medical coverage 
• Superintendent search 
• Superintendent search updates x 2 
• Concerned Forest Grove Elementary School parent 
• Invite for California Latino School Board Association Conference 
• Saturday Choir Follow Up 
• Thank you for Leadership Associates visit 
• Saturday Choir follow-up  
• Forest Grove transitional kindergarten concerns 
• Beable visit (software program) 
• Superintendent search input 
• Food allergies 
• Public hearing of Resolution #1113 
• Objection to curriculum  

 
EH received an email regarding the amazing work at the middle school and high school, 
noting the sites look great but need more work; added learning loss during COVID should not 
be forgotten. 
 

B. Board Member Comments 
 

JM was grateful for the Back to School nights, found them valuable, heard positive praise.  
 
LO read the book Grading for Equity, proud of the schools for taking a look at how we grade 
students. 
 
CS asked for an update on tree removal and plans for the upcoming storm season. 
 
Student Representative Dishny shared the students are starting to work on class homecoming 
floats.   
 

C. Interim Superintendent Report 
 
Interim Superintendent Jorn updated the Board said the Safe Schools Infrastructure Report is 
being developed by MC Kimball and provided update on completed infrastructure reports; 
the district has completed the standing order for 800 additional doses of Narcan; working 
with Monterey Signs, on signage for each site to help provide direction to visitors to 
campuses, update on new signage, fencing, lighting; PG Fire will be using the Adult School 
for training on September 9. 

 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 9



 

 

V. INDIVIDUALS DESIRING TO ADDRESS THE BOARD   
 
A. PGUSD Staff Comments (Non Agenda Items) 
 

Pacific Grove Middle School Principal Sean Roach shared the Back to School Night was fun; 
launched the Buddy Program, for new and incoming middle school students. 
 
Pacific Grove High School Assistant Principal Larry Haggquist provided an update on the 
MAP Testing (Measures of Academic Progress), recognized Site Tech Jacob Gonsalves new 
hire. 
 
Robert Down Elementary School Principal Sean Keller invited the Board to the upcoming 
Bike Rodeo.  
 

B. Community Members (Non-Agenda Items) 
 

Beth Shammas expressed concerns about signage at the stadium, and rules being broken. 
 
Erica Chavez asked the Board to consider waving the fee for the WAVE program, noting it is 
a valuable program for youth. 
 

VI. INFORMATION/DISCUSSION 
 

A.   Pacific Grove Unified School District Cultural Proficiency Update 
 
Director of Curriculum and Special Projects Buck Roggeman updated the Board on the 
Cultural Proficiency work in the District which focuses on valuing our diverse cultures and 
ensuring access for all; defined terms ‘Culturla Proficiency’ and ‘Equity’ and guidelines and 
goals set by District and sites; noted the areas of focus which include education, ongoing 
evaluation, incident response and communication.   
 
Adult Education Principal Barbara Martinez, Robert Down Elementary School Principal Sean 
Keller, Forest Grove Elementary School Principal Abbie Arbrun, Pacific Grove Middle 
School Principal Sean Roach and Pacific Grove High School Principal Lito Garcia provided 
areas of focus for the school sites and desired outcomes.  
 
The Board discussed measurable outcomes and goals, directed Administration to set a later 
date for Board Cultural Proficiency training, establish a Cultural Proficiency implementation 
plan, and seek Cultural Proficiency student involvement.  
 
Public Comment: 
Parent Robin Pelc appreciated the informative presentation, noted as a parent and educator 
there is nothing more important than the work to increase cultural proficiency, important for 
student health and well-being. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 10



 

 

B.   Teacher on Special Assignment (TOSA) Update 
 
TOSA Brice Gamble , Pacific Grove High School Assistant Principal and former TOSA 
Larry Haggquist, and Stephanie Alvarez former TOSA presented an update to the Board on 
TOSA, who have supported classrooms in their efforts to address learning gaps that have 
emerged since students returned from the pandemic.  
 
The Board discussed TOSA, including funding and how to measure long term effects.  
The Board directed Administration to determine long term effects and impact of the TOSA as 
they were funded for 3 years, and updates folded in with the Strategic Plan and LCAP 
updates throughout the year and future years.  
 
Public Comment: 
None 

 
VII. CONSENT AGENDA    

 
A. Minutes of August 17, 2023 Board Meeting 
B. Assignment Order 
C. Cash Receipts No. 3  
D. Out of County or Overnight Activities 
E. Acceptance of Donations 
F. Warrant Schedule 658 
G. Electronic Equipment Surplus 
H. Music Lab Equipment Surplus at Pacific Grove High School  
I. Woodshop Equipment Surplus at Pacific Grove High School   
J. Contract for Services with Tacos Don Beto 
K. Contract for Services with Bratwurst USA 
L. Contract for Services with Play-Well TEKnologies for Elementary After School Enrichment 

(ASE) Program STEM LEGO class 
M. Contract with Chartwell School, Non-Public School 
N. Contract for Services Between Robert H. Down Elementary (RHD) PTA and Kona Ice 

                           
Public Comment: 
None 
 
MOTION JM/EH to approve the consent agenda as amended at the start of the meeting. 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 
 

VIII. PUBLIC HEARING I/ ACTION/DISCUSSION ITEM A 
 

I. Public Hearing on the Levy of Developer Fees Based on the Justification Study by  
SchoolWorks, Inc.                     
   
Open Public Hearing 8:14 p.m.   Close Public Hearing 8:28 p.m. 
 
President of SchoolWorks Inc. Ken Reynolds presented information to the Board, 
summarized the amount per square foot that is collected is directed by the State Allocation 
Board and adjusted every two years for inflation, explained yield rate calculation, noted 
average square footage, and justified in collecting fees, noted what developer fees can be 
used for, explained the process for paying developer fees. 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 11



 

 

The Board asked clarifying questions, including how much funding has been turned away by 
not collecting developer fees, would collecting fees hinder affordable housing, how common 
is this in Monterey County.  
 
Public Comment: 
None 

 
A.   Adoption of Resolution No. 1112 on the Levy of Developer Fees   

 
Public Comment: 
None  

 
MOTION CS/LO to adopt Resolution No. 1112 on the Levy of Developer Fees 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 

 
IX.  PUBLIC HEARING II/ ACTION/DISCUSSION ITEM B 
 

II. Public Hearing of Resolution #1113 Regarding Sufficiency of Instructional Materials for 
Fiscal Year 2023-24                     
     

Open Public Hearing 8:31 p.m. Close Public Hearing 8:37 p.m. 
 
Director of Curriculum and Special Projects Buck Roggeman introduced this item to the 
Board.  
 
Public Comment: 
Parent Christ Swires disagrees on a legal basis, discussed, and expressed concerns regarding 
personal experience of requesting to inspect instructional materials for child’s 10th grade 
English course, asked Board to hold off on the vote so a time can be given for the teacher to 
present the content that will be used for the year.  

 
B. Adoption of Resolution #1113 Regarding Sufficiency of Instructional Materials for Fiscal 

Year  2023-24                     
     

A Trustee questioned the history and social science book, noted from 2006. Director 
Roggeman and Principal Roach responded to the question, noted materials used are 
continually updated.  

  
Public Comment: 
None  
 
MOTION EH/JM to adopt Resolution #1113 regarding Sufficiency of Instructional Materials 
for Fiscal Year 2023-24 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 
 

X.  ACTION/DISCUSSION continued 
 

C. Resolution No. 1111 Adoption of Supplemental Employee Retirement Program 
 

Interim Superintendent Jorn introduced Gail Beal of Keenan and Associates, who presented 
information to the Board including what is Supplemental Employee Retirement Program 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 12



 

 

(SERP), how we plan to implement and what is the District plan moving forward and a 
timeline; Beal addressed Board questions and Board discussion, acknowledged unintended 
consequences, and restricting anyone from coming back in same employee category 
employee retired from.  
 
Public Comment: 
Robert Down Elementary School Teacher Erica Chavez noted some certificated staff retirees 
come back as part time positions such as crosswalk or lunchtime staff members, and to be 
mindful of what we are allowing or now allowing.  
 
MOTION EH/LO to adopt Resolution #1111 Supplemental Employee Retirement Program 
with the additional verbiage that any individual that accepts the Supplemental Employee 
Retirement Program is not eligible for rehire in the same category that they retired from. 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 
 

D. Superintendent Salary Range  
 

Leadership Associates representative Eric Andrew introduced the item to the Board.  
 

Public Comment: 
None  
 
MOTION EH/LO to approve the Superintendent salary range. 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 

 
E. Superintendent Draft Job Description 

 
Leadership Associates representative Eric Andrew provided information to the Board.  
 
Trustee Hazen noted correction to the spelling of his name; Trustee Ottmar requested 
dedication to student safety be added to the description.  

 
Public Comment: 
None 
 
MOTION BS/LO to approve the Superintendent job description, with addition of dedicated 
student safety and correction of Trustee Hazen name spelling. 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 

 
F. Declaration of Need for Qualified Educators 

 
Director II, Human Resources Claudia Arellano presented information to the Board, and 
answered Board questions.  
 
Public Comment: 
None  
 
MOTION CS/JM to approve the Declaration of Need for Qualified Educators 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 

 
 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 13



 

 

G. Board Calendar/Future Meetings    
 

Public Comment: 
None 
 
MOTION EH/LO to approve the Board Calendar/Future Meetings 
Motion CARRIED by roll call vote 5 – 0 

 
XI.  INFORMATION/DISCUSSION continued 

 
C. Board Policy Updates  

 
Public Comment: 
None 
 

D. Personnel Report Replacing Assignment Order List 
 
Director II, Human Resources Claudia Arellano presented information to the Board.  

 
The Board directed Administration move forward to with the proposed format changes.  
 
Public Comment: 
No 

 
E. Future Agenda Items  

 
• Added April 26, 2023: Sub Committee with the City of Pacific Grove (Organizational 

meeting) 
• Added April 26, 2023: Board Site Visits/Measure D Walk Abouts (Fall 2023) 
• Added April 26, 2023: The WAVE Program/Fee Schedule (September 2023)  
• Added May 4, 2023: Equine Healing Collaborative  
• Added June 1, 2023: Review of the business contracts fingerprinting section (January 

2024) 
• Added August 3, 2023: Human Resources Organizational Review Plan (December 2023) 
• Added September 7, 2023: Board Cultural Proficiency training  
 
The Board directed Administration to remove the WAVE Program/Fee Schedule, referred to 
staff; added Cultural Proficiency training for the Board.  
 
Public Comment: 
None 
 

XII. ADJOURNED 10:10 p.m. 
  
 Approved and submitted: 
 

 ____________________________ 
 Interim Superintendent Joshua Jorn 
 Secretary to the Board 

CONSENT A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 14



 ☒  Student Learning and Achievement
 ☒  Health and Safety of Students and Schools
 ☒  Credibility and Communication
 ☒  Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity 

 ☒  Consent
 ☐  Action/Discussion
 ☐  Information/Discussion
 ☐  Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________

 SUBJECT:  Personnel Report 

 DATE:  September 21, 2023 

 PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE:  Claudia Arellano, Director  II, Human Resources 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 RECOMMENDATION: 

 The District Administration recommends the Board of Trustees approve the Personnel Report 
 dated September 21, 2023, as presented. 

 BACKGROUND: 

 The  Personnel  Report outlines  appointments,  leaves,  resignations,  retirements  and  releases  as  it 
 relates to employees' employment status with the District.  

 Recruitment  and  selection  procedures  include  dissemination  of  vacancy  announcements  to  local 
 and  surrounding  public  agencies,  community  colleges  and  institutions  of  higher  education  as 
 well as posting on the District’s website. 

 INFORMATION: 

 Persons listed in the Personnel Report are being recommended to the Board of Education for 
 employment in the District.  No individual is recommended to the Board of Education for 
 employment prior to receipt of the criminal background summary. 

 FISCAL IMPACT: 

 N/A 

CONSENT B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 15



 PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 PERSONNEL REPORT – CERTIFICATED 
 September 21, 2023 

 APPOINTMENTS 
 Name  Position  FTE  Site  Status  Effective Dates 
 Biondi, Taylor  Substitute Teacher  Various  District  On-Call  8/16/23 
 Wilson, Stephanie  Substitute Teacher  Various  District  On-Call  8/9/23 
 Evans, Diane  Substitute Teacher  Various  District  On-Call  9/14/23 
 Gabrio, Adrianne  ADE Instructor  Seasonal  Adult Ed  Short-Term  9/25/23 
 Valdez, Irene  Elementary Teacher  0.8  FGE  Perm  8/21/23 
 DeTomaso, Jeanie  Elementary Teacher  0.2  FGE  Temp  8/25/23 
 Cabalza, Ricky  Special Needs 

 Teacher 
 1.0  FGE  Prob 1  9/1/23 

 RESIGNATIONS/RELEASES/RETIREMENTS 
 Name  Position  FTE  Site  Status  Effective Dates 
 Kelly, Gretchen  Special Needs Teacher  1.0  FGE  Resignation  9/8/2023 

 LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 Name  Position  FTE  Site  Leave Type  Effective Dates 
 Bingham, Janet  Elementary Teacher  1.0  RDE  FMLA  8/14/23 - 9/30/23 

CONSENT B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 16



 PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 PERSONNEL REPORT – CLASSIFIED 
 September 21, 2023 

 APPOINTMENTS 
 Name  Position  FTE  Site  Status  Effective Dates 
 Gaona, Gabriella  AVID Tutor  Various  PGHS/PGMS  Short-term  9/18/23 
 Perez, Leyla  AVID Tutor  Various  PGHS/PGMS  Short-term  9/18/23 
 DeNoyer, Victoria  AVID Tutor  Various  PGHS/PGMS  Short-term  9/18/23 
 Wiegman, James  AVID Tutor  Various  PGHS/PGMS  Short-term  9/18/23 
 Torres, Gabby  AVID Tutor  Various  PGHS/PGMS  Short-term  9/18/23 
 Lumbra, Alecia R  Paraprofessional - 

 Special Needs 
 .8125  PGMS  Prob  9/12/23 

 Wrolstad, Katherine  Substitute  Seasonal  District  On-Call  8/18/23 
 Elia, Marisa  ADE Instructor  Seasonal  Adult Ed  Short-term  9/25/23 
 Locke, Karin  ADE Instructor  Seasonal  Adult Ed  Short-term  9/25/23 
 McGlynn, Bruce  ADE Instructor  Seasonal  Adult Ed  Short-term  9/25/23 
 Dawson, Maria  Fall ASE Instructor  Seasonal  RHD  Short-term  9/11/23 
 Adnan, Hiba  Fall ASE Instructor  Seasonal  FGE  Short-term  9/11/23 
 Peelo, David  Fall ASE Instructor  Seasonal  RHD  Short-term  9/5/23 
 Montgomery, Natalie  Fall ASE Instructor  Seasonal  RHD  Short-term  9/5/23 
 Marticorena, Edwin  Fall ASE Instructor  Seasonal  FGE  Short-term  9/6/23 
 Smallwood, Jennifer  Fall ASE Instructor  Seasonal  FGE  Short-term  9/7/23 
 Denton, Brian  Volleyball Coach  Seasonal  MS  Walk On  8/1/23 
 Worden, Danielle  Volleyball Coach  Seasonal  MS  Walk On  8/1/23 
 Travaille, Ryan  Track Coach  Seasonal  HS  Walk On  8/1/23 
 Gabrik, John  Cross Country 

 Coach 
 Seasonal  HS  Walk On  8/1/23 

 Pickrom, Marquis  Girls Basketball 
 Coach 

 Seasonal  HS  Walk On  8/1/23 

 Cooper, Justin  Frosh Volleyball 
 Coach 

 Seasonal  HS  Walk On  8/1/23 

 Tharpe, Ivy  Paraprofessional-Sp 
 Need 

 .5625  SpEd 
 Preschool 

 Perm  9/18/23 

 RESIGNATIONS/RELEASES/RETIREMENTS 
 Name  Position  FTE  Site  Status  Effective Dates 
 Nordstrom, Cody  Girls Coach  Seasonal  PGMS  Resignation  8/20/2023 
 Hall, Jenna  Assistant Cross 

 Country Coach 
 Seasonal  PGHS  Resignation  8/22/2023 

 Jordan, Peter  Cross Country Coach  Seasonal  PGHS  Resignation  5/23/23 

 LEAVES OF ABSENCE 
 Name  Position  FTE  Site  Leave Type  Effective Dates 
 Prasad, Nayan  Custodian I  1.0  Adult Ed  FMLA  8/11/23 - 11/1/23 
 Petty, Francesca  Recreation Leader  1.0  FGE  FMLA  9/7/23 - 12/4/23 

CONSENT B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 17



☐Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Cash Receipts Report #4 

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent  

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends that the Board review and approve the Cash Receipts report 
#4. 

BACKGROUND: 

The attached listing identifies Cash Receipts received by the District during the period of 
from August 30, 2023 to September 12, 2023. 

INFORMATION: 

The receipt and deposit of the identified funds were conducted consistent with District policies and 
procedures within the appropriate revenue accounts. 

CONSENT C

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 18



Date Num Name Account Amount

Aug 30 - Sep 12, 23
08/30/2023 21926 MISC Benefits 227.00
08/30/2023 21927 RETIREE INSURANCE RETIREE INSURANCE 59.00
08/30/2023 21928 Transportation BUS PASS 300.00
08/31/2023 21929 RETIREE INSURANCE RETIREE INSURANCE 1,662.00
08/31/2023 21930 STATE OF CALIFORNIA CAFETERIA 3,866.55
08/31/2023 21931 PGHS CTE Donations 890.00
08/31/2023 21932 Robert Down Elementary Birthday Books 660.00
09/01/2023 21933 RETIREE INSURANCE RETIREE INSURANCE 1,617.22
09/05/2023 21934 CAFETERIA CAFETERIA 219.26
09/05/2023 21935 USB AP Payment REBATE 320.13
09/05/2023 21936 BASRP-RD BASRP 661.00
09/05/2023 21937 BASRP-FG BASRP 222.00
09/05/2023 21938 RETIREE INSURANCE RETIREE INSURANCE 2,785.00
09/08/2023 21939 MONTEREY BAY CHARTER SCHOOL RENT 21,790.79
09/08/2023 21940 RETIREE INSURANCE RETIREE INSURANCE 254.00
09/08/2023 21941 PGMS SPORTS DONATION 4,000.00
09/08/2023 21942 PGMS MUSIC DONATION 20.00
09/08/2023 21943 PGMS MUSIC DONATION 150.00
09/08/2023 21944 ADULT EDUCATION ADULT EDUCATION 211.19
09/08/2023 21945 ADULT EDUCATION ADULT EDUCATION 75.25
09/08/2023 21946 ADULT EDUCATION ADULT EDUCATION 29,409.06
09/11/2023 21947 ASE - After School Enrichment After School Enrichment Cl... 9,820.00
09/11/2023 21948 Forest Grove Elementary DONATION 100.00
09/11/2023 21949 Robert Down Elementary Birthday Books 240.00
09/11/2023 21950 PGMS MUSIC DONATION 20.00
09/11/2023 21951 Santa Cruz Office of Education SMAA 6,044.59
09/11/2023 21952 MISC CREDIT REFUND 74.69
09/11/2023 21953 RETIREE INSURANCE RETIREE INSURANCE 131.00
09/11/2023 21954 Transportation BUS PASS 250.00
09/12/2023 21955 BASRP-RD BASRP 192.00
09/12/2023 21956 BASRP-FG BASRP 116.00
09/12/2023 21957 RETIREE INSURANCE RETIREE INSURANCE 100.00

Aug 30 - Sep 12, 23 86,487.73

PGUSD
2023-24 BOARD REPORT # 4 Cash Receipts

August 30, 2023 - September 12, 2023

CONSENT C

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 19



☐Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Revolving Cash Report #2 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE:  Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent  

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends the Board review and approve the Revolving Cash report 
#2. 

BACKGROUND: 

The attached listing identifies payments made from the Revolving Cash Fund during the period 
of July 26, 2023, to September 12, 2023. 

INFORMATION: 

Prior to the approval of the identified payments, appropriate District procedures were followed, and 
authorizations obtained. 

CONSENT D

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 20



Date Name Account Amount

Jul 26 - Sep 12, 23
07/31/2023 DEPOSIT DEPOSIT 740.94
08/11/2023 Taylor, Christina ADULT EDUCATION -400.00
08/15/2023 ANALYSIS CHARGE BANK FEE -356.97

Jul 26 - Sep 12, 23 -16.03

PGUSD
2023-24 BOARD REPORT # 2 REVOLVING CASH

July 25, 2023 - September 12, 2023

CONSENT D

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 21



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☐Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Out of County or Overnight Activities     

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent  

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends that the Board review and approve the Out of County or Overnight 
requests. 

BACKGROUND:  

Board Policy 6153 requires prior approval of all school sponsored trips. Out of County/State or overnight 
trips require Board approval. Other trips may be approved by the Superintendent or designee.   

INFORMATION: 

The attached list identifies overnight/Out of County/State trip(s) being proposed by school sites at this time. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The request has an identified cost and associated source of funds. These activities expose the District to 
increased liability with a resulting potential for financial impact.  

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 22



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

2023-24 OUT OF COUNTY OR OVERNIGHT ACTIVITIES 

Date{s) Destination Student/ Class/ Activity Trans~ortation Cost 

9/26/2023 Monte Vista Christian High School PGHS Volleyball Team School Bus $ 740.00 
Watsonville, CA Volleyball Game 

10/9/2023 San Benito High School PGHS Boys Waterpolo Team School Bus $ 422.50 
Hollister, CA Waterpolo Games 

10/9/2023 San Benito High School PGHS Girls Waterpolo Team School Bus $ 422.50 
Hollister, CA Waterpolo Games 

10/12/2023 Pinto Lake Recreation PGHS Cross Country Team School Bus $ 582.50 
Watsonville, CA League Cross Country Race 

10/25/2023 Hollister High School PGHS Volleyball Team School Bus $ 740.00 
Hollister, CA Volleyball Game 

11 /1 0/23-11 /12/23 Matilda Torres High School PGHS Robotics Auto $ 9,000.00 
Madera, CA MadTown Throwdown Robotics Competition 

Funding Source 

Athletics 

Athletics 

Athletics 

Athletics 

Athletics 

Robotics 

Board Meeting 9/21/2023 

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 23



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PGHS REQUEST FOR OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY 

Board Approval is required for all out-of-county, out-of-state, or overnight activities. The request must be approved by the Board prior 
to the event, therefore the request must be submitted AT LEAST F0UR(4) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE .EVENT. For ALL other 

activities, submit a request two weeks in advance of activity. 

Date of Activity:September 26, 2023 

Activity Name/ Location: Volleyball Game/MVC 

C
. Watsonville 1ty: _ 

Day of Activity:_T_u_es_d_a_y _ 

Address:2 School Way 

County: Santa Cruz 

School: Pacific Grove High School Teacher/ Class or Club:Mountain/Volleyball Grade:9·12 ------- 
School Departure Time:_2_:o_o P_.m_. __ Pickup Time from Place of Activity:_9_:o_o p._m_. 

Name(s) of Employee(s) Accompanying Students: Kyle Mountain, Amaya Gamecho, Justin Cooper, Ali Lyon, Chris Morgan 

Number of Adults: 5 Number of Students:_3_8 _ 
(Chaperones) 
Description of Activity/ Educational Objective:_v_o_lle_y_b_a_ll_G_a_m_e _ 

List All Stops:Monte Vista Christian High School 

I understand that per Board Policy 6153, I am responsible for sending and having returned prior to departure written 
permission from parents for this trip. KM (Teacher/Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Means of Transportation: School Bus KM 
(Board Regulation 3541.l requirements will be complied with when using private autos: (Teacher/ Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Name(s) of Auto Drivers (subject to change): _ 
( ) Form-0CA-1 Release of Driver Record Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Form-0CA-2 Personal Automobile Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Fingerprint clearance is on file with the District _ 

Requested By: Kyle Mou"1.tdrr _K_yl_e_M_o_u_n_ta_in _ 
Employee Signature (accompanying students) (Printed Name) 

Administrative Approval/Principal:_u_·-c_o_M_._~_tut_· _ 

Date: 09/12/2023 

Date: 09/13/2023 

************************************************************************************************************ 
Substitute Required: No #of Days _ Account Code (for sub): _ 

Cost of Activity: $ +Cost of Transportation: $7.._4""0....__ + Cost of Substitute: $ = Total Cost (Est): $ 740.00 

Funds to be charged for all activity expenses: ( ) Students ( ) Club ( ) PG Pride (X) Other_A_t_h_le_t1_· c_s _ 

Account Code: Athletics (01-0000-0-1176-4200-5710-00-006-8000-0720 

************************************************************************************************************ 
TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT/DISTRICT OFFICE USE 

Date Received: 09/13/2023 Transportation Available: Yes 

Transportation Type: ( x) School Bus ( ) Charter 

Approved by Transportation Supervisor:_J_o"'_Avr_r1.u5, __ o_"1. _ 

Approved by Assistant Superintendent: _ 

Date: 09/13/2023 

Date: _ 

Board Approval: Date of Board Approval: _ 

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 24



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PGHS REQUEST FOR OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY 

Board Approval is required for all out-of-county, out-of-state, or overnight activities. The request must be approved by the Board prior 
to the event, therefore the request must be submitted AT LEAST FOUR(4) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE EVENT. For ALL other 

activities, submit a request two weeks in advance of activity. 

Date of Activity:_1_01_s_12_0_2_3 _ 

Activity Name/ Location:_s_a_n_B_e_n_it_o _ 

C .. Hollister 1ty: _ 

Day of Activity:_M_o_n_d_ay _ 

Address: San Benito HS 

School: Pacific Grove High School 

County:San Benito 

Teacher/ Class or Club:BoysJV,BoysV,GirlsV water polo Grade:9-12 ------- 
School Departure Time:_1_:3_o P_,m_. __ Pickup Time from Place ofActivity:_7_:1_5 p._m_. 

Name(s) of Employee(s) Accompanying Students: Bus driver, casey Lyon, Greg Enterline, Brent Jones 

Number of Adults:4 Number of Students:40 ----- (Chaperones) 
Description of Activity/ Educational Objective:_w_a_te_r_p_o_lo_ga_m_es _ 

List All Stops:San Benito HS - League Games 

I understand that per Board Policy 6153, lam responsible for sending and having returned prior to departure written 
permission from parents for this trip. CL (Teacher/Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Means of Transportation: School Bus CL 
(Board Regulation 3541.l requirements will be complied with when using private autos: (Teacher/ Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Name(s) of Auto Drivers (subject to change): _ 
( ) Form-OCA-1 Release of'Driver Record Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Form-OCA-2 Personal Automobile Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Flngerprtnt clearance is on file with the District _ 

Requested By: Casey Lyo1,1 _c_a_se_y_L_y_o_n _ 
Employee Signature (accompanying st11de111,1) (Printed Name) 

Administrative Approval/Principal:_u,_·t_o_M_._Gtn_u.a_· _ 

Date: 09/13/2023 

Date: 09/14/2023 

************************************************************************************************************ 
Substitute Required: No #ofDays _ Account Code (for sub): _ 

Cost of Activity: $ +Cost of Transportation: $422.50 + Cost of Substitute: $ = Total Cost (Est): $422.50 

Funds to be charged for all activity expenses: ( ) Students ( ) Club ( ) PG Pride (X) Other_A_th_l_e_tic_s _ 

Account Code: 01-0000-0-1176-4200-5710-00-006-8000-0720 

************************************************************************************************************ 
TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT/ DISTRICT OFFICE USE 

Date Received: 09/14/2023 Transportation Available: Yes 

Transportation Type: ( x) School Bus ( ) Charter 

Approved by Transportation Supervisor:_Jo_/.1._Ai-i_dus __ o_1,1 _ 

Approved by Assistant Superintendent: _ 

Date: 09/14/2023 

Date: _ 

Board Approval: Date of Board Approval: _ 

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 25



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PGHS REQUEST FOR OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY 

Board Approval is required for all out-of-county, out-of-state, or overnight activities. The request must be approved by the Board prior 
to the event, therefore the request must be submitted AT LEAST FOUR (4) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE EVENT. For ALL other 

activities, submit a request two weeks in advance of activity. 

Date of Activity:_1_01_9_1_23 _ 

Activity Name/ Location: Varsity Girls Water Polo 

Hollister City: _ 

Day of Activity:_rvti_n_d_ay _ 

Address: River Pkwy 

County: San Benito 

School: Pacific Grove High School Teacher/ Class or Club:Enterline Girls Water Polo Grade: 9·12 ------- 
School Departure Time :_2_: 1_5 P_.m_. __ Pickup Time from Place of Activity:6 p.m. 

Name(s) of Employee(s) Accompanying Students: Greg Enterline, Casey Lyon & Brent Jones 

Number of Adultsr- 3 ------ (Chaperones) 
Description of Activity/ Educational Objective :_v._a_rs_it_y_G_i_r1_s_W_a_t_e_r_P_o_10 ~------------------- 

List All Stops:_H_o_lli_s_te_r_P_o_o_l ------------------------------------- 

Number of Students:_1_9 _ 

I understand that per Board Policy 6153, I am responsible for sending and having returned prior to departure written 
permission from parents for this trip GF (Teacher/Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Means of Transportation: School Bus GE 
(Beard Regulatien 3541.1 re-iuirements will be cernplied with when using private autes: (Teacher/ Ceach/Advissrs Initials) 

Name(s) of Auto Drivers (subject to change): _ 
( ) Form-OCA-1 Release of Driver Record Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Form-OCA-2 Personal Automobile Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Fingerprint clearance is on file with the District _ 

Requested By: 5rtg t~-derUY1e. 
Employee Signature (accompanying st,ulents) 

Administrative Approval/Principal:_f.i_·t_,_/1_._6an __ aa _ 

Greg Enbterline 
(Printed Name) 

Date: 09/12/2023 

Date: 09/14/2023 

************************************************************************************************************ 
Substitute Required: No #of Days _ Account Code (for sub): _ 

Cost of Activity: $_0 + Cost of Transportation: $422.50 + Cost of Substitute:$ = Total Cost (Est): $422.50 

Funds to be charged fu all activity expenses: ( ) Students ( ) Club ( ) PG Pride ( x) Other Girls Water Polo 

Account Code: 01-0000-0-1176-4200-5710-00-006-8000-0720 

************************************************************************************************************ 
TRANSPeRTATION DEPARTMENT/ DISTRICT OFFICE USE 

Date Received: 09/14/2023 Transportation Available: Yes 

Transportation Type: ( x) School Bus ( ) Charter 

. . ).YI Avtde.rs1Y1 Approved by Transportation Supervisor: _ 

Approved by Assistant Superintendent: _ 

Date: 09/14/2023 

Date: _ 

Board Approval: Date of Board Approval: _ 

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 26



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PGHS REQUEST FOR OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY 

Board Approval is required for all out-of-county, out-of-state, or overnight activities. The request must be approved by the Board prior 
to the event, therefore the request must be submitted AT LEAST FOUR (4) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE .EVENT. For ALL other 

activities, submit a request two weeks in advance of activity. 

Date of Activity :_1_01_1_21_2_0_23 _ 

Activity Name/ Location: PCAL Center Meet@ Pinto lake 

C
• . Watsonville 1ty: _ 

Day of Activity:_T_h_ur_s_d_ay _ 

Address: 757 Green Valley Rd, Watsonville, CA 95076 

County:Santa Cruz 

School: Pacific Grove High School Teacher/ Class or ClubtGHS cross country Grade:9•12 ------- 
School Departure Time:_2 P_,m_. _ Pickup Time from Place of Activity:_5_:3_o P_,_m_. 

Name(s) of Employeets) Accompanying Students:_J_o_hn_G_a_b_rik_a_n_d_T_a_y_lo_r _B_io_n_d_i ------------------ 

Number of Adults: 2 Number of Students: 18 ----- 
(Chaperones) 
Description of Activity/ .Educational Objective: PCAL Center Meet - league cross country race 

List All Stops: Pinto lake Recreation area 

I understand that per Board Policy 6153, I am responsible for sending and having returned prior to departure written 
permission from parents for this trip. rem (Teacher/Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Means of Transportation: School Bus na 
(Board Regulation 3541.l requirements will be complied with when using private autos: (Teacher/ Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Name(s) of Auto Drivers (subject to change): _ 
( ) Form-OCA-1 Release of Driver Record.lnformation is on file with the District _ 
( ) Form-OCA-2 Personal Automobile Information is on file with the District. _ 
( ) Fingerprint clearance is on file with the District _ 

Requested By: Chris !1oya.Yt _c_h_ris_M_o_rg_a_n _ 
Employee Signature {accompanying students) (Primed Name) 

Administrative Approval/Principal:_l£_·t_o_/'1_._Gir;_aa_· _ 

Date: 09/12/2023 

Date: 09/14/2023 

************************************************************************************************************ 
Substitute Required: No #of Days _ Account Code (for sub): _ 

Cost of Activity:$ + Cost of Transportation: $582.50 + Cost of Substitute:$ = Total Cost (.Est):$ _ 

Funds to be charged for all activity expenses: ( ) Students ( ) Club ( ) PG Pride (X) Other_A_t1_1Ie_t_ic_s _ 

Account Code: 01-0000-0-1176-4200-5710-00-006-8000-0720 

************************************************************************************************************ 
TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT/ DISTRICT OFFICE USE 

Date Received: 09/14/2023 Transportation Available: Yes 

Transportation Type: ( x) School Bus ( ) Charter 

A d I T t t. s . )o/,1. A.Jti.duso/,1. pprove >y ranspor a 10n • UJ>erv1sor: _ 

Approved by Assistant Superintendent: _ 

Date: 09/14/2023 

Date: _ 

Board Approval: Date of Board Approval: _ 

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 27



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PGHS REQUEST FOR OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY 

Board Approval is required for all out-of-county, out-of-state, or overnight activities. The request must be approved by the Board prior 
to the event, therefore the request must be submitted AT LEAST FOUR(4) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE EVENT. For ALL other 

activities, submit a request two weeks in advance of activity. 

Date of Activity: October 25, 2023 

Activity Name/ Location: Volleyball Game/Hollister High 

C
• Hollister 1ty: _ 

Day of Activity:_w_e_d_n_e_s_da_y _ 

Address: 1220 Monterey St 

County:San Benito 

School: Pacific Grove High School Teacher/ Class or Club:Mountain/Volleyball Grade:9-12 ------- 
School Departure Time:_2_:o_o P_.m_. _ Pickup Time from Place of Activity:_9_:o_o p._m_. 

Name(s) of Employee(s) Accompanying Students: Kyle Mountain, Amaya Gamecho, Justin Cooper, Ali Lyon, Chris Morgan 

Number of Adults: 5 Number of Students: 38 ----- 
(Chaperones) 
Description of Activity/ Educational Objective:_v_o_lle_y_b_a_ll_G_a_m_e _ 

List All Stops:Hollister High School 

I understand that per Board Policy 6153, lam responsible for sending and having returned prior to departure written 
permission from parents for this trip. KM (Teacher/Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Means of Transportation: School Bus KM 
(Board Regulation 3541.1. requirements will be complied with when using private autos: (Teacher/ Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Name(s) of Auto Drivers (subject to change): _ 
( ) Form-OCA-1 Release of Driver Record Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Form-OCA-2 Personal Automobile Information is on file with the District _ 
( ) Fingerprint clearance is on file with the District _ 

Requested By: f:y{e. MoU/11.tdvt _K_y_le_M_o_u_n_ta_in _ 
Employee Signature (accompanying students) (Printed Name) 

Administrative Approval/Principal:_li,_·t_o_/1_._Gu, __ 'Cl.a._· _ 

Date: 09/12/2023 

Date: 09/14/2023 

************************************************************************************************************ 
Substitute Required: No #of Days _ Account Code (for sub): _ 

Cost of Activity:$ + Cost of Transportation: $740.00 + Cost of Substitute:$ = Total Cost (Est): $740.00 

Funds to be charged for all activity expenses: ( ) Students ( ) Club ( ) PG Pride (x) Other .... A .... t ...... h ..... le ..... ti ..... cs _ 

Account Code: 01-0000-0-1176-4200-5710-00-006-8000-0720 

************************************************************************************************************ 
TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT/ DISTRICT OFFICE USE 

Date Received: 09/14/2023 Transportation Available: Yes 

Transportation Type: ( x) School Bus ( ) Charter 

Approved by Transportation Supervisor:_Jo_1-1_Ai_du:_:s:_o_11 _ 

Approved by Assistant Superintendent: _ 

Date: 09/14/2023 

Date: _ 

Board Approval: Date of Board Approval: _ 

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 28



PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PGHS REQUEST FOR OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY 

Board Approval is required for all out-of-county, out-of-state, or overnight activities. The request must be approved by the Board prior 
to the event, therefore the request must be submitted AT LEAST FOUR ( 4) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE EVENT. For ALL other 

activities, submit a request two weeks in advance of activity. 

Date of Activity:Nov 10 -12, 2023 

Activity Name/ Location: MadTown Throwdown, Madera CA 

C
. Madera 
ity: . 

Day of Activity:_F_ri_da_y_- _s_u_nd_a_y _ 

Acldress:Matilda Torres High School, 16645 Rd 26 

County:_M_e_rc_e_d _ 

School: Pacific Grove High School Teacher/ Class or Club:Sally Richmond/Robotics Grade:9·12 ------- 
School Departure Time:_7_:o_o a_.m_. __ Pickup Time from Place of Activity:_6_:o_o p._m_. 

Name(s) of Employee(s) Accompanying Students :_s_a_lly_R_ic_h_m_o_n_d_, _R_o_b_e_rt_H_y_d_e _ 

Number of Adults: 5 Number of Students: 20 ----- (Chaperones) 
Description of Activity/ Educational Objective: Compete in the offseason robotics competition, MadTown Throwdown 

List All Stops:hotel stay: Hampton Inn and Suites in Madera Fri and Sat nights 

I understand that per Board Policy 6153, I am responsible for sending and having returned prior to departure written 
permission from parents for this trip.sar (Teacher/Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Means of Transportation: Auto* sar 
(Board Regulation 3541.l requirements will be complied with when using private autos: (Teacher/ Coach/Advisors Initials) 

Sally Richmond, Robert Hyde, Alan Federman, Michelle Ford, Fran Coen 
Name(s) of Auto Drivers (subject to change): _ 
( x) Form-OCA-1 Release of Driver Record Information is on file with the District_a_ll_o_n_f_ile _ 
( x) Form-OCA-2 Personal Automobile Information is on file with the District_a_ll _o~n_fi_le _ 
( x) Fingerprint clearance is on file with the District_a_ll_C_le_a_r_ed _ 

Requested By: 5af{y A l<ichW1o"1d 
Employee Signature (accompanying students) 

Administrative Approval/Principal:_l£_·t_o_M_. _fui_'dA._· _ 

Sally Richmond 

(Printed Name) 
Date: 09/13/2023 

Date: 09/13/2023 

************************************************************************************************************ 
Substitute Required: No #of Days _ Account Code (for sub): _ 

Cost of Activity:$ 9000 + Cost of Transportatiom S + Cost of Substitute:$ = Total Cost (Est):$ 9 ooo 

Funds to be charged for all activity expenses: ( ) Students ( ) Club ( ) PG Pride (X) Other_R_o_b_o_ti_cs _ 

Account Code: Wells Fargo Bank - Associated Student Body #8994873977/801 Robotics 

************************************************************************************************************ 
TRANSPORTATION DEPARTMENT/DISTRICT OFFICE USE 

Date Received: _ Transportation Available: 

Transportation Type: ( ) School Bus ( ) Charter 

Approved by Transportation Supervisor: _ 

Approved by Assistant Superintendent: _ 

Date: _ 

Date: ------- 
Board Approval: Date of Board Approval: _ 

CONSENT E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 29



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT:  Acceptance of Donations 

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent  
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The District Administration recommends that the Board review and accept the donations referenced below. 

INFORMATION: 
During the past months the following donations were received: 

Forest Grove Elementary School 
None  

Robert H. Down Elementary School 
None 

Pacific Grove Middle School 
Tania Tangri  $20.00 (Choir Program) 
Anonymous  $20.00 (Choir Program) 
Anonymous   $150.00 (PGMS Musical) 
Jennifer McNary $100.00 (D. Condit’s 5th Grade Class) 
Rotary Club of Pacific Grove $4,000 (PGMS Boxing Program) 

Pacific Grove High School 
None  

Pacific Grove Community High School 
None 

Pacific Grove Adult School /Lighthouse Preschool & 
Preschool Plus Co-op  
None 

Pacific Grove Unified School District 
None 

CONSENT F

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 30



☐Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Warrant Schedule 659 

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends that the Board review and approve the Warrant schedule 659. 

BACKGROUND:  

The attached listing of warrants identifies payments made by the District during the noted time period 
from August 01, 2023 through August 31, 2023. 

INFORMATION: 

Prior to the issuance of the warrants, District procedures have been followed to ensure the appropriateness 
of the item(s) purchased, the correctness of the amount to be paid, and the funds were available within the 
appropriate budget.  All necessary site, department, and district authorizations have been obtained. 

Please note a full copy of the warrants are available by request. 

CONSENT G

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 31



WARRANTS - PAYROLL

Certificated Manual 08/04/23 -$                     
Supp 08/10/23 36,300.50$           
Manual 08/15/23 -$                     
Regular 08/31/23 1,838,713.96$      

Total Certificated 1,875,014.46$          

Classified Manual 08/04/23 505.04$                
Supp 08/10/23 11,949.75$           
Manual 08/15/23 -$                     
Regular 08/31/23 854,266.54$         

Total Classified 866,721.33$             

Other Manual 08/04/23 -$                           
Supp 08/10/23 -$                     
Manual 08/15/23 -$                     
Regular 08/31/23 -$                     

Total Other -$                           

TOTAL PAYROLL 2,741,735.79$         

WARRANTS - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

12781217-12781244 04600000536-04600000539 08/10/23 103,757.61$         
12782351-12782405 04600000540-04600000547 08/17/23 409,789.43$         
12783594-12783626 08/24/23 137,611.65$         
12785300-12785352 08/31/23 400,800.79$         

-$                     

TOTAL ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 1,051,959.48$         

04600000548-04600000549
04600000550-04600000555

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT
659

August 2023

Checks V-Card Payment

CONSENT G

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 32



☐Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☐Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Board Policy Updates 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE:  Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends the Board review and approve the Board Policy, Administrative 
Regulation, and Board Bylaw updates. 

BACKGROUND: 
Updates were reviewed by the Board Policy Committee on August 28, 2023, and by the Board under 
Information/Discussion at the last Board meeting on September 7, 2023. 

The Board Policy Committee contains two Trustees (President Carolyn Swanson and Clerk Jennifer 
McNary) who meet with Administrators responsible for whatever policies are up for review/discussion. 
The Board Policy Committee reviews the updates provided by CSBA (explanation below) as well as any 
Board requested policies or Administrative recommendations. The following updates will be reviewed as 
Information/Discussion, and will return to the subsequent meeting as Consent for final Board approval. 

CSBA employs several full-time staff to keep its sample policy manual updated. It updates approximately 
100 polices every year to stay up to date with changes in the law and publishes these updates in four 
bundles called “policy update packets.” These are issued four times a year: March, June, September, and 
December, as well as any special updates as needed. Subscribers to GAMUT Policy Plus receive 
announcements every time CSBA issues a policy update packet and can access the packet by logging into 
their proprietary site. 

CSBA encourages districts to review each update packet once it’s issued to see which policies the district 
may need to update. Districts can review a “guide sheet” that lists the changes that CSBA has made as 
well as the text in the policies themselves to determine which policies they want to update. Once they 
determine this, they can prepare drafts of the new policies to send to their board for review and adoption. 
By reviewing each CSBA policy update packet and taking action accordingly, districts can ensure that 
they policy manual is always accurate and up-to-date. CSBA encourages districts to establish a consistent 
process for reviewing, processing, and approving update packets so that they never fall behind on their 
policies.  

INFORMATION: 

At the August 28, 2023 Board Policy Committee meeting, the committee reviewed the CSBA policy 
updates from March 2023, as well as Board requested and Administrative recommended updates.  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 33



  

MARCH 2023 CSBA POLICY UPDATES 
Board Policy 0420.4 - Charter School Authorization 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony 
● No recommended changes 

 
Administrative Regulation 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

● Reviewed by Director II, Human Resources Claudia Arellano 
● No recommended changes 

 
Administrative Regulation 5113 - Absences and Excuses 

● Reviewed by Director of Curriculum and Special Projects Buck Roggeman and Pacific Grove 
High School Principal Lito Garcia 

● No recommended changes 
 
Administrative Regulation 5131.41 - Use of Seclusion and Restraint 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony 
● No recommended changes 

 
Administrative Regulation 5144 – Discipline 

● Reviewed by Interim Superintendent Joshua Jorn 
● No recommended changes 

 
Administrative Regulation 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process 

● Reviewed by Interim Superintendent Joshua Jorn 
● No recommended changes 

 
Administrative Regulation 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities) 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony 
● No recommended changes 

 
Administrative Regulation 6115 - Ceremonies and Observances 

● Reviewed by Interim Superintendent Joshua Jorn 
● No recommended changes 

 
Board Policy 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements 

● Reviewed by Pacific Grove High School Principal Lito Garcia 
● No recommended changes 

 
Board Policy 6173 - Education for Homeless Children 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony 
● No recommended changes 

 
Administrative Regulation 6173 - Education for Homeless Children 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony 
● No recommended changes 

 
Board Policy 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony 
● No recommended changes 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 34



  

 
Administrative Regulation 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony 
● No recommended changes 

 
Board Policy 6177 - Summer Learning Programs 

● Reviewed by Director of Curriculum and Special Projects Buck Roggeman 
● No recommended changes 

  
Administrative Regulation 6184 - Continuation Education 

● Reviewed by Director of Student Services Yolanda Cork-Anthony and Pacific Grove High 
School Principal Lito Garcia 

● No recommended changes 
 
Board Bylaw 9270 - Conflict of Interest 

● Reviewed by Interim Superintendent Joshua Jorn 
● No recommended changes 

  
Board Bylaw 9320 - Meetings and Notices 

● Reviewed by Interim Superintendent Joshua Jorn 
● No recommended changes 

 
ADDITIONAL UPDATES 
Regulation 3350- Travel Expenses- NEW 

● This regulation existed prior to the CSBA GAMUT Policy Plus conversion but is no longer part 
of the PGUSD policy manual   

● Requested by Administration 
 

Exhibit 3541.1- Transportation for School-Related Trips 
● These forms are replacing the old school driver registration form and allow for the release of 

driver record information and are in compliance with DMV regulations. 
● The forms are required to be on file at the District Office prior to the automobile transportation of 

any students for off-campus activities/trips. 
● Requested by Administration 

 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 35



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 0420.4: Charter School Authorization Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 05/01/2019 | Last Revised Date: 03/01/20202023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 03/01/20202023 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice. Education 
Code 47600-47616.7 authorize the establishment of public charter schools, which are generally 
exempt from the Education Code unless otherwise specified in law. To establish a charter school 
within the district, petitioners must submit to the Governing Board for approval a petition which 
includes all components required by law as described in the accompanying administrative 
regulation. The following policy reflects the criteria and procedures required by Education Code 
47605, as amended by AB 1505 (Ch. 486, Statutes of 2019) and AB 1595 (Ch. 543, Statutes of 
2019).. 

Under certain circumstances, charter petitions may also be approved by other governmental 
entities. For example,  Education Code 47605.5-47605.6 authorizerequire petitioners to submit a 
petition directly to the County Board of Education when (1) the charter school will serve students 
for whom the county office of education would otherwise be responsible for providing direct 
education and related services or (2) the countywide program will provide educational services to 
a student population that cannot be served as well by a charter school operating in only one 
district in the county. Education Code 47605.8, which authorized petitioners to submit a petition 
directly to the State Board of Education (SBE) to approve a statewide benefit charter school, was 
repealed by AB 1505. 

Pursuant to Education Code 47606, a district may petition the Superintendent of Public 
Instruction and SBEthe State Board of Education (SBE) to convert all its schools to charter schools, 
provided that 50 percent of the district's teachers sign the petition, the petition contains all 
specified components, and arrangements are made for alternative attendance of students residing 
within the district who choose not to attend a charter school. 

For further information regarding the submission and review of charter school petitions, see 
CSBA's publication , “Charter Schools:  A Guide for Governance Teams.” CSBA’s District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services attorneys can also assist with petition reviews for 
districts that subscribe to that service. 

The Governing Board recognizes that charter schools may assist the district in offering diverse 
learning opportunities for students. In considering any petition to establish a charter school within 
the district, the Board shall give thoughtful consideration to the potential of the charter school to 
provide students with a high-quality education that enables them to achieve to their fullest 
potential.  

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 allows for Board approval of a start-up charter school or the 
conversion of an existing public school into a charter school, provided that the school adopts and 
maintains a policy giving admission preference to students who reside within the former 
attendance area of that public school. The signature requirement differs for each type of charter 
school; see the accompanying administrative regulation. 

One or more persons may submit a petition to the Board for a charter school to be established 
within the district or for the conversion of an existing district school to a charter school.  (Education 
Code 47605) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 36



Any petition for a charter school shall include all components, signatures, and statements required 
by law, as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation. The proposed charter shall be 
attached to the petition.  (Education Code 47605) 

The Superintendent or designee shall consult with legal counsel, as appropriate, regarding 
compliance of the charter petition with legal requirements. 

The Superintendent or designee may work with charter school petitioners prior to the formal 
submission of the petition in order to ensure compliance of the petition with legal requirements. As 
needed, the Superintendent or designee may also meet with the petitioners to establish workable 
plans for contracted services which the district may provide to the proposed charter school. 

The Board shall not require any district student to attend the charter school nor shall it require any 
district employee to work at the charter school.  (Education Code 47605) 

Timelines for Board Action 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, as amended by AB 1505 and AB 1595, upon 
receiving a charter petition, the Board is required to hold a public hearing within 60 days of 
receiving a charter petition to determine the level of support for the petition, and to hold a public 
hearing within 90 days to take final action on the petition.  As amended, Education Code 47605 
also requires the district to publish, at least 15 days prior to the public hearing at which the Board 
will grant or deny the petition, staff recommendations regarding the petition and, if applicable, the 
certification  from the County Superintendent of Schools regarding the potential fiscal impact of 
the charter school on the district. 

To provide adequate opportunity for public input and thoughtful consideration of the charter 
petition, it is recommended that the Board conduct two public hearings -- one hearing to 
determine the level of support for the petition and, following the publication of staff 
recommendations, a second hearing to grant or deny the petition.  However, the law does not 
explicitly require two hearings, and it may be possible to hold one public hearing forto both 
determiningdetermine the level of support for the petition and grantinggrant or denyingdeny the 
petition, provided that staff recommendations are published 15 days prior to the hearing, the 
hearing is held within 60 days of receipt of the petition, and the petitioners have equal time and 
opportunity to present evidence and testimony. LegalCSBA’s District and County Office of 
Education Legal Services or district legal counsel should be consulted as needed to ensure that all 
requirements are met. 

Within 60 days of receiving a charter petition, the Board shall hold a public hearing on the charter 
provisions, at which time the Board shall consider the level of support for the petition by district 
teachers, other district employees, and parents/guardians.  A petition is deemed received on the 
day the petitioner submits a petition to the district office, along with a signed certification that the 
petitioner deems the petition to be complete.  (Education Code 47605) 

The Board shall either grant or deny the petition at a public hearing held within 90 days of receiving 
the petition, or within 120 days with the consent of both the petitioner and the Board.  (Education 
Code 47605) 

At least 15 days before the public hearing at which the Board will grant or deny the charter, the 
district shall publish all staff recommendations regarding the petition, including any recommended 
findings and, if applicable, certification from the County Superintendent of Schools regarding the 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 37



potential fiscal impact of the charter school on the district.  During the public hearing, the 
petitioners shall have equal time and opportunity to present evidence and testimony in response to 
the staff recommendations and findings.  (Education Code 47605) 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice.  
As amended by AB 1505 and AB 1595, Education Code 47605 requires that, in the event that a 
petition is denied and the matter is appealed, the Board must provide a documentary record to 
the petitioner, including a transcript of the public hearing at which the Board denied the hearing. 
See section on "Appeals" below. Thus, it may be useful to have a transcription of the hearing(s) in 
the event that the petitioners later appeal the decision of the Board. 

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain accurate records, in relation to each charter petition, 
of documents submitted, the Board's proceedings, and the findings upon which the Board's 
decision is made. 

Approval of Petition 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires the Board to give preference to charter petitions 
that demonstrate the capability to provide comprehensive learning experiences to students 
identified by the petitioner as academically low achieving based on the standards established by 
the California Department of Education (CDE) pursuant to Education Code 54032, as that section 
read before July 19, 2006. Prior to its repeal on that date, Education Code 54032 required CDE to 
develop standards to identify students as academically low achieving for purposes of allocating 
Economic Impact Aid funds to school sites. However, the Economic Impact Aid program is no 
longer funded or administered by CDE. 

Pursuant to Education Code 47605, as amended by AB 1505 and AB 1595, the Board must also 
consider the interests of the community in which the school is proposing to locate. 

A charter petition shall be granted only if the Board is satisfied that doing so is consistent with 
sound educational practice and the interests of the community in which the school is proposing to 
locate. In granting charters, the Board shall consider the academic needs of the students the charter 
school proposes to serve and shall give preference to petitions that demonstrate the capability to 
provide comprehensive learning experiences for students who are identified by the petitioner as 
academically low-achieving, based on standards established by California Department of Education 
(CDE).  (Education Code 47605) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47604.1, as added by SB 126 (Ch. 3, Statutes of 2019), 
charter schools are subject to the Brown Act (Government Code 54950-54963), California Public 
Records Act (Government Code 7920.000 - 7930.170215), conflict of interest laws (Government 
Code 1090-1099), and the Political Reform Act (Government Code 81000-91014). 

Prior to authorizing any charter, the Board shall verify that the charter includes adequate processes 
and measures for monitoring and holding the school accountable for fulfilling the terms of its 
charter and complying with all applicable laws, including Education Code 47604.1. Such processes 
and measures shall include, but are not limited to, fiscal accountability systems, multiple measures 
for evaluating the educational program, inspection and observations of any part of the charter 
school, and regular reports to the Board. 

The approval or denial of a charter petition shall not be controlled by collective bargaining 
agreements nor subject to review or regulation by the Public Employment Relations Board.  
(Education Code 47611.5) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 38



CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.  
Although not required by law, CSBA's publication , “Charter Schools:  A Guide for Governance 
Teams,” recommends one or more memoranda of understanding (MOUs) to address matters that 
are related to the charter petition but are not included in the petition, and to establish 
expectations for which the charter school can be held accountable. CSBA's manual provides 
examples of issues pertaining tothat might be addressed in an MOU, including business 
operations, facilities, administrative and support services, special education, and student 
assessment that might be addressed in an MOU. 

A sample MOU between SBE and a state-approved charter school, available on the California 
Department of Education's, and athletics. See CDE’s web site, may be adapted for use by 
districtssample MOUs. 

The Board may approve one or more memoranda of understanding to clarify the financial and 
operational agreements between the district and the charter school. Any such memorandum of 
understanding shall be annually reviewed by the Board and charter school governing body and 
amended as necessary. 

The Board may initially grant a charter for a specified term not to exceed five years.  (Education 
Code 47607) 

When a petition is approved by the Board, it shall be the responsibility of the petitioners to provide 
written notice of the Board's approval and a copy of the charterpetition to the County 
Superintendent of Schools, the CDE, and the State Board of Education (SBE).  (Education Code 
47605) 

Denial of Petition 

The Board shall summarily deny any charter petition that proposes to: 

1. 1. Operate a charter school as or by a for-profit corporation, a for-profit educational 
management organization, or a for-profit charter management organization  (Education 
Code 47604) 

2. 2. Convert a private school to a charter school  (Education Code 47602) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, the Board may approve a charter school serving 
students in a grade level not offered by the district only when the charter school will also serve all 
the grade levels offered by the district. Thus, an elementary district's board cannot approve a 
charter for a high school, but may approve a charter for a K-12 school since the charter school will 
serve all grade levels served by the elementary school district. 

3. 3. Serve students in a grade level that is not served by the district, unless the petition 
proposes to serve students in all the grade levels served by the district  (Education Code 
47605) 

CSBA NOTE:  Pursuant to Education Code 47612.7, as added by AB 1505, until January 1, 
20222025, the Board is prohibited from approving a petition for the establishment of a new 
charter school offering nonclassroom-based instruction. A charter school approved before 
October 1, 2019 which had started providing educational services as of that date may continue to 
offer nonclassroom-based instruction under the circumstances specified in Education Code 
47612.7. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 39



4. 4. Offer nonclassroom-based instruction  (Education Code 47612.7) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, a charter petition can be denied only if certain 
factual findings are made. 5 CCR 11967.5.1 contains criteria for SBE's review of charter petitions, 
which may be useful to the district in determining how it might evaluate whether a petition meets 
the conditions specified below. 

Regarding all other charter petitions, the Board shall deny a petition only if the Board makes 
written factual findings specific to the petition that one or more of the following conditions exist:  
(Education Code 47605; 5 CCR 11967.5.1)  

1. 1. The charter school presents an unsound educational program that has a likelihood of 
physical, educational, or psychological harm to, or which is not likely to provide an 
educational benefit for, the students to be enrolled in the charter school. 

2. 2. The petitioners are demonstrably unlikely to successfully implement the program set 
forth in the petition. 

3. 3. The petition does not contain the number of signatures required. 

4. 4. The petition does not contain a clear, unequivocal statement described in Education 
Code 47605(e), including that the charter school will be nonsectarian and that the school 
shall not charge tuition or discriminate against any student based on the characteristics 
specified in Education Code 220. 

5. 5. The petition does not contain reasonably comprehensive descriptions of the charter 
provisions in Education Code 47605(c). 

6. The petition does not contain a declaration as to whether or not the charter school shall be
deemed the exclusive public employer of the school's employees for purposes of collective
bargaining pursuant to Government Code 3540-3549.3.

CSBA NOTE: As amended by AB 1505 and AB 1595, Education Code 47605 expands the 
grounds for denial of a charter petition to include those specified in items #7-8 below. 

6. 7. The charter school is demonstrably unlikely to serve the interests of the entire 
community in which the school is proposing to locate. Analysis of this finding shall include 
consideration of the fiscal impact of the proposed charter school. A written factual finding 
shall detail specific facts and circumstances regarding: that analyze and consider the 
following factors: 

a. a. The extent to which the proposed charter school would substantially 
undermine existing services, academic offerings, or programmatic offerings 

b. b. Whether the proposed charter school would duplicate a program currently 
offered within the district, when the existing program has sufficient capacity for the 
students proposed to be served within reasonable proximity to where the charter 
school intends to locate 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 40



CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, a district under state receivership is not in a 
position to absorb the fiscal impact of a proposed charter school. 

7. 8. The district is not positioned to absorb the fiscal impact of the proposed charter 
school. The district meets this criterion if it has a negative interim certification, or has a 
qualified interim certification and the County Superintendent certifies that approving the 
charter school would result in the district having a negative interim certification, or is under 
state receivership. 

The Board shall not deny a petition based on the actual or potential costs of serving students with 
disabilities, nor shall it deny a petition solely because the charter school might enroll students with 
disabilities who reside outside the special education local plan area in which the district 
participates.  (Education Code 47605.7, 47647) 

Appeals 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, if the Board denies a charter petition, the 
petitioner may, within 30 days of the denial, submit the petition to the County Board. If the 
County Board denies a petition on appeal, the petitioner may, within 30 days of the denial by the 
County Board, appeal to SBE. 

If the Board denies a petition, the petitioner may choose to submit the petition to the County 
Board of Education and, if then denied by the County Board, to SBE.  (Education Code 47605) 

At the request of the petitioner, the Board shall prepare the documentary record, including a 
transcript of the public hearing at which the Board denied the charter, no later than 10 business 
days after the petitioner makes the request.  (Education Code 47605) 

CSBA NOTE:  CSBA’s Education Legal Alliance and the Napa Valley Unified School District each 
have litigation pending against SBE and the exercise of its authority to reverse the denial of a 
charter school petition deciding that a board abused its discretion in denying the petition. Due to 
the legal uncertainty in this area, the Board should consult CSBA’s District and County Office of 
Education Legal Services or district legal counsel when a petition the Board has denied is on appeal 
to SBE. 

Within 30 days of receipt of an appeal submitted to SBE, the Board may submit a written 
opposition to SBE, which may include supporting documentation, detailing, with specific citations 
to the documentary record, how the Board did not abuse its discretion in denying the petition.  
(Education Code 47605) 

If either the County Board or SBE remands the petition to the Board because the petition on appeal 
contains new or different material terms, the Board shall reconsider the petition and shall grant or 
deny the petition within 30 days.  (Education Code 47605)  

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy. 

State Description 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 41



5 CCR 11700-11705 Independent study 

5 CCR 11960-11969.10 Charter schools 

Corp. Code 5110-6910 Nonprofit public benefit corporations 

Ed. Code 1240 County superintendent of schools; duties 

Ed. Code 17078.52-17078.66 Charter schools facility funding; state bond proceeds 

Ed. Code 17280-17317 Field Act; approval of plans and supervision of construction 

Ed. Code 17365-17374 Field Act; fitness for occupancy; liability of board members 

Ed. Code 200 Equal rights and opportunities in state educational 
institutions 

Ed. Code 220 Prohibition of discrimination 

Ed. Code 32280-32289.5 School safety plans 

Ed. Code 33126 School accountability report card 

Ed. Code 41365 Charter school revolving loan fund 

Ed. Code 42131 Interim certification 

Ed. Code 42238.5102-42238.252 Funding for charter districts 

Ed. Code 44237 Criminal record summary 

Ed. Code 44830.1 Certificated employees; conviction of a violent or serious 
felony 

Ed. Code 45122.1 Classified employees; conviction of a violent or serious felony 

Ed. Code 46201 Instructional minutes 

Ed. Code 47600-47616.7 Charter Schools Act of 1992 

Ed. Code 47640-47647 Special education funding for charter schools 

Ed. Code 47650-4765247655 Funding of charter schools 

Ed. Code 49011 Student fees 

Ed. Code 5174551744-51749.6 Independent study 

Ed. Code 52052 Accountability; numerically significant student subgroups 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Ed. Code 56026 Special education 

Ed. Code 56145-56146 Special education services in charter schools 

Gov. Code 1090-1099 Prohibitions applicable to specified officers 

Gov. Code 3540-3549.3 Educational Employment Relations Act 

Gov. Code 54950-54963 The Ralph M. Brown Act 

Gov. Code 7920.000 - 7930.170215 California Public Records Act 

Gov. Code 81000-91014 Political Reform Act of 1974 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 42

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayexpandedbranch.xhtml?tocCode=CORP&division=2.&title=1.&part=2.&chapter=1.&article=&goUp=Y#
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=1240.&lawCode=EDC#
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=17078.52.&lawCode=EDC#


Welfare and Institutions Code 224.1 Indian child; definition 

Federal Description 
20 USC 7223-72257221-7221j Charter schools 

Management Resources Description 
Attorney General Opinion 101 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 92 (2018) 

Attorney General Opinion 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 297 (1995) 

Attorney General Opinion 89 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 166 (2006) 

Attorney General Opinion 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 52 (1997) 

California Department of 
EducationCharter Authorizing 
Professionals Publication 

Sample Copy of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
Resource, September 2022 

Court Decision CSBA’s Education Legal Alliance v. California State Board of 
Education, Case No. 34-2018-80002834 

Court Decision Napa Unified School District v. California State Board of 
Education, Case No. 34-2022-80004051 

Court Decision Ridgecrest Charter School v. Sierra Sands Unified School 
District, (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 986 

CSBA Publication Charter Schools:  A Guide for Governance Teams, rev. 
February 20162021 

CSBA Publication Uncharted Waters:  Recommendations for Prioritizing 
Student Achievement and Effective Governance in 
California's Charter Schools, September 2018 

CSBA Publication Charter Schools and Board Member Responsibilities, 
Education Insights Legal Update Webcast, March 2016 

CSBA Publication Charter Schools in Focus, Issue 1:  Managing the Petition 
Review Process, Governance Brief, November 2016 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Charter Schools Program:  Title V, Part B of the ESEA, 
Nonregulatory Guidance, January 2014 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Dear Colleague Letter:  Guidance Regarding the Oversight of 
Charter Schools Program and Regulatory Requirements, 
August 2016 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Guidance on the Voluntary Use of Race to Achieve Diversity 
and Avoid Racial Isolation in Elementary and Secondary 
Schools, December 2011 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website National Association of Charter School Authorizers 

Website California Charter Schools Association 

Website California Department of Education, Charter Schools 

Website CSBA 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 43

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.qualitycharters.org/#
http://www.ccsa.org/#
https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/ch/#
http://www.csba.org/#


Website U.S. Department of Education 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0420.41 Charter School Oversight 

0420.41-E(1) Charter School Oversight 

0420.42 Charter School Renewal 

0420.43 Charter School Revocation 

0430 Comprehensive Local Plan For Special Education 

0430 Comprehensive Local Plan For Special Education 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0510 School Accountability Report Card 

2230 Representative And Deliberative Groups 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

7160 Charter School Facilities 

7160 Charter School Facilities 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 44

http://www.ed.gov/#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GPlxSslshk7lktMSplusmOc1ZKXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=2vV16Tb38sN0NKW30feebg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DNWrslshOPplusslshAJVCuKn68Yslsh0Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eGu5b5433isbW0vuGq8SFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xgK7v8qp8vSfR2cXF83TrQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WWIl47tMPzplushsJyAKgUOWw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U1kVVSNC96EEOSfrIYIyTg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VQbE1AlHt9Vf3H9p09dnpw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4kfjySH8p1JalvYywiMUw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsy3fK0lFhFL0JlTDzUn6A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i7slshs2reTt93slshsCyVZP4slsh8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7SipxldAvMplusBN2DuaqiOrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T1ZkK7CYAfDPrxX7sNEb2w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=I7sGGHWCNi2n3cgRSDBoJQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4tVagLqFnUH7UplusEXB5g44g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1CCoun1Bnvfcc9MJVDsj8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uYgevBzNmrqxVK33EOQfxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8a5RCEWkAYmzQxd1TQVATQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YdgplusM1VKIt6NB7RDvh9jRg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=K3XZplusMD3iNGcPZdhEClfBw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshtcvg1S2WZEqM2ioA7nbAQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mva6OqXRAdiOBfWtCzl1MQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Fu4yQLBRZxTqW3v8pbl0A==#


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 0420.4: Charter School Authorization Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 10/01/2015 | Last Revised Date: 03/01/20202023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0503/01/20192023 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is optional. 

Petition Signatures 

A petition for the establishment of a start-up charter school must be signed by either of the 
following:  (Education Code 47605)  

1. 1. A number of parents/guardians equivalent to at least one-half of the number of 
students that the charter school estimates will enroll in the school for its first year of 
operation 

2. 2. A number of teachers equivalent to at least one-half of the total number of teachers 
that the charter school estimates will be employed at the school during its first year of 
operation 

A petition that proposes to convert an existing public school to a charter school must be signed by 
at least 50 percent of the permanent status teachers currently employed at the school.  (Education 
Code 47605) 

Any petition circulated to collect signatures shall include a prominent statement explaining that a 
parent/guardian's signature means that the parent/guardian is meaningfully interested in having a 
child attend the charter school, or a teacher's signature means that the teacher is meaningfully 
interested in teaching at the charter school.  (Education Code 47605) 

Staff Advisory Committee 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. CSBA's 
publication , “Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams,” suggests that a petition review 
team is one method that a district may use to obtain input on proposed charters. Such a 
committee might include representatives of with expertise in the district'sareas of governance, 
human resources, fiscal services, risk management, student services, business/finance, facilities, 
curriculum and instruction, special education, facilities, and other departmentsand, as appropriate, 
other student populations. CSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services 
attorneys can also assist with petition reviews for districts that subscribe to that service. 

Education Code 47605, as amended by AB 1505 (Ch. 486, Statutes of 2019) and AB 1595 (Ch. 
543, Statutes of 2019), requires the district to publish staff recommendations regarding the 
petition at least 15 days prior to the hearing at which the Governing Board will grant or deny the 
petition; see the section "Timelines for Board Action" in the accompanying Board policy. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 45



The Superintendent or designee may establish a staff advisory committee to evaluate the 
completeness of a charter petition based on the requirements in Education Code 47605 and to 
identify any concerns that should be addressed by the petitioners. 

Components of Charter Petition 

All charter petitions shall comply with the applicable requirements of Education Code 47605, other 
state and federal laws, and district policies. 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA's publication , “Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams,” 
recommends specific content that would constitute a reasonably comprehensive description of 
each component listed in itemsItems #1-1617 below, as well as additional content that is not 
required but may be requested of the petitioners (e.g., school calendar, transportation 
arrangements, a sample of the curriculum and instructional materials). 

The charter petition shall include affirmations that the charter school will be nonsectarian in its 
programs, admission policies, employment practices, and operations; will not charge tuition; and 
will not discriminate against a student on the basis of characteristics listed in Education Code 220. 
The petition shall also contain reasonably comprehensive descriptions of:  (Education Code 47605) 

1. 1. The educational program of the proposed school, designed, among other things, to 
identify those whom the school is attempting to educate, what it means to be an "educated 
person" in the 21st century, and how learning best occurs. The goals identified in that 
program shall include the objective of enabling students to become self-motivated, 
competent, and lifelong learners. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires the charter petition to include annual goals, as 
described in Education Code 52060, for all students and for each numerically significant subgroup 
of students, and specific actions to achieve those goals as described in Education Code 52060.. 
Pursuant to Education Code 52052, numerically significant subgroups include ethnic subgroups, 
socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, 
and homeless students, when there are at least 30 students in the subgroup (or at least 15 foster 
youth or homeless students) in the school. 

Education Code 47605 requires that these annual goals be aligned with the eight state priorities 
related to (1) the degree to which teachers are appropriately assigned and fully credentialed, 
students have sufficient access to standards-basedaligned instructional materials, and facilities are 
maintained in good repair; (2) implementation of and student access to state academic content and 
performance standards; (3) parent/guardian involvement and family engagement; (4) student 
achievement; (5) student engagement; (6) school climate; (7) student access to and enrollment in a 
broad course of study, including programs and services provided to benefit low-income students, 
English learners, and/or foster youth (i.e., "unduplicated students" for purposes of the local control 
funding formula);), and students with disabilities; and (8) student outcomes in the specified course 
of study. See BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. 

As amended by AB 1595, Education Code 47605 no longer requires that charter petitions include 
annual goals that apply to the nature of the program operated. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 46



2. The petition shall include a description of the2. The charter school's annual goals for all
students and for each numerically significant subgroup of students identified pursuant to
Education Code 52052, including ethnic subgroups, socioeconomically disadvantaged
students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, and homeless students.
These goals shall be aligned with the state priorities listed in Education Code 52060 that
apply to the grade levels served. The petition also shall describe specific annual actions to
achieve those goals. The petition may identify additional priorities established for the
proposed school, goals aligned with those priorities, and specific annual actions to achieve
those goals.

If the proposed charter school will serve high school students, the petition shall describe the
manner in which the school will inform parents/guardians about the transferability of
courses to other public high schools and the eligibility of courses to meet college entrance
requirements. Courses offered by the charter school that are accredited by the Western
Association of Schools and Colleges may be considered transferable, and courses approved
by the University of California or the California State University as creditable under the "a-
gA-G" admissions criteria may be considered to meet college entrance requirements.

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires that the petition identify student outcomes that the 
charter school intends to use, including those that address increases in student achievement both 
schoolwide and for all groups of students served by the charter school. Education Code 47607 
defines "all groups of students served by the charter school" to mean all numerically significant 
subgroups of students, as defined in Education Code 52052, served by the charter school. 

3. The measurable student outcomes identified for use by the charter school.

3. Student outcomes means the extent to which all students of the school demonstrate
that they have attained the skills, knowledge, and attitudes specified as goals in the school's
educational program, including outcomes that address increases in student academic
achievement both schoolwide and for each numerically significant subgroup of students
served by the charter school. The student outcomes shall align with the state priorities
identified in Education Code 52060 that apply for the grade levels served by the charter
school.

4. 4. The method by which student progress in meeting the identified student outcomes 
is to be measured. To the extent practicable, the method for measuring student outcomes 
for state priorities shall be consistent with the way information is reported on a school 
accountability report card. 

5. 5. The governance structure of the charter school, including, but not limited to, the 
process to be followed by the school to ensure parent/guardian involvement. 

6. 6. The qualifications to be met by individuals to be employed by the charter school. 

7. 7. The procedures that the charter school will follow to ensure the health and safety of 
students and staff, including the following requirements: 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 47



a. a. Each charter school employee shall furnish the school with a criminal record 
summary as described in Education Code 44237. 

b. b. The charter school shall develop a school safety plan which includes the 
topics listed in Education Code 32282(a)(2)(A)-(J). 

c. c. The charter school's safety plan shall be reviewed and updated by March 1 
each year. 

CSBA NOTE: As amended by AB 1505 and AB 1595, Education Code 47605 adds a requirement 
that the petition describe the means by which the charter school will achieve a balance of racial and 
ethnic students, special education students, and English learners, including redesignated fluent 
English proficient students. 

8. 8. The means by which the charter school will achieve a balance of racial and ethnic
students, special education students, and English learner students, including
redesignated fluent English proficient students, that is reflective of the general
population residing within the district's territorial jurisdiction.

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605, when the number of students who wish to 
attend the charter school exceeds the school's capacity, attendance must be determined by a 
public random drawing, with admission preference extending to students who currently attend the 
charter school and students who reside in the district. Education Code 47605 provides that 
admission preferences may also include, but are not limited to, siblings of students admitted or 
attending the charter school and children of the school's teachers, staff, and founders identified in 
the initial charter. Education Code 47605 requires that the priority order for preference be 
determined in the charter petition as provided below. 

9. 9. The charter school's student admission policy. The petition shall, in accordance with 
Education Code 47605(e), specify procedures for determining enrollment when the number 
of applicants exceeds the school's capacity, including requirements for the use of a public 
random drawing, admission preferences, and priority order of preferences as required by 
law and subject to Governing Board approval. 

10. 10. The manner in which annual, independent financial audits shall be conducted, which 
shall employ generally accepted accounting principles, and the manner in which audit 
exceptions and deficiencies shall be resolved to the Board's satisfaction. 

CSBA NOTE: As added by AB 982 (Ch. 779, Statutes of 2019),CSBA NOTE: Education Code 
47605 requires that the suspension and expulsion procedures included in the charter petition 
prohibit the involuntary removal of a student, unless written notice of intent to remove the student 
has been given to the student and the student’s parent/guardian. When such a student is a foster 
child or youth, homeless child, or Indian child, as defined in Welfare and Institutions Code 224.1, 
Education Code 47605, as amended by AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), requires such 
notifications to also be given to other specified individuals, such as a foster youth’s educational 
rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, a homeless child’s educational rights holder, and 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 48



an Indian child’s tribal social worker, and if applicable, county social worker. Pursuant to Education 
Code 47605, as amended by AB 740, these individuals have the same rights as a parent/guardian 
to receive a suspension notice, expulsion notice, manifestation determination notice, involuntary 
transfer notice, and other documents and related information. 

Additionally, Education Code 47606.2 requires that the suspension procedures included in the 
charter petition provide that (1) upon request of a student who has been suspended for two or 
more school days, or the student's parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the student, the homework assigned during the period of suspension be 
given and (2) any such completed homework shall not count towards the student's overall grade in 
the class unless the assignments are graded before the end of the academic term. 

11. The procedures by which students can be suspended or expelled for disciplinary reasons or
otherwise involuntarily removed for any reason, including an explanation of how the charter
school will comply with federal and state constitutional procedural and substantive due
process requirements as specified in Education Code 47605 and a statement that the
suspension procedures will include requirements.

Such procedures shall contain a clear statement that no student shall be involuntarily
removed by the charter school for any reason unless written notice of the intent to remove 
the student is given to the student’s parent/guardian at least five schooldays before the 
effective date of the removal. In the case of a homeless student or foster youth, the notice 
shall be given to the student’s educational rights holder. Additionally, a foster youth’s 
attorney and county social worker, and an Indian child’s tribal social worker, and if 
applicable, the county social worker, shall be given such notice. 

The notice shall inform the student, the student’s parent/guardian, and any other specified 
individual, as applicable, of the right to initiate a hearing as described in Education Code 
47605, before the effective date of the removal. The notice shall be provided in the 
student’s parent/guardian’s, or other applicable person’s language, and, if such a hearing is 
initiated, shall include the student’s right to remain enrolled in the charter school until a final 
decision is made by the charter school.    

11. In addition, the procedures shall contain a statement pertaining to the provision of
homework assignments to suspended students as specified in Education Code 47606.2.

Such procedures shall also include processes by which the charter school will notify the 
superintendent of a district, and by which the charter school may be notified by the 
superintendent of a district, when a student or former student of the charter school is 
expelled or subject to any of the circumstances specified in Education Code 47605(e)(3). 
 Superintendent of the district of the student’s last known address and, upon request, 
provide the student’s cumulative record to the district, when a student is expelled or leaves 
the charter school without graduating or completing the school year for any reason. In 
addition, the procedures shall describe the means by which the district can contact the 
charter school if the student is subsequently expelled or leaves the school district without 
graduating or completing the school year for any reason. 

Involuntarily removed means disenrolled, dismissed, transferred, or terminated, but does not 
include suspensions.  (Education Code 47605) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 49



12. 12. The manner by which staff members of the charter school will be covered by the 
State Teachers' Retirement System, the Public Employees' Retirement System, or federal 
social security. 

13. 13. The public school attendance alternatives for students residing within the district 
who choose to not attend the charter school. 

14. 14. A description of the rights of any district employee upon leaving district 
employment to work in the charter school and of any rights of return to the district after 
employment at the charter school. 

15. 15. The procedures to be followed by the charter school and the Board to resolve 
disputes relating to charter provisions. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires charter petitions to contain the declaration specified 
in item #15Item #16 below regarding responsibilities for collective bargaining. If the charter school 
is not deemed the public school employer for purposes of collective bargaining under Government 
Code 3540-3549.3, the district where the charter school is located shall be deemed the public 
school employer for these purposes, pursuant to Education Code 47611.5. Education Code 
47611.5 further provides that, if the charter does not specify that the charter school shall comply 
with laws and regulations governing tenure or a merit or civil service system, the scope of 
representation for that charter school shall also include discipline and dismissal of charter school 
employees. 

16. 16. A declaration as to whether or not the charter school will be deemed the exclusive 
public school employer of the school's employees for purposes of collective bargaining 
under Government Code 3540-3549.3. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 and 5 CCR 11962 require the charter petition to include 
procedures to be used in the event that the charter school closes for any reason, as provided in 
item #16Item #17 below. Duties of the district pertaining to charter school closures include 
notification requirements pursuant to Education Code 47604.32 and 5 CCR 11962.1; see BP 
0420.41 - Charter School Oversight. 

17. 17. Consistent with 5 CCR 11962, the procedures to be used if the charter school 
closes, including, but not limited to: 

a. a. Designation of a responsible entity to conduct closure-related activities 

b. b. Notification to parents/guardians, the Board, the county office of education, 
the special education local plan area in which the charter school participates, the 
retirement systems in which the school's employees participate, and the California 
Department of Education, providing at least the following information: 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 50



i. i. The effective date of the closure 

ii. ii. The name(s) and contact information of the person(s) to whom 
reasonable inquiries may be made regarding the closure 

iii. iii. The students' districts of residence 

iv. iv. The manner in which parents/guardians may obtain copies of student 
records, including specific information on completed courses and credits that 
meet graduation requirements 

c. c. Provision of a list of students at each grade level, the classes they have 
completed, and their districts of residence to the responsible entity designated in 
accordance with item #16aItem #17a above 

d. d. Transfer and maintenance of all student records, all state assessment results, 
and any special education records to the custody of the responsible entity 
designated in accordance with item #16aItem #17a above, except for records 
and/or assessment results that the charter may require to be transferred to a 
different entity 

e. e. Transfer and maintenance of personnel records in accordance with 
applicable law 

f. f. Completion of an independent final audit within six months after the closure 
of the charter school that may function as the annual audit, which includes an 
accounting of all financial assets and liabilities pursuant to 5 CCR 11962 and an 
assessment of the disposition of any restricted funds received by or due to the 
school 
 and an accounting of all financial assets and liabilities pursuant to 5 CCR 11962 

g. g. Disposal of any net assets remaining after all liabilities of the charter school 
have been paid or otherwise addressed pursuant to 5 CCR 11962 
 11962h. 

h. h. Completion and filing of any annual reports required pursuant to Education 
Code 47604.33 

i. i. Identification of funding for the activities identified in item #16a-hItem 
#17a-g above 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires that petitioners provide to the Board the 
information listed in itemsItems #1-4 below. As amended by AB 1505, and AB 1595, Education 
Code 47605 adds item #5 below as a requirement, for any petition to operate a charter school by 
or as a nonprofit public benefit corporation, the information listed in Item #5 below. 

The Board may require additional information beyond what is included in itemsItems #1-5. As 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 51



outlined in CSBA's publication , “Charter Schools: A Guide for Governance Teams,,” some districts 
request a school calendar, information regarding transportation arrangements, staff development 
plans, assurances that the school will provide appropriate services for English language learners 
and students with disabilities, or any other information that will assist the Board in understanding 
the proposal. Districts that wish to require additional information in the charter may list those 
items below. 
Charter school petitioners shall provide information to the Board regarding the proposed operation 
and potential effects of the school, including, but not limited to:  (Education Code 47605) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 requires that information on school facilities, listed in 
itemItem #1 below, specify where the school intends to locate. Unless otherwise exempted, the 
school must be located within the geographic boundaries of the chartering district; see section 
"Location of Charter School" below. 

1. 1. The facilities to be used by the charter school, including where the school intends to 
locate 

2. 2. The manner in which administrative services of the charter school are to be 
provided 

3. 3. Potential civil liability effects, if any, upon the charter school and district 

4. 4. Financial statements that include a proposed first-year operational budget, including 
start-up costs and cash-flow and financial projections for the first three years of operation 

5. 5. If the charter school is to be operated by or as a nonprofit public benefit 
corporation, the names and relevant qualifications of all persons whom the petitioner 
nominates to serve on the governing body of the charter school 

Location of Charter School 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 47605 and 47605.1 establish geographic and site requirements for 
charter schools. Pursuant to Education Code 47605, a charter school granted by either the County 
Board of Education or the State Board of Education following initial denial by the district must 
locate within the geographic boundaries of the district that denied the petition. 
Unless otherwise exempted by law, the charter petition shall identify a single charter school that 
will operate within the geographic boundaries of the district. A charter school may propose to 
operate at multiple sites within the district as long as each location is identified in the petition. 
(Education Code 47605, 47605.1) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 47605.1, as amended by AB 1507 (Ch. 487, Statutes of 
2019), a resource center, meeting space, or other satellite facility used by a charter school for 
nonclassroom-based independent study must, with specified exceptions, be located within district 
boundaries. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 52



A charter school may establish a resource center, meeting space, or other satellite facility within the 
jurisdiction of the school district where the charter school is physically located if both of the 
following conditions are met:  (Education Code 47605.1)  

1. 1. The facility is used exclusively for the educational support of students who are 
enrolled in nonclassroom-based independent study of the charter school. 

2. 2. The charter school provides its primary educational services in, and a majority of the 
students it serves are residents of, the county in which the school is authorized. 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service  
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved.

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy. 

State Description 
5 CCR 11700-11705 Independent study 

5 CCR 11960-11969.10 Charter schools 

Corp. Code 5110-6910 Nonprofit public benefit corporations 

Ed. Code 1240 County superintendent of schools; duties 

Ed. Code 17078.52-17078.66 Charter schools facility funding; state bond proceeds 

Ed. Code 17280-17317 Field Act; approval of plans and supervision of construction 

Ed. Code 17365-17374 Field Act; fitness for occupancy; liability of board members 

Ed. Code 200 Equal rights and opportunities in state educational 
institutions 

Ed. Code 220 Prohibition of discrimination 

Ed. Code 32280-32289.5 School safety plans 

Ed. Code 33126 School accountability report card 

Ed. Code 41365 Charter school revolving loan fund 

Ed. Code 42131 Interim certification 

Ed. Code 42238.5102-42238.252 Funding for charter districts 

Ed. Code 44237 Criminal record summary 

Ed. Code 44830.1 Certificated employees; conviction of a violent or serious 
felony 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 53



Ed. Code 45122.1 Classified employees; conviction of a violent or serious felony 

Ed. Code 46201 Instructional minutes 

Ed. Code 47600-47616.7 Charter Schools Act of 1992 

Ed. Code 47640-47647 Special education funding for charter schools 

Ed. Code 47650-4765247655  Funding of charter schools 

Ed. Code 49011 Student fees 

Ed. Code 5174551744-51749  Independent study 

Ed. Code 52052 Accountability; numerically significant student subgroups 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Ed. Code 56026 Special education 

Ed. Code 56145-56146 Special education services in charter schools 

Gov. Code 1090-1099 Prohibitions applicable to specified officers 

Gov. Code 3540-3549.3 Educational Employment Relations Act 

Gov. Code 54950-54963 The Ralph M. Brown Act 

Gov. Code 7920.000 - 7930.170215 California Public Records Act 

Gov. Code 81000-91014 Political Reform Act of 1974 

Welfare and Institutions Code 224.1 Indian child; definition 

Federal Description 
20 USC 7223-72257221-7221j Charter schools 

Management Resources Description 
Attorney General Opinion 101 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 92 (2018) 

Attorney General Opinion 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 297 (1995) 

Attorney General Opinion 89 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 166 (2006) 

Attorney General Opinion 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 52 (1997) 

California Department of 
EducationCharter Authorizing 
Professionals Publication 

Sample Copy of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
Resource, September 2022 

Court Decision CSBA’S Education Legal Alliance v. California State Board of 
Education, Case No. 34-2018-80002834 

Court Decision Napa Unified School District v. California State Board of 
Education, Case No. 34-2022-80004051 

Court Decision Ridgecrest Charter School v. Sierra Sands Unified School 
District, (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 986 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 54



CSBA Publication Charter Schools:  A Guide for Governance Teams, rev. 
February 20162021 

CSBA Publication Uncharted Waters:  Recommendations for Prioritizing 
Student Achievement and Effective Governance in 
California's Charter Schools, September 2018 

CSBA Publication Charter Schools and Board Member Responsibilities, 
Education Insights Legal Update Webcast, March 2016 

CSBA Publication Charter Schools in Focus, Issue 1:  Managing the Petition 
Review Process, Governance Brief, November 2016 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Charter Schools Program:  Title V, Part B of the ESEA, 
Nonregulatory Guidance, January 2014 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Dear Colleague Letter:  Guidance Regarding the Oversight of 
Charter Schools Program and Regulatory Requirements, 
August 2016 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Guidance on the Voluntary Use of Race to Achieve Diversity 
and Avoid Racial Isolation in Elementary and Secondary 
Schools, December 2011 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website National Association of Charter School Authorizers 

Website California Charter Schools Association 

Website California Department of Education, Charter Schools 

Website CSBA 

Website U.S. Department of Education 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0420.41 Charter School Oversight 

0420.41-E(1) Charter School Oversight 

0420.42 Charter School Renewal 

0420.43 Charter School Revocation 

0430 Comprehensive Local Plan For Special Education 

0430 Comprehensive Local Plan For Special Education 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0510 School Accountability Report Card 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 55

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.qualitycharters.org/#
http://www.ccsa.org/#
https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/ch/#
http://www.csba.org/#
http://www.ed.gov/#


2230 Representative And Deliberative Groups 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

7160 Charter School Facilities 

7160 Charter School Facilities 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 56



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 3555: Nutrition Program Compliance Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/2010 | Last Revised Date: 0703/01/20202023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0703/01/20202023 

CSBA NOTE: The following policy is required for any district whose child nutrition programs (i.e., 
National School Lunch Program, School Breakfast Program, Special Milk Program, and/or other 
child nutrition program) receive state or federal funding. During the California Department of 
Education's (CDE) Administrative Review of the district's child nutrition programs, CDE will review 
whether the district has a written procedure that complies with requirements pertaining to civil 
rights and nondiscrimination.  

Various state and federal laws prohibit discrimination in district programs and activities on the 
basis of actual or perceived race, color, ancestry, nationality, national origin, immigration status, 
ethnic group identification, ethnicity, age, religion, marital status, pregnancy, parental status, 
physical or mental disability, medical condition, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, 
gender expression, or genetic information; a perception of one or more of such characteristics; or 
association with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics. 
See BP 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities. 

CDE's , “Civil Rights and Complaint Procedures for the, U.S. Department of Agriculture Child 
Nutrition Programs,” and the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) ), “FNS Instruction 113-1, 
Civil Rights Compliance and Enforcement - Nutrition Programs and Activities,,” provide guidance 
to districts on how best to comply with federal law. 

The Governing Board recognizes the district's responsibility to comply with state and federal 
nondiscrimination laws as they apply to the district's nutrition programs. The district shall not deny 
any individual the benefits or service of any nutrition program or discriminate on any basis 
prohibited by law. 

Compliance Coordinator 

CSBA NOTE: According to CDE's , “Civil Rights and Complaint Procedures for the, U.S. 
Department of Agriculture Child Nutrition Programs,,” districts are required to appoint a 
coordinator to be responsible for ensuring district compliance with law governing child nutrition 
programs. The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

The Board shall designate a compliance coordinator for nutrition programs, who may also be the 
compliance officer(s) specified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures, to ensure compliance 
with the laws governing the district's nutrition programs.  

CSBA NOTE: Items #1-10 below reflect the duties of the coordinator as provided in CDE's , “Civil 
Rights and Complaint Procedures for the, U.S. Department of Agriculture Child Nutrition 
Programs..” 

The responsibilities of the compliance coordinator include, but are not limited to: 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 57



1. 1. Providing the name of the compliance coordinator, and the Section 504 coordinator, 
and Title IX coordinator, if different from the compliance coordinator, to the California 
Department of Education (CDE) and other interested parties 

2.  2. Annually providing mandatory civil rights training to all frontline staff who interact 
with program applicants or participants and to those who supervise frontline staff 

CSBA NOTE: “FNS Instruction 113-1” lists required components of training that must be provided 
to nutrition program staff, as provided below. 

3. The subject matter of such training shall include, but not be limited to, collection and
use of data, effective public notification systems, complaint procedures, compliance review
techniques, resolution of noncompliance, requirements for reasonable accommodation of
persons with disabilities, requirements for language assistance, conflict resolution, and
customer service.

4. 3. Establishing admission and enrollment procedures that do not restrict enrollment of 
students on the basis of race, ethnicity, national origin, or disability, including preventing 
staff from incorrectly denying applications and ensuring that such persons have equal 
access to all programs 

5.  4. Sending a public release announcing the availability of the child nutrition programs 
and/or changes in the programs to public media and to community and grassroots 
organizations that interact directly with eligible or potentially eligible participants 

6. 5. Communicating the program's nondiscrimination policy and applicable complaint 
procedures, as provided in the section "Notifications" below 

7. 6. Providing appropriate translation services when a significant number of persons in 
the surrounding population have limited English proficiency 

8. 7. Ensuring that every part of a facility is accessible to and usable by persons with 
disabilities and that participants with disabilities are not excluded from the benefits or 
services due to inaccessibility of facilities 

9. 8. Ensuring that special meals are made available to participants with disabilities who 
have a medical statement on file documenting that their disability restricts their diet 

10. 9. Implementing procedures to process and resolve civil rights (complaints, including 
alleged discrimination) complaints on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, or disability, and program-related complaints, including 
maintaining a complaint log, working with the appropriate person to resolve any complaint, 
and referring the complainant to the appropriate state or federal agency when necessary 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 58



CSBA NOTE: Districts receiving federal financial assistance are required to request racial/ethnic 
data of all program applicants and participants for purposes of determining whether the program 
reaches potential eligible persons, identifying areas where additional outreach is needed, selecting 
locations for compliance reviews, and completing required reports. According to “FNS Instruction 
113-1,,” using the applicant's self-identification or self-reporting is the preferred method of
obtaining racial and ethnic data.

When requesting such information, districts should be careful to not request any information in 
regard to the immigration status of students or their family members and, if such information is 
inadvertently received, to not disclose it to immigration enforcement authorities without parental 
consent, a court order, or judicial subpoena. See AR 5145.13 - Response to Immigration 
Enforcement. 

11. 10. Developing a method, which preferably uses self-identification or self-reporting, to 
collect racial and ethnic data for potentially eligible populations, applicants, and participants 

Notifications 

The compliance coordinator shall ensure that the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) "And 
Justice for All" civil rights poster, or a substitute poster approved by the USDA's Food and 
Nutrition Service, is displayed in areas visible to the district's nutrition program participants, such as 
food service areas and school offices. 

CSBA NOTE: “FNS Instruction 113-1” requires districts to notify nutrition program applicants, 
participants, and potentially eligible persons of program availability, rights, and responsibilities and 
to advise them at each service delivery site (e.g., the school) regarding the procedure for filing a 
complaint. Such notice may be distributed through student and parent/guardian handbooks or 
other method of parentalparent/guardian notifications. 

The compliance coordinator shall notify the public, all program applicants, participants, and 
potentially eligible persons of their rights and responsibilities and steps necessary to participate in 
the nutrition programs., including program requirements and program availability. Applicants, 
participants, and the public also shall be advised of their right to file a complaint, how to file a 
complaint, the complaint procedures, and that a complaint may be filefiled anonymously or by a 
third party. 

CSBA NOTE: As part of its instructions to all recipients of federal funds, USDA requires that all 
forms of communication available to the public regarding program availability also contain 
information about that recipient's status as an equal opportunity provider and the address of the 
agency with responsibility to handle complaints made against the recipient.  USDA provides 
specific language for the notification and prohibits its modification in any way. The required 
language is available on USDA's web site and in the accompanying exhibit. 

In addition, the compliance coordinator shall ensure that all forms of communication available to 
the public regarding program availability shall contain, in a prominent location, athe most current 
version of the nondiscrimination statement provided by USDA about the district's status as an 
equal opportunity provider and the address of the agency with responsibility to handle complaints 
made against the district. 

Forms of communication requiring this nondiscrimination statement include, but are not limited to, 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 59



web sites, public information releases, publications, and posters, but exclude items such as cups, 
buttons, magnets, menus, and pens that identify the program when the size or configuration makes 
it impractical. The nondiscrimination statement need not be included on every page of program 
information on the district's or school's web site, but the statement or a link to the statement shall 
be included on the home page of the program information. 

A short version of the nondiscrimination statement, as provided by USDA, may be used on 
pamphlets, brochures, and flyers in the same print size as the rest of the text. 

Complaints of Discrimination 

CSBA NOTE: 5 CCR 4610, as amended by Register 2020, No. 21, reduces the applicability of the 
district's uniform complaint procedures (UCP) for complaints regarding child nutrition programs.  5 
CCR 15582, as added by Register 2020, No. 21,CSBA NOTE: 5 CCR 15582 requires allegations of 
discrimination based on race, color, national origin, sex, age, or disability to be referred to USDA.  
Pursuant to USDA’s CRD memorandum 01-2022, “Application of Bostock v. Clayton County to 
Program Discrimination Complaint Processing,” prohibited sex discrimination includes 
discrimination on the basis of gender identity and sexual orientation. Complaints of discrimination 
on any other basis are addressed through the district's UCP; see BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform 
Complaint Procedures. 

For information about compliance complaints, see the section below on "Complaints Regarding 
Noncompliance with Program Requirements." 

A complaint alleging discrimination in the district's nutrition program(s) on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, or disability shall, within 180 days of 
the alleged discriminatory act, be filed or referred to USDA at any of the following:  (5 CCR 15582) 

Mail: U.S. Department of Agriculture,  
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights,  
1400 Independence Avenue, SW,   
Washington, D.C. 20250-9410,  

Phone: (866) 632-9992, (800) 877-8339 (Federal Relay Service - English, deaf, hard of 
hearing, or speech disabilities), (800) 845-6136 (Federal Relay Service - Spanish), fax )  

Fax: (833) 256-1665 or (202) 690-7442, or email 

Email: program.intake.@usda.gov 

Complaints of discrimination on any other basis shall be investigated by the district using the 
process identified in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 

Complaints Regarding Noncompliance with Program Requirements 

CSBA NOTE: 5 CCR 15580-15584, as added by Register 2020, No. 21, require complaints 
regarding meal counting and claiming, reimbursable meals, eligibility of children or adults, or use of 
cafeteria funds and allowable expenses to be referred to CDE.  During the investigation, the 
complainant will have the opportunity to present information or evidence to support the 
allegations, and the district will have the opportunity to respond to the complaint. The district may 
also be subject to an on-site investigation, which may be unannounced. CDE's written decision 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 60



will be issued within 90 days of receipt of the complaint. 

Complaints regarding noncompliance with other nutrition program requirements are addressed 
locally as described below. 

Any complaint alleging that the district has not complied with program requirements pertaining to 
meal counting and claiming, reimbursable meals, eligibility of a child or adult, use of cafeteria funds 
and allowable expenses in relation to any child nutrition program specified in Education Code 
49550-49564.5 shall be filed with or referred to CDE.  (Education Code 49556; 5 CCR 15584) 

Complaints against a program operator that is not an educational agency shall be filed with or 
referred to CDE.  (5 CCR 15584) 

Complaints of noncompliance with any other nutrition program requirements shall be submitted to 
and investigated by the district using the following procedures. 

Complaints may be filed by a student or the student's parent/guardianduly authorized 
representative by phone, email, or letter. The complaint shall be submitted within one year from 
the date of the alleged violation and shall include the following:  (5 CCR 15581)  

1. 1. A statement that the district has violated a law or regulation relating to its child 
nutrition program 

2. 2. The facts on which the statement is based 

3. 3. The name of the district or the school against which the allegations are made 

4. 4. The complainant's contact information 

5. 5. The name of the student if alleging violations regarding a specific student 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 5 CCR 15583, as added by Register 2020, No. 21, districts are required 
to investigate and issue a written report within the 60-day timeline provided withinby 5 CCR 
4631, and the complainant may appeal the district's report to CDE within the 30-day timeframe 
provided withinby 5 CCR 4632. 

The district shall investigate and prepare a written report pursuant to 5 CCR 4631.  (5 CCR 15583) 

CSBA NOTE: Option 1 below is for districts that do not allow complainants to appeal the 
compliance coordinator's decision to the Governing Board. Option 2 is for districts that allow 
appeals to the Board, and requires the coordinator's decision within 30 calendar days so that the 
Board's decision can still be given within the 60-day time limit. 

OPTION 1: (No appeal permitted) 

Unless extended by written agreement with the complainant, the district's compliance coordinator 
shall investigate the complaint and prepare a written report to be sent to the complainant within 60 
days of the district's receipt of the complaint.  (5 CCR 15583; 5 CCR 4631) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 61

Executive Assistant
Cross-Out



 

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE 
 
OPTION 2: (Appeal permitted) 
 
Unless extended by written agreement with the complainant, the district's compliance coordinator 
shall investigate the complaint and prepare a written report to be sent to the complainant within 30 
calendar days of the district's receipt of the complaint. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the 
compliance coordinator's decision, the complainant may, within five business days, file the 
complaint in writing with the Board.   
 
The Board shall consider the matter at its next regular Board meeting or at a special Board meeting 
convened in order to meet the 60-day time limit within which the complaint must be answered 
pursuant to 5 CCR 4631.  When required by law, the matter shall be considered in closed session. 
The Board may decide not to consider the complaint, in which case the coordinator's decision shall 
be final.   
 
If the Board considers the complaint, the Board's decision shall be sent to the complainant within 
60 calendar days of the district's initial receipt of the complaint or within the time period that has 
been specified in a written agreement with the complainant.  (5 CCR 4631) 
 
OPTION 2 ENDS HERE 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by all districts. 
If the complainant is not satisfied with the findings in the district's report, the complainant may 
appeal the decision to CDE by filing a written appeal within 30 days of receiving the decision.  (5 
CCR 4632)  

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 

5 CCR 15580-15584 Child nutrition programs complaint procedures 

5 CCR 3080 Applicability of uniform complaint procedures to complaints 
regarding students with disabilities 

5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

5 CCR 4900-4965 Nondiscrimination in elementary and secondary educational 
programs receiving state or federal financial assistance 

Ed. Code 200-262.4 Prohibition of discriminationProhibition of discrimination 

Ed. Code 42238.01 Definitions for purposes of funding 

Ed. Code 48985 Notices to parents in language other than English 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 62

Executive Assistant
Cross-Out



 

Ed. Code 49060-49079 Student records 

Ed. Code 49490-49590 Child nutrition programs 

Pen. Code 422.6 Crimes; harassment 

Federal Description 

20 USC 1400-1482 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

20 USC 1681-1688 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972; 
discrimination based on sex 

28 CFR 35.101-35.190 Americans with Disabilities Act 

28 CFR 36.303 Nondiscrimination on the basis of disability,; public 
accommodations,; auxiliary aids and services 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

34 CFR 100.1-100.13 Nondiscrimination in federal programs,; effectuating Title VI 

34 CFR 104.1-104.39 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

34 CFR 106.1-106.61 Discrimination on the basis of sex,; effectuating Title IX 

34 CFR 106.9 Severability 

42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

42 USC 2000d-2000d-7 Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 

42 USC 2000e-2000e-17 Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended 

7 CFR 210.19 National School Lunch Program; additional responsibilities 

7 CFR 210.23 National School Lunch Program; district responsibilities 

7 CFR 215.14 Special Milk Program; nondiscrimination 

7 CFR 215.7 Special Milk Program; requirements for participation 

7 CFR 220.13 School Breakfast Program; special responsibilities of state 
agencies 

7 CFR 220.7 School Breakfast Program; requirements for participation 

7 CFR 225.11 Summer Food Service Program; corrective action procedures 

7 CFR 225.3 Summer Food Service Program; administration 

7 CFR 225.7 Summer Food Service Program; program monitoring 

7 CFR 226.6 Child and Adult Care Food Program; state agency 
administrative responsibilities 

7 CFR 250.15 Out-of-condition donated foods, food recalls, and complaints 

Management Resources Description 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 63



 

California Department of Education 
Publication 

Civil Rights and Complaint Procedures for the, U.S. 
Department of Agriculture Child Nutrition Programs, June 
2018 

U.S. Department of Agriculture 
Publication 

Civil Rights Compliance and Enforcement - Nutrition 
Programs and Activities, FNS Instruction 113-1, November 
2005 

U.S. Department of Agriculture 
Publication 

Application of Bostock v. Clayton County to Program 
Discrimination Complaint Processing – Policy Update, CRD 
01-2022, May 2022 

U. S. Department of Agriculture 
Publication 

USDA Nondiscrimination Statement, December 2022 

U.S. DOE Office for Civil Rights 
Publication 

Notice of Non-Discrimination, August 2010 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website U.S. Department of Agriculture, Office for Civil Rights 

Website U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service 

Website U. S. Department of Agriculture, And Justice for All Posters 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil 
RightsCalifornia Department of Education, Nutrition Services 
Division 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights 

Cross References 

Code Description 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

1100 Communication With The Public 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3312 Contracts 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

3551 Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 64



 

3551 Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 

3552 Summer Meal Program 

3552 Summer Meal Program 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

4231 Staff Development 

5022 Student And Family Privacy Rights 

5022 Student And Family Privacy Rights 

5030 Student Wellness 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5141.27 Food Allergies/Special Dietary Needs 

5141.27 Food Allergies/Special Dietary Needs 

5145.13 Response To Immigration Enforcement 

5145.13 Response To Immigration Enforcement 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 65



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Exhibit 3555-E(1): Nutrition Program Compliance Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/2020 | Last Reviewed Date: 0703/01/20202023  

 
NONDISCRIMINATION STATEMENT FOR NUTRITION PROGRAMS 

 

CSBA NOTE: As part of its instructions to all recipients of federal funds for child nutrition 
programs, the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) requires that all forms of communication 
available to the public regarding program availability also contain information about that 
recipient's status as an equal opportunity provider and the address of the agency with 
responsibility to handle complaints made against the recipient.  The following exhibit presents 
specific language provided by USDA for the notification, which must not be modified in any way. 

The following statement shall be included, in a prominent location, on all forms available to the 
public regarding the availability of the district's child nutrition programs: 
 

"In accordance with Federal civil rights law and U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
civil rights regulations and policies, the USDA, its Agencies, offices, and employees, and 
institutions participating in or administering USDA programs arethis institution is 
prohibited from discriminating based on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, 
(including gender identity and sexual orientation), disability, age, or reprisal or 
retaliation for prior civil rights activity in any program or activity conducted or funded 
by USDA. . 
 

Program information may be made available in languages other than English. Persons 
with disabilities who require alternative means of communication forto obtain program 
information (e.g., Braille, large print, audiotape, American Sign Language, etc.), should 
contact the Agency (Stateresponsible state or local) where they applied for benefits. 
Individuals who are deaf, hard of hearing  agency that administers the program or have 
speech disabilities mayUSDA’s TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice and TTY) or 
contact USDA through the Federal Relay Service at (800) 877-8339. Additionally, 
program information may be made available in languages other than English. 
  

To file a program complaint of discrimination, complaint, a Complainant should 
complete thea Form AD-3027, USDA Program Discrimination Complaint Form, (AD-
3027) foundwhich can be obtained online at:  https://www.ascr.usda.gov/filing-
program-discrimination-complaint-usda-customer, and 
atsites/default/files/documents/ad-3027.pdf, from any USDA office, by calling (866) 
632-9992, or writeby writing a letter addressed to the USDA and provide in the . The 
letter allmust contain the complainant’s name, address, telephone number, and a 
written description of the information requested inalleged discriminatory action in 
sufficient detail to inform the form. To request a copy ofAssistant Secretary for Civil 
Rights (ASCR) about the complaint form, call (866) 632-9992. Submit yournature and 
date of an alleged civil rights violation. The completed AD-3027 form or letter must be 
submitted to USDA by: 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 66



(1)    mail:  U.S. Department of Agriculture 
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights 
1400 Independence Avenue, SW 
Washington, D.C. 20250-9410; or 

 
(2)    fax:  (833) 256-1665 or (202) 690-7442; or 
 
(3)    email:  program.intakeProgram.Intake@usda.gov 
 
This institution is an equal opportunity provider." 

 
On pamphlets, brochures, and flyers, in the same print size as the rest of the text, the district may 
print a short version of the nondiscrimination statement, as follows: 
   

"This institution is an equal opportunity provider." 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 15580-15584 Child nutrition programs complaint procedures 

5 CCR 3080 Applicability of uniform complaint procedures to complaints 
regarding students with disabilities 

5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

5 CCR 4900-4965 Nondiscrimination in elementary and secondary educational 
programs receiving state or federal financial assistance 

Ed. Code 200-262.4 Prohibition of discrimination 

Ed. Code 42238.01 Definitions for purposes of funding 

Ed. Code 48985 Notices to parents in language other than English 

Ed. Code 49060-49079 Student records 

Ed. Code 49490-49590 Child nutrition programs 

Pen. Code 422.6 Crimes; harassment 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1400-1482 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

20 USC 1681-1688 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972; 
discrimination based on sex 

28 CFR 35.101-35.190 Americans with Disabilities Act 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 67

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=1.&chapter=2.&part=1.&lawCode=EDC&title=1.&article=1.#


28 CFR 36.303 Nondiscrimination on the basis of disability, public 
accommodations, auxiliary aids and services 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

34 CFR 100.1-100.13 Nondiscrimination in federal programs, effectuating Title VI 

34 CFR 104.1-104.39 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

34 CFR 106.1-106.61 Discrimination on the basis of sex, effectuating Title IX 

34 CFR 106.9 Severability 

42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

42 USC 2000d-2000d-7 Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 

42 USC 2000e-2000e-17 Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended 

7 CFR 210.19 National School Lunch Program; additional responsibilities 

7 CFR 210.23 National School Lunch Program; district responsibilities 

7 CFR 215.14 Special Milk Program; nondiscrimination 

7 CFR 215.7 Special Milk Program; requirements for participation 

7 CFR 220.13 School Breakfast Program; special responsibilities of state 
agencies 

7 CFR 220.7 School Breakfast Program; requirements for participation 

7 CFR 225.11 Summer Food Service Program; corrective action procedures 

7 CFR 225.3 Summer Food Service Program; administration 

7 CFR 225.7 Summer Food Service Program; program monitoring 

7 CFR 226.6 Child and Adult Care Food Program; state agency 
administrative responsibilities 

7 CFR 250.15 Out-of-condition donated foods, food recalls, and complaints 

Management Resources Description 
California Department of Education 
Publication 

Civil Rights and Complaint Procedures for the U.S. 
Department of Agriculture Child Nutrition Programs, June 
2018 

U.S. Department of Agriculture 
Publication 

Civil Rights Compliance and Enforcement - Nutrition 
Programs and Activities, FNS Instruction 113-1, November 
2005 

U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food 
and Nutrition Service 

USDA Nondiscrimination Statement, December 2022 

U.S. DOE Office for Civil Rights 
Publication 

Notice of Non-Discrimination, August 2010 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website U.S. Department of Agriculture, Office for Civil Rights 

Website U.S. Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 68

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.ascr.usda.gov/#
http://www.fns.usda.gov/#


Website California Department of Education, Nutrition Services 
Division 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

1100 Communication With The Public 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3312 Contracts 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

3551 Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 

3551 Food Service Operations/Cafeteria Fund 

3552 Summer Meal Program 

3552 Summer Meal Program 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

4231 Staff Development 

5022 Student And Family Privacy Rights 

5022 Student And Family Privacy Rights 

5030 Student Wellness 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5141.27 Food Allergies/Special Dietary Needs 

5141.27 Food Allergies/Special Dietary Needs 

5145.13 Response To Immigration Enforcement 

5145.13 Response To Immigration Enforcement 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 69

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/nu#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/nu#
http://www2.ed.gov/ocr#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=trIGGjpAqsrxnMjOSOpzDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7m0kkRI080pEKjDxDRMOOw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Tfu9I4sBWoCRXf7vpR3E1Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NZocxSF1S7thTyGslshPhP4Mw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8EsZBYTyuiVt1v9tIDw5cA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3A7tJUfmrHf9bM489BZt9g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZGQduj9MTq1rzDFcE6IPLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bZPslshl9FyhMb9zHYmljlslshcg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KBV0iAhFbuzVTqV8plusEWnYQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=I3avhcoXyHSeGV4c4OvSTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1zDJaxIWlv0mdfzbd8t3lw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CBGe4taGQPdslshzqHPoEja6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TdDslshPM3FElcWplus1cDGhZCfQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshBMTMtpCwBBfKhslshKj7KBwA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusFbslshDd5b2uysEZbcejUupA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GMyplus5iXp79Re8ozSaRPPNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R2sOzhydv7S3yougeNFlag==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DILuIUSJFtLZbplusslshm4QQhPg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mpokTrHJQTpziVOkADB0PA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qstmGOOTWWiQph0UkIofcg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6FstauJGHQ2BvplusOrUoid4Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nuhZ7i6wUlwyV4cWGWzRkw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#


5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 70

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kzw1xBMajLydvyUH73nR0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=AqvvLX58MhDZU5pluscdL0ohQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r2NMUoOTIslsh5NEAo9nsCaplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bqGfY4qCGCTAqurzrGplusmlg==#


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 4030: Nondiscrimination In Employment Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 05/01/2016 | Last Revised Date: 0903/01/20222023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0903/01/20222023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following Board policy and accompanying administrative regulation are 
mandated pursuant to Government Code 11138 and 2 CCR 11023. The California Fair 
Employment and Housing Act (FEHA) (Government Code 12900-12996) prohibits districts and 
district employees from harassing or discriminating against employees and job applicants on the 
basis of actual or perceived race, color, ancestry, national origin, age, religious creed, marital 
status, pregnancy, reproductive health decisionmaking, physical or mental disability, medical 
condition, genetic information, veteran or military status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender 
identity, or gender expression. Pursuant to Government Code 12940, these protections apply to 
employees, job applicants, persons who serve in an unpaid internship or other limited-duration 
program to gain unpaid work experience, volunteers, and independent contractors. 
 
The same or similarAdditionally, protections are available to employees and job applicants under 
various provisions of federal law, including Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC 2000d-
2000d-7), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC 2000e-2000e-17), Title IX of the 
Education Amendments of 1972 (20 USC 1681-1688), the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 
USC 12101-12213), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 794), and the Genetic 
Information Nondiscrimination Act (42 USC 2000ff-2000ff-11). 
 
For policy addressing sexual harassment of and by employees, see BP/AR 
4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual Harassment. 

The Governing Board is determined to provide a safe, positive environment where all district 
employees are assured of full and equal employment access and opportunities, protection from 
harassment and intimidation, and freedom from any fear of reprisal or retribution for asserting their 
employment rights in accordance with law. For purposes of this policy, employees include job 
applicants, interns, volunteers, and persons who contracted with the district to provide services, as 
applicable. 
 
No district employee shall be discriminated against or harassed by any coworker, supervisor, 
manager, or other person with whom the employee comes in contact in the course of employment, 
on the basis of the employee's actual or perceived race, color, ancestry, national origin, age, 
religious creed, marital status, pregnancy, physical or mental disability, medical condition, genetic 
information, veteran or military status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity, gender 
expression, or association with a person or group with one or more of these actual or perceived 
characteristics. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Government Code 12940, as amended by SB 523 (Ch. 630, Statutes of 2022), 
includes reproductive health decisionmaking as a characteristic for which employment 
discrimination is prohibited. Pursuant to Government Code 12926(y) “reproductive health 
decisionmaking” includes a person’s decision to use or access a particular drug, device, product, or 
medical service for reproductive health. 

 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 71



Employers are also prohibited from discrimination against employees or job applicants on the basis 
of reproductive health decisionmaking, defined as a person’s decision to use or access a particular 
drug, device, product, or medical service for reproductive health.  (Government Code 12926, 
12940) 

CSBA NOTE: 2 CCR 11028 prohibits inquiry into an employee's immigration status or 
discrimination on the basis of such status, unless the district provides clear and convincing 
evidence that it is required to do so in order to comply with federal immigration law. Districts 
should consult CSBACSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services or the 
district'sdistrict legal counsel as necessary. 

The district shall not inquire into any employee's immigration status nor discriminate against an 
employee on the basis of immigration status, unless there is clear and convincing evidence that the 
district is required to do so in order to comply with federal immigration law.  (2 CCR 11028) 

CSBA NOTE: The following items illustrate unlawful discriminatory practices as specified in 
Government Code 12940. Labor Code 1197.5 prohibits the payment of different wage rates to 
employees for similar work based on sex, race, or ethnicity and prohibits the use of prior salary 
history by itself to justify any disparity in compensation under the bona fide factor exception. 

Discrimination in employment based on the characteristics listed above is prohibited in all areas of 
employment and in all employment-related practices, including the following:   

1. Hiring, compensation, terms, conditions, and other privileges of employment 

CSBA NOTE: When disciplining an employee, the district must ensure that all the surrounding 
facts and circumstances are considered and analyzed within the parameters of any applicable 
constitutional or legal framework. In Kennedy v. Bremerton School District, the U.S. Supreme Court 
held that the district violated the employee's protected free exercise and free speech rights when 
the district did not rehire the employee, a coach, for refusing to follow the district's direction to 
refrain from kneeling and praying at the 50-yard line immediately after each football game. The 
district's direction was based on a concern that the employee's prayer violated the district's 
religious practices policy and could subject the district to an Establishment Clause violation. 
Notwithstanding that the prayer occurred at a school event and in the presence of students, the 
court reasoned that the timing and circumstances indicated that the coach's prayers were offered 
as a private citizen rather than as a district employee. The Court held that since the prayer 
occurred during a break, a period when employees would ordinarily be free to engage in personal 
activities such as speaking with friends, checking email, calling for restaurant reservations, etc., the 
district's concerns about a possible Establishment Clause violation did not justify restricting the 
employee's free exercise and free speech rights to offer a private, personal prayer. Employee 
discipline, especially with respect to suspension and dismissal, involves complex legal 
considerations and districts are advised to consult CSBACSBA’s District and County Office of 
Education Legal Services or the district'sdistrict legal counsel, accordingly. 

2. Taking of adverse employment actions such as termination or denial of employment, 
promotion, job assignment, or training 
 

3. Unwelcome conduct, whether verbal, physical, or visual, that is so severe or pervasive as to 
adversely affect an employee's employment opportunities or that has the purpose or effect 
of unreasonably interfering with the employee's work performance or creating an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive work environment 

CSBA NOTE: Item #4 below lists some, but not all, specific practices prohibited under 
Government Code 12940 or 2 CCR 11006-11086 in relation to certain protected categories. For 
example, because "sex" as defined in Government Code 12926 includes pregnancy, childbirth, 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 72



breastfeeding, or related medical conditions, any of these conditions may be the basis for an 
employee's sex discrimination claim. As the specific prohibitions are too numerous to list in policy, 
it is recommended that CSBACSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services or the 
district'sdistrict legal counsel be consulted when questions arise as to any specific claim. 

4. Actions and practices identified as unlawful or discriminatory pursuant to Government Code 
12940 or 2 CCR 11006-11086, such as: 
 

a. Sex discrimination based on an employee's pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding, or 
any related medical condition or on an employee's gender, gender expression, or 
gender identity, including transgender status 
  

b. Religious creed discrimination based on an employee's religious belief or 
observance, including religious dress or grooming practices, or based on the district's 
failure or refusal to use reasonable means to accommodate an employee's religious 
belief, observance, or practice which conflicts with an employment requirement 
  

c. Requiring medical or psychological examination of a job applicant or making an 
inquiry into whether a job applicant has a mental or physical disability or a medical 
condition or as to the severity of any such disability or condition, without the 
showing of a job-related need or business necessity 
  

d. Failure to make reasonable accommodation for the known physical or mental 
disability of an employee or to engage in a timely, good faith, interactive process 
with an employee who has requested such accommodations in order to determine 
the effective reasonable accommodations, if any, to be provided to the employee 
 

CSBA NOTE: Government 12940, as amended by SB 523, makes it unlawful for an employer to 
require disclosure of information relating to an applicant’s or employee’s reproductive health 
decisionmaking. 

e. Requiring an applicant or employee to disclose information relating to the 
employee’s reproductive health decisionmaking 
 

CSBA NOTE: Retaliation against complainants or other participants in the grievance procedures is 
prohibited by Government Code 12940 and 34 CFR 110.34. In addition to the general prohibition 
against retaliation, Government Code 12940 provides that an employee who requests 
accommodation for a physical or mental disability or religious belief is protected from retaliation 
as specified below. CSBA recommends that this protection be extended to all protected 
characteristics, as provided below. 

The Board also prohibits retaliation against any district employee who opposes any discriminatory 
employment practice by the district or its employees, agents, or representatives or who complains, 
reports an incident, testifies, assists, or in any way participates in the district's complaint process 
pursuant to this policy. No employee who requests an accommodation for any protected 
characteristic listed in this policy shall be subjected to any punishment or sanction, regardless of 
whether the request was granted.  (Government Code 12940; 2 CCR 11028) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 12964.5, the district is prohibited from requiring an 
employee, in exchange for a raise or bonus or as a condition of employment or continued 
employment, to sign a nondisparagement agreement or similar document that would deny the 
employee the right to disclose information about unlawful acts in the workplace or requiring an 
employee to release the right to file a claim or civil action against the district.   
 
Pursuant to Government Code 12964.5, as amended by SB 331 (Ch. 638, Statutes of 2021), the 
above prohibition applies not only to claims or complaints of sexual harassment or sexual assault, 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 73



but to those involving harassment or discrimination based on any protected characteristic and to 
other unlawful employment practices under FEHA. 

No employee shall, in exchange for a raise or bonus or as a condition of employment or continued 
employment, be required to sign a release of the employee's claim or right to file a claim against the 
district or a nondisparagement agreement or other document that has the purpose or effect of 
preventing the employee from disclosing information about harassment, discrimination, or other 
unlawful acts in the workplace, including any conduct that the employee has reasonable cause to 
believe is unlawful.   (Government Code 12964.5) 
 
Complaints concerning employment discrimination, harassment, or retaliation shall immediately be 
investigated in accordance with procedures specified in the accompanying administrative 
regulation. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 2 CCR 11019, in certain instances, an employee's (especially a 
supervisor's) knowledge or notice of prohibited conduct of another employee or individual may 
subject the district to liability. Therefore, it is recommended that the district require its employees 
with knowledge of harassment or discrimination to report the incident to the appropriate district 
authorities. In addition, Government Code 12940 provides that a district may be responsible for 
harassment of employees by nonemployees when the district knows or should have known of the 
conduct and failed to take immediate and corrective action, taking into consideration the extent of 
the district's control and other legal responsibility that the district may have with respect to the 
conduct of those nonemployees. Also seeSee also BP/AR 4119.11/4219.11/4319.11 - Sexual 
Harassment. 
 
See the accompanying administrative regulation for requirements related to the identification of 
the employee who will be responsible for compliance with nondiscrimination laws. 

Any supervisory or management employee who observes or has knowledge of an incident of 
prohibited discrimination or harassment, including harassment of an employee by a nonemployee, 
shall report the incident to the Superintendent or designated district coordinator as soon as 
practical after the incident. All other employees are encouraged to report such incidents to their 
supervisor immediately.  

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 12940 and 2 CCR 11023 require districts to take all reasonable 
steps to prevent prohibited discrimination and harassment, including, but not limited to, 
dissemination of the district's policy on the prevention of harassment, discrimination, and 
retaliation. In addition, Government Code 12950 requiresand 2 CCR 11049 require districts to 
post, in prominent and accessible locations on district premises, posters developed by the 
California Civil Rights Department (CRD), formerly the Department of Fair Employment and 
Housing (DFEH), which are available on DFEH'sCRD's web site. In addition, Executive Order 
11246 requires contractors and subcontractors who hold a single federal contract or subcontract 
in excess of $10,000 or who hold contracts or subcontracts with the federal government in any 
12-month period that have a total value of more than $10,000 to display the U.S. Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission "Know Your Rights: Workplace Discrimination is Illegal" 
poster in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment and 
representatives of each labor union with which the covered contractor or subcontractor has a 
collective bargaining agreement. For further information on prevention strategies, see the 
accompanying administrative regulation. 

The Superintendent or designee shall use all appropriate means to reinforce the district's 
nondiscrimination policy, including providing training and information to employees about how to 
recognize harassment, discrimination, or other prohibited conduct, how to respond appropriately, 
and components of the district's policies and regulations regarding discrimination. The 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 74



Superintendent or designee shall regularly review the district's employment practices and, as 
necessary, shall take action to ensure district compliance with the nondiscrimination laws. 
 
Any district employee who engages in prohibited discrimination, harassment, or retaliation or who 
aids, abets, incites, compels, or coerces another to engage or attempt to engage in such behavior in 
violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal.  

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 12946, as amended by SB 807 (Ch. 278, Statutes of 2021), 
makes it an unlawful employment practice for a district to fail to maintain certain records and files 
for employees, applicants, and terminated employees, as provided in the following paragraph. 

The district shall maintain and preserve all applications, personnel, membership, or employment 
referral records and files for at least four years after the records are initially created or received or, 
for an applicant or a terminated employee, for four years after the date the employment action was 
taken.  However, when the district is notified that a complaint has been filed with the California 
Civil Rights Department of Fair Employment and Housing, records related to the employee involved 
shall be maintained and preserved until the later of the first date after the time for filing a civil 
action has expired or the first date after the complaint has been fully and finally disposed of and all 
administrative proceedings, civil actions, appeals, or related proceedings have been terminated.  
(Government Code 12946) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
2 CCR 11006-11086 Discrimination in employment 

2 CCR 11023 Harassment and discrimination prevention and correction 

2 CCR 11024 Required training and education on harassment based on sex, 
gender identity and expression, and sexual orientation 

2 CCR 11027-11028 National origin and ancestry discrimination 

5 CCR 4900-4965 Nondiscrimination in elementary and secondary educational 
programs receiving state or federal financial assistance 

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 1 Inalienable rights 

Civ. Code 51.7 Freedom from violence or intimidation 

Ed. Code 200-262.4 Prohibition of discrimination 

Gov. Code 11135 Prohibition of discrimination 

Gov. Code 11138 Rules and regulations 

Gov. Code 12900-12996 Fair Employment and Housing Act 

Gov. Code 12940-12952 Unlawful employment practices 

Gov. Code 12960-12976 Unlawful employment practices; complaints 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 75

https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/IB14C546C12B54833823AAD951ADEB762?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/I8291D1299A1E476884B29AA8793222AB?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/I4597AA3786DE4A7B820F9D02C8795550?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/I4597AA3786DE4A7B820F9D02C8795550?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/I2C978C4D5FA64581B1746169DB644304?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)#
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=51.7.&lawCode=CIV#
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?division=1.&chapter=2.&part=1.&lawCode=EDC&title=1.&article=1.#
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=11135.&lawCode=GOV#


Pen. Code 422.56 Definitions; hate crimes 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1681-1688 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972; 

discrimination based on sex 

28 CFR 35.101-35.190 Americans with Disabilities Act 

29 USC 621-634 Age Discrimination in Employment Act 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

34 CFR 100.6 Title VI; Compliance information 

34 CFR 104.7 Section 504; Designation of responsible employee for 
Section 504and adoption of grievances procedures  

34 CFR 104.8 NoticeNotice of Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Handicap 

34 CFR 106.8 Designation of responsible employeecoordinator; 
dissemination of policy, and adoption of grievance 
procedures 

34 CFR 106.9 Severability 

34 CFR 110.1-110.39 Nondiscrimination on the basis of age 

42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

42 USC 2000d-2000d-7 Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 

42 USC 2000e-2000e-17 Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended 

42 USC 2000ff-2000ff-11 Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 

42 USC 2000h-2-2000h-6 Title IX of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

42 USC 6101-6107 Age discrimination in federally assisted programs 

Executive Order 11246 “Know Your Rights: Workplace Discrimination is Illegal” 
poster 

U.S. Constitution Amendment 1, Free exercise, free speech, and establishment 
clauses 

Management Resources Description 
CA Dept of Fair Employment and 
HousingCivil Rights Department 
Publication 

California Law Prohibits Workplace Discrimination and 
Harassment 

CA Dept of Fair Employment and 
HousingCivil Rights Department 
Publication 

The Rights of Employees Who Are Transgender Rights in the 
Workplaceor Gender Nonconforming 

CA Dept of Fair Employment and 
HousingCivil Rights Department 
Publication 

Workplace Harassment Prevention Guide for California 
Employers 

CA Dept of Fair Employment and 
HousingCivil Rights Department 
Publication 

Your Rights and Obligations as a Pregnant Employee 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 76



CA Civil Rights Department Publication Family Care and Medical Leave and Pregnancy Disability 
Leave 

Court Decision Kennedy v. Bremerton (2022) 142 S.Ct. 2407 

Court Decision Shephard v. Loyola Marymount, (2002) 102 Cal.ApplApp. 4th 
837 

Court Decision Thomson v. North American Stainless LP, (2011) 131 62 
U.S.Ct. 863 170 

U.S. DOE Office for Civil Rights 
Publication 

Notice of Non-Discrimination, August 2010 

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 
Comm Publication 

Enforcement Guidance: Vicarious Employer Liability for 
Unlawful Harassment by Supervisors, June 1999 

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 
Comm Publication 

EEOC Compliance Manual 

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 
Comm Publication 

Know Your Rights: Workplace Discrimination is Illegal, 
October 2022 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website California Civil Rights Department of Fair Employment and 
Housing 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights 

Website U.S. Department of Labor, Office of Federal Contract 
Compliance Program 

Website U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113-E(1) District And School Web Sites 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1240 Volunteer Assistance 

1240 Volunteer Assistance 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 77

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.dfeh.ca.gov/#
http://www.dfeh.ca.gov/#
http://www2.ed.gov/ocr#
http://www.eeoc.gov/#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4uOm9WPslsh0HwKjuRwh5qslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DcTQeLZeVG26t4voqKhgCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=27plusDH66jJeD8B9wRKlHKDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshFRNdBJStNNVwh2rRboCoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Dvrn70ffLJnlKoEAIbwslshgQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrVpuDQ1vR9wQ2k98mWEfw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qtmyiml4l7GvDTy6r17JMw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zzASb7clCzcCyplus88RtsvplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7m0kkRI080pEKjDxDRMOOw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Tfu9I4sBWoCRXf7vpR3E1Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#


1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1313 Civility 

3312 Contracts 

3530 Risk Management/Insurance 

3530 Risk Management/Insurance 

3580 District Records 

3580 District Records 

3600 Consultants 

4000 Concepts And Roles 

4032 Reasonable Accommodation 

4033 Lactation Accommodation 

4111 Recruitment And Selection 

4111.2 Legal Status Requirement 

4111.2 Legal Status Requirement 

4112.4 Health Examinations 

4112.41 Employee Drug Testing 

4112.41 Employee Drug Testing 

4112.6 Personnel Files 

4112.8 Employment Of Relatives 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4113.5 Working Remotely 

4114 Transfers 

4118 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4118 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.11 Sexual Harassment 

4119.11 Sexual Harassment 

4119.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.22 Dress And Grooming 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 78

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vP7cUJGhBANBpX60E0MUFA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NZocxSF1S7thTyGslshPhP4Mw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DOslshXsQDojPEuOnhRSmG8MQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LsMjOm8lnqNqMZdToapCOA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JYZdhhdCtXHwOOU1ifu6lQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yXp8eVO4w16RkOslshcrUS40w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jqUQFDWQei8Sh71OqaeGGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JRzMgb2o9bJyiqslshMVoLW7w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MDNttgA2FUTLFKgyslshwEs6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ruKjiUplusEH62QMuiWayadqQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9YeY9RrJG2s1G4jte3prQg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i89ug3lWfIBaCY6XKbPU3Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=A2eEplus4h4Qby5r0EqCMMwGw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o72V1NApluslJovVNwW2iscew==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mMxX4aAQjUvB8uO8qLI6uA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sUsTq19pRwM79FZJAqnZFw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9vHZTifO0O48hurGuBMmJQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cJbEbkctWAZsHp90MYYz0g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eNDmEdm3plusuplus77uyv1iV35w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=p97l9Vg6L6VuXUtUx98Jmw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=USuW034TqDrfkZmfhulNHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=O9bwkt3Tp26ZuA7hk9zYzw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xWvDTAGIJKxxup7acG67plusA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1KHOvvs9d6lts4hwDX2sGw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=trUejBOFngYpMi2XF45yplusA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yaG5uPUpPUCK0LYTKRaOmQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PS6cPMHONwiHP9plusSG6gJzw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0HTQ5C3JOhplussaFfNwhy6pg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BnQ5HKBRnHPaP0hCklYYRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=G8h5JDuouCHb9r2URiYoEA==#


4119.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4119.41 Employees With Infectious Disease 

4131 Staff Development 

4144 Complaints 

4144 Complaints 

4151 Employee Compensation 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4161.5 Military Leave 

4161.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4211 Recruitment And Selection 

4211.2 Legal Status Requirement 

4211.2 Legal Status Requirement 

4212.4 Health Examinations 

4212.41 Employee Drug Testing 

4212.41 Employee Drug Testing 

4212.6 Personnel Files 

4212.8 Employment Of Relatives 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4213.5 Working Remotely 

4218 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4218 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4218.1 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action (Merit System) 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.11 Sexual Harassment 

4219.11 Sexual Harassment 

4219.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.22 Dress And Grooming 

4219.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4219.41 Employees With Infectious Disease 

4231 Staff Development 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 79

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3f21bNYkKNll2D7cMyslshplusQQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rslshrVm0A2OOt045f4jdEmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w3AXoA8vl7AC7HLfttplusmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5QMI8YGDplusvd1qpQZsCa4Lg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=J4nhC7os8lQcK7N87dXlug==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BpKAmK9HRloyA9dWIYeSWw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PwEFPdTQxAxIt2fBdOuFmw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CGwJmgzdWosBci4DOVJjMg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5vnWslsh89A5uzFVl6m98ZWmg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FUf8plusgABkbfl7DsfGF70Sg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GL9pluszmJZqfBOvmbeKi5UVQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u2DSvOLWs8KplususXJgPkbxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j7XiylgGyxQjBrWSRjiw2w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bADvBu6rpbIXxuDDeRyn4Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=e7PM1MtzVUKqslshIQmnJfplusplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NQSMpb660TDNs6ByNd7OaA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7dZKTA7YltHaLiqReOqUDA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QTIdHbpzxNquxe6rBplusplusLEw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=iNJ9YNslshmwE3tEHiM3EA5pQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CNXHV6dm0tvplusnTbAjRYeDA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vslshPplusbKfDF3QFoa2slshJ592jA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rFDJJwkqp7tSPplusFcgqSyplusA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R5gNvQAP5E5h8mmKCvflTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=q27sJxTjThAgKIUwRrQ7Lg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DaNh0PxC5JEm3rPaQtteFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1PtQ6bLccGzMahjrkSUljQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zmDQBJRq6ZzcJ4i1Wv6bWA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LTVXWoiwJBVnxjaLXQoNbw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z29QnO3fAwVaRNTBqbNdrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fTEKuyI0nyUzPkmoCOTOgQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TdDslshPM3FElcWplus1cDGhZCfQ==#


4244 Complaints 

4244 Complaints 

4251 Employee Compensation 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4261.5 Military Leave 

4261.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4311 Recruitment And Selection 

4311.2 Legal Status Requirement 

4311.2 Legal Status Requirement 

4312.4 Health Examinations 

4312.41 Employee Drug Testing 

4312.41 Employee Drug Testing 

4312.6 Personnel Files 

4312.8 Employment Of Relatives 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4313.5 Working Remotely 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.11 Sexual Harassment 

4319.11 Sexual Harassment 

4319.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.22 Dress And Grooming 

4319.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4319.41 Employees With Infectious Disease 

4331 Staff Development 

4344 Complaints 

4344 Complaints 

4351 Employee Compensation 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4361.5 Military Leave 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 80

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=d8qslsht1q8VbjQKYplus7VN5EcQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=W6b9rzhFso5wehqNEhXTplusw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus2DGzCaVSoKplusLVPjXzpOgA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3HZlUgP3C2gGd1zApy5dJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OCSbNbEbmPBF6jzaCICMCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KvjTZHbd7BFhE3kaljAXow==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sv4GS5jV8b1JeNEqfYslshXYg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GIPd4MM7FNJgx1STt6plusg7A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FeLj2gplus9HslshKGlaQ9t2gedA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mrZP3zrjsKJuSfh4UVS5Aw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8Lie9dpRJb903LBIcf4Q0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jddOPR32o6XAdNp7ZNOsslshg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=B1yMg539pppJzG0kYGkJng==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TGe0D9fsJn3fQRjgAAplusLWA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dz3vYzxXnHNvb6MashyQ0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yb71bRfbKZ84IdbNcRM8slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pluspdmjufS9K5hslshFG25hwQyw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DjoZV2npluso9aSOQrj6hEZbQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cSABrfh4xuoP6m2G4RjJXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusIslsh7ZoynjgQ2o6Ee11ScMw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=86KAzovB1Aebgplusrusgf1EQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=F3fIPsHSIMP3l6tgLpCdhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZSFFvUEMLfslshq2z2iaYGqXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YWSMR3slshO2KslshdgwJK7DplusWXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eHx5CXNPDcvUkyix2HzxLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DTXGy11kZa2YOhmwplusBFplusAQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hplusTLp1ko2H2hPw5RS0rmhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=svGFQOS4J2R8OeDq3J91yg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusu8Iulf3Wi5x0TAPsdplusgiQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j4DUPFVtyadzRFwSjORjzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=X5uLc9Mx5AYplusryOvM238cw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WxP39fISXP8PtB0WcpJuGw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Yqbx8SjYTlOejslsh9Hslsh2hI6A==#


4361.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 81

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nX7vGRruMqi7m4Kygaf2slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r2NMUoOTIslsh5NEAo9nsCaplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bqGfY4qCGCTAqurzrGplusmlg==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 4218: Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/2019 | Last Revised Date: 0903/01/20222023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0903/01/20222023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that have not incorporated the merit 
system for classified employees pursuant to Education Code 45240-45320. For procedures 
applicable to districts that have incorporated the merit system, see BP/AR 4218.1 - 
Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action (Merit System). 
 
The following policy is subject to collective bargaining and may be deleted or revised by any 
district whose collective bargaining agreement covers classified employee dismissal, suspension, 
and other disciplinary action. To the extent that this policy is inconsistent with provisions of the 
collective bargaining agreement, the collective bargaining agreement would prevail. 

The Governing Board expects all employees to perform their jobs satisfactorily and to exhibit 
professional and appropriate conduct. A classified employee may be disciplined for unprofessional 
conduct or unsatisfactory performance in accordance with law or any applicable collective 
bargaining agreement, Board policy, or administrative regulation. 

CSBA NOTE: When disciplining an employee, the district must ensure that all the surrounding 
facts and circumstances are considered and analyzed within the parameters of any applicable 
constitutional or legal framework.  In Kennedy v. Bremerton School District, the U.S. Supreme Court 
held that the district violated the employee's protected free exercise and free speech rights when 
the district did not rehire the employee, a coach, for refusing to follow the district's direction to 
refrain from kneeling and praying at the 50-yard line immediately after each football game.  The 
district's direction was based on a concern that the employee's prayer violated the district's 
religious practices policy and could subject the district to an Establishment Clause violation.  
Notwithstanding that the prayer occurred at a school event and in the presence of students, the 
court reasoned that the timing and circumstances indicated that the coach's prayers were offered 
as a private citizen rather than as a district employee.  According to the Court, since the prayer, a 
religious activity, occurred during a period when employees would ordinarily be free to engage in 
personal secular activities such as speaking with friends, checking email, calling for restaurant 
reservations, etc., the district's concerns about a possible Establishment Clause violation did not 
justify restricting the employee's free exercise and free speech rights to engage in a personal 
religious activity such as offering a prayer.  Employee discipline, especially with respect to 
suspension and dismissal, involves complex legal considerations and districts are advised to 
consult CSBACSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services or the district'sdistrict 
legal counsel, accordingly. 

Disciplinary actions shall be based on the particular facts and circumstances involved and the 
severity of the employee's conduct or performance.  An employee's private exercise of personal 
beliefs and activities, including religious, political, cultural, social, or other beliefs or activities, or 
lack thereof, shall not be grounds for disciplinary action against the employee, provided that the 
beliefs or activities do not involve coercion of students or any other violation of law, Board policy, 
or administrative regulation. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 82



 

 

 
In addition, an employee shall not be suspended, disciplined, reassigned, transferred, dismissed, or 
otherwise retaliated against solely for acting to protect a student engaged in exercising any free 
speech or press right authorized by, or for refusing to infringe upon a student's conduct protected 
pursuant to, Education Code 48907 or 48950. 
 
Disciplinary actions may include, but are not limited to, verbal and written warnings, involuntary 
reassignment, demotion, suspension without pay, reduction of pay step in class, compulsory leave, 
and dismissal. 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that disciplinary actions are taken in a consistent, 
nondiscriminatory manner and are appropriately documented. 
 
A probationary classified employee may be dismissed without cause at any time prior to the 
expiration of the probationary period. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45113 mandates districts not incorporating the merit system to 
prescribe, by written rule or regulation, causes and procedures for disciplinary action against 
permanent classified employees. Also see the accompanying administrative regulation. 

Permanent classified employees shall be subject to disciplinary action only for cause as specified in 
the accompanying administrative regulation.  (Education Code 45113) 
 
Procedures for Serious Disciplinary Proceedings 

CSBA NOTE: The following section should be revised to reflect district practice. 
 
In Skelly v. State Personnel Board, the California Supreme Court held that permanent public 
employees have a right to certain due process protections prior to any punitive disciplinary action, 
such as termination, suspension, or demotion. These procedural rights include notice of the 
proposed materials upon which the action is based and the right to respond, either orally or in 
writing, to the individual recommending that discipline be imposed. These procedural rights are 
designed to protect an employee who may be wrongfully disciplined, without necessitating a full 
evidentiary hearing before the Governing Board. Therefore, CSBA recommends that the 
Superintendent or designee appoint a Skelly officer to evaluate whether there are reasonable 
grounds for believing that the employee engaged in the alleged misconduct and whether the 
proposed discipline is justified. 

The Superintendent or designee shall develop disciplinary procedures for use when dismissal, 
suspension, demotion, involuntary reassignment, or other serious disciplinary action is 
contemplated against an employee.  The procedures for such discipline shall include an opportunity 
for an employee for whom any such disciplinary action is recommended to meet with, or respond in 
writing to, a designated district official ("Skelly officer") who will determine whether the 
recommended discipline should proceed further or be modified or withdrawn. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 45113 and 45116, a permanent classified employee 
must be given notice of any disciplinary action against the employee, including a time period 
during which the employee may request a Board hearing on the charges. See the section 
"Initiation and Notification of Charges" in the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 83



 

 

Pursuant to Education Code 45113, the Board may delegate its authority to determine whether 
sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action against classified employees, excluding peace officers 
as defined in Penal Code 830.32, to an impartial third-party hearing officer. Hearings conducted 
by the Board or a hearing officer are not subject to the procedures used by the Office of 
Administrative Hearings pursuant to Government Code 11500-11529. Districts that refer all 
serious disciplinary matters to a third-party hearing officer rather than holding Board hearings 
should revise the remainder of this section accordingly. 
 
Education Code 45113 requires the Board to delegate its authority to an administrative law judge 
in cases involving allegations of egregious misconduct with a minor. Egregious misconduct is 
defined as immoral conduct leading to an allegation of a sex offense pursuant to Education Code 
44010, a controlled substance offense pursuant to Education Code 44011, or child abuse or 
neglect pursuant to Penal Code 11165.2-11165.6. 

After meeting with the employee or considering the employee's written response, if the Skelly 
officer determines that the recommended discipline should proceed, the Superintendent or 
designee shall send the employee a notice of the recommended disciplinary action, a statement of 
charges, and the results of the Skelly hearing.review process. The notice shall include a statement 
advising the employee of the right to request a Board hearing on the matter. 
 
If the employee fails to request a hearing within the time specified in the notice, the employee is 
deemed to have waived the right to do so, and the Board may order the recommended disciplinary 
action into effect immediately. 
 
If a timely request is submitted, a hearing shall be conducted by the Board.  (Education Code 
45113, 45312) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Subject to the exception described below, Education Code 45113, as amended by AB 
2413 (Ch. 913, Statutes of 2022), prohibits a district from suspending without pay, suspending or 
demoting with a reduction in pay, or dismissing a permanent classified employee who timely 
requests a hearing pending discipline, unless excepted by law. To the extent Education Code 
45113, as amended by AB 2413, conflicts with any collective bargaining agreement the district 
entered into before January 1, 2023, the new requirements described above would not apply until 
the expiration or renewal of the agreement. See the section "Employment Status Pending a 
Disciplinary Hearing” in the accompanying administrative regulation. 

A classified employee who timely requests a hearing may only be suspended, demoted, or 
dismissed pending the outcome of the hearing in accordance with Education Code 45113, and as 
specified in the accompanying administrative regulation.   
 
The hearing shall be held at the earliest convenient date, taking into consideration the established 
schedule of the Board and the availability of legal counsel and witnesses. The employee shall be 
notified of the time and place of the hearing. 
 
The hearing shall be held in closed session, unless the employee requests that the matter be heard 
in an open session meeting.  (Government Code 54957) 
 
The employee shall be entitled to appear personally, produce evidence, and be represented by legal 
counsel. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 84



 

 

 
The Board may use the services of its legal counsel in ruling upon procedural questions, objections 
to evidence, and issues of law.  The Board may review and consider the records of any prior 
personnel action proceedings against the employee in which a disciplinary action was ultimately 
sustained, and any records contained in the employee's personnel files and introduced into 
evidence at the hearing. The Board shall not be bound by rules of evidence used in California 
courts. Informality in any such hearing shall not invalidate any order or decision made by the Board. 
 
At any time before a matter is submitted to the Board for decision, the Superintendent or designee 
may, with the consent of the Board, serve on the employee and file with the Board an amended or 
supplemental recommendation of disciplinary action. If the amended or supplemental 
recommendation includes new causes or allegations, the employee shall be afforded a reasonable 
opportunity to prepare a defense. Any new causes or allegations shall be deemed controverted and 
any objections to the amended or supplemental causes or allegations may be made orally at the 
hearing and shall be noted on the record. 
 
Following the hearing or, if the employee has not requested a hearing, after reviewing the 
Superintendent or designee's recommendation for disciplinary action, the Board shall affirm, 
modify, or reject the recommended disciplinary action. The decision of the Board shall be in writing 
and shall contain findings of fact and the disciplinary action approved, if any. The decision of the 
Board shall be final. 
 
Within 10 working days of the Board's final decision, a copy of the decision shall be delivered to 
the employee and/or designated representative personally or by registered mail. 
 
Except for an allegation of egregious misconduct in which a minor is involved, the Board may 
delegate the authority to determine whether sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action to an 
impartial third-party hearing officer.  When a matter is heard by a third-party hearing officer, the 
Board shall review the determination and adopt or reject the recommended decision.  (Education 
Code 45113) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 44990, an administrative law judge in a suspension or 
dismissal hearing is required to preserve the integrity of the truth-finding function by balancing 
the right of a classified employee against the need to protect a minor witness. 

When any matter involves an allegation of egregious misconduct as defined in Education Code 
44932 and involves a witness who is a minor, the matter shall be referred to an administrative law 
judge to determine whether sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action against the employee. In 
such cases, the ruling of the administrative law judge shall be binding on the district and the 
employee.  (Education Code 45113)  
 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 85



 

 

State Description 
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 1 Inalienable rights 

Ed. Code 35161 Board delegation of any powers or duties 

Ed. Code 44009 Conviction of specified crimes 

Ed. Code 44010 Sex offense; definitions 

Ed. Code 44011 Controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 44940 Compulsory leave of absence for certificated persons 

Ed. Code 44940.5 Procedures when employees are placed on compulsory leave 
of absence 

Ed. Code 45101 Definitions; disciplinary action and cause 

Ed. Code 45109 Fixing of duties 

Ed. Code 45113 Notification of charges; classified employees 

Ed. Code 45123 Employment after conviction of controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 45302 Demotion and removal from permanent classified service 

Ed. Code 45303 Additional cause for suspension or dismissal of employee 
charge with mandatory or optional leave of absence offense 

Ed. Code 45304 Compulsory leave of absence for classified persons 

Veh. Code 1808.8 School bus drivers; dismissal for safety-related cause 

Federal Description 
42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

U.S. Constitution Amendment 1, Free exercise, free speech, and establishment 
clauses 

Management Resources Description 
Court Decision Kennedy v. Bremerton (2022) 142 S.Ct. 2407 

Court Decision California School Employees v. Livingston Union School 
District (2007) 149 Cal. App. 4th 391 

Court Decision CSEA v. Foothill Community College District (1975) 52 Cal. 
App. 3rd 150 

Court Decision Skelly v. California Personnel Board (1975) 15 Cal.3d 194 

Website Office of the Attorney General 

Website Office of Administrative Hearings 

Website Department of General Services, About Teacher Dismissal 
Case Type 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 86

https://oag.ca.gov/#
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH#
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH/Case-Types/General-Jurisdiction/About/Page-Content/About-Teacher-Dismissal#
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH/Case-Types/General-Jurisdiction/About/Page-Content/About-Teacher-Dismissal#
https://legalservices.csba.org/#


 

 

Cross References 

Code Description 
1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3512 Equipment 

3512-E(1) Equipment 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.4 Drug And Alcohol Free Schools 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.21 Unmanned Aircraft Systems (Drones) 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3516.2 Bomb Threats 

3542 School Bus Drivers 

4000 Concepts And Roles 

4020 Drug And Alcohol-Free Workplace 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4040 Employee Use Of Technology 

4040-E(1) Employee Use Of Technology 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 87

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Dvrn70ffLJnlKoEAIbwslshgQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrVpuDQ1vR9wQ2k98mWEfw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7m0kkRI080pEKjDxDRMOOw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Tfu9I4sBWoCRXf7vpR3E1Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OmRW7DZwmhv7QplusgwNmVQMA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dxgWbeettLg4plusRjRCHJjuw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YjjoL2x00aYHhZJkre4e0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cygmmTM9dCjir51PbYKh8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=liDnenvkkbo9k8aBSMIgJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b3slshW8slshpQhYvJK4pMaZLckA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9xnplAplus8n2zEgGqVJvbB6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=XMHHcpf0hrxL4HuLqplusdm5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=czvx0Ll4aucxbLNmh9AhHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cY8wcRrzAislshslshKOOu4Wm9bA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hd8gOBcuJw78wjJkEdLSAQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3XIplusPfslsh74xaYSKbXfkZEXQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=e9WC793JslshbplTQEnIIl6NA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BslshQC82MNOXDxBQtf8VNy0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JRzMgb2o9bJyiqslshMVoLW7w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OU7slshHUQQU6hMiTjgZRtw9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OUqgdepluswrYDQPeTxIkQZyg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zV4epUBnH4i42xuGRdg2VQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=H8ZD2lTxoT4coT3lP3zM6Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hzslsh8plus4fslshaPzZZZdPrBSbnw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrQb5ktqhIwseyTswm1oAA==#


 

 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4112.5 Criminal Record Check 

4112.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4112.6 Personnel Files 

4113.5 Working Remotely 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.21 Professional Standards 

4119.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4119.22 Dress And Grooming 

4119.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4119.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4136 Nonschool Employment 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4157 Employee Safety 

4157 Employee Safety 

4158 Employee Security 

4158 Employee Security 

4159 Employee Assistance Programs 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4200 Classified Personnel 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 88

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Wy7YEw5O2replusvbaZh1GhsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GSuluddJST7ATWkqBgXinA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ePu9U3KCdal0b9LqjfRErg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9vHZTifO0O48hurGuBMmJQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=USuW034TqDrfkZmfhulNHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=trUejBOFngYpMi2XF45yplusA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0HTQ5C3JOhplussaFfNwhy6pg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BnQ5HKBRnHPaP0hCklYYRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=C7ktplusFdjkngFIXX0VgfSuQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qaMUwZmsn9acKhnJx0lxiA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=G8h5JDuouCHb9r2URiYoEA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3f21bNYkKNll2D7cMyslshplusQQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=112iNOdUuL3U6fiiA2lnslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kqyplusH0hKgAhPDZkWCumbBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yHgAazx8aYr77UPaAEvIlA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ErqpslshUoEJaDp5uAvu8CSTg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u76vB9fyN6KzILvdsq6TIQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WQyyX4yT8lnRbjXplusp1Sq2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QrazxKXNJ1N3vlcJwUIJ7g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus1dW1lHIoAPkTrFQs1DP2Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=384mvrobDvslshslshndjeyL1fTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZJPtSeV7is0S9G1OAuzpHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0UXmVKLPOYmTSulHWNdcNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TnNkoiA5syVuslshIFXs6et4g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gTOuXYL3UXWWE7SthJzYEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZbdK3YQCM4uAxOtIctVwlQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zpHNpDsRjZluddB01PSWSA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=03uVshkddwKuMlgW3C7xcg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b32plusHiUy75HH8KfCMBxrRw==#


 

 

4200 Classified Personnel 

4212 Appointment And Conditions Of Employment 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.5 Criminal Record Check 

4212.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4212.6 Personnel Files 

4213.5 Working Remotely 

4216 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.21 Professional Standards 

4219.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4219.22 Dress And Grooming 

4219.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4219.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4236 Nonschool Employment 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4257 Employee Safety 

4257 Employee Safety 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4259 Employee Assistance Programs 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 89

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ks2ikprVwZrGOheWLIZCSA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dGmOIbHqt4UplusSWvwKa5r0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hgl94Idqk6DXjJ6TLGnl0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IFz75TlyJAD7ce6AYzslshHHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CZgfKj1PpQplusDhD7zEITdvg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=N0xad1PVonyek7qkslshoEVMg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=e7PM1MtzVUKqslshIQmnJfplusplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=iNJ9YNslshmwE3tEHiM3EA5pQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T5b6IHFQj0EUsGO7vG5YGg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R5gNvQAP5E5h8mmKCvflTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1PtQ6bLccGzMahjrkSUljQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zmDQBJRq6ZzcJ4i1Wv6bWA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TsfeeAuUplusV7j8mPGeYsCTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=58GZqool3p2z36diXhhWyQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LTVXWoiwJBVnxjaLXQoNbw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z29QnO3fAwVaRNTBqbNdrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=66OzIo2uyB9Jph11tSmKRQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6XBRtCwYLrnkLmNnMSOnUg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Jk6Rffak3S4HVo3slsh2PIwhw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Llxb60XOJL5N64VlBM2sOQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=58p6ajieAWxKVslshVG0TBgIg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0csElIICKC6dE9LQIoQuAA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YtF553ve9DslshwxW1EvBoNyg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gdciuglfaBtQMYHJJukDsw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3HZlUgP3C2gGd1zApy5dJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OCSbNbEbmPBF6jzaCICMCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=27amZlkl9GT4lhMkZxSlLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gQsJlFNXFiplusyKl1Nbql0wQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=acQRSlGi37sCSTPvJvsgxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HVqDSxHgzzwX6slshVnW3OpmQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T6S5LbhHzUMRCZMSje3UVg==#


 

 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

4261.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.5 Criminal Record Check 

4312.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4312.6 Personnel Files 

4313.5 Working Remotely 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.21 Professional Standards 

4319.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4319.22 Dress And Grooming 

4319.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4319.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4336 Nonschool Employment 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4357 Employee Safety 

4357 Employee Safety 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4359 Employee Assistance Programs 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 90

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fRogohOCezdd1UBuql3aKw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DGabKa9NQGkfZoNP9x6xZg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IeXAgwS5wDt3kaXQSMGkLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IBoAMm9FvHZxRwvrlpOQ3Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=O7M1CVslsh7bVG4lJXN1dvxCA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=riUzlDDudx3BA0U0CNHplus1w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=S05ytlAMslshtYkjNG0Rd3vFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TGe0D9fsJn3fQRjgAAplusLWA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DjoZV2npluso9aSOQrj6hEZbQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cSABrfh4xuoP6m2G4RjJXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=F3fIPsHSIMP3l6tgLpCdhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZSFFvUEMLfslshq2z2iaYGqXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OsVWlfsiSRh66LhBf3oTEw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m2Daj1uj4i6J6SJwbTJYjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YWSMR3slshO2KslshdgwJK7DplusWXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eHx5CXNPDcvUkyix2HzxLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=h54ZUZf6ThBDEfwoHhjG4Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dVyHmQsDoOXLUTF15AkxGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ebvRZAwPV8ta9slshdcu83Xhg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CcQRvCJltb9X5oilpUObEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WAXaXplusplus00ABvE6TbT4xvSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QmjPbfeyLiMx2MwvyAKk3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=X5uLc9Mx5AYplusryOvM238cw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WxP39fISXP8PtB0WcpJuGw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uJ42toRLcipsr3VgDVn2tA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BGPCwJ5JIo77tFBXxx8plusdQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusLbplus4dB6inUekkaKx7eFJw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IuUA7IVh84ZrMovHLtn8kw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ADrKCgdtLSmiYToFFJqaDA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=tNNyt2q97eGslshTpplushwaccvg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3tJJslshqpJxslshbL7WXE6SFHQw==#


 

 

4361.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.71 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.71-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6162.54 Test Integrity/Test Preparation 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 91

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lrYpaV9hMC9jSQAMPslshslshplusIg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pdkfplusVd4aCLKEuPfNY5dslshg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i3Ze0fvagIDL9VHHWyJjOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=C7pYb8VXf2WZE2raPYvA8A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VuFMtuvbiN7sSPQPpe8Splusg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slsh3GhTTHyzxQfbXbyJfN97w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MPplusFtePT9Ntc3TvNpBk7xA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=h94TPKkDBYT22l40plusWVBwg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MJQZpvWMfiOe7slshSNWNvKCg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wB3oyPCFWtXKgbLkObOplusCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FPVkplusBxqf7VRsRagyork8Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r2NMUoOTIslsh5NEAo9nsCaplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bqGfY4qCGCTAqurzrGplusmlg==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 4218: Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/1994 | Last Revised Date: 0903/01/20222023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0903/01/20222023 

 

 
Causes for Disciplinary Action 

CSBA NOTE: The following section should be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 
45113 mandates districts not incorporating the merit system to prescribe, by rule or regulation, 
causes for disciplinary action against permanent classified employees. Pursuant to Education Code 
45101, such employees may be disciplined only for cause as so prescribed. 

A permanent classified employee may be subject to suspension, demotion, involuntary 
reassignment, or dismissal for one or more of the following causes: 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 45122.1, 45123, and 45124, districts must not 
continue to employ anyone who has been convicted of a specified sex offense, controlled 
substance offense, or violent or serious offense as defined, except for employees who have been 
rehabilitated or had their conviction reversed or the charges dismissed. Also see AR 
4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record Check. 

1. Immoral conduct, including, but not limited to, egregious misconduct that is the basis for a 
sex offense as defined in Education Code 44010, a controlled substance offense as defined 
in Education Code 44011, or child abuse and neglect as described in Penal Code 11165.2-
11165.6 
  

2. Conduct that constitutes a violent or serious felony as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) or 
1192.7(c) 
  

3. Unlawful discrimination, including harassment, against any student or other employee 
  

4. Violation of or refusal to obey state or federal law or regulation, Board policy, or district or 
school procedure 
  

5. Falsification of any information supplied to the district, including, but not limited to, 
information supplied on application forms, employment records, or any other school district 
records 
  

6. Unsatisfactory performance 
  

7. Unprofessional conduct 
  

8. Dishonesty 
  

9. Neglect of duty or absence without leave 
  

10. Insubordination 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 92



 

 

11. Use of alcohol or a controlled substance while on duty or in such close time proximity 
thereto as to affect the employee's performance 
  

12. Destruction or misuse of district property 
  

13. Failure to fulfill any ongoing condition of employment including, but not limited to, 
maintenance of any license, certificate, or other similar requirement specified in the 
employee's class specification or otherwise necessary for the employee to perform the 
duties of the position 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to the federal Americans with Disabilities Act (42 USC 12101-12213) and 
the state's Fair Employment and Housing Act (Government Code 12900-12996), the district has a 
duty to reasonably accommodate qualified employees with known disabilities, except when such 
accommodation would cause an undue hardship to the district. This accommodation is not required 
for individuals who are not otherwise qualified for the job. 

14. A physical or mental condition which precludes the employee from the proper performance 
of duties and responsibilities as determined by competent medical authority, except as 
otherwise provided by a contract or by law 
  

15. Retaliation against any person who, in good faith, reports, discloses, divulges, or otherwise 
brings to the attention of any appropriate authority any information relative to an actual or 
suspected violation of state or federal law occurring on or directly related to the job 
  

16. Violation of Education Code 45303 or Government Code 1028 prohibiting the advocacy or 
teaching of communism 
  

17. Any other misconduct which is of such nature that it causes discredit or injury to the district 
or the employee's position 

No disciplinary action shall be taken for any cause which arose before the employee became 
permanent, nor for any cause which arose more than two years before the date of the filing of the 
notice of cause unless this cause was concealed or not disclosed by the employee when it could be 
reasonably assumed that the employee would have disclosed the facts to the district.  (Education 
Code 45113) 
 
Initiation and Notification of Charges 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Skelly v. State Personnel Board, permanent public employees are entitled 
to due process before any punitive disciplinary action, such as termination, suspension, or 
demotion, may be taken against such employees. These procedural rights include provision of 
notice of the materials upon which the proposed action is based and the right to respond, either 
orally or in writing, to a district official ("Skelly officer") who is designated to decide whether the 
recommended discipline should be imposed. 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide notice to the employee of a recommendation for 
discipline, which includes the charges and materials upon which the recommendation is based. The 
notification shall identify an impartial district official ("Skelly officer") with whom the employee may 
meet at a specified time and place or to whom the employee may provide a written response to the 
recommendation of discipline. After meeting with the employee or considering any response from 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 93



 

 

the employee, the Skelly officer shall recommend to the Superintendent or designee whether to 
proceed with the recommendation for discipline. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45113 mandates districts to adopt disciplinary procedures which 
contain provisions for giving classified employees a written notice of specific charges, the 
employee's right to a hearing on those charges, the time within which the hearing may be 
requested, and a card or paper to complete to request a hearing. 

The Superintendent or designee shall file any final recommendation for a disciplinary action in 
writing with the Governing Board. A copy of the recommendation shall be served upon the 
employee either personally or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the 
employee's last known address. 
 
The notice shall, in ordinary and concise language, inform the employee of the specific charge(s) or 
cause(s) for the disciplinary action, the specific acts and omissions upon which the action is based, 
and, if applicable, the district rule or regulation that the employee has allegedly violated. In addition, 
the notice shall include the employee's right to a hearing on those charges, the time within which 
the hearing may be requested which shall be not less than five days after service of the notice to 
the employee, and a card or paper which the employee may sign and file to deny the charges and 
request a hearing.  (Education Code 45113, 45116) 
 
Request for Board Hearing 

CSBA NOTE: As provided in the section "Initiation and Notification of Charges" above, Education 
Code 45113 requires that the notice of disciplinary action include the time within which a hearing 
may be requested, which cannot be less than five days after service of the notice to the employee. 
In California School Employees Association v. Livingston Union School District, the appeals court ruled 
that the district failed to provide due process to an employee when it denied the employee the 
opportunity to request a hearing based on the employee's failure to respond within five days after 
service of the notice. The district's policy had established the date of "service of the notice" as the 
date of mailing, but the employee was a 10-month employee who was out of town when the 
notice was delivered. The court held that the notice was not "reasonably calculated" to provide an 
opportunity to timely request a hearing. Thus, it is recommended that districts use the date of the 
employee's receipt of the notice as the date upon which the five-day response period begins. For 
further information on the evidentiary hearing conducted by the Board or a hearing officer, see 
the accompanying Board policy. 

Within the time specified in the notice of the recommendation of disciplinary action, the employee 
may request a hearing on the charges by signing and filing the card or paper included with the 
notice.  (Education Code 45113) 
 
Any other written document signed and appropriately filed within the specified time limit by the 
employee shall constitute a sufficient notice of the request for a hearing.  The request shall be 
delivered to the office of the Superintendent or designee during normal work hours of that office. If 
mailed to the office of the Superintendent or designee, it must be received or postmarked no later 
than the time limit specified by the district. In cases where an order of suspension without pay has 
been issued in conjunction with a recommendation of dismissal, any request for a hearing on the 
dismissal shall also constitute a request to hear the suspension order, and the necessity of the 
suspension order shall be an issue in the hearing. 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 94



 

 

Employment Status Pending a Hearing 
 
ADisciplinary Hearing 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45113, as amended by AB 2413 (Ch. 913, Statutes of 2022),  
prohibits a district from suspending without pay, suspending or demoting with a reduction in pay, 
or dismissing a permanent classified employee against whom a recommendation of disciplinary 
action has been issued shall remain on active duty status pending any who timely requests a 
hearing on the chargespending discipline, unless excepted by law as reflected below. To the extent 
Education Code 45113, as amended by AB 2413, conflicts with any collective bargaining 
agreement the Superintendent or designee determines thatdistrict entered into before January 1, 
2023, the employee's continuance in active dutynew requirements described above would present 
an unreasonable risk of harm to students, staff, or property. The Superintendent or designee may, 
in writing, ordernot apply until the employee immediately suspended from duty without pay and 
shall state expiration or renewal of the reasons that the suspension is deemed necessary. The 
suspension order shall be served upon the employee either personally or by registered or certified 
mail, return receipt requested, immediately after issuance.agreement. 

A classified employee against whom a recommendation for disciplinary action has been issued may 
remain on active duty or may be placed on paid leave pending a hearing on the charges. The 
employee shall not be suspended without pay, suspended or demoted with a reduction in pay, or 
dismissed pending the outcome of a timely requested hearing, except as specified below.  
(Education Code 45113) 

However, the disciplinary action may be imposed prior to the decision if the Board, or an impartial 
third-party hearing officer provided pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, finds by a 
preponderance of the evidence that at the time discipline was imposed, the employee (1) engaged 
in criminal misconduct, (2) engaged in misconduct that presents a risk of harm to students, staff, or 
property, or (3) committed habitual violations of the district’s policies or regulations. Such finding(s) 
must be made at the conclusion of the Skelly review process.  (Education Code 45113) 

In such cases where the disciplinary action is imposed prior to the decision, the employee shall be 
given written notice of the disciplinary action and the findings made at the conclusion of the Skelly 
review process.  Such written notice shall be served upon the employee personally.  

In addition, the district may cease paying the employee if a decision has not been rendered by an 
impartial third-party hearing officer, pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, or the Board 
within 30 days of the date the hearing was requested.  (Education Code 45113) 

Compulsory Leave of Absence 

CSBA NOTE: State law requires that classified employees in merit system districts and certificated 
employees be immediately placed on compulsory leave of absence following conviction for certain 
offenseswhen the district has been informed that charges have been filed on a mandatory leave of 
absence offense specified in Education Code 44940, and gives districts discretion to place such 
employees on leave for other specified offenses. Although existing stateExisting law does not 
explicitly provide for application to classified employees in nonmerit system districts, such districts 
have authority pursuant to Education Code 45113 to establish causes for suspension or dismissal. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 95



 

 

The following section may be revised to reflect district practice. regarding compulsory leave of 
absence.  

Upon being informed by law enforcement that a classified employee has been charged with a 
"mandatory leave of absence offense," the Superintendent or designee shall immediately place the 
employee on a leave of absence.  A mandatory leave of absence offense includes:  

1. Any sex offense as defined in Education Code 44010 
  

2. Violation or attempted violation of Penal Code 187, prohibiting murder or attempted 
murder 
  

3. Any offense involving the unlawful sale, use, or exchange to minors of controlled 
substances as listed in Health and Safety Code 11054, 11055, and 11056 

The Superintendent or designee may place on an immediate compulsory leave of absence a 
classified employee who is charged with an "optional leave of absence offense," defined as a 
controlled substance offense specified in Education Code 44011 and Health and Safety Code 
11357-11361, 11363, 11364, and 11370.1 except as it relates to marijuana, mescaline, peyote, or 
tetrahydrocannabinols. 
 
An employee's compulsory leave for a mandatory or optional leave of absence offense may extend 
for not more than 10 days after the entry of judgment in the criminal proceedings. However, the 
compulsory leave may be extended if the Board gives notice, within 10 days after the entry of 
judgment in the proceedings, that the employee will be dismissed within 30 days from the date of 
service of the notice unless the employee demands a hearing on the dismissal.  
 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
CA Constitution Article 1, Section 1 Inalienable rights 

Ed. Code 35161 Board delegation of any powers or duties 

Ed. Code 44009 Conviction of specified crimes 

Ed. Code 44010 Sex offense; definitions 

Ed. Code 44011 Controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 44940 Compulsory leave of absence for certificated persons 

Ed. Code 44940.5 Procedures when employees are placed on compulsory leave 
of absence 

Ed. Code 45101 Definitions; disciplinary action and cause 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 96



 

 

Ed. Code 45109 Fixing of duties 

Ed. Code 45113 Notification of charges; classified employees 

Ed. Code 45123 Employment after conviction of controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 45302 Demotion and removal from permanent classified service 

Ed. Code 45303 Additional cause for suspension or dismissal of employee 
charge with mandatory or optional leave of absence offense 

Ed. Code 45304 Compulsory leave of absence for classified persons 

Veh. Code 1808.8 School bus drivers; dismissal for safety-related cause 

Federal Description 
42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

U.S. Constitution Amendment 1, Free exercise, free speech, and establishment 
clauses 

Management Resources Description 
Court Decision Kennedy v. Bremerton (2022) 142 S.Ct. 2407 

Court Decision California School Employees v. Livingston Union School 
District (2007) 149 Cal. App. 4th 391 

Court Decision CSEA v. Foothill Community College District (1975) 52 Cal. 
App. 3rd 150 

Court Decision Skelly v. California Personnel Board (1975) 15 Cal.3d 194 

Website Office of the Attorney General 

Website Office of Administrative Hearings 

Website Department of General Services, About Teacher Dismissal 
Case Type 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Cross References 

Code Description 
1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 97

https://oag.ca.gov/#
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH#
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH/Case-Types/General-Jurisdiction/About/Page-Content/About-Teacher-Dismissal#
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH/Case-Types/General-Jurisdiction/About/Page-Content/About-Teacher-Dismissal#
https://legalservices.csba.org/#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Dvrn70ffLJnlKoEAIbwslshgQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrVpuDQ1vR9wQ2k98mWEfw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7m0kkRI080pEKjDxDRMOOw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Tfu9I4sBWoCRXf7vpR3E1Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#


 

 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3512 Equipment 

3512-E(1) Equipment 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.4 Drug And Alcohol Free Schools 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.21 Unmanned Aircraft Systems (Drones) 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3516.2 Bomb Threats 

3542 School Bus Drivers 

4000 Concepts And Roles 

4020 Drug And Alcohol-Free Workplace 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4040 Employee Use Of Technology 

4040-E(1) Employee Use Of Technology 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4112.5 Criminal Record Check 

4112.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4112.6 Personnel Files 

4113.5 Working Remotely 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.21 Professional Standards 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 98

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OmRW7DZwmhv7QplusgwNmVQMA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dxgWbeettLg4plusRjRCHJjuw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YjjoL2x00aYHhZJkre4e0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cygmmTM9dCjir51PbYKh8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=liDnenvkkbo9k8aBSMIgJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b3slshW8slshpQhYvJK4pMaZLckA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9xnplAplus8n2zEgGqVJvbB6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=XMHHcpf0hrxL4HuLqplusdm5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=czvx0Ll4aucxbLNmh9AhHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cY8wcRrzAislshslshKOOu4Wm9bA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hd8gOBcuJw78wjJkEdLSAQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3XIplusPfslsh74xaYSKbXfkZEXQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=e9WC793JslshbplTQEnIIl6NA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BslshQC82MNOXDxBQtf8VNy0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JRzMgb2o9bJyiqslshMVoLW7w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OU7slshHUQQU6hMiTjgZRtw9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OUqgdepluswrYDQPeTxIkQZyg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zV4epUBnH4i42xuGRdg2VQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=H8ZD2lTxoT4coT3lP3zM6Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hzslsh8plus4fslshaPzZZZdPrBSbnw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrQb5ktqhIwseyTswm1oAA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Wy7YEw5O2replusvbaZh1GhsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GSuluddJST7ATWkqBgXinA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ePu9U3KCdal0b9LqjfRErg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9vHZTifO0O48hurGuBMmJQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=USuW034TqDrfkZmfhulNHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=trUejBOFngYpMi2XF45yplusA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0HTQ5C3JOhplussaFfNwhy6pg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BnQ5HKBRnHPaP0hCklYYRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=C7ktplusFdjkngFIXX0VgfSuQ==#


 

 

4119.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4119.22 Dress And Grooming 

4119.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4119.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4136 Nonschool Employment 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4157 Employee Safety 

4157 Employee Safety 

4158 Employee Security 

4158 Employee Security 

4159 Employee Assistance Programs 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4200 Classified Personnel 

4200 Classified Personnel 

4212 Appointment And Conditions Of Employment 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.5 Criminal Record Check 

4212.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4212.6 Personnel Files 

4213.5 Working Remotely 

4216 Probationary/Permanent Status 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 99

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qaMUwZmsn9acKhnJx0lxiA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=G8h5JDuouCHb9r2URiYoEA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3f21bNYkKNll2D7cMyslshplusQQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=112iNOdUuL3U6fiiA2lnslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kqyplusH0hKgAhPDZkWCumbBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yHgAazx8aYr77UPaAEvIlA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ErqpslshUoEJaDp5uAvu8CSTg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u76vB9fyN6KzILvdsq6TIQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WQyyX4yT8lnRbjXplusp1Sq2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QrazxKXNJ1N3vlcJwUIJ7g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus1dW1lHIoAPkTrFQs1DP2Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=384mvrobDvslshslshndjeyL1fTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZJPtSeV7is0S9G1OAuzpHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0UXmVKLPOYmTSulHWNdcNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TnNkoiA5syVuslshIFXs6et4g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gTOuXYL3UXWWE7SthJzYEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZbdK3YQCM4uAxOtIctVwlQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zpHNpDsRjZluddB01PSWSA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=03uVshkddwKuMlgW3C7xcg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b32plusHiUy75HH8KfCMBxrRw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ks2ikprVwZrGOheWLIZCSA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dGmOIbHqt4UplusSWvwKa5r0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hgl94Idqk6DXjJ6TLGnl0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IFz75TlyJAD7ce6AYzslshHHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CZgfKj1PpQplusDhD7zEITdvg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=N0xad1PVonyek7qkslshoEVMg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=e7PM1MtzVUKqslshIQmnJfplusplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=iNJ9YNslshmwE3tEHiM3EA5pQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T5b6IHFQj0EUsGO7vG5YGg==#


 

 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.21 Professional Standards 

4219.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4219.22 Dress And Grooming 

4219.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4219.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4236 Nonschool Employment 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4257 Employee Safety 

4257 Employee Safety 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4259 Employee Assistance Programs 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

4261.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.5 Criminal Record Check 

4312.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4312.6 Personnel Files 

4313.5 Working Remotely 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 100

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R5gNvQAP5E5h8mmKCvflTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1PtQ6bLccGzMahjrkSUljQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zmDQBJRq6ZzcJ4i1Wv6bWA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TsfeeAuUplusV7j8mPGeYsCTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=58GZqool3p2z36diXhhWyQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LTVXWoiwJBVnxjaLXQoNbw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z29QnO3fAwVaRNTBqbNdrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=66OzIo2uyB9Jph11tSmKRQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6XBRtCwYLrnkLmNnMSOnUg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Jk6Rffak3S4HVo3slsh2PIwhw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Llxb60XOJL5N64VlBM2sOQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=58p6ajieAWxKVslshVG0TBgIg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0csElIICKC6dE9LQIoQuAA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YtF553ve9DslshwxW1EvBoNyg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gdciuglfaBtQMYHJJukDsw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3HZlUgP3C2gGd1zApy5dJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OCSbNbEbmPBF6jzaCICMCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=27amZlkl9GT4lhMkZxSlLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gQsJlFNXFiplusyKl1Nbql0wQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=acQRSlGi37sCSTPvJvsgxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HVqDSxHgzzwX6slshVnW3OpmQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T6S5LbhHzUMRCZMSje3UVg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fRogohOCezdd1UBuql3aKw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DGabKa9NQGkfZoNP9x6xZg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IeXAgwS5wDt3kaXQSMGkLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IBoAMm9FvHZxRwvrlpOQ3Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=O7M1CVslsh7bVG4lJXN1dvxCA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=riUzlDDudx3BA0U0CNHplus1w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=S05ytlAMslshtYkjNG0Rd3vFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TGe0D9fsJn3fQRjgAAplusLWA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DjoZV2npluso9aSOQrj6hEZbQ==#


 

 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.21 Professional Standards 

4319.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4319.22 Dress And Grooming 

4319.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4319.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4336 Nonschool Employment 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4357 Employee Safety 

4357 Employee Safety 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4359 Employee Assistance Programs 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.71 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.71-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 101

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cSABrfh4xuoP6m2G4RjJXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=F3fIPsHSIMP3l6tgLpCdhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZSFFvUEMLfslshq2z2iaYGqXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OsVWlfsiSRh66LhBf3oTEw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m2Daj1uj4i6J6SJwbTJYjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YWSMR3slshO2KslshdgwJK7DplusWXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eHx5CXNPDcvUkyix2HzxLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=h54ZUZf6ThBDEfwoHhjG4Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dVyHmQsDoOXLUTF15AkxGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ebvRZAwPV8ta9slshdcu83Xhg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CcQRvCJltb9X5oilpUObEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WAXaXplusplus00ABvE6TbT4xvSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QmjPbfeyLiMx2MwvyAKk3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=X5uLc9Mx5AYplusryOvM238cw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WxP39fISXP8PtB0WcpJuGw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uJ42toRLcipsr3VgDVn2tA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BGPCwJ5JIo77tFBXxx8plusdQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusLbplus4dB6inUekkaKx7eFJw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IuUA7IVh84ZrMovHLtn8kw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ADrKCgdtLSmiYToFFJqaDA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=tNNyt2q97eGslshTpplushwaccvg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3tJJslshqpJxslshbL7WXE6SFHQw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lrYpaV9hMC9jSQAMPslshslshplusIg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pdkfplusVd4aCLKEuPfNY5dslshg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i3Ze0fvagIDL9VHHWyJjOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=C7pYb8VXf2WZE2raPYvA8A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VuFMtuvbiN7sSPQPpe8Splusg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slsh3GhTTHyzxQfbXbyJfN97w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MPplusFtePT9Ntc3TvNpBk7xA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=h94TPKkDBYT22l40plusWVBwg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MJQZpvWMfiOe7slshSNWNvKCg==#


 

 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6162.54 Test Integrity/Test Preparation 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 102

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wB3oyPCFWtXKgbLkObOplusCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FPVkplusBxqf7VRsRagyork8Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r2NMUoOTIslsh5NEAo9nsCaplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bqGfY4qCGCTAqurzrGplusmlg==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 5113: Absences And Excuses Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2011 | Last Revised Date: 03/01/20222023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 1203/01/20182023 

 

 
Excused Absences 

CSBA NOTE: Items #1-1516 below reflect absences that are authorized by law to be considered 
as excused absences for purposes of enforcing the compulsory state attendance laws. Pursuant to 
Education Code 48205, absences specified in itemsItems #1-1112, although excused for purposes 
of enforcing compulsory state attendance laws, are considered absences in computing average 
daily attendance and do not generate state apportionment payments. 

Subject to any applicable limitation, condition, or other requirement specified in law, a student's 
absence shall be excused for any of the following reasons:  
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48205, as amended by SB 14 (Ch. 672, Statutes of 
2021), an absence due to a student's illness includes an absence for the benefit of the student's 
mental or behavioral health. 

1. 1. Personal illness, including absence for the benefit of the student's mental or 
behavioral health.  (Education Code 48205) 
  

2. 2. Quarantine under the direction of a county or city health officer.  (Education Code 
48205) 
  

3. 3. Medical, dental, optometrical, or chiropractic service or appointment.  (Education 
Code 48205) 
  

4. 4. Attendance at funeral services for a member of the student's immediate family.  
(Education Code 48205) 
 
Such absence shall be limited to one day if the service is conducted in California or three 
days if the service is conducted out of state.  (Education Code 48205) 
  

5. 5. Jury duty in the manner provided for by law.  (Education Code 48205) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48205, absence due to the illness or medical 
appointment of a student's child is counted as an excused absence, and the district is prohibited 
from requiring a physician's note for such absences. See the section "Method of Verification" 
below. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 103



 

 

6. 6. Illness or medical appointment of a child to whom the student is the custodial 
parent.  (Education Code 48205) 
  

7. 7. Upon advance written request by the parent/guardian and the approval of the 
principal or designee, justifiable personal reasons including, but not limited to:   (Education 
Code 48205) 
   

a.   a. Appearance in court 
  

b. b. Attendance at a funeral service 
  

c. c.  Observance of a religious holiday or ceremony 
  

d. d. Attendance at religious retreats for no more than four hours per semester 
  

e. e. Attendance at an employment conference 
  

f. f. Attendance at an educational conference on the legislative or judicial process 
offered by a nonprofit organization 
  

8.  8. Service as a member of a precinct board for an election pursuant to Elections Code 
12302. (Education Code 48205) 
  

9.  9. To spend time with an immediate family member who is an active duty member of 
the uniformed services, as defined in Education Code 49701, and has been called to duty 
for deployment to a combat zone or a combat support position or is on leave from or has 
immediately returned from such deployment.  (Education Code 48205) 
 
Such absence shall be granted for a period of time to be determined at the discretion of the 
Superintendent or designee.  (Education Code 48205) 
  

10.  Attendance at the student's naturalization ceremony to become a United States citizen. 
(Education Code 48205) 
 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48205, as amended by AB 516 (Ch. 281, Statutes of 2021), includes 
an absence for the purpose of participating in a cultural ceremony or event as an excused absence. 

10. 11. Participation in a cultural ceremony or event which relates to the habits, practices, 
beliefs, and traditions of a certain group of people.  (Education Code 48205)  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 104



 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48205, as amended by SB 955 (Ch. 921, Statutes of 
2022), districts are required to allow an excused absence for middle and high school students one 
school day per school year for the purpose of engaging in a civic or political event, provided that 
the student notifies the school in advance. At the discretion of the Superintendent or designee, 
additional such absences may be permitted. 

12. For a middle school or high school student, engagement in a civic or political event, 
provided that the student notifies the school ahead of the absence. Unless otherwise 
permitted by the Superintendent or designee, students shall be limited to one such school 
day-long absence per school year.  (Education Code 48205) 

CSBA NOTE: Item #12 below should be included only ifPursuant to Education Code 46014, with 
the written consent of the student’s parent/guardian, districts may excuse a student from school in 
order to participate in religious exercises or instruction. 
 
In order for the district to receive average daily attendance funding for such absences, the 
Governing Board has adoptedmust first adopt a resolution permitting absences for religious 
instruction or exercises. See the accompanying Board policy. If these absences are allowed, 
Education Code 46014 mandates that the Board adoptan excused absence for this purpose and 
regulations governing students' attendance at religious exercises or instruction and the reporting of 
such absences.   
 
The student must also attend school for at least the minimum school day and not be absent for this 
purpose on more than four days per school month. Pursuant to Education Code 46112, 46113, 
46117, and 46141, unless otherwise provided by law, the minimum school day is generally 180 
minutes for kindergarten, 230 minutes for grades 1-3, and 240 minutes for grades 4-12. For further 
information, see AR 6112 - School Day. These regulations should include all of Item #1213 below 
and may be expanded to reflect district practice. 
 

11. 13. Participation in religious exercises or to receive moral and religious instruction at the 
student's place of worship or other suitable place away from school property as designated 
by the religious group, church, or denomination.  (Education Code 46014)  

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 46014 provides that absence for participation in religious instruction 
or exercises will not be considered an absence for state apportionment purposes if the student 
attends school for at least the minimum school day and is not absent for this purpose on more than 
four days per school month. Pursuant to Education Code 46112, 46113, 46117, and 46141, unless 
otherwise provided by law, the minimum school day is generally 180 minutes for kindergarten, 230 
minutes for grades 1-3, and 240 minutes for grades 4-12. For further information, see AR 6112 - 
School Day. 

12.  Absence for student participation in religious exercises or instruction shall not be 
considered an absence for the purpose of computing average daily attendance if the 
student attends at least the minimum school day as specified in AR 6112 - School Day, and 
is not excused from school for this purpose on more than four days per school month.  
(Education Code 46014) 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 105



 

 

13. 14. Work in the entertainment or allied industry.  (Education Code 48225.5) 
 
Work for a student who holds a work permit authorizing work in the entertainment or allied 
industries for a period of not more than five consecutive days. For this purpose, student 
absence shall be excused for a maximum of up to five absences per school year.  (Education 
Code 48225.5) 
  

14. 15. Participation with a nonprofit performing arts organization in a performance for a 
public school audience.  (Education Code 48225.5) 
 
A student may be excused for up to five such absences per school year provided that the 
student's parent/guardian provides a written explanation of such absence to the school.  
(Education Code 48225.5) 
  

15. 16. Other reasons authorized at the discretion of the principal or designee based on the 
student's specific circumstances.  (Education Code 48205, 48260) 

For the purpose of the absences described above, immediate family means the student's 
parent/guardian, brother or sister, grandparent, or any other relative living in the student's 
household.  (Education Code 48205) 
 
Method of Verification 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48205 prohibits the district from requiring a physician's note for 
absences due to the illness or medical appointment of the student's child. However, the district is 
authorized to require verification of other absences. The following section should be revised to 
reflect district-adopted methods of verification and to specify employee(s) assigned to verify 
absences.  
 
5 CCR 420-421 provide guidelines for verifying absences due to illness; quarantine; medical, 
dental, or eye appointments; or attendance at a funeral service of a member of a student's 
immediate family. 5 CCR 421 authorizes a student's absence to be verified by a school or public 
health nurse, attendance supervisor, physician, principal, teacher, or any other qualified district 
employee assigned to make such verification. Pursuant to Education Code 48205, as amended by 
SB 14, state regulations related to illness verification will be updated as necessary to account for a 
student's absence for the benefit of the student's mental or behavioral health. 
Student absence to care for a child for whom the student is the custodial parent shall not require a 
physician's note.  (Education Code 48205) 
 
For other absences, the student shall, upon returning to school following the absence, present a 
satisfactory explanation, either in person or by written note, verifying the reason for the absence. 
Absences shall be verified by the student's parent/guardian, other person having charge or control 
of the student, or the student if age 18 or older.  (Education Code 46012; 5 CCR 306) 
 
When an absence is planned, the principal or designee shall be notified prior to the date of the 
absence when possible. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 106



 

 

 
The following methods may be used to verify student absences:   

1. 1. Written note, fax, email, or voice mail from parent/guardian or parent 
representative. 
 

2. 2. Conversation, in person or by telephone, between the verifying employee and the 
student's parent/guardian or parent representative. The employee shall subsequently 
record the following: 
 

a. a. Name of student 
  

b. b. Name of parent/guardian or parent representative 
  

c. c. Name of verifying employee 
  

d. d. Date(s) of absence 
  

e. e. Reason for absence 
 

3. 3. Visit to the student's home by the verifying employee, or any other reasonable 
method which establishes the fact that the student was absent for the reasons stated. The 
employee shall document the verification and include the information specified in Item #2 
above. 
  

4. 4. Physician's verification. 

 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph provides a means of verifying an excuse for 
confidential medical services without inquiring into the nature of the medical services. 

a. a. When excusing students for confidential medical services or verifying such 
appointments, district staff shall not ask the purpose of such appointments but may 
request a note from the medical office to confirm the time of the appointment. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph provides that, after absences for illness on 
multiple occasions, the student may be required to bring a note from a physician to verify the 
illness. If a student does not have access to medical services in order to obtain such verification, 
the district may assist the student in obtaining the medical consultation if it is required. 

b. b. If a student shows a pattern of chronic absenteeism due to illness, district 
staff may require physician verification of any further student absences. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 107



 

 

Parental Notifications 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall: 
 

CSBA NOTE: The requirement in Item #1 below is for use by districts whose board has adopted 
a resolution permitting an excused absence for religious instruction or exercises. See the 
accompanying Board policy and Item #1213 in the section "Excused Absences" above. 

1. 1. Notify parents/guardians of the right to excuse a student from school in order to 
participate in religious exercises or to receive moral and religious instruction at their places 
of worship, or at other suitable places away from school property designated by a religious 
group, church, or denomination.  (Education Code 46014, 48980) 

CSBA NOTE: The requirement in Item #2 applies to all districts. Districts that maintain only 
elementary grades should delete the reference to students in grades 7-12. 

2. 2. Notify students in grades 7-12 and the parents/guardians of all students enrolled in 
the district that school authorities may excuse any student from school to obtain 
confidential medical services without the consent of the student's parent/guardian.  
(Education Code 46010.1) 
  

3.  3. Notify parents/guardians that a student shall not have a grade reduced or lose 
academic credit for any excused absence if missed assignments and tests that can 
reasonably be provided are satisfactorily completed within a reasonable period of time. 
Such notice shall include the full text of Education Code 48205.  (Education Code 48980) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 306 Explanation of absence 

5 CCR 420-421 Record of verification of absence due to illness and other 
causes 

Ed. Code 1740 Employment of personnel to supervise attendance (county 
superintendent) 

Ed. Code 37201 School month 

Ed. Code 37223 Weekend classes 

Ed. Code 41601 Reports of average daily attendance 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 108



 

 

Ed. Code 42238-42250.1 Apportionments 

Ed. Code 46000 Records (attendance)Attendance records  

Ed. Code 46010-46015 Absences 

Ed. Code 46110-46120 Attendance in kindergarten and elementary schools 

Ed. Code 46140-46148 Attendance in junior high and high schools 

Ed. Code 48200-48208 Children ages 6-18 (; compulsory full-time attendance) 

Ed. Code 48210-48216 Exclusions from attendance 

Ed. Code 48225.5 Work permit; excused absence; entertainment or allied 
industries; participation in not-for-profit performing arts 
organization 

Ed. Code 48240-48246 Supervisors of attendance 

Ed. Code 48260-48273 Truants 

Ed. Code 48292 Filing complaint against parent 

Ed. Code 48320-48324 School attendance review boards 

Ed. Code 48340-48341 Improvement of student attendance 

Ed. Code 48980 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 49067 Unexcused absences as cause of failing grade 

Ed. Code 49701 Provisions of the Interstate Compact on Educational 
Opportunities for Military Children 

Elec. Code 12302 Student participation on precinct boards 

Fam. Code 6920-6930 Consent by minor for medical treatment 

W&I Code 11253.5 Compulsory school attendance 

W&I Code 601-601.5 Habitually truant minors 

Management Resources Description 
Attorney General Opinion 66 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 244 (1983) 

Attorney General Opinion 87 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 168 (2004) 

Court Decision American Academy of Pediatrics et al v. Lungren et al (1997) 
16 Cal.4th 307 

CSBA Publication Improving Student Achievement by Addressing Chronic 
Absence, Policy Brief, December 2010 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website CSBA 

Cross References 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 109

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.csba.org/#


 

 

Code Description 
0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

3516 Emergencies And Disaster Preparedness Plan 

3516 Emergencies And Disaster Preparedness Plan 

4119.41 Employees With Infectious Disease 

4219.41 Employees With Infectious Disease 

4319.41 Employees With Infectious Disease 

5000 Concepts And Roles 

5020 Parent Rights And Responsibilities 

5020 Parent Rights And Responsibilities 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.2 Exclusions From Attendance 

5112.5 Open/Closed Campus 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5113.12 District School Attendance Review Board 

5113.12 District School Attendance Review Board 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5131 Conduct 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5141.21 Administering Medication And Monitoring Health Conditions 

5141.21 Administering Medication And Monitoring Health Conditions 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.33 Head Lice 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 110

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cUDRpPGq33oE7TVGVbs7UQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VT1THkIzJRxMabQA5MDekg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4uOm9WPslsh0HwKjuRwh5qslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JaJ6Bpn1doAxasxfqRvEiQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9Rr0ivMkoWE18g2UxwX2zQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rslshrVm0A2OOt045f4jdEmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fTEKuyI0nyUzPkmoCOTOgQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DTXGy11kZa2YOhmwplusBFplusAQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uB8H55c2stm4GzoLcjjplussw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oOl7gPaOFAsHOunJM0QmZw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=44o6SsEqplusiXaNTllLI30dg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3VQ2SRxrPvtRlcHjgcPvQg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=01vlz3wyD9ntCgvJmCnrpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UNqL2KwD1xcFdtMEHxZpluspA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rHCTAc7plusXfC0gHslshy8ZslshVTg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GnplusEeg4OwP82YslshCfUJFplus8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BSRswan5tzMbq7LMRdlt9A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w2rrFVAmQo4vjeURorkplusDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus9wHdpEM7gslsh7lHIHPNYXxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=y9JmplusvIPnn33lszMW6BU8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8uSrrmfzuPYOLH6fdRslshCIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dfqSopq8B9jy5hkP64NyGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mVu5zcV6CslshzyAlplus67gnICg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5fEYNMFzplus6o8FmrUrIEuKQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dujffGbh8UMxamslshWudSYSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7oCNviplusqsstOA5FNsplusBRmA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zK5vX5MRslshX4n1JWSplHMHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsN81evOIfdNLM5PT1incw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6pxjfiENeArHTQ0Lt49UNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Zslshslsh1cj4vmkyMMCnGis18Ww==#


 

 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5146 Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6111 School Calendar 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6141.2 Recognition Of Religious Beliefs And Customs 

6141.2 Recognition Of Religious Beliefs And Customs 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6154 Homework/Makeup Work 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6183 Home And Hospital Instruction 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6185 Community Day School 

6185 Community Day School 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 111

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CyKYplusSV3BFs9rslsh2QUxtPAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhMplusqG6koiIWw233cKrvxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=64NnEXaRSOZYYmplus7SqykSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1QEeplusxMdOsIYdSCedXofTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kmepecduPHoiwuwUZw4nrQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=N3h66HEkPzMkVVzPyT2qRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IPWcsrKPaq1unXytkM92YQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yUxJDPiiohSl4Rv9LzsiAg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yskvyl598JZOFolJWdQnmQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NwMYo2AN3setpapVO8LJTQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5qO5Et5lYK4siFeadDwmKw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=V6JbLS1Y9v2NrbslshcplusUuOHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NI2tvDgslzr09NJlnALYAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=AV4KywxKW6SqCEwamcGJRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T1ZkK7CYAfDPrxX7sNEb2w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=I7sGGHWCNi2n3cgRSDBoJQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6ykDsajB8QSvDwY2aIgGvw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UQxC6l0JvgbtQOBgmBIcnQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slvplus6HY1R4aTq16QQH5s7A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5QSqHJ2Bi8bXFHOEvK40dQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qqIaj402slsh8xbziO5W71XIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ajBjgq5SZRRCmXsnphtraQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YdgplusM1VKIt6NB7RDvh9jRg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=K3XZplusMD3iNGcPZdhEClfBw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=izgusJg8hU1O1q0O2N9f7Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusn6clQYhd39g8RwejslshvXzQ==#


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 5131.41: Use Of Seclusion And Restraint Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 12/01/2018 | Last Reviewed Date: 1203/01/20182023 Last Revised 
Date: 03/01/2023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49005-49006.4, as added by AB 2657 (Ch. 998, 
Statutes of 2018), seclusion and behavioral restraint, as defined below, are prohibited as a means 
of student discipline. Seclusion and restraint must be avoided whenever possible and may be used 
only to control behavior that poses a clear and present danger of serious physical harm to a 
student or others and that cannot be immediately prevented by a less restrictive response. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 49005.1 and 49006.4, these requirements apply to all students in 
grades preK-12 and students with disabilities. For additional procedures applicable to students 
with disabilities, see AR 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students. 

District staff shall enforce standards of appropriate student conduct in order to provide a safe and 
secure environment for students and staff on campus, but are prohibited from using seclusion and 
behavioral restraint to control student behavior except to the limited extent authorized by law.as 
authorized by law when the behavior poses a clear and present danger of serious physical harm to 
the student, other students, or others on campus, and that cannot be immediately prevented by a 
less restrictive response.  
 
Definitions 
 
Behavioral restraint includes mechanical restraint or physical restraint used as an intervention when 
a student presents an immediate danger to self or to others. Behavioral restraint does not include 
postural restraints or devices used to improve a student'sstudent’s mobility and independent 
functioning rather than to restrict movement.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Mechanical restraint means the use of a device or equipment to restrict a student'sstudent’s 
freedom of movement. Mechanical restraint does not include the use of devices as prescribed by 
an appropriate medical or related services professional, including, but not limited to, adaptive 
devices or mechanical supports used to achieve proper body position, balance, or alignment; 
vehicle safety restraints during the transport of a student; restraints for medical immobilization; or 
orthopedically prescribed devices which permit a student to participate in activities without risk of 
harm. Mechanical restraint also does not include the use of devices by peace officers or security 
personnel for detention or for public safety purposes.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Physical restraint means a personal restriction that immobilizes or reduces the ability of a student to 
move the torso, arms, legs, or head freely. Physical restraint does not include a physical escort in 
which a staff member temporarily touches or holds the student'sstudent’s hand, wrist, arm, 
shoulder, or back for the purpose of inducing a student who is acting out to walk to a safe location.  
Physical restraint also does not include the use of force by peace officers or security personnel for 
detention or for public safety purposes.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Prone restraint means the application of a behavioral restraint on a student in a facedown position.  
(Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Seclusion means the involuntary confinement of a student alone in a room or an area from which 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 112



the student is physically prevented from leaving. Seclusion does not include a timeout involving the 
monitored separation of the student in an unlocked setting, which is implemented for the purpose 
of calming the student.  (Education Code 49005.1) 
 
Prohibitions 
 
Seclusion and behavioral restraint of students shall not be used in any form as a means of coercion, 
discipline, convenience, or retaliation.  (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
In addition, staff shall not take any of the following actions:  (Education Code 49005.2, 49005.8)  

1. Administer a drug that is not a standard treatment for a student'sstudent’s medical or 
psychiatric condition in order to control the student'sstudent’s behavior or restrict the 
student'sstudent’s freedom of movement 
  

2. Use locked seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to 
use as a locked room 
  

3. Use a physical restraint technique that obstructs a student'sstudent’s respiratory airway or 
impairs a student'sstudent’s breathing or respiratory capacity, including a technique in 
which a staff member places pressure on the student'sstudent’s back or places his/herthe 
staff member’s body weight against the student'sstudent’s torso or back 
  

4. Use a behavioral restraint technique that restricts breathing, including, but not limited to, 
the use of a pillow, blanket, carpet, mat, or other item to cover a student'sstudent’s face 
  

5. Place a student in a facedown position with the student'sstudent’s hands held or restrained 
behind the student'sstudent’s back 
  

6. Use a behavioral restraint for longer than is necessary to contain the behavior that poses a 
clear and present danger of serious physical harm to the student or others 

Limited Use of Seclusion or Restraint 
 
Staff shall avoid the use of seclusion and behavioral restraint of students whenever possible. 
Seclusion or behavioral restraint may be used only to control student behavior that poses a clear 
and present danger of serious physical harm to the student or others, which cannot be immediately 
prevented by a response that is less restrictive.  (Education Code 49005.4, 49005.6, 49005.8) 
 
When used, seclusion or restraint shall not be applied for longer than is necessary to contain the 
dangerous behavior. For any situation that requires a prolonged use of an emergency intervention, 
staff shall seek the assistance of the principal or law enforcement agency, as applicable to the 
situation.  (Education Code 56521.1)  
 
If a student is put in seclusion, the student shall be under constant, direct observation of a staff 
member. Such observation may be through a window or another barrier through which the staff 
member is able to make direct eye contact with the student, but shall not be made through indirect 
means such as a security camera or closed-circuit television.  (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
If a student is restrained, staff shall afford the student the least restrictive alternative and the 
maximum freedom of movement, and shall use the least number of restraint points, while ensuring 
the physical safety of the student and others.  (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
If a prone restraint technique is used on a student, a staff member shall observe the student for any 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 113



signs of physical distress throughout the use of the restraint. Whenever possible, the staff member 
monitoring the student shall not be involved in restraining the student.  (Education Code 49005.8) 
 
CSBA NOTE: In a December 2022 resolution agreement between Davis Joint Unified School 
District and the U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights (OCR) following an 
investigation into the use of seclusion and restraint, OCR found that use of such measures on 
students with disabilities must comply with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1974 and the 
implementing regulations.  See AR 6159.4 for additional information regarding behavioral 
interventions and the use of seclusion or restraint for students with disabilities. 

Seclusion or restraint may only be applied to a student with disabilities in accordance with rules 
specified in AR 6159.4 Behavioral Interventions For Special Education Students. Staff may not 
apply seclusion or restraint to students with disabilities based on assumptions or stereotypes about 
disabilities or students with disabilities or for behavior that would not result in restraint or seclusion 
for students without disabilities. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is consistent with OCR’s recommendation in its resolution 
agreement with Davis Joint Unified School district and a good practice to follow with respect to use 
of seclusion or restraint of all students. 

The superintendent or designee shall provide training to staff in the safe and effective use of 
seclusion and restraint as appropriate.  

Documentation of Seclusion and Restraint 

Parents/guardians and, if appropriate, residential care providers shall be notified within one school 
day whenever an emergency intervention is used or serious property damage occurs.  (Education 
Code 56521.1) 

A behavior emergency report shall be completed and forwarded to the Superintendent or designee 
for review. This report shall include:  (Education Code 56521.1) 

1. The name and age of the student 
  

2. The setting and location of the incident 
  

3. The name of the staff or other persons involved 
  

4. A description of the incident and the emergency intervention used 
  

5. A statement of whether the student is currently engaged in a systematic behavior 
intervention plan 
  

6. Details of any injuries sustained by the student or others, including staff, as a result of the 
incident 

Reports 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 49006, as added by AB 2657, districts are required to 
collect data and report to the California Department of Education (CDE) annually in regard to the 
use of seclusion and behavioral restraints for district students, as specified below. CDE is required 
to post the data from the report on its web site within three months after the report is due to CDE. 

The Superintendent or designee shall annually collect data on the number of times that seclusion, 
mechanical restraint, and physical restraint were used on students and the number of students 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 114



subjected to such techniques. The data shall be disaggregated by race/ethnicity and gender, and 
reported for students with a Section 504 plan, students with an individualized education program, 
and all other students. This report shall be submitted to the California Department of Education no 
later than three months after the end of each school year, and shall be available as a public record 
pursuant to Government Code 6250-6270.  (Education Code 49006)  

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
Ed. Code 49001 Prohibition of corporal punishment 

Ed. Code 49005-49006.4 Seclusion and restraint 

Ed. Code 56520-56524 Behavioral interventions 

Ed. Code 56521.1 Emergency interventions when behavior poses threat to 
student or others 

Ed. Code 56521.2 Prohibited interventions 

Gov. Code 7920.000 - 7930.170215 California Public Records Act 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1400-1482 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

Management Resources Description 
U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Restraint and Seclusion:  Resource Document, May 2012 

U.S. Department of Education, Office of 
Civil Rights  

Davis Joint Unified School District Resolution Agreement, 
OCR No. 09-19-5001, December 7, 2022 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website California Department of Education 

Website U.S. Department of Education 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

5131 Conduct 

5131.1 Bus Conduct 

5131.1 Bus Conduct 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 115

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/#
http://www.ed.gov/#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cUDRpPGq33oE7TVGVbs7UQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VT1THkIzJRxMabQA5MDekg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mVu5zcV6CslshzyAlplus67gnICg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wwrW7k9U7T4MwR8HLXaAzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4vYQkKplussMr5wYfmU1yecXg==#


5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5144 Discipline 

5144 Discipline 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 116

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5fEYNMFzplus6o8FmrUrIEuKQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dujffGbh8UMxamslshWudSYSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hmemznLBHnlFSmWlmSQQAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DoSNOOTFFB7OS9BEVSrfAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r77J1ONeLGkkxUBQVaaImA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9VUkwhXHJSu8Uplus1CrKYapQ==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 5144: Discipline Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2012 | Last Revised Date: 1203/01/20182023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 1203/01/20182023 

 

 
Site-Level Rules 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 35291.5, schools are 
authorized, but not required, to adopt site-level student discipline rules and procedures. Schools 
that choose to adopt student discipline rules, or that are directed by the Governing Board to do so, 
must solicit input from groups specified in itemsItems #1-5 below. Such site-level rules must be 
consistent with law, Board policy, and district regulations. If the school develops student discipline 
rules, Education Code 32282 requires that they be included in the comprehensive safety plan; see 
BP/AR 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan. 
 
In addition, pursuant to Education Code 52060, the district is required to adopt a local control and 
accountability plan (LCAP) that includes a description of the specific actions that it intends to take 
to achieve its annual goals in specified priority areas, including student engagement and school 
climate. In the development of the LCAP, the district is required to involve and/or consult with 
parents/guardians, employees, employee organizations, and students in accordance with law. See 
BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. 
Site-level rules shall be consistent with state law and Board policies and administrative regulations.  
In developing site-level disciplinary rules, the principal or designee shall solicit the participation, 
views, and advice of one representative selected by each of the following groups:  (Education Code 
35291.5)  

1. Parents/guardians 
  

2. Teachers 
  

3. School administrators 
  

4. School security personnel, if any 

CSBA NOTE: Item #5 below may be deleted by elementary districts. 

5. For junior high and high schools, students enrolled in the school 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Education Code 35291.5 authorizes, but does not require, each school site to adopt school rules 
every four years. However, it is recommended that the timelines for the review of school rules be 
aligned with those for the review and updating of the comprehensive safety plan, since the school 
rules must, by law, be included in the plan. Pursuant to Education Code 32286, the comprehensive 
safety plan must be reviewed and updated every year by March 1; see BP/AR 0450 - 
Comprehensive Safety Plan. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 117



 

 

Annually, site-level discipline rules shall be reviewed and, if necessary, updated to align with any 
changes in state law, district discipline policies and regulations, and/or goals for school safety and 
climate as specified in the district's local control and accountability plan. A copy of the rules shall be 
filed with the Superintendent or designee for inclusion in the comprehensive safety plan. 
 
School rules shall be communicated to students clearly and in an age-appropriate manner. 
 
It shall be the duty of each employee of the school to enforce the school rules on student 
discipline.  (Education Code 35291.5) 
 
Disciplinary Strategies 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900.5 lists means of correction of student behavior that a district 
may use as an alternative to suspension. The district should select those strategies that are 
appropriate for its student population. The following strategies may be modified or expanded to 
reflect district practice. 

To the extent possible, staff shall use disciplinary strategies that keep students in school and 
participating in the instructional program. Except when students' presence causes a danger to 
themselves or others or they commit a single act of a grave nature or an offense for which 
suspension or expulsion is required by law, suspension or expulsion shall be used only when other 
means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. Disciplinary strategies may include, 
but are not limited to:  

1. Discussion or conference between school staff, the student, and the student andstudent’s 
parents/guardians 
  

2. Referral of the student to the school counselor or other school support service personnel 
for case management and counseling 
  

3. Convening of a study team, guidance team, resource panel, or other intervention-related 
team to assess the behavior and develop and implement an individual plan to address the 
behavior in partnership with the student and the student’s parents/guardians 
  

4. When applicable, referral for a comprehensive psychosocial or psychoeducational 
assessment, including for purposes of creating an individualized education program or a 
Section 504 plan 
  

5. Enrollment in a program for teaching prosocial behavior or anger management 
  

6. Participation in a restorative justice program 
  

7.  A positive behavior support approach with tiered interventions that occur during the school 
day on campus 
  

8. Participation in a social and emotional learning program that teaches students the ability to 
understand and manage emotions, develop caring and concern for others, make responsible 
decisions, establish positive relationships, and handle challenging situations capably 

CSBA NOTE: The Public Counsel's Fix School Discipline Project recognizes that exposure to 
chronic violence and other family or community traumas, such as serious accidents and life-

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 118



 

 

threatening illnesses involving loved ones, and to conditions such as homelessness, may affect 
students' ability to learn and function well in school, and urges schools to adopt policies that 
recognize those factors and provide appropriate support to students. 

9. Participation in a program that is sensitive to the traumas experienced by students, focuses 
on students' behavioral health needs, and addresses those needs in a proactive manner 
  

10. After-school programs that address specific behavioral issues or expose students to positive 
activities and behaviors, including, but not limited to, those operated in collaboration with 
local parent and community groups 
  

11. Recess restriction as provided in the section below entitled "Recess Restriction" 
  

12. Detention after school hours as provided in the section below entitled "Detention After 
School" 
  

13. Community service as provided in the section below entitled "Community Service" 
  

14. In accordance with Board policy and administrative regulation, restriction or disqualification 
from participation in extracurricular activities 
  

15. Reassignment to an alternative educational environment 
  

16.  Suspension and expulsion in accordance with law, Board policy, and administrative 
regulation 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, when a student's misbehavior may result in a 
referral for suspension or expulsion after other means of correction have failed, the district may 
document and place in the student's record any other means of correction used to address the 
behavior. The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
When, by law or district policy, other means of correction are required to be implemented before a 
student could be suspended or expelled, any other means of correction implemented shall be 
documented and retained in the student's records.  (Education Code 48900.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE:  On July 19, 2022, The United States Department of Education’s Office for Civil 
Rights and Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services issued new guidance, 
“Supporting Students with Disabilities and Avoiding the Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline 
under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973,” to help schools support students with 
disabilities and avoid discriminatory discipline practices. 

Staff shall enforce disciplinary rules fairly, consistently, and in accordance with the district's 
nondiscrimination policies.   

When disciplining a student who has been identified for special education and related services, the 
procedures specified in Administrative Regulation 5144.2 - Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 
(Students With Disabilities) shall be applied. If a student has not been identified as a student with a 
disability and the district suspects the behavior that resulted in discipline may be based in an 
unidentified disability, the district shall conduct an evaluation to determine if the student has a 
disability which requires an IEP or 504 plan.  (U.S.C. 1412(a)(3)) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 119



 

 

 
Recess Restriction 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section should be revised to reflect district practice. Although 
Education Code 44807.5 authorizes the district to adopt reasonable regulations allowing a teacher 
to restrict recess time for disciplinary purposes, it is recommended that districts discourage its use 
since it could limit students' opportunity to engage in physical activity which is inconsistent with 
district goals for student wellness. Studies have shown that, apart from its multiple health benefits, 
physical activity can help students improve their academic performance, attention, and behavior. 
 
In addition, Education Code 44807.5 may conflict with 5 CCR 352, which states “A pupil shall not 
be required to remain in school during the intermission at noon, or during any recess.” Districts that 
plan to restrict recess are encouraged to consult with CSBA’s District and County Office Legal 
Services or district legal counsel.  
Teachers may restrict a student's recess time only when they believe that this action is the most 
effective way to bring about improved behavior. When recess restriction involves the withholding 
of physical activity from a student, teachers shall try other disciplinary measures before imposing 
the restriction.  Recess restriction shall be subject to the following conditions:  

1. The student shall be given adequate time to use the restroom and get a drink or eat lunch, 
as appropriate. 
  

2. The student shall remain under a certificated employee's supervision during the period of 
restriction. 
  

3. The student's teacher shall inform the principal of any recess restrictions imposed. 

Detention After School 
 
Students may be detained for disciplinary reasons for up to one hour after the close of the 
maximum school day, or until the departure of the school bus to which they have been assigned if 
applicable.  (5 CCR 307, 353) 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice. 
The student shall not be detained unless the principal or designee notifies the parent/guardian. 
 
Students shall remain under the supervision of a certificated employee during the period of 
detention. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is offered for districts that use Saturday classes for 
purposes of detention. Education Code 37223 authorizes the use of Saturday classes; however, 
except in the case of truants, attendance at such classes must be at the election of the student, or 
parent/guardian when the student is a minor. 
Students may be offered the choice of serving their detention on Saturday rather than after school. 
 
Community Service 
 
As part of or instead of disciplinary action, the Board, Superintendent, principal, or principal's 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 120



 

 

designee may require a student to perform community service during nonschool hours on school 
grounds or, with written permission of the student's parent/guardian, off school grounds.  Such 
service may include, but is not limited to, community or school outdoor beautification, community 
or campus betterment, and teacher, peer, or youth assistance programs.  (Education Code 48900.6) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900.6 provides that the community service option is not available 
for those students who have been suspended, pending expulsion, for acts qualifying for either 
"mandatory recommendation for expulsion" or "mandatory expulsion" pursuant to Education Code 
48915. See BP 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. 
This community service option is not available for a student who has been suspended, pending 
expulsion, pursuant to Education Code 48915.  However, if the recommended expulsion is not 
implemented or the expulsion itself is suspended, then the student may be required to perform 
community service for the resulting suspension.  (Education Code 48900.6) 
 
Notice to Parents/Guardians and Students 
 
At the beginning of the school year, the Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians, 
in writing, about the availability of district rules related to discipline.  (Education Code 35291, 
48980) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall also provide written notice of disciplinary rules to transfer 
students at the time of their enrollment in the district.  

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 307 Participation in school activities until departure of bus 

5 CCR 353 Detention after school 

Civ. Code 1714.1 Liability of parent or guardian for act of willful misconduct by 
a minor 

Ed. Code 32280-32289.5 School safety plans 

Ed. Code 35146 Closed sessions 

Ed. Code 35291-35291.5 Rules 

Ed. Code 35291.5 School-adopted discipline rules 

Ed. Code 37223 Weekend classes 

Ed. Code 44807.5 Restriction from recess 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 121



 

 

Ed. Code 48900-48926 Suspension and expulsion 

Ed. Code 48980-48985 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 49005-49006.4 Seclusion and restraint 

Ed. Code 49330-49335 Injurious objects 

Ed. Code 49550-49564.5 Meals for needy students 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1400-1482 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

42 USC 1751-1769j School Lunch Program 

42 USC 1773 School Breakfast Program 

Management Resources Description 
California Dept of Education Program 
Advisories 

Classroom Management:  A California Resource Guide for 
Teachers and Administrators of Elementary and Secondary 
Schools, 2000 

U.S. Department of Education Office for 
Civil Rights 

Supporting Students with Disabilities and Avoiding the 
Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline under Section 504 
of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973   

CSBA Publication The Case for Reducing Out-of-School Suspensions and 
Expulsions, Fact Sheet, April 2014 

CSBA Publication Maximizing Opportunities for Physical Activity during the 
School Day, Fact Sheet, 2009 

CSBA Publication Recent Legislation on Discipline:  AB 240, Fact Sheet, March 
2015 

CSBA Publication Safe Schools: Strategies for Governing Boards to Ensure 
Student Success, 2011 

CSBA Publication Providing a Safe, Nondiscriminatory School Environment for 
Transgender and Gender-Nonconforming Students, Policy 
Brief, February 2014 

U.S. DOE, Office for Civil Rights 
Publication 

Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory 
Administration of School Discipline, January 2014 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website Public Counsel 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights 

Website California Department of Education 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 122



 

 

Website CSBA 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1313 Civility 

3512 Equipment 

3512-E(1) Equipment 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.4 Drug And Alcohol Free Schools 

3515 Campus Security 

3515 Campus Security 

3515.21 Unmanned Aircraft Systems (Drones) 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.31 School Resource Officers 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3543 Transportation Safety And Emergencies 

4131 Staff Development 

4158 Employee Security 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 123



 

 

4158 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

5000 Concepts And Roles 

5020 Parent Rights And Responsibilities 

5020 Parent Rights And Responsibilities 

5030 Student Wellness 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.5 Open/Closed Campus 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5116.2 Involuntary Student Transfers 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5127 Graduation Ceremonies And Activities 

5131 Conduct 

5131.1 Bus Conduct 

5131.1 Bus Conduct 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.41 Use Of Seclusion And Restraint 

5131.5 Vandalism And Graffiti 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.62 Tobacco 

5131.62 Tobacco 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 124



 

 

5131.63 Steroids 

5131.63 Steroids 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5131.9 Academic Honesty 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5137 Positive School Climate 

5138 Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation 

5141.4 Child Abuse Prevention And Reporting 

5141.4 Child Abuse Prevention And Reporting 

5142 Safety 

5142 Safety 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.2 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

5144.4 Required Parental Attendance 

5144.4 Required Parental Attendance 

5145.2 Freedom Of Speech/Expression 

5145.2 Freedom Of Speech/Expression 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.71 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.71-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 125



 

 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.8 Assemblies And Special Events 

6153 School-Sponsored Trips 

6153 School-Sponsored Trips 

6159.4 Behavioral Interventions For Special Education Students 

6162.54 Test Integrity/Test Preparation 

6163.4 Student Use Of Technology 

6163.4-E(1) Student Use Of Technology 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6185 Community Day School 

6185 Community Day School 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 126



 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 5144.1: Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 12/01/2014 | Last Revised Date: 03/01/20202023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 1003/01/20182023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA recommends that this administrative regulation be approved by the 
Governing Board, regardless of regular district practice regarding the approval of administrative 
regulations. 
 
Education Code 35291 requires the Board to adopt rules and regulations, which are not 
inconsistent with law or rules adopted by the State Board of Education, for the government and 
discipline of the schools under its jurisdiction. In addition, Education Code 48918 and 48918.5 
mandate that districts adopt rules concerning the due process rights of students in expulsion 
situations, and Education Code 48916 mandates procedures for filing and processing requests for 
readmission. Specific language complying with these mandates is included throughout this 
administrative regulation. 

Definitions 
 
Suspension means removal of a student from ongoing instruction for adjustment purposes. 
However, suspension does not mean any of the following:  (Education Code 48925)  

1. 1. Reassignment to another education program or class at the same school where the 
student will receive continuing instruction for the length of day prescribed by the 
Governing Board for students of the same grade level 
  

2. 2. Referral to a certificated employee designated by the principal to advise students 
  

3. 3. Removal from the class, but without reassignment to another class or program, for 
the remainder of the class period without sending the student to the principal or designee 
as provided in Education Code 48910, so long as removal from a particular class does not 
occur more than once every five school days.  

Expulsion means removal of a student from the immediate supervision and control or the general 
supervision of school personnel.  (Education Code 48925) 
 
Notice of Regulations 
 
At the beginning of each school year, the principal of each school shall ensure that all students and 
parents/guardians are notified in writing of all school rules related to discipline, including 
suspension and expulsion.  (Education Code 35291, 48900.1, 48980) 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 127



 

 

Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12 

CSBA NOTE: The acts for which students may be suspended or expelled are specified in law, the 
following section, and the sections below titled "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: 
Grades 4-12," and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12." The Board 
does not have authority to add to those enumerated acts. However, the Board has authority to 
prohibit suspension or expulsion for certain acts for which suspension or expulsion is permissible 
rather than mandatory. The Board may consider limiting the use of suspension and expulsion for 
such offenses as part of the district plan to address school climate within the local control and 
accountability plan required pursuant to Education Code 52060. In addition, pursuant to 
Education Code 48900.5, a district is not authorized to suspend a student for certain specified 
violations unless other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct. 

Acts for which a student, including a student with disabilities, may be suspended or expelled shall 
be only those specified as follows and in the sections "Additional Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion: Grades 4-12" and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" 
below:  

1. 1. Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another 
person; willfully used force or violence upon another person, except in self-defense; or 
committed as an aider or abettor, as adjudged by a juvenile court, a crime of physical 
violence in which the victim suffered great or serious bodily injury  (Education Code 
48900(a) and (t)) 

CSBA NOTE: The Attorney General, in 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 91 (1997), determined that a student 
may be expelled for "possession" of a firearm if the student knowingly and voluntarily had direct 
control over the firearm. The only exceptions are when the student has permission from school 
officials to possess the firearm (pursuant to Education Code 48900 and 48915) or when the 
possession is brief and solely for the purpose of disposing of the firearm, such as handing it to 
school officials. Note that "firearm" does not include "imitation firearm" which is listed separately 
in itemItem #12 below. See BP 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous Instruments. 
 
Pursuant to Penal Code 417.27, students are prohibited from possessing a laser pointer on school 
premises, except for a valid instructional or other school-related purpose. See BP 5131 - Conduct. 

2. 2. Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other 
dangerous object, unless, in the case of possession of any object of this type, the student 
had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, 
with the principal or designee's concurrence  (Education Code 48900(b)) 
  

3. 3. Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, otherwise furnished, or was under the influence of 
any controlled substance as defined in Health and Safety Code 11053-1105811059, 
alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant of any kind  (Education Code 48900(c)) 
  

4. 4. Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance as 
defined in Health and Safety Code 11053-1105811059, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant of 
any kind, and then sold, delivered, or otherwise furnished to any person another liquid, 
substance, or material and represented the same as sucha controlled substance, alcoholic 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 128



 

 

beverage, or intoxicant  (Education Code 48900(d)) 
  

5. 5. Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion  (Education Code 48900(e)) 
  

6. 6. Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property  
(Education Code 48900(f)) 
  

7. 7. Stole or attempted to steal school property or private property  (Education Code 
48900(g)) 
  

8. 8. Possessed or used tobacco or products containing tobacco or nicotine products, 
including, but not limited to, cigars, cigarettes, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless 
tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel, except that this restriction shall not prohibit a 
student from using or possessing prescription products  (Education Code 48900(h)) 
  

9. 9. Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity  (Education 
Code 48900(i)) 
  

10. 10. Unlawfully possessed, offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any drug 
paraphernalia, as defined in Health and Safety Code 11014.5  (Education Code 48900(j)) 
  

11. 11. Knowingly received stolen school property or private property  (Education Code 
48900(l)) 
  

12. 12. Possessed an imitation firearm  (Education Code 48900(m)) 
 
Imitation firearm means a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical 
properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica 
is a firearm.  (Education Code 48900(m)) 
  

13. 13. Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 
266c, 286, 287, 288, 289, or former 288a, or 289, or committed a sexual battery as defined 
in Penal Code 243.4  (Education Code 48900(n)) 
  

14. 14. Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a student who is a complaining witness or 
witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of preventing that student from 
being a witness and/or retaliating against that student for being a witness  (Education Code 
48900(o)) 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 129



 

 

15. 15. Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug 
Soma (Education Code 48900(p)) 
  

16. 16. Engaged in, or attempted to engage in, hazing  (Education Code 48900(q)) 
 
Hazing means a method of initiation or pre-initiation into a student organization or body, 
whether or not the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational 
institution, which is likely to cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or disgrace 
resulting in physical or mental harm to a former, current, or prospective student. Hazing 
does not include athletic events or school-sanctioned events.  (Education Code 48900(q)) 
  

17. 17. Engaged in an act of bullying  (Education Code 48900(r)) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900(r) defines "bullying" as "any severe or pervasive physical or 
verbal act or conduct, including communications made in writing or by means of electronic act," 
which is directed toward a student and which would have serious detrimental consequences upon 
a reasonable student. Pursuant to Education Code 48900, a student may be disciplined for 
bullying by means of an electronic act even when the act originated off campus. See also BPAR 
5131.2 - Bullying. 

18. Bullying means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, including 
communications made in writing or by means of an electronic act, directed toward one or 
more students that has or can reasonably be predicted to have the effect of placing a 
reasonable student(s) in fear of harm to self or property; cause the student to experience a 
substantially detrimental effect on physical or mental health; or cause the student to 
experience substantial interferences with academic performance or ability to participate in 
or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by a school.  (Education Code 
48900(r)) 

CSBA NOTE: "Bullying" also would include any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or 
harassment, threat, or intimidation committed by a student at any grade level, as set forth in 
Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4, when the act results in harm to a reasonable 
student as specified in the above paragraph. However, when bullying is found under these 
circumstances, students below grade 4 may be disciplined for the "bullying" but not for the 
underlying act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or intimidation as 
specified below in the section "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12." 

19. Bullying includes any act of sexual harassment, hate violence, or harassment, threat, or 
intimidation, as defined in Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 and below in the 
section "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," that has any of 
the effects described above on a reasonable student. 
 
Bullying also includes an act of cyber sexual bullying by a student through the dissemination 
of, or the solicitation or incitement to disseminate, a photograph or other visual recording 
that depicts a nude, semi-nude, or sexually explicit photograph or other visual recording of 
an identifiable minor, when such dissemination is to another student or to school personnel 
by means of an electronic act and has or can be reasonably predicted to have one or more 
of the effects of bullying described above. Cyber sexual bullying does not include a 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 130



 

 

depiction, portrayal, or image that has any serious literary, artistic, educational, political, or 
scientific value or that involves athletic events or school-sanctioned activities. 
 
Electronic act means the creation or transmission originated on or off the school site by 
means of an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless telephone, 
or other wireless communication device, computer, or pager, of a communication including, 
but not limited to:  (Education Code 48900(r)) 
   

a. a. A message, text, sound, video, or image 
  

b. b. A post on a social network Internet web site, including, but not limited to, 
posting to or creating a burn page or creating a credible impersonation or false 
profile for the purpose of causing a reasonable student any of the effects of bullying 
described above. 
 
Reasonable student means a student, including, but not limited to, a student who has 
been identified as a student with a disability, who exercises average care, skill, and 
judgment in conduct for a person of the student's age, or for a person of the 
student's age and disability.  (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 Burn page means an internet web site created for the purpose of causing a 
reasonable student any of the effects of bullying described above.  (Education Code 
48900(r)) 

 Credible impersonation means to knowingly and without consent impersonate a 
student for the purpose of bullying the student and such that the student would 
reasonably believe, or has reasonably believed, that the student was or is the 
student who was impersonated.  (Education Code 48900(r)) 

 False profile means a profile of a fictitious student or profile using the likeness or 
attributes of an actual student other than the student who created the false profile.  
(Education Code 48900(r)) 

An electronic act is not considered pervasive conduct solely on the basis that it has been 
transmitted to the internet or is currently posted on the internet.  (Education Code 
48900(r)) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900(t) allows for the suspension, but not expulsion, of a student 
who "aids or abets," as defined in Penal Code 31, the infliction or attempted infliction of physical 
injury to another person. The term "aiding or abetting," is a complex legal term and requires that, 
at the time the crime was committed, the aider or abettor was aware of the crime and specifically 
intended to commit the crime. Because of the complexities of criminal law, CSBA’s District and 
County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel should be consulted as 
appropriate. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48900(t), any student who aids or abets a crime of physical violence 
in which the victim suffered great bodily injury or serious bodily injury is subject to suspension or 
expulsion as provided in itemItem #1 above. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 131



 

 

20. 18.  Aided or abetted the infliction or attempted infliction of physical injury on 
another person, as defined in Penal Code 31  (Education Code 48900(t)) 
  

21. 19.  Made terrorist threats against school officials and/or school property  
(Education Code 48900.7) 
 
A terrorist threat includes any written or oral statement by a person who willfully 
threatens to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to 
another person or property damage in excess of $1,000, with the specific intent that 
the statement is to be taken as a threat, even if there is no intent of actually carrying 
it out. the crime.  (Education Code 48900.7) 

 
Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following section applies only to students in grades 4-12 and may be revised to 
reflect grade levels offered by the district. 
 
As discussed in itemItem #17 of "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12" above, 
although Education Code 48900(r) defines bullying to include acts involving itemsItems #1-3 
below, Education Code 48900.2-48900.4 provide that only students in grades 4-12 may be 
suspended or expelled for the individual acts that constitute sexual harassment, hate violence, and 
harassment. TheBecause the interplay between "bullying" and itemsItems #1-3 can raise complex 
legal issues. Districts, districts should consult CSBA’s District and County Office of Education 
Legal Services or district legal counsel, as appropriate. 

A student in grades 4-12 shall be subject to suspension or recommendation for expulsion when it is 
determined that the student:  

1. 1. Committed sexual harassment as defined in Education Code 212.5  (Education Code 
48900.2) 
 
Sexual harassment means conduct which, when considered from the perspective of a 
reasonable person of the same gender as the victim, is sufficiently severe or pervasive as to 
have a negative impact upon the victim's academic performance or to create an 
intimidating, hostile, or offensive educational environment.  (Education Code 212.5, 
48900.2) 
  

2. 2. Caused, attempted to cause, threatened to cause, or participated in an act of hate 
violence as defined in Education Code 233  (Education Code 48900.3) 
 
Hate violence means any act punishable under Penal Code 422.6, 422.7, or 422.75. Such 
acts include injuring or intimidating a victim, interfering with the exercise of a victim's civil 
rights, or damaging a victim's property because of the victim's race, ethnicity, religion, 
nationality, disability, gender, gender identity, gender expression, or sexual orientation; a 
perception of the presence of any of those characteristics in the victim; or the victim's 
association with a person or group with one or more of those actual or perceived 
characteristics.  (Education Code 233; Penal Code 422.55) 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 132



 

 

3. 3. Intentionally engaged in harassment, threats, or intimidation against district 
personnel or students that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to have the actual and 
reasonably expected effect of materially disrupting classwork, creating substantial disorder, 
and invading the rights of school personnel or students by creating an intimidating or hostile 
educational environment.  (Education Code 48900.4) 

 
Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900(k), as amended by SB 419 (Ch. 279, Statutes of 
2019), students in grades K-8 must not be suspended for disruption of school activities or willful 
defiance of school authority, and students in grades K-12 must not be expelled on these grounds. 
Since districts are authorized but not required to suspend students in grades 9-12 based on these 
grounds, the following section is for use only by districts that selected Option 1 in the section 
"Appropriate Use of Suspension Authority" in the accompanying Board policy. Districts that 
selected Option 2 in the accompanying Board policy, thereby prohibiting the use of these reasons 
for suspending students at any grade level, should delete the following section. 
 
None of the prohibitions or restrictions in Education Code 48900(k) affect a teacher's authority to 
remove a student from class for one day pursuant to Education Code 48910. See the section 
"Suspension from Class by a Teacher" below. 

Any student in grades 9-12 may be suspended, but not expelled, for disrupting school activities or 
otherwise willfully defying the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, other school 
officials, or other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.  (Education Code 
48900(k)) 
 
Suspension from Class by a Teacher 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
While Education Code 48900(k) prohibits a district from suspending students in grades K-8 for 
disruption or willful defiance, it still allows for a teacher to suspend a K-8 student on these 
grounds. 

A teacher may suspend a student from class for the remainder of the day and the following day for 
any of the acts specified in Education Code 48900 and listed as itemsItems #1-1819 under 
"Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12" above or for disruption or willful defiance at 
any grade level, including grades K-8.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
When suspending a student from class, the teacher shall immediately report this action to the 
principal or designee and send the student to the principal or designee for appropriate action. If 
that action requires the continuing presence of the student at school, the student shall be 
appropriately supervised during the class periods from which the student has been suspended.  
(Education Code 48910) 
 
As soon as possible after the teacher decides to suspend the student, the teacher shall ask the 
student's parent/guardian to attend a parent-teacher conference regarding the suspension. A 
counselor or psychologist may attend the conference if it is practicable, and a school administrator 
shall attend if either the parent/guardian or teacher so requests.  (Education Code 48910) 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 133



 

 

A student suspended from class shall not be returned to class during the period of the suspension 
without the approval of the teacher of the class and the principal or designee.  (Education Code 
48910) 
 
A student suspended from class shall not be placed in another regular class during the period of 
suspension. However, a student assigned to more than one class per day may continue to attend 
other regular classes except those held at the same time as the class from which the student was 
suspended.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
A teacher may also refer a student, for any of the acts specified above in Education Code 48900, to 
the principal or designee for consideration of a suspension from school.  (Education Code 48910) 
 
The teacher of any class from which a student is suspended may require the student to complete 
any assignments and tests missed during the removal.  (Education Code 48913) 
 
Suspension by Superintendent, Principal or Principal's Designee 
 
To implement disciplinary procedures at a school site, the principal may, in writing, designate as the 
principal's designee another administrator or, if the principal is the only administrator at the school 
site, a certificated employee. As necessary, the principal may, in writing, also designate another 
administrator or certificated employee as the secondary designee to assist with disciplinary 
procedures when the principal and the principal's primary designee are absent from the school site. 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee shall immediately suspend any student found at school 
or at a school activity away from school to have committed any of the acts listed in the Board 
policy under "Authority to Expel" for which a recommendation of expulsion is required.  (Education 
Code 48915(c)) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48900.5 limits situations warranting suspension for a first offense 
to when the violation involves Education Code 48900(a)-(e) or the student's presence causes a 
danger to persons. 

The Superintendent, principal, or designee may impose a suspension for a first offense if it is 
determined that the student violated any of itemsItems #1-5 listed under "Grounds for Suspension 
and Expulsion: Grades K-12" above or if the student's presence causes a danger to persons.  
(Education Code 48900.5) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48900 and 48915, except for certain egregious acts or 
offenses for which suspension is permissible or mandatory, as specified above pursuant to 
Education Code 48915(a) or (c), the Superintendent or principal is authorized to provide an 
alternative, age-appropriate disciplinary measure that is tailored to correct a student's specific 
misbehavior. In addition, the U.S. Department of Justice's Civil Rights Division (DOJ) and the U.S. 
Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights (OCR), in their joint January 2014 Dear 
Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline, (which has been 
under review by DOJ and OCR since July 30, 2021), recommend that effective alternatives to 
suspension and expulsion be implemented for correcting student misbehavior. For a list of 
appropriate alternatives, see AR 5144 - Discipline. 

For all other offenses, a student may be suspended only when the Superintendent or principal has 
determined that other means of correction have failed to bring about proper conduct.  (Education 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 134



 

 

Code 48900.5) 
 
When other means of correction are implemented prior to imposing suspension orupon a student,  
including supervised suspension upon a student, the Superintendent, principal, or designee shall 
document the other means of correction used and retain the documentation in the student's 
record.  (Education Code 48900.5) 
 
Length of Suspension 
 
The Superintendent, principal, or designee may suspend a student from school for not more than 
five consecutive school days.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
A student may be suspended from school for not more than 20 school days in any school year. 
However, if a student enrolls in or is transferred to another regular school, an opportunity school or 
class, or continuation school or class for the purpose of adjustment, the student may be suspended 
for not more than 30 school days in a school year. The district may count suspensions that occur 
while a student is enrolled in another school district toward the maximum number of days for 
which the student may be suspended in any school year.  (Education Code 48903, 48911, 48912) 
 
These restrictions on the number of days of suspension shall not apply when the suspension is 
extended pending an expulsion.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
Due Process Procedures for Suspension 
 

CSBA NOTE: District disciplinary procedures are generally subject to basic constitutional due 
process requirements, such as the provision of notice and/or hearing, especially with respect to 
suspension, involuntary transfer, expulsion, or other serious disciplinary actions. However, when 
dealing with certain categories of students, additional procedures apply. For example, when 
considering suspension of a student who is a foster youth or Indian child, as defined in Welfare and 
Institutions Code 224.1, Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48911.1, and 48915.5, as amended by 
AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), require that the foster youth's educational rights holder, 
attorney, and county social worker receive specified notifications in relation to the suspension, and 
for an Indian child, the child’s tribal social worker, and if applicable, county social worker. See Items 
#1, 3, 5, and 6 below. 

Suspensions shall be imposed in accordance with the following procedures:  

1. 1. Informal Conference: Suspension shall be preceded by an informal conference 
conducted by the Superintendent, principal, or designee with the student and, whenever 
practicable, the teacher, supervisor, or school employee who referred the student to the 
principal. At the conference, the student shall be informed of the reason for the disciplinary 
action, including the other means of correction that were attempted before the suspension 
as required pursuant to Education Code 48900.5, and the evidence against the student, and 
shall be given the opportunity to present the student's version and evidence. in the 
student’s defense.  (Education Code 48911) 
 
This conference may be omitted if the Superintendent, principal, or designee determines 
that an emergency situation exists involving a clear and present danger to the lives, safety, 
or health of students or school personnel. If a student is suspended without this conference, 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 135



 

 

both the student, the student’s parent/guardian, or if the student is a foster youth, the 
foster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and studentcounty social worker, or if the 
student is an Indian child, the Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, county 
social worker, shall be notified of the student's right to a conference and the right to return 
to school for the purpose of the conference and the. The conference shall be held within 
two school days, unless the student waives the right to it or is physically unable to attend 
for any reason. In such a case, the conference shall be held as soon as the student is 
physically able to return to school. for the conference.  (Education Code 48911) 

CSBA NOTE: Item #2 below should be revised to reflect the district's processing and reporting 
procedures. 

2. 2. Administrative Actions: All requests for student suspension are to be processed by 
the principal or designee. A school employee shall report the suspension, including the 
name of the student and the cause for the suspension, to the Superintendent or designee. 
(Education Code 48911) 
  

3. 3. Notice to Parents/Guardians: At the time of the suspension, a school employee shall 
make a reasonable effort to contact the parent/guardian, or if the student is a foster youth, 
the foster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or if the 
student is an Indian child, the Indian child’s tribal social worker, and, if applicable, the county 
social worker, in person, by email, or by telephone or in person.. Whenever a student is 
suspended, the parent/guardian, or, if applicable, the foster youth’s educational rights 
holder, attorney, and county social worker, or the Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if 
applicable, the county social worker, shall also be notified in writing of the suspension.  
(Education Code 48911) 
 
This notice shall state the specific offense committed by the student.  (Education Code 
48900.8) 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

4. 4. In addition, the notice may state the date and time when the student may return to 
school. 
  

5. 5. Parent/Guardian Conference: Whenever a student is suspended, school officials 
may requestconduct a meeting with the parent/guardian to discuss the cause(s) and 
duration of the suspension, the school policy involved, and any other pertinent matter. 
(Education Code 48914) 
 
If school officials request to meet with the parent/guardian, the notice may state that the 
law requires the parent/guardian to respond to such requests without delay. However, no 
penalties may be imposed on the student for the failure of the parent/guardian to attend 
such a conference. The student may not be denied reinstatement solely because the 
parent/guardian failed to attend the conference. (Education Code 48911) 
  (Education Code 48914) 

 
If school officials request to meet with the parent/guardian, a foster youth’s educational 
rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or an Indian child’s tribal social worker, 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 136



 

 

and, if applicable, the county social worker, the notice may state that the law requires such 
individuals to respond to the request without delay. However, the student shall not be 
penalized for the failure of the parent/guardian, a foster youth’s educational rights holder, 
attorney, and county social worker, or an Indian child’s tribal social worker, and, if 
applicable, the county social worker, to attend such a conference. The student may not be 
denied reinstatement solely because such individuals failed to attend the conference.  
(Education Code 48911) 
 

6. 6. Extension of Suspension: If the Board is considering the expulsion of a suspended 
student from any school or the suspension of a student for the balance of the semester 
from continuation school, the Superintendent or designee may, in writing, extend the 
suspension until such time as the Board has made a decision, provided the following 
requirements are followed:  (Education Code 48911) 
   

a. a. The extension of the original period of suspension is preceded by notice of 
such extension with an offer to hold a conference concerning the extension, giving 
the student an opportunity to be heard. This conference may be held in conjunction 
with a meeting requested by the student or parent/guardian to challenge the 
original suspension. 
  

b. b. The Superintendent or designee determines, following a meeting in which 
the student and the student's parent/guardian were invited to participate, that the 
student's presence at the school or at an alternative school would endanger persons 
or property or threaten to disrupt the instructional process. (Education Code 48911) 

CSBA NOTE: When the student being considered for expulsion is a foster youth or Indian child, 
Education Code 48911 and 48918.1, as amended by AB 740, require the district to invite the 
student'sfoster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and an appropriate county child welfare 
agency representativesocial worker, or the Indian child’s tribal social worker or, if applicable, the 
county social worker, to the meeting specified above. See the section below titled "Additional 
Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth and Homeless Students." To ensure such invitation, 
the following paragraph provides that the district liaison for foster youth be notified. However, any 
district that has designated another position to carry out this responsibility may modify the 
paragraph to specify that position. For designation of the liaison for foster youth, see AR 6173.1 - 
Education for Foster Youth., Homeless Students, and Indian Children."  

c. c. If the student involved is a foster youth or Indian child, the Superintendent 
or designee shall notify the districtdistrict’s educational liaison for foster youth of 
the need to invite the student'sfoster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney and 
a representative of the appropriate county child welfare agencysocial worker, or the 
Indian child’s tribal social worker or, if applicable, the county social worker, to attend 
the meeting.  (Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48918.1) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district's liaison for homeless students 
must be notified when the student being considered for expulsion is a homeless student. See the 
section below titled "Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth and Homeless 
Students." 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 137



 

 

d. d. If the student involved is a homeless child or youth, the Superintendent or 
designee shall notify the district liaison for homeless students.  (Education Code 
48918.1) 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Since 
Education Code 48900 and 48900.5 require a district, under certain circumstances, to use 
alternative disciplinary measures prior to imposing suspension, including supervised suspension, 
the district may, as necessary, provide services that would address the student's specific 
misbehavior along with the suspension program. For example, the district may require the student 
to enroll in a program that teaches prosocial behavior or anger management even while the 
student is suspended. 

e. e. In lieu of or in addition to suspending a student, the Superintendent, 
principal, or designee may provide services or require the student to participate in 
an alternative disciplinary program designed to correct the behavior and keep the 
student in school. 

Suspension by the Board 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to suspend students 
from school pursuant to Education Code 48912. In practice, it is impractical for boards to directly 
exercise this authority since circumstances warranting suspension usually require quick and 
sometimes immediate action which may not be possible for a board due to legal requirements for 
taking board actions, such as having a meeting. 

The Board may suspend a student for any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion: Grades K-12," "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," and 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" above and within the limits 
specified under "Suspension by Superintendent, Principal, or Designee" above.  (Education Code 
48912) 
 
The Board may suspend a student enrolled in a continuation school or class for a period not longer 
than the remainder of the semester. The suspension shall meet the requirements of Education 
Code 48915.  (Education Code 48912.5) 
 
When the Board is considering a suspension, disciplinary action, or any other action (except 
expulsion) against any student, it shall hold a closed session if a public hearing would lead to 
disclosure of information that would violate a student's right to privacy under Education Code 
49073-49079.  (Education Code 35146, 48912) 
 
The Board shall provide the student and parent/guardian with written notice of the closed session 
by registered or certified mail or personal service. Upon receiving this notice, the student or 
parent/guardian may request a public meeting, and this request shall be granted if made in writing 
within 48 hours after receipt of the Board's notice. However, any discussion that conflicts with any 
other student's right to privacy still shall be held in closed session.  (Education Code 35146, 48912) 
 
On-Campus Suspension 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 138



 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by any district establishing an on-campus 
suspension program pursuant to Education Code 48911.1. However, pursuant to Education Code 
48900.5, such a district is required to use other means of correcting a student's behavior before 
imposing a supervised suspension, unless such a supervised suspension is otherwise permitted by 
law for a student's first offense. Use of a supervised suspension classroom program does not in 
any way limit the district's ability to transfer a student to an opportunity school or class or a 
continuation education school or class in accordance with law. 

A student for whom an expulsion action has not been initiated and who poses no imminent danger 
or threat to the school, students, or staff may be assigned to on-campus suspension in a separate 
classroom, building, or site for the entire period of suspension. The following conditions shall apply:  
(Education Code 48911.1)  

1. 1. The on-campus suspension classroom shall be staffed in accordance with law. 
  

2. 2. The student shall have access to appropriate counseling services. 
  

3. 3. The on-campus suspension classroom shall promote completion of schoolwork and 
tests missed by the student during the suspension. 
  

4. 4. The student shall be responsible for contacting the student's teacher(s) to receive 
assignments to be completed in the supervised suspension classroom. The teacher(s) shall 
provide all assignments and tests that the student will miss while suspended. If no such 
work is assigned, the person supervising the suspension classroom shall assign schoolwork. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48911.1, as amended by AB 740, requires notification to a foster 
youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, and an Indian child’s tribal 
social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, of a student’s assignment to an on-campus 
suspension classroom. 
At the time a student is assigned to an on-campus suspension classroom, the principal or designee 
shall notify the student's parent/guardian, or if the student is a foster youth, the foster youth’s 
educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the student if an Indian child, 
the Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, in person, by email, or 
by telephone. When the assignment is for longer than one class period, this notification mayshall be 
made in writing.  (Education Code 48911.1) 
 
Superintendent or Principal's Authority to Recommend Expulsion 
 
Unless the Superintendent or principal determines that expulsion should not be recommended 
under the circumstances or that an alternative means of correction would address the conduct, the 
Superintendent or principal shall recommend a student's expulsion for any of the following acts: 
(Education Code 48915)  

1. 1. Causing serious physical injury to another person, except in self-defense 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 139



 

 

2. 2. Possession of any knife or other dangerous object of no reasonable use to the 
student 
  

3. Unlawful possession of any controlled substance as listed in Health and Safety Code 
11053-1105811059, except for (: 

3.  a) the. The first offense for the possession of not more than one ounce of marijuana, 
other than concentrated cannabis, or (b) the student's possession of over-the-
counter medication or other medication prescribed by a physician 
   

 b. The student's possession of over-the-counter medication for use by the student 
for medical purposes  

 c. Medication prescribed for the student by a physician 

4. 4. Robbery or extortion 
  

5. 5. Assault or battery, as defined in Penal Code 240 and 242, upon any school 
employee 

In determining whether or not to recommend the expulsion of a student, the Superintendent, 
principal, or designee shall act as quickly as possible to ensure that the student does not lose 
instructional time.  (Education Code 48915) 
 
Student's Right to Expulsion Hearing 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board establish rules and regulations 
governing procedures for the expulsion of students. The timelines of Education Code 48918 must 
be strictly followed; failure to do so may result in loss of the district's power to act (Garcia v. Los 
Angeles Board of Education). In calculating timelines, the district should also be aware of the 
difference between the calculation of "school days" and "calendar days" under Education Code 
48918. 

Any student recommended for expulsion shall be entitled to a hearing to determine whether the 
student should be expelled. The hearing shall be held within 30 school days after the 
Superintendent, principal, or designee determines that the student has committed the act(s) that 
form the basis for the expulsion recommendation.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
The student is entitled to at least one postponement of an expulsion hearing for a period of not 
more than 30 calendar days. The request for postponement shall be in writing. Any subsequent 
postponement may be granted at the Board's discretion.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
If the Board finds it impractical during the regular school year to comply with these time 
requirements for conducting an expulsion hearing, the Superintendent or designee may, for good 
cause, extend the time period by an additional five school days. Reasons for the extension shall be 
included as a part of the record when the expulsion hearing is held.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 140



 

 

If the Board finds it impractical to comply with the time requirements of the expulsion hearing due 
to a summer recess of Board meetings of more than two weeks, the days during the recess shall not 
be counted as school days. The days not counted during the recess may not exceed 20 school days, 
as defined in Education Code 48925. Unless the student requests in writing that the expulsion 
hearing be postponed, the hearing shall be held not later than 20 calendar days prior to the first day 
of the next school year.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
Once the hearing starts, all matters shall be pursued with reasonable diligence and concluded 
without unnecessary delay.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 
 
Stipulated Expulsion 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
"Stipulated expulsion" is for districts that have adopted an expedited procedure which allows a 
student to waive the right to a pre-expulsion hearing in exchange for an agreement as to the 
terms of the expulsion. Such waivers are not specifically addressed in law and districts should 
ensure that the due process rights of students are included in the stipulated agreement and are 
clearly explained to them before the agreement is signed. Districts should consult with CSBA’s 
District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel as appropriate. 

After a determination that a student has committed an expellable offense for which the student 
may be expelled, the Superintendent, principal, or designee shall offer the student and, the 
student’s parent/guardian, or, when applicable, other person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, the option to waive a hearing and stipulate to the expulsion or to a 
suspension of the expulsion under certain conditions. The offer shall be made only after the 
student or parent/guardian has been given written notice of the expulsion hearing pursuant to 
Education Code 48918 has been given. 
 
The stipulation agreement shall be in writing and shall be signed by the student and 
parent/guardian, the student’s parent/guardian, or, when applicable, the person holding the right to 
make educational decisions for the student. The stipulation agreement shall include notice of all the 
rights that the student is waiving, including the waiving of the right to have a full hearing, to appeal 
the expulsion to the County Board of Education, and to consult legal counsel. 
 
A stipulated expulsion agreed to by the student and parent/guardian, the student’s 
parent/guardian, or, when applicable, the person holding the right to make educational decisions 
for the student, shall be effective upon approval by the Board. 
 
Rights of Complaining Witness 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918.5 mandates the following rights related to the treatment of 
witnesses alleging acts of sexual assault or sexual battery. Other procedures related to 
complaining witnesses also may be added as desired by the district. Additional mandated 
procedures related to the rights and treatment of complaining witnesses are included where 
appropriate throughout this regulation. 

An expulsion hearing involving allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery may be postponed for 
one school day in order to accommodate the special physical, mental, or emotional needs of a 
student who is the complaining witness.  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 141



 

 

Whenever the Superintendent or designee recommends an expulsion hearing that addresses 
allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery, the Superintendent or designee shall give the 
complaining witness a copy of the district's suspension and expulsion policy and regulation and 
shall advise the witness of the right to:  (Education Code 48918.5)  

1. 1. Receive five days' notice of the scheduled testimony at the hearing 
  

2. 2. Have up to two adult support persons present at the hearing at the time the witness 
testifies 
  

3. 3. Have a closed hearing during the time the witness testifies 

Whenever any allegation of sexual assault or sexual battery is made, the Superintendent or 
designee shall immediately advise complaining witnesses and accused students to refrain from 
personal or telephone contact with each other during the time when an expulsion process is 
pending.  (Education Code 48918.5) 
 
Written Notice of the Expulsion Hearing 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates the Board to adopt procedures that include the 
following items. 

Written notice of the expulsion hearing shall be forwarded to the student and the student's 
parent/guardian at least 10 calendar days before the date of the hearing. The notice shall include: 
(Education Code 48900.8, 48918(b))  

1. 1. The date and place of the hearing 
  

2. 2. A statement of the specific facts, charges, and offense upon which the proposed 
expulsion is based 
  

3. 3. A copy of district disciplinary rules which relate to the alleged violation 
  

4. 4. Notification of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation, pursuant to Education 
Code 48915.1, to provide information about the student's status in the district to any other 
district in which the student seeks enrollment 
 
This obligation applies when a student is expelled for acts other than those described in 
Education Code 48915(a) or (c). 
  

5. 5. The opportunity for the student or the student's parent/guardian to appear in 
person or be represented by legal counsel or by a nonattorney adviser 
 
Legal counsel means an attorney or lawyer who is admitted to the practice of law in 
California and is an active member of the State Bar of California. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 142



 

 

 
Nonattorney adviser means an individual who is not an attorney or lawyer, but who is 
familiar with the facts of the case and has been selected by the student or student's 
parent/guardian to provide assistance at the hearing. 
  

6. 6. The right to inspect and obtain copies of all documents to be used at the hearing 
  

7. 7. The opportunity to confront and question all witnesses who testify at the hearing 
  

8. 8. The opportunity to question all evidence presented and to present oral and 
documentary evidence on the student's behalf, including witnesses 

 
Additional Notice of Expulsion Hearing for Foster Youth and, Homeless Students, and Indian 
Children 

CSBA NOTE: Prior to conducting an expulsion hearing to determine whether a foster youth or 
Indian child should be expelled, Education Code 48918.1, as amended by AB 740, requires the 
district to notify the student'sfoster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and a 
representative of an appropriate county child welfare agencysocial worker, or an Indian child’s 
tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, provided that the violation does not 
require a mandatory recommendation for expulsion. Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, such 
additional notice must be given to the district liaison for homeless students when the student 
involved is a homeless child or youth and the violation does not require a mandatory 
recommendation for expulsion. While such a notice is not required if the offense requires a 
mandatory recommendation for expulsion, it is nonetheless recommended and the following 
section reflects this recommendation. 

If the student facing expulsion is a foster student or Indian child, the Superintendent or designee 
shall also send notice of the hearing to the student'sfoster youth’s’ educational rights holder, 
attorney, and a representative of an appropriate child welfare agencycounty social worker, or the 
Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker, at least 10 calendar days 
prior to the hearing.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
If the student facing expulsion is a homeless student, the Superintendent or designee shall also 
send notice of the hearing to the district liaison for homeless students at least 10 calendar days 
prior to the hearing.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
Any notice for these purposes may be provided by the most cost-effective method possible, 
including by email or a telephone call.  (Education Code 48918.1) 
 
Conduct of Expulsion Hearing 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the 
following items. 
 
Instead of the Board conducting an expulsion hearing, it may appoint a hearing officer or an 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 143



 

 

impartial administrative panel to conduct the hearing; see section "Alternative Expulsion Hearing: 
Hearing Officer or Administrative Panel" below. Even if the district conducts all expulsion hearings 
in this manner, the requirements of Education Code 48918 pertaining to the conduct of the 
hearing must be met. 

1. 1. Closed Session: Notwithstanding Education Code 35145, the Board shall conduct a 
hearing to consider the expulsion of the student in a session closed to the public unless the 
student requests in writing at least five days prior to the hearing that the hearing be a public 
meeting. If such a request is made, the meeting shall be public to the extent that privacy 
rights of other students are not violated.  (Education Code 48918) 

CSBA NOTE: For the purpose of Board deliberations during the closed session described below, 
the presence of any person other than the Board members, including the Superintendent, 
necessitates allowing the presence of the parent/guardian, student, and student's counsel. 

2. 2. Whether the expulsion hearing is held in closed or public session, the Board may 
meet in closed session to deliberate and determine whether or not the student should be 
expelled. If the Board admits any other person to this closed session, the parent/guardian, 
the student, and the counsel of the student also shall be allowed to attend the closed 
session.  (Education Code 48918(c)) 
 
If a hearing that involves a charge of sexual assault or sexual battery is to be conducted in 
public, a complaining witness shall have the right to testify in closed session when testifying 
in public would threaten serious psychological harm to the witness and when there are no 
alternative procedures to avoid the threatened harm, including, but not limited to, a 
videotaped deposition or contemporaneous examination in another place communicated to 
the hearing room by closed-circuit television.  (Education Code 48918(c)) 
  

3. 3. Record of Hearing: A record of the hearing shall be made and may be maintained by 
any means, including electronic recording, as long as a reasonably accurate and complete 
written transcription of the proceedings can be made.  (Education Code 48918(g)) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 authorizes the Board to issue subpoenas for the personal 
appearance of percipient witnesses at an expulsion hearing. In Woodbury v. Dempsey, the court 
held that a district's authority to determine whether to issue subpoenas is discretionary, but a 
district could not have a blanket policy denying the issuance of subpoenas in all cases. 
 
In accordance with Code of Civil Procedure 1987, the subpoena must be served at least 10 days 
before the time required for attendance unless the court prescribes a shorter time. Unless they 
are parties to the hearing or are district or government employees, witnesses who appear 
pursuant to a subpoena receive fees equal to those prescribed for witnesses in civil actions in a 
superior court, and all witnesses other than the parties to the hearing receive mileage; these fees 
and mileage must be paid by the party requesting the subpoena. 

4. 4. Subpoenas: Before commencing a student expulsion hearing, the Board may issue 
subpoenas, at the request of either the student or the Superintendent or designee, for the 
personal appearance at the hearing of any person who actually witnessed the action that 
gave rise to the recommendation for expulsion. After the hearing has commenced, the 
Board or the hearing officer or administrative panel may issue such subpoenas at the 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 144



 

 

request of the student or the County Superintendent of Schools or designee. All subpoenas 
shall be issued in accordance with Code of Civil Procedure 1985-1985.2 and enforced in 
accordance with Government Code 11455.20.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 
 
Any objection raised by the student or the Superintendent or designee to the issuance of 
subpoenas may be considered by the Board in closed session, or in open session if so 
requested by the student, before the meeting. The Board's decision in response to such an 
objection shall be final and binding.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 
 
If the Board determines, or if the hearing officer or administrative panel finds and submits 
to the Board, that a witness would be subject to unreasonable risk of harm by testifying at 
the hearing, a subpoena shall not be issued to compel the personal attendance of that 
witness at the hearing. However, that witness may be compelled to testify by means of a 
sworn declaration as described in item #4Item #6 below.  (Education Code 48918(i)) 
  

5. 5. Presentation of Evidence: Technical rules of evidence shall not apply to the 
expulsion hearing, but relevant evidence may be admitted and used as proof only if it is the 
kind of evidence on which reasonable persons can rely in the conduct of serious affairs. The 
decision of the Board to expel shall be supported by substantial evidence that the student 
committed any of the acts pursuant to Education Code 48900 and listed in "Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12," "Additional Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion: Grades 4-12," and "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-
12" above.  (Education Code 48918(h)) 

CSBA NOTE: Findings of fact made by the Board or a hearing panel must not be based on hearsay 
alone. "Hearsay" is evidence of an oral or written statement made by a person who is not present 
at the hearing which is offered to establish a fact as being true. Some exceptions to the hearsay 
rule exist under the Evidence Code and Education Code; the district should consult CSBA’s 
District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel as appropriate. 

6. 6. Findings of fact shall be based solely on the evidence at the hearing. Although no 
finding shall be based solely on hearsay, sworn declarations may be admitted as testimony 
from witnesses whose disclosure of their identity or testimony at the hearing may subject 
them to an unreasonable risk of physical or psychological harm.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 
 
In cases where a search of a student's person or property has occurred, evidence describing 
the reasonableness of the search shall be included in the hearing record. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918.6 provides that testimony by a student witness at an 
expulsion hearing is privileged and thus protected from liability for defamation pursuant to Civil 
Code 47(b). 

7. 7. Testimony by Complaining Witnesses: The following procedures shall be observed 
when a hearing involves allegations of sexual assault or sexual battery by a student:  
(Education Code 48918, 48918.5) 
   

a. a. Any complaining witness shall be given five days' notice before being called 
to testify. 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 145



 

 

b. b. Any complaining witness shall be entitled to have up to two adult support 
persons, including, but not limited to, a parent/guardian or legal counsel, present 
during the testimony. 
  

c. c. Before a complaining witness testifies, support persons shall be admonished 
that the hearing is confidential. 
  

d. d. The person presiding over the hearing may remove a support person who is 
disrupting the hearing. 
  

e. e. If one or both support persons are also witnesses, the hearing shall be 
conducted in accordance with Penal Code 868.5. 
  

f. f. Evidence of specific instances of prior sexual conduct of a complaining 
witness shall be presumed inadmissible and shall not be heard unless the person 
conducting the hearing determines that extraordinary circumstances require the 
evidence to be heard. Before such a determination is made, the complaining witness 
shall be given notice and an opportunity to oppose the introduction of this evidence. 
In the hearing on the admissibility of this evidence, the complaining witness shall be 
entitled to be represented by a parent/guardian, legal counsel, or other support 
person. Reputation or opinion evidence regarding the sexual behavior of a 
complaining witness shall not be admissible for any purpose. 
  

g. g. In order to facilitate a free and accurate statement of the experiences of the 
complaining witness and to prevent discouragement of complaints, the district shall 
provide a nonthreatening environment. 
   

i. i. The district shall provide a room separate from the hearing room for 
the use of the complaining witness before and during breaks in testimony. 
  

ii. ii. At the discretion of the person conducting the hearing, the 
complaining witness shall be allowed reasonable periods of relief from 
examination and cross-examination during which the complaining witness 
may leave the hearing room. 
  

iii. iii. The person conducting the hearing may: 
   

A. A. Arrange the seating within the hearing room so as to facilitate 
a less intimidating environment for the complaining witness 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 146



 

 

B. B. Limit the time for taking the testimony of a complaining 
witness to normal school hours, if there is no good cause to take the 
testimony during other hours 
  

C. C. Permit one of the support persons to accompany the 
complaining witness to the witness stand 
  

8. 8. Decision: The Board's decision as to whether to expel a student shall be made within 
40 school days after the student is removed from school, unless the student requests in 
writing that the decision be postponed.  (Education Code 48918(a)) 

 
Alternative Expulsion Hearing: Hearing Officer or Administrative Panel 

CSBA NOTE: For districts that use a hearing officer or administrative panel, Education Code 
48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the following section. 

Instead of conducting an expulsion hearing itself, the Board may contract with the county hearing 
officer or with the Office of Administrative Hearings of the State of California for a hearing officer. 
The Board may also appoint an impartial administrative panel composed of three or more 
certificated personnel, none of whom shall be members of the Board or on the staff of the school in 
which the student is enrolled.  (Education Code 48918) 
 
A hearing conducted by the hearing officer or administrative panel shall conform to the same 
procedures applicable to a hearing conducted by the Board as specified above in "Conduct of 
Expulsion Hearing," including the requirement to issue a decision within 40 school days of the 
student's removal from school, unless the student requests that the decision be postponed.  
(Education Code 48918(a) and (d)) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48918, if the hearing officer or administrative panel 
does not recommend expulsion, a student must be permitted to return to the classroom 
instructional program from which the expulsion referral was made, unless the student's 
parent/guardian requests a different placement. Education Code 48918 also states that a student 
who is found to have committed any of the violations listed in "Authority to Expel" in the 
accompanying Board policy but for whom expulsion is not recommended may be referred to the 
student's prior school., or another district comprehensive or continuation school. However, the 
hearing officer or administrative panel, like the Board, must recommend expulsion or a suspended 
expulsion under Education Code 48915, if it finds that a student committed any such violation 
that mandates expulsion. District should consult CSBA’s District and County Office of Education 
Legal Services or district legal counsel to resolve this apparent discrepancy. 

The hearing officer or administrative panel shall, within three school days after the hearing, 
determine whether to recommend expulsion of the student to the Board. If expulsion is not 
recommended, the expulsion proceeding shall be terminated and the student shall be immediately 
reinstated and permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from which the referral 
was made, unless another placement is requested in writing by the student's parent/guardian. 
Before the student's placement decision is made by the student's parent/guardian, the 
Superintendent or designee shall consult with the parent/guardian and district staff, including the 
student's teachers, regarding other placement options for the student in addition to the option to 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 147



 

 

return to the classroom instructional program from which the student's expulsion referral was 
made. The decision to not recommend expulsion shall be final.  (Education Code 48918(e)) 
 
If expulsion is recommended, findings of fact in support of the recommendation shall be prepared 
and submitted to the Board. All findings of fact and recommendations shall be based solely on the 
evidence presented at the hearing. The Board may accept the recommendation based either upon a 
review of the findings of fact and recommendations submitted or upon the results of any 
supplementary hearing the Board may order.  (Education Code 48918(f)) 
 
In accordance with Board policy, the hearing officer or administrative panel may recommend that 
the Board suspend the enforcement of the expulsion. If the hearing officer or administrative panel 
recommends that the Board expel a student but suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the 
student shall not be reinstated and permitted to return to the classroom instructional program from 
which the referral was made until the Board has ruled on the recommendation.  (Education Code 
48917, 48918) 
 
Final Action by the Board 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48918 mandates that the Board adopt procedures that include the 
following paragraph. 

Whether the expulsion hearing is conducted in closed or open session by the Board, a hearing 
officer, or an administrative panel or is waived through the signing of a stipulated expulsion 
agreement, the final action to expel shall be taken by the Board in public.  (Education Code 
48918(j)) 
 
The Board's decision is final. If the decision is to not expel, the student shall be reinstated 
immediately. If the decision is to suspend the enforcement of the expulsion, the student shall be 
reinstated under the conditions of the suspended expulsion. 

CSBA NOTE: 20 USC 7961 requires the district, in the consolidated application for federal 
funding, to provide an assurance that it will comply with the state requirement to expel, for a 
period not less than one year, any student who brings a firearm to school or possesses a firearm at 
school. 

Upon ordering an expulsion, the Board shall set a date when the student shall be reviewed for 
readmission to a school within the district. For a student expelled for any "mandatory 
recommendation and mandatory expulsion" act listed in the section "Authority to Expel" in the 
accompanying Board policy, this date shall be one year from the date the expulsion occurred, 
except that the Board may set an earlier date on a case-by-case basis. For a student expelled for 
other acts, this date shall be no later than the last day of the semester following the semester in 
which the expulsion occurred. If an expulsion is ordered during summer session or the intersession 
period of a year-round program, the Board shall set a date when the student shall be reviewed for 
readmission not later than the last day of the semester following the summer session or 
intersession period in which the expulsion occurred.  (Education Code 48916) 
 
At the time of the expulsion order, the Board shall recommend a plan for the student's 
rehabilitation, which may include:  (Education Code 48916)  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 148



 

 

1. 1. Periodic review, as well as assessment at the time of review, for readmission 
  

2. 2. Recommendations for improved academic performance, tutoring, special education 
assessments, job training, counseling, employment, community service, or other 
rehabilitative programs 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 48916.5 authorizes, but does 
not mandate, the Board to make the following requirement of certain expelled students. 

With parent/guardian consent, students who have been expelled for reasons relating to controlled 
substances or alcohol may be required to enroll in a county-sponsored drug rehabilitation program 
before returning to school.  (Education Code 48916.5) 
 
Written Notice to Expel 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of the decision to expel to the student or 
parent/guardian. This notice shall include the following:  

1. 1. The specific offense committed by the student for any of the causes for suspension 
or expulsion listed above under "Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12," 
"Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," or "Additional Grounds 
for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12"  (Education Code 48900.8) 
  

2. 2. The fact that a description of readmission procedures will be made available to the 
student and parent/guardian  (Education Code 48916) 
  

3. 3. Notice of the right to appeal the expulsion to the County Board  (Education Code 
48918) 
  

4. 4. Notice of the alternative educational placement to be provided to the student 
during the time of expulsion  (Education Code 48918) 
  

5. 5. Notice of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to inform any new district in 
which the student seeks to enroll of the student's status with the expelling district, pursuant 
to Education Code 48915.1  (Education Code 48918) 

Decision to Suspend Expulsion Order 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48917, the Board's criteria for suspending the 
enforcement of expulsions must be applied uniformly to all students. Items #1-3 below are 
optional and should be revised to reflect district criteria. 

In accordance with Board policy, when deciding whether to suspend the enforcement of an 
expulsion order, the Board shall take into account the following criteria:  

1. 1. The student's pattern of behavior 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 149



 

 

2. 2. The seriousness of the misconduct 
  

3. 3. The student's attitude toward the misconduct and willingness to follow a 
rehabilitation program 

The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion shall be governed by the following:  

1. 1. The Board may, as a condition of the suspension of enforcement, assign the student 
to a school, class, or program appropriate for the student's rehabilitation. This rehabilitation 
program may provide for the involvement of the student's parent/guardian in the student's 
education. However, a parent/guardian's refusal to participate in the rehabilitation program 
shall not be considered in the Board's determination as to whether the student has 
satisfactorily completed the rehabilitation program.  (Education Code 48917) 
  

2. 2. During the period when enforcement of the expulsion order is suspended, the 
student shall be on probationary status.  (Education Code 48917) 
  

3. 3. The suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order may be revoked by the 
Board if the student commits any of the acts listed under "Grounds for Suspension and 
Expulsion: Grades K-12," "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12," 
or "Additional Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 9-12" above or violates any of 
the district's rules and regulations governing student conduct.  (Education Code 48917) 
  

4. 4. When the suspension of enforcement of an expulsion order is revoked, a student 
may be expelled under the terms of the original expulsion order.  (Education Code 48917) 
  

5. 5. Upon satisfactory completion of the rehabilitation assignment, the Board shall 
reinstate the student in a district school. Upon reinstatement, the Board may order the 
expunging of any or all records of the expulsion proceedings.  (Education Code 48917) 
  

6. 6. The Superintendent or designee shall send written notice of any decision to suspend 
the enforcement of an expulsion order during a period of probation to the student or 
parent/guardian. The notice shall inform the parent/guardian of the right to appeal the 
expulsion to the County Board, the alternative educational placement to be provided to the 
student during the period of expulsion, and the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to 
inform any new district in which the student seeks to enroll of the student's status with the 
expelling district, pursuant to Education Code 48915.1(b).  (Education Code 48918(j)) 
  

7. 7. Suspension of the enforcement of an expulsion order shall not affect the time period 
and requirements for the filing of an appeal of the expulsion order with the County Board. 
(Education Code 48917) 

Appeal 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 150



 

 

TheIf a student is expelled from school, the student or parent/guardian is entitled to file an appeal 
of the Board's decision with the County Board. The appeal must be filed within 30 days of the 
Board's decision to expel, even if the expulsion order is suspended and the student is placed on 
probation.  (Education Code 48919) 
 
If the student submits a written request for a copy of the written transcripts and supporting 
documents from the district simultaneously with the filing of the notice of appeal with the County 
Board, the district shall provide the student with these documents within 10 school days following 
the student's written request.  (Education Code 48919) 
 
Notification to Law Enforcement Authorities 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48902 requires the principal or designee to notify law enforcement 
authorities when a student possesses a firearm or explosive or sells or furnishes a firearm at 
school. However, when the student involved in such a case is a student with a disability, Education 
Code 49076 requires any law enforcement authority to which student information is disclosed to 
certify that those records will not be disclosed to another party without the prior written consent 
of the student's parent/guardian or other person invested with the student's educational right; see 
AR 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities). 
 
When submitting the consolidated application for federal funding, the district must provide 
assurance that it has adopted a policy requiring referral to the criminal justice system or juvenile 
delinquency system of any student who brings a firearm or weapon to a school. The following 
section fulfills this requirement. 

Prior to the suspension or expulsion of any student, the principal or designee shall notify 
appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities of any student acts of assault which may 
have violated Penal Code 245.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
The principal or designee shall notify appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities of any 
student acts which may involve the possession or sale of narcotics or of a controlled substance, or 
of any student acts involving the possession, sale, or furnishing of firearms, explosives, or other 
dangerous weapons in violation of Education Code 48915(c)(1) or (5) or Penal Code 626.9 and 
626.10.  (Education Code 48902) 
 
Within one school day after a student's suspension or expulsion, the principal or designee shall 
notify appropriate county or district law enforcement authorities, by telephone or other 
appropriate means, of any student acts which may violate Education Code 48900(c) or (d), relating 
to the possession, use, offering, or sale of controlled substances, alcohol, or intoxicants of any kind.  
(Education Code 48902) 
 
Placement During Expulsion 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48915 requires the Board to refer all expelled students to a 
program of study that is prepared to accommodate students with discipline problems and that is 
not located at the school the student currently attends or at any regular elementary, middle, 
junior, or senior high school. However, students expelled for the acts described in Education Code 
48900(f) through (m) or Education Code 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4 may be referred to a 
program of study that is at another elementary, middle, junior, or senior high school if the County 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 151



 

 

Superintendent of Schools certifies that an alternative program is not available at a site away from 
such a school. 
 
Education Code 48915.01 states that if the Board has established a community day school 
pursuant to Education Code 48661 on the same site as an elementary, middle, junior, or senior 
high school, expelled students may be referred to the community day school at that site. Although 
Education Code 48663 prohibits the use of independent study in community day schools, 
Education Code 48916.1 does not in any way restrict the district from offering independent study 
as a voluntary alternative placement option for expelled students. 

The Board shall refer expelled students to a program of study that is:  (Education Code 48915, 
48915.01)  

1. 1. Appropriately prepared to accommodate students who exhibit discipline problems 
  

2. 2. Not provided at a comprehensive middle, junior, or senior high school or at any 
elementary school, unless the program is offered at a community day school established at 
any of these 
  

3. 3. Not housed at the school site attended by the student at the time of suspension 

When the placement described above is not available and when the County Superintendent so 
certifies, students expelled for only acts described in itemsItems #6-12 under "Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion: Grades K-12" and itemsItems #1-3 under "Additional Grounds for 
Suspension and Expulsion: Grades 4-12" above may be referred to a program of study that is 
provided at another comprehensive middle, junior, or senior high school or at an elementary school.  
(Education Code 48915) 
 
The program for a student expelled from any of grades K-6 shall not be combined or merged with 
programs offered to students in any of grades 7-12.  (Education Code 48916.1) 
 
Readmission After Expulsion 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48916 mandates that the Board adopt rules and regulations 
establishing a procedure for filing and processing requests for readmission and a process for 
Board review of all expelled students for readmission. The following section is consistent with the 
intent of AB 740 to afford protections specific to foster youth and Indian children. Items #1-2 
below should be revised to reflect district practice.  

Prior to the date set by the Board for the student's readmission:  

1. 1. The Superintendent or designee shall hold a conference with the student’s 
parent/guardian, or other person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student, and the student. At the conference, the student's rehabilitation plan shall be 
reviewed and the Superintendent or designee shall verify that the provisions of this plan 
have been met. School regulations shall be reviewed and the student and the student’s 
parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student shall be asked to indicate in writing their willingness to comply with these 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 152



 

 

regulations. 
  

2. 2. The Superintendent or designee shall transmit to the Board a recommendation 
regarding readmission. The Board shall consider this recommendation in closed session. If a 
written request for open session is received from the student’s parent/guardian or other 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, or adult student, it 
shall be honored to the extent that privacy rights of other students are not violated. 
  

3. 3. If the readmission is granted, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student 
and the student’s parent/guardian, or other person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, by registered mail, of the Board's decision regarding readmission. 
  

4. 4. The Board may deny readmission only if it finds that the student has not satisfied 
the conditions of the rehabilitation plan or that the student continues to pose a danger to 
campus safety or to other district students or employees.  (Education Code 48916) 
  

5. 5. If the Board denies the readmission of a student, the Board shall determine either to 
continue the student's placement in the alternative educational program initially selected or 
to place the student in another program that serves expelled students, including placement 
in a county community school. 
  

6. 6. The Board shall provide written notice to the expelled student and the student’s  
parent/guardian, or other person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student, describing the reasons for denying readmittance into the regular program. This 
notice shall indicate the Board's determination of the educational program which the Board 
has chosen. The student shall enroll in that program unless the parent/guardian chooses to 
enroll the student in another school district. (Education Code 48916) 

No student shall be denied readmission into the district based solely on the student's arrest, 
adjudication by a juvenile court, formal or informal supervision by a probation officer, detention in a 
juvenile facility, enrollment in a juvenile court school, or other such contact with the juvenile justice 
system.  (Education Code 48645.5) 
 
Maintenance of Records 
 
The district shall maintain a record of each suspension and expulsion, including its specific cause(s).  
(Education Code 48900.8) 
 
Expulsion records of any student shall be maintained in the student's mandatory interim record and 
sent to any school in which the student subsequently enrolls upon written request by that school.  
(Education Code 48918(k)) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48915.1 requires that, when an expelled student asks to enroll in 
another district, the receiving district must hold a hearing to determine whether the student poses 
a danger to its students or staff. The receiving district then may either deny or permit the 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 153



 

 

enrollment. Upon request from another district, the expelling district must provide information 
about the expulsion within five days. 

The Superintendent or designee shall, within five working days, honor any other district's request 
for information about an expulsion from this district.  (Education Code 48915.1)  

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
CCP. 1985-1997 Production of evidence; means of production 

Civ. Code 47 Privileged communication 

Civ. Code 48.8 Defamation liability 

Ed. Code 17292.5 Program for expelled students; facilities 

Ed. Code 1981-1981.51983  Enrollment of students in community school 

Ed. Code 212.5 Sexual harassment 

Ed. Code 233 Hate violence 

Ed. Code 32260-32262 Interagency School Safety Demonstration Act of 1985 

Ed. Code 35145 Open board meetings 

Ed. Code 35146 Closed sessions regarding suspensions 

Ed. Code 35291 Rules (for government and discipline of schools) 

Ed. Code 35291.5 Rules and procedures on school discipline 

Ed. Code 48645.5 Former juvenile court school students; enrollment 

Ed. Code 48660-48666 Community day schools 

Ed. Code 48853-48853.5 Foster youth 

Ed. Code 48900-48927 Suspension and expulsion 

Ed. Code 48950 Speech and other communication 

Ed. Code 48980 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 49073-49079 Privacy of student records 

Ed. Code 52052 Numerically significant student subgroups 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 154



 

 

Ed. Code 64000-64001 Consolidated application 

Ed. Code 82398489-8489.1  Prohibition against expulsion of preschool student 

Gov. Code 11455.20 ContemptInformal hearing procedures  

Gov. Code 54950-54963 The Ralph M. Brown Act 

H&S Code 11014.5 Drug paraphernalia 

H&S Code 11053-1105811059 StandardsControlled substances; standards and schedules 

Lab. Code 230.7 Employee time off to appear in school on behalf of a child 

Pen. Code 240 Assault defined 

Pen. Code 241.2 Assault fines 

Pen. Code 242 Battery defined 

Pen. Code 243.2 Battery on school property 

Pen. Code 243.4 Sexual battery 

Pen. Code 245 Assault with deadly weapon 

Pen. Code 245.6 Hazing 

Pen. Code 261 Rape defined 

Pen. Code 266c Unlawful sexual intercourse 

Pen. Code 286 Sodomy defined 

Pen. Code 287 Oral Copulation 

Pen. Code 288 Lewd or lascivious acts with child under age 14 

Pen. Code 288a Oral copulation; defined 

Pen. Code 289 Penetration of genital or anal openings 

Pen. Code 31 Principal of a crime; defined 

Pen. Code 417.27 Laser pointers 

Pen. Code 422.55 Definition of hate crime 

Pen. Code 422.6 Crimes; harassment 

Pen. Code 422.7 Aggravating factors for punishment 

Pen. Code 422.75 Enhanced penalties for hate crimes 

Pen. Code 626.10 Dirks, daggers, knives, razors, or stun guns 

Pen. Code 626.2 Entry upon campus after written notice of suspension or 
dismissal without permission 

Pen. Code 626.9 Gun-Free School Zone Act of 1995 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 155



 

 

Pen. Code 868.5 Supporting person; attendance during testimony of witness 

W&I Code 224.1 Indian child; definition 

W&I Code 729.6 Counseling 

Federal Description 
18 USC 921 Definitions; firearms and ammunition 

20 USC 1415(K) PlacementStudents with disabilities; placement in alternative 
educational setting 

20 USC 7961 Gun-Free Schools Act 

42 USC 1143211431-11435 Education of homeless children and youths 

Management Resources Description 
Attorney General Opinion 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 348 (1997) 

Attorney General Opinion 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 85 (1997) 

Attorney General Opinion 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 91 (1997) 

Attorney General Opinion 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 146 (2001) 

Court Decision Board of Education of Sacramento City Unified School 
District v. Sacramento County Board of Education and 
Kenneth H.  (2001) 85 Cal.App.4th 1321 

Court Decision Fremont Union High School District v. Santa Clara County 
Board (1991) 235 Cal. App. 3d 1181182 

Court Decision Garcia v. Los Angeles Board of Education (19911981) 123 
Cal. App. 3d 807 

Court Decision John A. v. San Bernardino School District (1982) 33 Cal. 3d 
301 

Court Decision T.H. v. San Diego Unified School District (2004) 122 Cal. App. 
4th 1267 

Court Decision Woodbury v. Dempsey (2003) 108 Cal. App. 4th 421 

U.S. DOE, Office for Civil Rights 
Publication 

Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory 
Administration of School Discipline, January 2014 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office of Safe and Healthy 
Students 

Website California Attorney General's Office 

Website California Department of Education 

Website CSBA 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 156



 

 

Notice Description 

Unique Policy This policy is unique to the district/COE and is not connected 
to an existing CSBA sample policy or included in regular 
quarterly updates from . 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1313 Civility 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.4 Drug And Alcohol Free Schools 

3515 Campus Security 

3515 Campus Security 

3515.21 Unmanned Aircraft Systems (Drones) 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.31 School Resource Officers 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3516.2 Bomb Threats 

4158 Employee Security 

4158 Employee Security 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 157



 

 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

5000 Concepts And Roles 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.5 Open/Closed Campus 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5116.2 Involuntary Student Transfers 

5117 Interdistrict Attendance 

5117 Interdistrict Attendance 

5119 Students Expelled From Other Districts 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5125.2 Withholding Grades, Diploma Or Transcripts 

5131 Conduct 

5131.1 Bus Conduct 

5131.1 Bus Conduct 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.5 Vandalism And Graffiti 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.62 Tobacco 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 158



 

 

5131.62 Tobacco 

5131.63 Steroids 

5131.63 Steroids 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5137 Positive School Climate 

5138 Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation 

5142 Safety 

5142 Safety 

5144 Discipline 

5144 Discipline 

5144.2 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

5144.4 Required Parental Attendance 

5144.4 Required Parental Attendance 

5145.12 Search And Seizure 

5145.12 Search And Seizure 

5145.2 Freedom Of Speech/Expression 

5145.2 Freedom Of Speech/Expression 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.71 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.71-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 159



6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.5 Student Organizations And Equal Access 

6145.5 Student Organizations And Equal Access 

6145.8 Assemblies And Special Events 

6153 School-Sponsored Trips 

6153 School-Sponsored Trips 

6154 Homework/Makeup Work 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6161.2 Damaged Or Lost Instructional Materials 

6163.4 Student Use Of Technology 

6163.4-E(1) Student Use Of Technology 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6185 Community Day School 

6185 Community Day School 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

9322 Agenda/Meeting Materials 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 160



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 5144.2: Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2006 | Last Revised Date: 03/01/20122023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 03/01/20122023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35291 requires the Governing Board to prescribe rules and 
regulations for maintaining discipline in the schools under its jurisdiction. While many of the 
required rules and regulations are in BP/AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process, the 
following administrative regulation addresses special procedures required when disciplining 
students who have been identified for special education and related services. This administrative 
regulation reflects the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (20 USC 1400-
1482), implementing federal regulations (34 CFR 300.1-300.818), and conforming state 
legislation. Note that in cases where state law provides greater protections to students, state law 
supersedes federal law. 

The U.S. Department of Education’s, Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services 
(OSERS), “Positive, Proactive Approaches to Supporting Children with Disabilities: A Guide for 
Stakeholders,” recommends that districts identify ways to significantly reduce the use of 
exclusionary discipline, and its disproportionate effect on students with disabilities. See BP 6120 – 
Response to Instruction and Intervention and BP/AR 6164.5 – Student Success Teams. 
 
Neither state nor federal law requires that these procedures apply to students identified under 
Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC 794). However, in some instances, 
the district may find it appropriate to apply portionsU.S. Department of these procedures 
(e.g.,Education’s, Office for Civil Rights, “Fact Sheet: Supporting Students with Disabilities and 
Avoiding the limitationDiscriminatory Use of Student Discipline Under Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973,” provides that, for a student with a disability may not be suspended 
for under Section 504, schools are required to conduct a manifestation determination before 
implementing a disciplinary removal that will significantly change the placement of the student 
due to discipline for (1) removal from class or school for more than 10 consecutive school days) to 
Section 504 students with a 504 services plan., or (2) a series of removals from class or school that 
together total more than 10 school days in a school year and constitute a pattern of removal. 
Districts that wish to apply all IDEA procedures to Section 504 students should modify the 
following regulation accordingly. 
 
Due to the complexity of the issue, districts should proceed carefully when suspending or 
expelling special education students with disabilities, and consult CSBA’s District and County 
Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel as appropriate. 

A student identified as an individual with a disability pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities 
Education Act (IDEA), 20 USC 1400-1482, is subject to the same grounds and procedures for 
suspension and expulsion which apply to students without disabilities, except as otherwise 
specified in this administrative regulation. 
 
Suspension 

Suspension or expulsion of a student with disabilities shall be in accordance with Board Policy 
5144.1 – Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process and this administrative regulation. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 161



When a student with disabilities exhibits behavior which impedes the student’s own learning or 
that of others, the student’s individualized education program (IEP) team shall consider positive  

behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address the behavior.  (Education 
Code 56521.2; 20 USC 1414) 
 
Suspension 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 1415(k)(1), 34 CFR 300.530, and a 1988 U.S. Supreme Court 
decision (Honig v. Doe), districts receiving funds under the IDEA may suspend a student with a 
disability for no more than 10 consecutive school days, as long as the removal does not constitute 
a change in placement pursuant to 34 CFR 300.536. Education Code 48903 specifies that a 
student may not be suspended for more than 20 cumulative school days in a school year. 
 
The Analysis of Comments to the federal regulations, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46715, explains that 
whether a bus suspension or "in-school suspension" would count as a day of suspension affecting 
the cumulative total depends on the unique circumstances of each case, such as whether bus 
transportation is part of the student's individualized education program (IEP). An "in-school 
suspension" or "supervised suspension classroom" as authorized by Education Code 48911.1 
would not count towards the 20-10 consecutive or 20 cumulative school day limit as long as the 
student is afforded the opportunity to continue to appropriately participate in the general 
curriculum, receive the services specified in his/herthe student’s IEP, and participate with 
nondisabled students to the extent he/shethe student would have in the current placement. The 
district should be careful that such actions do not constitute a change of placement and should 
carefully monitor such suspensions. 

The Superintendent or designee may suspend a student with a disability for up to 10 consecutive 
school days for a single incident of misconduct, and for up to 20 cumulative school days in a school 
year, as long as the pattern of suspension(s) does not constitute a change in placement pursuant to 
34 CFR 300.536.  (Education Code 48903; 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 

The principal or designee shall monitor the number of days, including portions of days, in which a 
student with a valid individualized education program (IEP) has been suspended during the school 
year. 
The Superintendent or designee shall determine, on a case-by-case basis, whether a pattern of 
removals of a student from his/herthe student’s current educational placement for disciplinary 
reasons constitutes a change of placement.  A change of placement shall be deemed to have 
occurred under either of the following circumstances:  (34 CFR 300.536)  

1. 1. The removal is for more than 10 consecutive school days. 
  

2. 2. The student has been subjected to a series of removals that constitute a pattern 
because of all of the following: 
   

a. a. The series of removals total more than 10 school days in a school year. 
  

b. b. The student's behavior is substantially similar to his/herthe student’s 
behavior in previous incidents that resulted in the series of removals. 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 162



c. c. Additional factors, such as the length of each removal, the total amount of 
time the student has been removed, and the proximity of the removals to one 
another, indicate a change of placement. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 1412(a)(1)(A) and 34 CFR 300.530, a "free appropriate public 
education" (FAPE) must be available to all students, including any student with a disability who 
has been suspended for more than 10 school days in the same school year. The Analysis of 
Comments to the federal regulations, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46716, clarifies that the district is not 
required to provide a student who has been suspended for more than 10 school days in a school 
year for disciplinary reasons exactly the same services in exactly the same setting as the student 
was receiving prior to the imposition of discipline. However, the special education and related 
services the student does receive must enable him/herthe student to continue to participate in 
the general curriculum and to progress toward meeting the goals set out in his/herthe student’s 
IEP. The Analysis of Comments, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46717, clarifies that services need not be 
provided when a student is removed for 10 school days or less, as long as the district does not 
provide services to nondisabled students removed for the same amount of time. 

If a student's removal is determined to be a change of placement as specified in itemsItems #1-2 
above, or the student is suspended for more than 10 school days in the same school year, the 
student's IEP team shall determine the appropriate educational services.  Such services shall be 
designed to enable the student to continue to participate in the general education curriculum in 
another setting, to progress toward meeting the goals set out in his/herthe student’s IEP, and to 
address the student's behavior violation so that it does not recur.  (20 USC 1412(a)(1)(A); 34 CFR 
300.530) 
 
If the IEP of a student with a disability requires the district to provide the student with 
transportation, the district shall provide the student with an alternative form of transportation at no 
cost to him/herthe student or to his/herthe student’s parent/guardian when he/she is to be, as a 
result of a suspension, the student is excluded from school bus transportation.  (Education Code 
48915.5) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 
 
The principal or designee shall monitor the number of days, including portions of days, in which a 
student with an IEP has been suspended during the school year. 
 
Interim Alternative Educational Placement Due to Dangerous Behavior 
 
CSBA NOTE: 20 USC 1415(k) and 34 CFR 300.530 permit an interim alternative placement for 
45 school days when a student with a disability, while on school grounds, while going to or 
coming from school, or at a school function, either (1) carries or possesses a weapon, (2) 
knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs or sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance, or 
(3) inflicts serious bodily injury upon another person. "Serious bodily injury" is defined in 18 USC 
1365 as bodily injury which involves a substantial risk of death, extreme physical pain, protracted 
and obvious disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member, 
organ, or mental faculty. This alternative placement decision may be made unilaterally by the 
district. 
 
The term "weapon," as used below, refers to a "dangerous weapon" as defined in 18 USC 930 and 
includes any device which is capable of causing death or serious bodily injury. The term does not 
include a pocket knife with a blade of less than 2 1/2 inches in length. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 163



The district may unilaterally place a student with a disability in an appropriate interim alternative 
educational setting for up to 45 school days, without regard to whether the behavior is a 
manifestation of the student's disability, when the student commits one of the following acts while 
at school, going to or from school, or at a school-related function:  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(G); 34 CFR 
300.530)  

1. 1. Carries or possesses a weapon, as defined in 18 USC 930 
  

2. 2. Knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs 
  

3. 3. Sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance as identified in 21 USC 812(c), 
Schedules I-V 
  

4. 4. Inflicts serious bodily injury upon another person as defined in 18 USC 1365 

The student's interim alternative educational setting shall be determined by his/herthe student’s 
IEP team.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(G); 34 CFR 300.531) 
 
CSBA NOTE: For requirements of the procedural safeguards notice, see AR 6159.1 - Procedural 
Safeguards and Complaints for Special Education. 

On the date the decision to take disciplinary action is made, the student's parent/guardian shall be 
notified of the decision and provided the procedural safeguards notice pursuant to 34 CFR 
300.504.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(H); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
A student who has been removed from his/herthe student’s current placement because of 
dangerous behavior shall receive services, although in another setting, to the extent necessary to 
allow him/herthe student to participate in the general education curriculum and to progress toward 
meeting the goals set out in his/herthe IEP. As appropriate, the student shall also receive a 
functional behavioral assessment and behavioral intervention services and modifications that are 
designed to address the behavior violation so that it does not recur.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(D); 34 CFR 
300.530) 
 
Manifestation Determination 
 
CSBA NOTE: A student with a disability who is also a foster youth or Indian child is afforded 
additional due process safeguards. Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5 and 48915.1, as amended 
by AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), a foster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and 
county social worker, and an Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social 
worker, have the same rights as a parent/guardian to receive a suspension notice, expulsion notice, 
manifestation determination notice and invitation to the manifestation determination meeting, 
involuntary transfer notice, and other documents and related information, as reflected in Items #1 
and 2 below. See AR 5144.1 – Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process and BP/AR 6184 – 
Continuation Education. 

 
The following procedural safeguards shall apply when a student with a disability is suspended for 
more than 10 consecutive school days, when a series of removals of a student constitutes a 
pattern, or when a change of placement of a student is contemplated due to a violation of the 
district's code of conduct:  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 164



1. 1. Notice: On the date the decision to take disciplinary action is made, the student's 
parent/guardian shall be notified of the decision and provided the procedural safeguards 
notice pursuant to 34 CFR 300.504.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(H); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 If the student is a foster youth, the notice shall be given to the student’s educational rights 
holder, attorney, and county social worker, and, if the student is an Indian child, the 
student’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, county social worker.  (Education Code 
48853.5; 20 USC 1415(k)(1)(H); 34 CFR 300.530) 

2. Manifestation Determination Review:  Immediately if possible, but in no case later than 10 
school days after the date the decision to take disciplinary action is made, a manifestation 
determination review shall be made of the relationship between the student's disability and 
the behavior subject to the disciplinary action.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(E); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
If the student is a foster youth or Indian child, the foster youth’s educational rights holder, 
attorney, or county social worker, or the Indian child’s tribal social worker and, if applicable, 
county social worker, shall be invited to participate in the manifestation determination 
review.  (Education Code 48915.5) 

2.  At the manifestation determination review, the district, the student's 
parent/guardian, and relevant members of the IEP team (as determined by the district and 
parent/guardian) shall review all relevant information in the student's file, including the 
student's IEP, any teacher observations, and any relevant information provided by the 
parents/guardians, to determine whether the conduct in question was either of the 
following:  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(E); 34 CFR 300.530) 
   

a. a. Caused by or had a direct and substantial relationship to the student's 
disability 
  

b. b. A direct result of the district's failure to implement the student's IEP, in 
which case the district shall take immediate steps to remedy those deficiencies 
 
If the manifestation review team determines that either of the above conditions 
applies, the student's conduct shall then be determined to be a manifestation of 
his/herthe student’s disability.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(E); 34 CFR 300.530) 
  

3. 3. Determination that Behavior is a Manifestation of the Student's Disability:  When 
the student's conduct has been determined to be a manifestation of his/herthe student’s 
disability, the IEP team shall conduct a functional behavioral assessment, unless one had 
been conducted before the occurrence of the behavior that resulted in the change of 
placement, and shall implement a behavioral intervention plan for the student.  If a 
behavioral intervention plan has already been developed, the IEP team shall review the 
behavioral intervention plan and modify it as necessary to address the behavior.  (20 USC 
1415(k)(1)(F); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
The student shall be returned to the placement from which he/shethe student was 
removed, unless the parent/guardian and Superintendent or designee agree to a change of 
placement as part of the modification of the behavioral intervention plan.  (20 USC 
1415(k)(1)(F); 34 CFR 300.530) 
  

4. 4. Determination that Behavior is Not a Manifestation of the Student's Disability: 
When it has been determined that the student's conduct was not a manifestation of 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 165



his/herthe disability, the student may be disciplined in accordance with the procedures for 
students without disabilities.  However, the student's IEP team shall determine services 
necessary to enable him/herthe student to participate in the general education curriculum 
in another setting and to allow him/herthe student to progress toward meeting the goals set 
out in his/herthe IEP.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(D); 34 CFR 300.530) 
 
As appropriate, the student also shall receive a functional behavioral assessment and 
behavioral intervention services and modifications that are designed to address the 
behavior violation so that it does not recur.  (20 USC 1415(k)(1)(D); 34 CFR 300.530) 

Due Process Appeals 
 
CSBA NOTE: As specified below, 34 CFR 300.532 provides that either the district or the 
parent/guardian may appeal a placement decision by filing a due process complaint pursuant to 
34 CFR 300.507 and 300.508. For details regarding the due process complaint, see BP/AR 
6159.1 - Procedural Safeguards and Complaints for Special Education. In addition, the district 
may file a request that the hearing officer order a change of placement to an interim alternative 
setting for up to 45 days when the hearing officer determines that maintaining the current 
placement is substantially likely to result in injury to the student or others. 
 
The Analysis of Comments to the federal regulations, 71 Fed. Reg. 156, pg. 46723, clarifies that 
the burden of proof in due process hearings is on the party that is responsible for the issue going 
forward to the due process hearing officer, consistent with the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in 
Schaffer v. Weast. Thus, if the district has requested that a hearing officer remove a student to an 
interim alternative educational setting, the burden of persuasion at the hearing is on the district. 

If the parent/guardian disagrees with any district decision regarding placement under 34 CFR 
300.530 (suspension and removal for dangerous circumstances) or), 34 CFR 300.531 (interim 
alternative placement), or the manifestation determination under 34 CFR 300.530(e), he/shethe 
parent/guardian may appeal the decision by requesting a hearing.  The district may request a 
hearing if the district believes that maintaining the student's current placement is substantially 
likely to result in injury to the student or others. In order to request a due process hearing, the 
requesting party shall file a complaint pursuant to 34 CFR 300.507 and 300.508(a) and (b).  (20 USC 
1415(k)(3); 34 CFR 300.532) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 34 CFR 300.532, this due process hearing is the same as the impartial 
due process hearing held for other special education matters, except that the law specifies 
expedited timelines. For other due process hearing requirements, see BP/AR 6159.1 - Procedural 
Safeguards and Complaints for Special Education. 

Whenever a hearing is requested as specified above, the parent/guardian or the district shall have 
an opportunity for an expedited due process hearing consistent with requirements specified in 34 
CFR 300.507, 300.508 (a)-(c), and 300.510-300.514. 
 
If the student's parent/guardian or the district has initiated a due process hearing under 34 CFR 
300.532 as detailed above, the student shall remain in the interim alternative educational setting 
pending the decision of the hearing officer or until the expiration of the 45-day time period, 
whichever occurs first, unless the parent/guardian and district agree otherwise.  (20 USC 
1415(k)(4); 34 CFR 300.533) 
 
Readmission 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 166



CSBA NOTE: There is no state or federal law that requires special procedures for readmission of 
expelled students with disabilities; however, districts have an ongoing obligation to make FAPE 
available to students with disabilities. 

Readmission procedures for students with disabilities shall be the same as those adopted for 
students without disabilities. Upon readmission of a student with disabilities, an IEP team meeting 
shall be convened to review and, as necessary, modify the student's IEP. 
 
Decision Not to Enforce Expulsion Order 
 

CSBA NOTE: For district criteria applicable to all students when the Board is considering whether 
or not to suspend the enforcement of an expulsion order, see BP 5144.1 - Suspension and 
Expulsion/Due Process. The district should consult CSBA’s District and County Office of 
Education Legal Services or district legal counsel when considering the suspension of an 
expulsion order involving a special education student. 

The Governing Board's criteria for suspending the enforcement of an expulsion order shall be 
applied to students with disabilities in the same manner as they are applied to all other students.  
(Education Code 48917) 
 
Notification to Law Enforcement Authorities 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 1415(k)(6) and 34 CFR 300.535, the district is authorized to 
report crimes by students with disabilities to law enforcement in accordance with state law. 
Education Code 48902 provides procedures for these required notifications and Education Code 
49076, as amended by AB 143 (Ch. 434, Statutes of 2011), requires any law enforcement 
authority to which information regarding a student with disabilities is disclosed to certify that 
those records will not be disclosed to another party without the prior written consent of the 
student's parent/guardian or other person invested with the student's educational right. See also 
AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process and BP 5131.7 - Weapons and Dangerous 
Instruments. 

Law enforcement notification requirements involving students with disabilities shall be the same as 
those specified for all students in AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. 
 
When giving any required notification concerning a student with disabilities to any law 
enforcement official, the principal or designee shall require the law enforcement official to certify in 
writing that he/she will not disclose the student's information or records will not be disclosed to 
any other person without the prior written consent of the student's parent/guardian.  (Education 
Code 49076) 
 
Report to County Superintendent of Schools 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48203 requires the Superintendent to report to the County 
Superintendent of Schools when any special education student has been expelled or suspended 
for more than 10 school days. Education Code 48203 specifies that it is the duty of the County 
Superintendent to examine the reports and, if any case exists in which the interest of the student 
or welfare of the state may need further examination, bring the reports to the attention of the 
Board and the County Board of Education. 

The Superintendent or designee shall report to the County Superintendent of Schools when any 
special education student has been expelled or suspended for more than 10 school days.  The 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 167



report shall include the student's name, last known address, and the reason for the action.  
(Education Code 48203) 
 
Procedures for Students Not Yet Eligible for Special Education Services 
 
A student who has not been determined to be eligible for special education and related services 
and who has violated the district's code of student conduct may nevertheless assert any of the 
protections under IDEA, if the district had knowledge of the student's disability.  (20 USC 
1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534) 
 
Knowledge means that, before the occurrence of the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary 
action, one of the following occurred:  (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534)  

1. 1. The parent/guardian, in writing, has expressed concern to district supervisory or 
administrative personnel, or to a teacher of the student, that the student is in need of 
special education or related services. 
  

2. 2. The parent/guardian has requested an evaluation of the student for special 
education pursuant to 20 USC 1414(a)(1)(B) or 34 CFR 300.300-300.311. 

3. 3. The teacher of the student or other district personnel has expressed specific 
concerns directly to the district's director of special education or other supervisory district 
personnel about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the student. 

However, the district shall not be deemed to have knowledge of a student's disability if the 
student's parent/guardian has not allowed him/herthe student to be evaluated for special 
education services or has refused services or, after evaluating the student pursuant to 34 CFR 
300.300-300.311, the district determined that he/shethe student was not an individual with a 
disability.  (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534) 
 
When the district is deemed to not have knowledge of a student's disability, the student shall be 
disciplined in accordance with procedures established for students without disabilities who engage 
in comparable behavior.  (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534) 
 
If a request is made for an evaluation of a student during the time period in which the student is 
subject to disciplinary measures pursuant to 34 CFR 300.530, the evaluation shall be conducted in 
an expedited manner.  Until the evaluation is completed, the student shall remain in the educational 
placement determined by school authorities.  (20 USC 1415(k)(5); 34 CFR 300.534)  
 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
Ed. Code 35146 Closed sessions regarding suspensions 

Ed. Code 35291 Rules of governing board 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 168



Ed. Code 48203 Reports of severance of attendance of disabled students 

Ed. Code 48853.5 Foster youth and Indian child’s representatives’ right to 
receive notices 

Ed. Code 48900-48925 Suspension and expulsion 

Ed. Code 49076 Access to student records 

Ed. Code 56000 Special education; legislative findings and declarations 

Ed. Code 56320 Educational needs; requirements 

Ed. Code 56321 Development or revision of individualized education program 

Ed. Code 56329 Independent educational assessment 

Ed. Code 56340-56347 Individualized education program teams 

Ed. Code 56505 State hearing 

Ed. Code 56521.2 Behavioral interventions 

Pen. Code 245 Assault with deadly weapon 

Pen. Code 626.10 Dirks, daggers, knives, razors, or stun guns 

Pen. Code 626.2 Entry upon campus after written notice of suspension or 
dismissal without permission 

Pen. Code 626.9 Gun-Free School Zone Act of 1995 

Federal Description 
18 USC 1365 Serious bodily injury 

18 USC 930 Weapons 

20 USC 1412 State eligibility 

20 USC 1414 Evaluations, eligibility determinations, individualized 
education programs, and educational placements 

20 USC 1415 Procedural safeguards 

21 USC 812 Schedule of controlled substances 

29 USC 706 Definitions 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

34 CFR 104.35 Evaluation and placement 

34 CFR 104.36 Procedural safeguards 

34 CFR 300.1-300.818 Assistance to states for the education of students with 
disabilities 

34 CFR 300.530-300.537 Discipline procedures 

Management Resources Description 
Court Decision Honig v. Doe, (1988) 484 U.S. 305 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 169



Court Decision M.P. v. Governing Board of Grossmont Union High School 
District, (1994) 858 F.Supp. 1044 

Court Decision Parents of Student W. v. Puyallup School District, (1994 9th 
Cir.) 31 F.3d 1489 

Court Decision Schaffer v. Weast, (2005) 546 U.S. 54949 

Office of Administrative Hearings Parent v. Fairfield-Suisun Unified School District (2012) Case 
No. 2012030917 

Federal Register Rules and Regulations, August 14, 2006, Vol. 71, Number 
156, pages 46539-46845 

U.S. Department of Education, Office for 
Civil Rights Publication 

Supporting Students with Disabilities and Avoiding the 
Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline under Section 504 
of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, July 2022 

U.S. Department of Education, Office for 
Civil Rights Publication 

Fact Sheet: Supporting Students with Disabilities and 
Avoiding the Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline under 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, July 2022 

U.S. Department of Education, Office of 
Special Education and Rehabilitative 
Services Publication 

Positive, Proactive Approaches to Supporting Children with 
Disabilities: A Guide for Stakeholders, July 2022 

U.S. Department of Education, Office of 
Special Education and Rehabilitative 
Services Publication 

Questions and Answers: Addressing the Needs of Children 
with Disabilities and IDEA’s Discipline Provisions, July 2022 

U.S. Department of Education, Office of 
Special Education and Rehabilitative 
Services Publication 

Dear Colleague Letter on Supporting the Needs of Students 
with Disabilities, July 2022 

U.S. Department of Education, Office of 
Special Education and Rehabilitative 
Services Publication 

Letter Commenting on Hearing Officer Authority to 
Determine whether Conduct is a Violation of Student Code 
of Conduct, July 2012 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website California Department of Education, Special Education 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education 
ProgramsU.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil 
Rights 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education  
and Rehabilitative Services 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0430 Comprehensive Local Plan For Special Education 

0430 Comprehensive Local Plan For Special Education 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 170

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/se#
http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/osers/osep#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xgK7v8qp8vSfR2cXF83TrQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WWIl47tMPzplushsJyAKgUOWw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cUDRpPGq33oE7TVGVbs7UQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VT1THkIzJRxMabQA5MDekg==#


0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

3513.4 Drug And Alcohol Free Schools 

3541.2 Transportation For Students With Disabilities 

4118 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4118 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4158 Employee Security 

4158 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5116.2 Involuntary Student Transfers 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5131 Conduct 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.62 Tobacco 

5131.62 Tobacco 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5137 Positive School Climate 

5138 Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation 

5144 Discipline 

5144 Discipline 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.4 Required Parental Attendance 

5144.4 Required Parental Attendance 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 171

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9xnplAplus8n2zEgGqVJvbB6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Iz8JzLqn25De7kxfjUrmWA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xWvDTAGIJKxxup7acG67plusA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1KHOvvs9d6lts4hwDX2sGw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0UXmVKLPOYmTSulHWNdcNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TnNkoiA5syVuslshIFXs6et4g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=acQRSlGi37sCSTPvJvsgxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HVqDSxHgzzwX6slshVnW3OpmQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusLbplus4dB6inUekkaKx7eFJw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IuUA7IVh84ZrMovHLtn8kw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w2rrFVAmQo4vjeURorkplusDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4Z2QQGWslshVbmSpsC5bboZBQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R2sOzhydv7S3yougeNFlag==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DILuIUSJFtLZbplusslshm4QQhPg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mVu5zcV6CslshzyAlplus67gnICg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYNplus5ZjslshT9lZ83gplusqks3slshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dml8peO3bkBelUMzEToBig==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5fEYNMFzplus6o8FmrUrIEuKQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dujffGbh8UMxamslshWudSYSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=SBUoHZscDugrIGetkgpqRQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rplusxeLgC2OgRkja5bk5QslshqA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hmemznLBHnlFSmWlmSQQAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DoSNOOTFFB7OS9BEVSrfAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FbLkRReAyqkprjye9UnWZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9f4iWVyXtiTXFIZlxRsXOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r77J1ONeLGkkxUBQVaaImA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9VUkwhXHJSu8Uplus1CrKYapQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CyKYplusSV3BFs9rslsh2QUxtPAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhMplusqG6koiIWw233cKrvxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=iuXMVJOG26dDEyRf8Vlmug==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=k9rGE8oaXEb0KDHZVCs5Hw==#


5145.2 Freedom Of Speech/Expression 

5145.2 Freedom Of Speech/Expression 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

6120 Response to Instruction and Intervention 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.1 Procedural Safeguards And Complaints For Special Education 

6159.1 Procedural Safeguards And Complaints For Special Education 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6159.4 Behavioral Interventions For Special Education Students 

6163.4 Student Use Of Technology 

6163.4-E(1) Student Use Of Technology 

6164.4 Identification And Evaluation Of Individuals For Special 
Education 

6164.4 Identification And Evaluation Of Individuals For Special 
Education 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 172

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6wawnvTE9MbuKaGDYT0Fqg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6slshO6LNW4SlkYsgnCUFklYQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pdkfplusVd4aCLKEuPfNY5dslshg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i3Ze0fvagIDL9VHHWyJjOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=C7pYb8VXf2WZE2raPYvA8A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VuFMtuvbiN7sSPQPpe8Splusg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=h94TPKkDBYT22l40plusWVBwg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=V6JbLS1Y9v2NrbslshcplusUuOHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NI2tvDgslzr09NJlnALYAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MJQZpvWMfiOe7slshSNWNvKCg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wB3oyPCFWtXKgbLkObOplusCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0GZqEm2GslshEZc45SCR5bKfw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pW68sgrzKSUPuDWHfxmvDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UeNHcYKo3khhYjo4y3CAHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m1IcVECiaSay5E3XjYNMwA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mWlOUAyoafuenwIslshbpf26w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hRRzim9xQ09lkyUll1yyZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hRRzim9xQ09lkyUll1yyZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u8Niv1RQpluslJaVp3XlhkOLg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u8Niv1RQpluslJaVp3XlhkOLg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kzw1xBMajLydvyUH73nR0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=AqvvLX58MhDZU5pluscdL0ohQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jt9mkoQRBFlXCVaGWzKNiA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lNZnrRBRVUhzXlKE8pIZlQ==#


6173-E(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6185 Community Day School 

6185 Community Day School 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 173

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mTG9PgOthslsha517kslshsQ9M7g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j5LGCGjBsNWPz2OXPZIslshxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cOHicFEApoSjylE7ucviOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JEQXheHkp1CE8PDRKZcsLQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YdgplusM1VKIt6NB7RDvh9jRg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=K3XZplusMD3iNGcPZdhEClfBw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=izgusJg8hU1O1q0O2N9f7Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusn6clQYhd39g8RwejslshvXzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r2NMUoOTIslsh5NEAo9nsCaplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bqGfY4qCGCTAqurzrGplusmlg==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 6115: Ceremonies And Observances Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/1999 | Last Revised Date: 0503/01/20202023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0503/01/20202023   

 

 

Holidays 

CSBA NOTE: The following list may be expanded to reflect district practice. Education Code 
37220 specifies holidays on which public schools must be closed, and allows the Governing Board 
to designate any other day as a holiday. See the accompanying Board policy. Education Code 
37220, as amended by AB 1655 (Ch. 753, Statutes of 2022), incorporates June 19, “Juneteenth 
National Independence Day,” to this list by way of presidential appointment. In addition, 
Education Code 37220 provides that the Board, by adoption of a resolution, may revise the date 
upon which district schools close in observance of any of these holidays except Veterans Day, 
which must be celebrated on its actual date. 
 
Education Code 37220.5 and 37220.7, as amended by AB 1801 (Ch. 761, Statutes of 2022), 
authorize the closing of school on March 31 in observance of Cesar Chavez Day, on April 24 in 
observance of Genocide Remembrance Day, and/or on the fourth Friday in September for Native 
American Day, provided that the Board agrees to do so in a memorandum of understanding 
reached with employee bargaining units pursuant to Government Code 3540-3549.3. If the 
district has such an agreement, the holiday(s) should be added to the following list. 
 
Education Code 37220 provides that a district may, if it so chooses, allow community groups to 
use school facilities on those dates when the school is closed for a holiday. See BP/AR 1330 - Use 
of School Facilities. 

District schools shall be closed on the following holidays:  (Education Code 37220) 
   

New Year's Day - January 1 
 
Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day - Third Monday in January or the Monday or Friday of 
the week in which January 15 occurs 
 
Lincoln Day - The Monday or Friday of the week in which February 12 occurs 
 
Washington Day - Third Monday in February 
 
Memorial Day - Last Monday in May 
 
Juneteenth National Independence Day– June 19 
 
Independence Day - July 4 
 
Labor Day - First Monday in September 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 174



 

 

 
Veterans Day - November 11 
 
Thanksgiving Day - The Thursday in November designated by the President 
 
Christmas Day - December 25 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 37220, as amended by AB 1655, districts are not 
required to close on Columbus Day, the second Monday in October. Governing Boards may 
designate Columbus Day as a holiday in which schools shall close. 

In addition, schools shall be closed on any:  (Education Code 37220) 

1. Any day designatedappointed by the Governor as a holiday or President for a holiday, anyas 
a special or limited holiday on which the Governor provides that the schools shall close, and 
any 

2. Any day appointed by the President as a holiday, including by executive order or by signing 
into law legislation that creates a nationwide federal holiday 

3. Any other day designated as a holiday by the Governing Board and/or negotiated with 
employee organizations. (Education Code 37220) 
  

Holidays which fall on a Sunday shall be observed the following Monday. Holidays which fall on a 
Saturday shall be observed the preceding Friday. If any of the above holidays occurs under federal 
law on a date different from that indicated above, the Governing Board may close the schools on 
the date recognized by federal law instead of on the date above.  (Education Code 37220) 
 
Commemorative Exercises 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following section lists special days that schools are required by state and/or 
federal law to observe with suitable commemorative exercises. 
 
In addition to commemorative exercises that are required by law, Education Code 37222-
37222.20 and 5100937220.7, as amended by AB 1801, and 51109, as well as various legislative 
resolutions, have designated other days of special significance on which schools are encouraged, 
but not required, to conduct appropriate commemorative exercises, including, but not limited to: 
(1) School Board Recognition Month in January; (2) Ed Roberts Day on January 23; (3) Fred 
Korematsu Day of Civil Liberties and the Constitution on January 30; (4) Ronald Reagan Day on 
February 6; (5) Lunar New Year on the date corresponding with the second new moon following 
the winter solstice, or the third new moon following the winter solstice if an intercalary month 
intervenes; (6) Week of the School Administrator on the first full week of March; (7) California 
Agriculture Day on the first day of spring each year; (8) Welcome Home Vietnam Veterans Day on 
March 30; (9) Cesar Chavez on March 31; (10) California Poppy Day on April 6; (11) Dolores 
Huerta Day on April 10; (12) John Muir Day on April 21; (13) Genocide Remembrance Day on 
April 24; (14) Labor History Month in May; (1415) the Day of the Teacher on the second 
Wednesday in May; (1516) Harvey Milk Day on May 22; (1617) September 11th Remembrance 
Day on September 11; (18) Native American Day on the fourth Friday in September; (1719) Larry 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 175



 

 

Itliong Day on October 25; and (1820) Bill of Rights Day on December 15. The California 
Department of Education's web site includes a calendar of events listing other days for which 
special recognition is encouraged. The list below may be modified to include any optional days of 
special significance so designated by the Board. 

District schools shall hold exercises in accordance with law to commemorate the following special 
days:  (Education Code 37220, 37221, 45460) 
 

U.S. Constitution and Citizenship Day - On or near September 17 
 
Dr.Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day - The Friday before the day schools are closed for 
this holiday 
 
Abraham Lincoln's Birthday - The school day before the day schools are closed for this 
holiday 
 
Susan B. Anthony Day - February 15 
 
George Washington's Birthday - The Friday preceding the third Monday in February 
 
Black American Day - March 5 
 
Conservation, Bird, and Arbor Day - March 7 
 
Classified Employee Week - Third week in May 

U.S. Constitution and Citizenship Day - On or near September 17 
 
Commemorative exercises shall be integrated into the regular educational program to the extent 
feasible. 
 
Patriotic Exercises 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52720 requires all schools to conduct patriotic exercises daily. 
Pursuant to Education Code 52720 and 52730, this requirement may be satisfied by reciting the 
Pledge of Allegiance and/or through the instruction described below. 

Each school shall conduct patriotic exercises daily, which may include the Pledge of Allegiance to 
the Flag of the United States and/or instruction that promotes understanding of the concepts of 
"pledge," "allegiance," "republic," and "indivisible" and understanding of the importance of the 
pledge as an expression of patriotism, love of country, and pride in the United States.  (Education 
Code 52720, 52730) 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by districts maintaining elementary schools. 
At elementary schools, such exercises shall be conducted at the beginning of each school day. 
(Education Code 52720) 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by districts maintaining secondary schools. 
Education Code 52720 mandates that the Board adopt regulations pertaining to the conduct of 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 176



 

 

patriotic exercises in secondary schools. The following paragraph should be revised to reflect 
district practice. 

At secondary schools, such exercises shall be conducted during the homeroom period. 

CSBA NOTE: In Newdow v. Rio Linda Union School District, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals 
upheld a school policy permitting teacher-led recitation of the Pledge of Allegiance pursuant to 
Education Code 52720 where students were permitted by policy to decline participation for 
personal reasons. In West Virginia State Board of Education et al. v. Barnette et al., the court held 
that individuals may not be compelled to salute the flag or to stand during the salute. 

A student may choose not to participate in the flag salute or Pledge of Allegiance for personal 
reasons. 
 
Display of Flag 
 
The flag of the United States and the flag of California shall be displayed during business hours at 
the entrance or on the grounds of every district school and on or near the district office. At all 
times, the national flag shall be placed in the position of first honor.  (Government Code 431, 436; 4 
USC 6) 
 
When displayed on a building or on a flagstaff in the open, the national flag shall be displayed only 
from sunrise to sunset unless properly illuminated during the hours of darkness. The flag should not 
be displayed during inclement weather unless an all-weather flag is used.  (4 USC 6) 
 
The national flag shall fly at half-staff on the following occasions:  (4 USC 7)  

1. 1. For 30 days from the death of the President or a former President 
 

2. 2. For 10 days from the death of the Vice President, the Chief Justice or a retired Chief 
Justice, or the Speaker of the House of Representatives 
 

3. 3. From the day of death until interment of an Associate Justice of the Supreme Court, 
a secretary of an executive or military department, former Vice President, or the Governor 
of a state 
 

4. 4. On the day of death and the following day for a Member of Congress 
 

5. 5. On Memorial Day, until noon only 
 

6. 6. On Peace Officers Memorial Day (May 15), unless it falls on Armed Forces Day 
 

7. 7. Upon a proclamation from the Governor in the event of the death of a present or 
former official of the state government or a member of the Armed Forces from the state 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 177



 

 

who has died while serving on active duty 
 

8. 8. On other occasions by order of the President and in accordance with presidential 
instructions or orders 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 

Ed. Code 37220-37222.2021 Holidays and commemorative events 

Ed. Code 44015.1 Week of the School Administrator 

Ed. Code 45203 Paid holidays 

Ed. Code 45460 Classified School Employee Week 

Ed. Code 52720-52730 Patriotic exercises and instruction 

Gov. Code 3540-3549.3 Public education employer-employee relations 

Gov. Code 430-439 Display of flags 

Federal Description 

36 USC 106 Note Educational program on the U.S. Constitution 

36 USC 106 Constitution Day and Citizenship Day 

4 USC 6 Time and occasion for display of flag 

4 USC 7 Position and manner of display of flag 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision Newdow v. Rio Linda Union School District, 597 F.3d 1007, 
1012 (9th Cir. 2010) 597 F.3d 1007 

Court Decision West Virginia State Board of Education et al. v. Barnette et 
al,. (1943) 319 U.S. 624 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website California Department of Education, History/Social Science 
Instructional Materials 

Website CSBA 

Cross References 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 178

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/hs/im#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/hs/im#
http://www.csba.org/#


 

 

Code Description 

1330 Use Of School Facilities 

1330 Use Of School Facilities 

1330-E(1) Use Of School Facilities 

4156.2 Awards And Recognition 

4256.2 Awards And Recognition 

4356.2 Awards And Recognition 

6111 School Calendar 

6117 Year-Round Schedules 

6141.2 Recognition Of Religious Beliefs And Customs 

6141.2 Recognition Of Religious Beliefs And Customs 

6142.3 Civic Education 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

6142.94 History-Social Science Instruction 

6144 Controversial Issues 

6145.8 Assemblies And Special Events 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 179

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=5M2Tk91tuviGoLuOm4RHJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=jGhHAPWQ3OyetaM3k8a8Hw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=1H7NDKoJeiESIxlxslsh9PIDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=Hh7zIQhUcrwHxaCFHDErIg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=9FP5Tivl6ZitslshqAfwBbjvg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=fqJAHfpplusJh7daxt3wwswMw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=IPWcsrKPaq1unXytkM92YQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=c05UQMRNP1dGWXzr5bZu2w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=NwMYo2AN3setpapVO8LJTQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=5qO5Et5lYK4siFeadDwmKw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=F8whKU0slshqWP6fEaJCiXhLw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=5PWqjruE1HkARTur8HDIaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=OHSzMF9Bsba2PdrV3gfTVg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=QBjslshxEplus7ObsFdEMMFnHpCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=RpR10KDUJJtO0rD6ffplusJxQ==#


CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain grades 9-12. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 specifies the courses that a student is required to complete in 
order to graduate from high school as listed in itemsItems #1-67 below. 

Pursuant to Education Code 66204, each district that maintains a high school is also required to develop 
a process for submitting courses to the University of California to ensure(UC) to review and certify that 
they align with the "a-gA-G" course requirements for college admission. 

CSBA NOTE:CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that require more than two 
mathematics courses for high school graduation. Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3 and 51225.35, a 
district that requires more than two courses in mathematics may award up to one mathematics course 
credit for an approved computer science course, as defined. Any such course must have been approved 
by the University of CaliforniaUC as a "category cC" (mathematics) course in the university's "a-gA-G" 
course admission criteria; see BP 6143 - Courses of Study. 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 6146.1: High School Graduation Requirements Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 12/01/2017 | Last Revised Date: 09/01/20212022 | Last Review 
09/01/20212022 

ed Date: 

The Governing Board desires to prepare all students to successfully complete the high school course of 
study and obtain a diploma that represents their educational achievement and increases their 
opportunities for postsecondary education and employment. 

District students shall complete graduation course requirements as specified in Education Code 51225.3 
Unless exempted as provided in “Exemptions from District-Adopted Graduation Requirements,” district 
students shall also complete other course requirements adopted by the Board. Students who are 
exempted from district-adopted graduation requirements shall be eligible to participate in any 
graduation ceremony and school activity related to graduation in which other students are eligible to 
participate. 

Course Requirements 

To obtain a high school diploma, students shall complete the following courses in grades 9-12, with each 
course being one year unless otherwise specified: 

1. 1. Four courses in English (Education Code 51225.3) 

2. 2. Two courses in mathematics (Education Code 51225.3) 

Students shall complete at least one mathematics course that meets the state academic content 
standards for Algebra I or Mathematics I. Students may complete such coursework prior to grade 
9 provided that they also complete two mathematics courses in grades 9-12. (Education Code 
51224.5) 

3. Students may be awarded up to one mathematics course credit for successful3.  Successful
completion of an approved computer science course that is classified as a "category cC" course
based on the "a-g" courseUniversity of California (UC) and California State University (CSU) "A-G"
admission requirements for college admission, which mayshall be counted toward the satisfaction
of additional graduation requirements in mathematics. (Education Code 51225.3, 51225.35)

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 180



CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 101 (Ch. 661, Statutes of 2021), no longer 
authorizes the Board to include a course in career technical education (CTE) to serve as an alternative to 
the visual or performing arts or world language course requirement for high school graduation. If the 
Board chooses to do so, it must, atHowever, if a regular Board meeting prior to allowingstudent 
completed a CTE course as an alternative, notify parents/guardians, students, teachers, and the public of 
information specified in prior to July 1, 2022 that met the requirements of Education Code 51225.3. In 
addition, the information must be included in the district's annual notification to parents/guardians 
pursuant to Education Code 48980; see the accompanying administrative regulation. Districts that do 
not allow this alternative, such course will fulfill the visual or performing arts or world language 
graduation requirement should delete references to CTE in item #5 below. 

The CTE course may be offered through different means, including a district-operated program, regional 
occupational center or program, or county office of education program pursuant to a joint powers 
agreement. See BP/AR 6178 - Career Technical Education and BP 6178.2 - Regional Occupational 
Center/Program for program details pertaining to CTE.. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 101, beginning with the 2029- 
30 school year, a student is required to complete a one-semester course in ethnic studies, as specified, 
in order to graduate from high school. At its discretion, a district may require a full-year course. Districts 
that require a full-year course should revise Item #7 accordingly. 

4. 4. Two courses in science, including biological and physical sciences (Education Code 
51225.3) 

5. 5. Four courses in social studies, including United States (U.S.) history and geography; world 
history, culture, and geography; a one-semester course in American government and civics; and a 
one-semester course in economics (Education Code 51225.3) 

6. 6. One course in visual or performing arts, or world language, or career technical education 
(CTE). . For purposes of this requirement, a course in American Sign Language shall be deemed a 
course in world language. (Education Code 51225.3) 

To be counted towards meeting graduation requirements, a student completed a career technical 
educationCTE course priorshall be aligned to July 1, 2022 that met the requirementsCTE model 
curriculum standards and framework adopted by the State Board of Education Code 51225.3, such 
course will fulfill the visual or performing arts or world language requirement.. (Education Code 
51225.3)  

7. 7. Two courses in physical education, unless the student has been otherwise exempted 
pursuant to other sections of the Education Code (Education Code 51225.3) 

8. Beginning with the 2029-30 school year, a one-semester course in ethnic studies (Education
Code 51225.3) 

9.

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 181



CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, theCSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 requires 
the Board to adopt alternative means for students to complete the prescribed course of study. See 
BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation. Board may prescribe additional coursework 
(e.g., health education or service learning) or other requirements (e.g., portfolios or senior projects) that 
district students must complete in order to obtain a diploma. If the Board does so, such courses or 
projects should be listed below. 

If the district requires a course in health education for graduation, Education Code 51225.36 requires 
that the district include instruction in sexual harassment and violence, including, but not limited to, 
information on the affirmative consent standard pursuant to Education Code 67386. See BP 6142.1 - 
Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction. In addition, pursuant to Education Code 51225.6, 
a district that requires a course in health education for graduation is required to include instruction in 
compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation. See AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 

Pursuant to Education Code 51230, if the district requires the completion of community service hours 
for high school graduation, the district may provide a student with credit towards that requirement for 
completion of a course in community emergency response training. However, if the district chooses to 
offer credit for the completion of such a course, the Board is still obligated to notify parents/guardians, 
students, teachers, and the public of information specified in Education Code 51225.3. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 requires the Board to adopt alternative means for students to 
complete the prescribed course of study. See BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation. 

8. 

Because the prescribed course of study may not accommodate the needs of some students, the Board 
shall provide alternative means for the completion of prescribed courses in accordance with law. 

Students shall receive diplomas of graduation from Pacific Grove High School (PGHS) or Pacific 
Grove Community High School (PGCHS) only after completing the prescribed course of study and 
meeting the standards of proficiency established by the district. 

The prescribed course of study for students in grades 9 through 12 shall include: 

SUBJECT CREDITS PGHS CREDITS PGCHS CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT 
OF EDUCATION 

ENGLISH 40 CREDITS - 4 years 40 CREDITS - 4 years Three courses in English. 

MATHEMATICS 20 CREDITS - 2 years 20 CREDITS - 2 years Two courses in mathematics, 
including one year of Algebra 
1. 

SCIENCE 20 CREDITS - 2 years. One 
year of life science and one 
year of physical science. 

20 CREDITS - 2 years. One 
year of life science and one 
year of physical science. 

Two courses in science 
including biological and 
physical.  

SOCIAL SCIENCE 40 CREDITS - 4 years* 

10 CREDITS World Geography 
10 CREDITS World History 
10 CREDITS US History 
5 CREDITS Economics 
5 CREDITS Government 

40 CREDITS - 4 years* 

10 CREDITS World Geography 
10 CREDITS World History 
10 CREDITS Us History 
5 CREDITS Economics 
5 CREDITS Government 

Three courses in social studies, 
including United States history, 
and geography; a one-
semester course in American 
government and civics, and a 
one-semester course in 
economics.  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 182



CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.31, as added by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), 
districts are required to exempt an eligible student with disabilities from all coursework and other 
requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to the statewide course requirements specified in 
Education Code 51225.3, and award such student a high school diploma, as reflected below. Awarding a 
diploma pursuant to this exception does not change the district’s obligation to provide a free appropriate 
public education or otherwise constitute a change in placement. 

*Transfer students to a PGUSD
high school are exempt from
completing 10 CREDITS in
World Geography. The Social
Science graduation
requirements for transfer
students will be 30 CREDITS.

*Transfer students to a PGUSD
high school are exempt from
completing 10 CREDITS in
World Geography. The Social
Science graduation
requirements for transfer
students will be 30 CREDITS.

FINE ARTS OR WORLD 
LANGUAGE 

10 CREDITS - 1 year of a Fine 
Arts or World Language. 

10 CREDITS - 1 year One course in visual or 
performing arts, or world 
language. 

PHYSICAL EDUCATION 20 CREDITS - 2 years 
Grade 9 is mandatory and 
includes Health at PGHS with a 
sexual education component. 

20 CREDITS - 2 years Two courses in physical 
education. 

ELECTIVES 70 CREDITS 40 CREDITS 

CAREER TECHNICAL 
EDUCATION OR AN A-G 
COURSE 

10 CREDITS - 1 year of a 
Career Technical Education 
course of an A-G course. 

HEALTH 5 CREDITS - 1 semester 

VOCATIONAL EDUCATION 5 CREDITS - 1 semester 

TOTAL 230 CREDITS 200 CREDITS 

COMMUNITY SERVICE* - 
Required to earn a PGUSD 
High School Diploma 

48 Hours 42 Hours 

*Class of 2022, 2023, and 2024 will need to earn 36 hours of community service to earn their high school
diploma at PGHS or PGCHS.

Exemptions from District-Adopted Graduation Requirements 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 183



Prior to the beginning of grade 10, the individualized education program (IEP) team for each student with 
disabilities shall determine whether the student is eligible for exemption from all coursework and other 
requirements adopted by the Board in addition to the statewide course requirements for high school 
graduation, and if so, shall notify the student’s parent/guardian of the exemption. A student with 
disabilities shall be eligible for the exemption, if the student’s IEP provides for both of the following 
requirements: (Education Code 51225.31) 

1. That the student take the alternate assessment aligned to alternate achievement standards in
grade 11 as described in Education Code 60640

2. That the student complete state standards aligned coursework to meet the statewide coursework
specified in Education Code 51225.3

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 requires the district to exempt from any district-adopted 
graduation requirements that are in addition to the state requirements specified in Education Code 
51225.3 a foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, 
child of a military family, or migrant student who transfers into the district or between district high 
schools any time after completing the second year of high school, or an immigrant student who is in the 
third or fourth year of high school and is participating in a newcomer program (i.e., a program designed 
to meet the academic and transitional needs of newly arrived immigrant students that has as a 
primary objective the development of English language proficiency). This exemption does not apply if 
the Superintendent or designee makes a finding that the student is reasonably able to complete the 
requirements in time to graduate by the end of the fourth year of high school. Also see AR 6173 - 
Education for Homeless Children, AR 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth, AR 6173.2 - Education of 
Children of Military Families, AR 6173.3 - Education for Juvenile Court School Students, and AR 6175 - 
Migrant Education Program. 

Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, within 30 calendar days of the transfer ofinto a school by a 
foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a 
military family, or migrant student, or within 30 days newly arrived immigrant student, or of a student 
beginning the commencement of participation in a newcomer program, as applicable, the district is 
required to provide notice to thenotify any eligible student and/or the student’s parent/guardian, the 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, the district’s liaison for 
homeless children, and the student's social worker or probation officer, as applicable, of the 
availability of the exemption from local graduation requirements and whether the student qualifies for 
it. If the district fails to provide that notification, the student will be eligible for the exemption once 
notified, even if the notification is received after the termination of the court's jurisdiction over the 
foster youth or former juvenile court school student, after the student experiencing homelessness 
ceases to be homeless, or after the student no longer meets the definition of a child of a military 
family, a migrant student, or a student participating in a newcomer program, as applicable. 

Education Code 51225.1 also provides that, if an exempted student completes the statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the fourth year of high school, the district or a district 
school must not require or request that the student graduate before the end of the fourth year of high 
school. 

Any complaint alleging the district's failure to comply with the requirements of Education Code 
51225.1 may be filed using the district's uniform complaint procedures pursuant to 5 CCR 4600-4670. 
See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 

District students are required to complete graduation course requirements specified above, including the 
requirements imposed by Education Code 51225.3 and those adopted by the Board. However 

In addition, a foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, 
child of a military family, or migrant student who transfers into the district or between district schools 
any time after completing the second year of high school, or a newly arrived immigrant student who is in 
the third or fourth year of high school and is participating in a newcomer program, shall be exempted 
from any graduation requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to statewide course 
requirements. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 184



CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 41, Statutes of 2021), the 
district is required to exempt a student from district graduation requirements if the student was in the 
third or fourth year of high school during the 2020-21 school year and is not on track to graduate in four 
years. 

This exemption shall not apply if the Superintendent or designee makes a finding that the student is 
reasonably able to complete the additional requirements in time to graduate by the end of the fourth year 
of high school. 

Within 30 days of the transfer into a school by a foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, 
former juvenile court school student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a newly arrived 
immigrant student, or of the commencement of participation in a newcomer program, as applicable, the 
Superintendent or designee shall notify any eligible student, and others as required by law, of the 
availability of the exemption from local graduation requirements and whether the student qualifies for it. 
(Education Code 51225.1) 

If during the 2020-21 school year a student was in the third or fourth year of high school and is not on 
track to graduate in four years, the district shall exempt the student from any local graduation 
requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to statewide course requirements specified in 
Education Code 51225.3. (Education Code 51225) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, the district may not require or request a foster youth, 
student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a military family, migrant 
student, or a newly arrived immigrant student participating in a newcomer program who is exempted from 
district-established graduation requirements and completes statewide coursework requirements before the 
end of the student’s fourth year of high school to graduate early, as described below. 

The Superintendent or designee shall not require or request a foster youth, student experiencing 
homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a newly 
arrived immigrant student participating in a newcomer program who is exempted from district-established 
graduation requirements and who completes the statewide coursework requirements before the end of the 
fourth year of high school, and would otherwise be entitled to remain in school, to graduate before the end of 
the student’s fourth year of high school. (Education Code 51225.1)  

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 2022), requires the district to 
exempt a foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a military 
family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant student participating in a newcomer program who qualifies 
for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, under the circumstances described below. 

If a foster youth, student experiencing homelessness, former juvenile court school student, child of a military 
family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant student participating in a newcomer program was not 
properly notified of an exemption, declined the exemption, or was not previously exempted, the student or 
the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student may request the exemption and the 
Superintendent or designee shall exempt the student within 30 days of the request. Any such student who at 
one time qualified for the exemption may request the exemption even if the student is no longer eligible. 
(Education Code 51225.1)  

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, districts are required to annually report 
to the California Department of Education regarding the number of students who, for the prior school year, 
graduated with an exemption from the district-established graduation requirements that are in addition to 
statewide coursework requirements, as specified below. 

Annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the California Department of Education, in 
accordance with Education Code 51225.1, the number of student’s graduating from the fourth or fifth year of 
high school who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements.  

150 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 185



CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225, as added by AB 104, the district is required to provide 
a student who was enrolled in the student's third or fourth year of high school during the 2020-21 school 
year and is not on track to graduate in the 2020-21 or 2021-22 school years the opportunity to complete 
the statewide coursework required for graduation pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, as described 
below. 

CSBA NOTE: Items #1-4 below are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Additional Opportunities to Complete Required Coursework 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide a student who was enrolled in the third or fourth year of 
high school during the 2020-21 school year and is not on track to graduate in the 2020-21 or 2021-22 
school years the opportunity to complete the statewide coursework required for graduation, which may 
include, but is not limited to, completion of the coursework through a fifth year of instruction, credit 
recovery, or other opportunity to complete the required coursework. (Education Code 51225) 

Retroactive Diplomas 

Any student who completed grade 12 in the 2003-04 through 2014-15 school year and met all applicable 
graduation requirements other than the passage of the high school exit examination shall be granted a 
high school diploma. (Education Code 51413) 

In addition, the district may retroactively grant high school diplomas to former students who: (Education 
Code 48204.4, 51430, 51440) 

1. 1. Departed California against their will while in grade 12 and did not receive a diploma 
because the departure interrupted their education, provided that they were in good academic 
standing at the time of the departure 

Persons may be considered to have departed California against their will if they were in custody 
of a government agency and were transferred to another state, were subject to a lawful order 
from a court or government agency that authorized their removal from California, were subject to 
a lawful order and were permitted to depart California before being removed from California 
pursuant to the lawful order, were removed or were permitted to depart voluntarily pursuant to 
the federal Immigration and Nationality Act, or departed due to other circumstances determined 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 186



CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51430, as amended by AB 1350 (Ch. 66, Statutes of 2020), 
authorizes districts to award a retroactive diploma under the circumstances described in item #4 
below. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to confer honorary high school 
diplomas pursuant to Education Code 51225.5 and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

by the district that are consistent with the purposes of Education Code 48204.4. 

In determining whether to award a diploma under these circumstances, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consider any coursework that may have been completed outside of the United 
StatesU.S. or through online or virtual courses. 

2. 2. Were interned by order of the federal government during World War II or are honorably 
discharged veterans of World War II, the Korean War, or the Vietnam War, provided that they 
were enrolled in a district high school immediately preceding the internment or military service 
and did not receive a diploma because their education was interrupted due to the internment or 
military service in those wars 

Deceased former students who satisfy these conditions may be granted a retroactive diploma to 
be received by their next of kin. 

3. Are veterans who entered the military service of the United StatesU.S. while in grade 12 and who
had satisfactorily completed the first half of the work required for grade 12 in a district school

3. 4. Were in their senior year of high school during the 2019-20 school year, were in good 
academic standing and on track to graduate at the end of the 2019-20 school year as of March 1, 
2020, and were unable to complete the statewide graduation requirements as a result of the 
COVID-19 crisis 

Honorary Diplomas 

The Board may grant an honorary high school diploma to: (Education Code 51225.5) 

1. 1. An international exchange student who has not completed the course of study ordinarily 
required for graduation and who is returning to the student's home country following the 
completion of one academic school year in the district 

2. 2.  A student who is terminally ill 

The honorary diploma shall be clearly distinguishable from the regular diploma of graduation awarded by 
the district. (Education Code 51225.5) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 
board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 
matter of the policy. 

State Description 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 187



5 CCR 1600-1651 Graduation of students from grade 12 and credit toward 
graduation 

5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

Ed. Code 220 Prohibition of Discrimination 

Ed. Code 47612 EnrollmentAverage daily attendance in charter school 

Ed. Code 48200 Compulsory attendance 

Ed. Code 48204.4 Parents/guardians departing California against their will 

Ed. Code 48412 Certificate of proficiency 

Ed. Code 48430 Continuation education schools and classes 

Ed. Code 48645.5 Former juvenile court school students,; enrollment 

Ed. Code 48980 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 49701 Provisions of the interstate compactInterstate Compact on 
educational opportunitiesEducational Opportunities for 
military childrenMilitary Children 

Ed. Code 51224 Skills and knowledge required for adult life 

Ed. Code 51224.5 Algebra in course of study for grades 7-12 

Ed. Code 51225 2020-21 exemption from graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.1 Exemption from district graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.2 Course credits 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.31 Exemption for students with disabilities 

Ed. Code 51225.35 Mathematics course requirements; computer science 

Ed. Code 51225.36 Instruction in sexual harassment and violence; districts that 
require health education for graduation 

Ed. Code 51225.5 Honorary diplomas; foreign exchange and terminally ill 
students 

Ed. Code 51225.6 

Ed. Code 51225.9 

Instruction in cardiopulmonary resuscitation; districts that 
require health education for graduation 
Courses of Study, Grades 7 to 12; Career Technical 
Education 

Ed. Code 51226.7 Model Curriculum in Ethnic Studies 

Ed. Code 51228 Graduation requirementsCourse of Study; offerings and 
timely opportunity 

Ed. Code 51230 Credit for community emergency response training 

Ed. Code 51240-51246 Exemptions from requirements 

Ed. Code 51250-51251 Assistance to military dependents 

Ed. Code 51410-51413 Diplomas 

Ed. Code 51420-51427 High school equivalency certificates 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 188



Cross References 

Ed. Code 51430 Retroactive high school diplomas 
Ed. Code 51440 Retroactive high school diplomasCredit and granting of 

diploma to veterans and members of the military service 

Ed. Code 51450-51455 Golden State Seal Merit Diploma 

Ed. Code 51745-51749.6 Independent study 

Ed. Code 56390-56392 Recognition for educational achievement,; special education 

Ed. Code 60640 California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress 

Ed. Code 66204 Certification of high school courses as meeting university 
admission criteria 

Ed. Code 67386 Student safety; affirmative consent standard 

Management Resources Description 
Court Decision O'Connell v. Superior Court (Valenzuela),) (2006) 141 

Cal.App.4th 1452 

Website California Department of Education, High School 

Website University of California, List of Approved a-gA-G Courses 

Website CSBA 

Code Description 
0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5127 Graduation Ceremonies And Activities 

5145.6 Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E PDF(1) Parental Notifications 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 189

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/gs/hs
https://admission.universityofcalifornia.edu/admission-requirements/freshman-requirements
http://www.csba.org/
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=eTTKhAGZDUZ5bldHQfXllg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=sTN7HQJDOPoMtU4jkkplusy6Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=zqW3kmZn1LOg1ZK7aLV2wA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=Sa5qyOH3hTzqteyavYiJZg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=ZWmmo4iZf1zV3QRJAY1Uow%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=gHKuioQ31JUkn8M8vChCplusA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=QEpluscnoT1BCZLfb5mu6beMQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=rgHJQnp6mvsplusAL2iGlGslshUw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=wtqtpj7vuYh6EIKXj6plusckA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=XG1pluskrXRJJSuVvplusWQsP6jA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=lC1CFdRiHAMIxjQEjDM2zA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=8iYONVu4bnDJZOAPzBZYZA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=nWloMxsuTDjkt87K72FiWQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=yJgMxhzLXPUN5jLys2kVGA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=sA9jIsdloOYttbDiDckygQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=1QEeplusxMdOsIYdSCedXofTw%3D%3D


6000 Concepts And Roles 
6011 Academic Standards 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6142.1 Sexual Health And HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction 

6142.1 Sexual Health And HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction 

6142.2 World Language Instruction 

6142.2 World Language Instruction 

6142.3 Civic Education 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

6142.6 Visual And Performing Arts Education 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education 

6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education 

6142.91 Reading/Language Arts Instruction 

6142.92 Mathematics Instruction 

6142.93 Science Instruction 

6142.94 History-Social Science Instruction 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.6 International Exchange 

6145.6 International Exchange 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 190

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=Ac5UAppluswlfDnAW06l1yNNw%3D%3D


6146.4 Differential Graduation And Competency Standards For 
Students With Disabilities 

6151 Class Size 

6152.1 Placement In Mathematics Courses 

6152.1 Placement In Mathematics Courses 

6155 Challenging Courses By Examination 

6155 Challenging Courses By Examination 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 
Special Education 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 
Special Education 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1-E(1) Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1-E PDF(1) Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6173.3 Education For Juvenile Court School Students 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6178 Career Technical Education 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 191



6178 Career Technical Education 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6200 Adult Education 

6200 Adult Education 

9000 Role Of The Board 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 192



 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 6173: Education For Homeless Children Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/2005 | Last Revised Date: 03/01/20222023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 103/01/20162023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following policy reflects the intent of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance 
Act (42 USC 11431-11435) that each homeless student experiencing homelessness should have 
equal access to the same free, appropriate public education and services as other students. 42 
USC 11432 mandates that districts adopt, review, and revise policies to remove barriers to the 
identification, enrollment, and retention of homeless children and youth, ensure that homeless 
students experiencing homelessness are not segregated or stigmatized on the basis of their status 
as homeless, and provide for professional development for appropriate staff, as provided in the 
following policy. and regulation. In addition, 42 USC 11432 requires that, in reviewing and revising 
applicable policies, consideration be given to issues concerning transportation, immunization, 
residency, birth certificates, school records and other documentation, and guardianship. 

Education Code 48851.3, as added by AB 408 (Ch. 904, Statutes of 2022), mandates that districts 
establish homeless education program policies that are consistent with the provisions of 
Education Code 48850-48859, and using resources developed by the California Department of 
Education (CDE), available on its web site, and those developed by homeless education technical 
assistance centers. Pursuant to Education Code 48851.3, as added by AB 408, districts are 
required to update their homeless education program policies at least once every three years. 

Education Code 48852.3, added by AB 408, requires CDE to develop and implement a plan for 
monitoring the compliance of districts, including school site inspections, to ensure that the state is 
not underestimating the number of youth experiencing homelessness. 

The Governing Board believes that the identification of homeless students experiencing 
homelessness is critical to improving the educational outcomes of such students and ensuring that 
homeless students experiencing homelessness have access to the same free and appropriate public 
education provided to other students within the district. The district shall provide homeless 
students experiencing homelessness with access to education and other services necessary for 
such students to meet the same challenging academic standards as other students. 
 
When there are at least 15 homeless students experiencing homelessness in the district or a district 
school, the district's local control and accountability plan (LCAP) shall include goals and specific 
actions to improve student achievement and other outcomes of homeless students experiencing 
homelessness.  (Education Code 52052, 52060, 52064) 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is mandated pursuant to Education Code 48851.3 and 42 
USC 11432. 42 USC 11432 requires that districts adopt policy to remove barriers to homeless 
students' enrollment and retention of students experiencing homelessness due to absences or 
outstanding fees or fines. See the accompanying administrative regulation for additional 
procedures designed to remove barriers to the identification and enrollment of homeless students 
experiencing homelessness. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 193



 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall regularly review district policies at least once every three 
years and recommend updates to district policies to ensure removal of any barriers to the 
education of homeless students and unaccompanied youth. Any such review shall address 
identification, enrollment, and retention of such students, including those barriers that are due to 
absences or outstanding fees or fines.  ((Education Code 48851.3, 42 USC 11432) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 42 USC 11432, districts are required to designate an appropriate staff 
person, who may also be a coordinator for other federal programs, as a district liaison for 
homeless students. See the accompanying administrative regulation for information about the 
designation and duties of the district liaison. 

The Superintendent or designee shall designate an appropriate staff person to serve as a liaison for 
homeless children and youths. The district liaison for homeless students shall fulfill the duties 
specified in 42 USC 11432 to assist in identifying and supporting homeless students experiencing 
homelessness to succeed in school, and as specified in Education Code 48851.3 related to trainings 
for district staff providing assistance to students experiencing homelessness. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48851, as addedamended by AB 272375 (Ch. 394912, Statutes of 
20212022), requires the district to ensure that each school within the district identifies all 
homeless children and youthsstudents experiencing homelessness and unaccompanied youths 
enrolled at the school.   and to annually provide and administer a housing questionnaire to 
parents/guardians of all students and all unaccompanied youths for purposes of identifying 
students experiencing homelessness and unaccompanied youths. The housing questionnaire must 
be based on best practices developed by CDE, include an explanation of the rights and protections 
a student has as a homeless child or youth or as an unaccompanied youth, and be made available 
in paper form. A sample housing questionnaire is available on CDE's web site.   
 
Education Code 48851, as amended by AB 2375, requires districts to collect the completed 
housing questionnaires described above, and annually report to CDE the number of students 
experiencing homelessness and unaccompanied youths enrolled in the district. 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each district school identifies all homeless 
children and youthsstudents experiencing homelessness and unaccompanied youths enrolled at the 
school.  (Education Code 48851) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that receive funding from the American 
Rescue Plan Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief - Homeless Children and Youth 
Fund (ARP-HCY) and may be deleted or revised to reflect district practice by districts that do not 
receive such funds. Education Code 48851, as added by AB 27, requires districts receiving ARP-
HCY funds to annually administer a housing questionnaire to parents/guardians of all students 
and all unaccompanied youths for purposes of identifying homeless children and youths and 
unaccompanied youths. The housing questionnaire must be based on best practices developed by 
the California Department of Education (CDE), include an explanation of the rights and 
protections a student has as a homeless child or youth or as an unaccompanied youth, and be 
made available in paper form.  A sample housing questionnaire is available on CDE's web site. 

To ensure easy identification of homeless students experiencing homelessness, the Superintendent 
or designee shall annually provide and administer a housing questionnaire developed by the 
California Department of Education (CDE) to all parents/guardians of students and all 
unaccompanied youths.  (Education Code 48851) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 194



 

 

 
If the primary language of a student’s parent/guardian or an unaccompanied youth is not English, 
either the housing questionnaire shall be made available in the primary language of the student’s 
parent/guardian or the unaccompanied youth pursuant to Education Code 48985, or an 
appropriate translation of the housing questionnaire shall be provided upon request of a student’s 
parent/guardian or an unaccompanied youth.  (Education Code 48851) 

The Superintendent or designee shall report to CDE the number of students experiencing 
homelessness, including unaccompanied youths, enrolled in the district as identified from the 
housing questionnaire described above.  (Education Code 48851) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.6, as added by AB 27, requires districts to create a web 
page or post on its web site (1) a list of district liaisons and contact information for such liaison(s) 
and (2) specific information on homelessness, including, but not limited to, information regarding 
the educational rights and resources available to persons experiencing homelessness. 
Additionally, Education Code 48852.6, as added by AB 27, requires a district school, if it has a 
web site, to post the contact information for the district liaison, as well as the name and contact 
information of any employee or person under contract the school may have who assists the 
district liaison in completing the liaison's duties. See the accompanying administrative regulation 
for more information regarding posting requirements. 

In addition, the Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the district liaison's contact 
information and other information on homelessness, including, but not limited to, information 
regarding the educational rights and resources available to persons experiencing homelessness, are 
posted on the district and school web sites as specified in the accompanying administrative 
regulation.  (Education Code 48852.6) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48850 and 42 USC 11432, placement determinations 
for homeless students experiencing homelessness must be made according to the student's 
"student’s “best interest,",” as defined by law and in the accompanying administrative regulation. 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that placement decisions for homeless students 
experiencing homelessness are based on the student'sstudent’s best interest as defined in law and 
administrative regulation. 
 
Each homeless student experiencing homelessness shall be provided services that are comparable 
to services offered to other students in the school, including, but not limited to, transportation, 
educational programs for which the student meets the eligibility criteria (such as federal Title I 
services or similar state or local programs, programs for students with disabilities, and educational 
programs for English learners), career and technical education programs, programs for gifted and 
talented students, and school nutrition programs.  ((Education Code 48850; 42 USC 11432) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is mandated by 42 USC 11432. Although this law prohibits 
the segregation of homeless students experiencing homelessness into a separate school or 
program is prohibited, separate schools that were in operation before 2001 may continue to 
operate under specified conditions. Districts that maintain such a school may revise the following 
paragraph to reflect district practice. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 195



 

 

Homeless studentsStudents experiencing homelessness shall not be segregated into a separate 
school or program based on their status as homeless and shall not be stigmatized in any way.  
However, the Superintendent or designee may separate homeless students experiencing 
homelessness on school grounds as necessary for short periods of time for health and safety 
emergencies or to provide temporary, special, and supplementary services to meet thetheir unique 
needs of homeless students.  (42 USC 11432, 11433) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that information and/or materials for homeless 
students experiencing homelessness are provided in a manner and form understandable to the 
student’s parents/guardians of homeless students and to unaccompanied youths.  
 
CSBA NOTE: Although students' addresses generally may be designated as "directory 
information" that is not harmful if disclosed, 42 USC 11432 provides that information about a 
homeless student'sthe living situation of a student experiencing homelessness must instead be 
provided the protections afforded to other student records under the Family Educational Rights 
and Privacy Act. For further information about the disclosure of homeless students' records of 
students experiencing homelessness, see the U.S. Department of Education's (USDOE)), 
"Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance." 

Information about a homeless student'sthe living situation of a student experiencing homelessness 
shall be considered part of a student's educational record, subject to the Family Educational Rights 
and Privacy Act, shall not be deemed to be directory information as defined in 20 USC 1232g, and 
shall not be released without written consent.  (42 USC 11432) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 42 USC 11432, districts receiving assistance through the McKinney-
Vento Homeless Assistance Act are required to coordinate services as provided below. Other 
districts may delete or revise the following paragraph to reflect district practice. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall coordinate with other agencies and entities to ensure that 
homeless children and youthstudents experiencing homelessness are promptly identified, ensure 
that homeless students experiencing homelessness have access to and are in reasonable proximity 
to available education and related support services, and raise the awareness of school personnel 
and service providers of the effects of short-term stays in a shelter and other challenges associated 
with homelessness. Toward these ends, the Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with local 
social services agencies, other agencies or entities providing services to homeless children and 
youthstudents experiencing homelessness, and, if applicable, transitional housing facilities. In 
addition, the Superintendent or designee shall coordinate transportation, transfer of school records, 
and other interdistrict activities with other local educational agencies. As necessary, the 
Superintendent or designee shall coordinate, within the district and with other involved local 
educational agencies, services for homeless students experiencing homelessness and services for 
students with disabilities.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 mandates that districts adopt policies and practices to ensure 
participation by district liaisons and other appropriate staff in professional development and other 
technical assistance activities, as determined appropriate by the federal Office of the 
Coordinator.  
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 196



 

 

Education Code 48852.5 requires CDE to provide specified informational and training materials 
to district liaisons, including informational materials on the educational rights of homeless 
children and youthstudents experiencing homelessness and resources available to assist homeless 
children and youth.students experiencing homelessness. Education Code 48852.5, as amended 
by SB 400 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2021), also requires CDE to develop and implement a system to 
verify that districts are providing the required training to school personnel providing services to 
youthstudents experiencing homelessness at least annually. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48851.3, as added by AB 408, the liaison for homeless students is 
required to offer annual training to district employees providing services to students experiencing 
homelessness and to inform such employees of the availability of training and the services the 
liaison provides. While Education Code 48851.3 requires annual training for employees who work 
with students experiencing homelessness, the liaison is encouraged to offer training to all district 
employees. 
 
The following paragraph reflects the training requirement of Education Code 48851.3 and 
48852.5, and USDOE's "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory 
Guidance," regarding the content of the professional development. 

 
At least annually, the district liaison and other appropriate staff shall participate in professional 
development and other technical assistance activities to assist them in identifying and meeting the 
needs of homeless students experiencing homelessness. Such professional development and 
technical assistance shall include, but are not limited to, training on the district’s homeless 
education program policies, definitions of terms related to homelessness, therecognition of signs 
ofthat students are experiencing or are at risk of experiencing homelessness, the steps that should 
be taken once a potentially homeless student is identified, and how to connect homeless students 
experiencing homelessness with appropriate housing and service providers.  (Education Code 
48851.3, 48852.5; 42 USC 11432) 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48851, as added by AB 27, requires districts to collect the 
completed housing questionnaires described above, and annually report to CDE the number of 
homeless children and youths and unaccompanied youths enrolled in the district. 

The Superintendent or designee shall report to CDE the number of homeless children and youths 
and unaccompanied youths enrolled in the district as identified from the housing questionnaire 
described above.  (Education Code 48851) 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Pursuant to Education Code 52064.5, the State Board of Education has adopted evaluation 
rubrics for use by districts in evaluating their strengths, weaknesses, and areas that require 
improvement. 
 
In addition, pursuant to 20 USC 6311 annual district report cards for districts receiving Title I 
funds are required to include disaggregated student achievement data and graduation rates of 
homeless students. 

At least annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board on the identification of 
and outcomes for homeless students experiencing homelessness, which may include, but are not 
limited to, the housing questionnaire responses, school attendance, student achievement test 
results, promotion and retention rates by grade level, graduation rates, suspension/expulsion rates, 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 197



 

 

and other outcomes related to any goals and specific actions identified in the LCAP. Based on the 
evaluation data, the district shall revise its strategies as needed to more effectively identify and 
support the education of homeless students. experiencing homelessness. 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 
2022), districts are required to annually report to CDE regarding the number of students 
experiencing homelessness who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from the 
district-established graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework 
requirements, as specified below. 

Annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to CDE, in accordance with Education Code 
51225.1, the number of students experiencing homelessness graduating from the fourth or fifth 
year of high school who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from district-
established graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework requirements.   

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

Ed. Code 39807.5 Payment of transportation costs by parents 

Ed. Code 48850 Academic achievement of students in foster care and 
homeless children 

Ed. Code 48850-48859 Education of foster youth and homeless students 

Ed. Code 48851 Identification of homeless children and youths and 
unaccompanied youths; housing questionnaire 

Ed. Code 48851.3 Homeless education program policies; liaison responsibilities  

Ed. Code 48851.5 Local educational agency liaison for homeless children and 
youths 

Ed. Code 48852.3 Monitoring for compliance with chapter 

Ed. Code 48852.5 Notice of educational rights of homeless students 

Ed. Code 48852.6 Information regarding homelessness 

Ed. Code 48852.7 Education of homeless students; immediate enrollment 

Ed. Code 48859 Definitions 

Ed. Code 48915.5 Recommended expulsion; homeless student with disabilities 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 198



 

 

Ed. Code 48918.1 Notice of recommended expulsion 

Ed. Code 48985 Notices to parents in language other than English 

Ed. Code 51225.1-51225.3 Graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 52052 Accountability; numerically significant student subgroups 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1087vv Free Application for Federal Student Aid; definitions 

20 USC 1232g Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) of 1974 

20 USC 1400-1482 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

20 USC 6311 State plan 

42 USC 11431-11435 McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act 

42 USC 12705 Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act; state 
and local strategies 

Management Resources Description 
California Child Welfare Council 
Publication 

Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations, 
September 2013 

California Department of Education 
Publication 

2021-22 Federal Program Monitoring Instrument, May 2021 

California Department of Education 
Publication 

Homeless Education Dispute Resolution Process, March 
2020 

National Center for Homeless Education 
Publication 

Homeless Liaison Toolkit, 2020 

U.S. Department of Education Guidance Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program, Non-
Regulatory Guidance, August 2018 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website California State University 

Website University of California 

Website California Department of Education, Homeless Children and 
Youth Education 

Website National Center for Homeless Education at SERVE 

Website National Homelessness Law Center 

Website U.S. Department of Education - Education for Homeless 
Children and Youths Grants for State and Local Activities 

Website California Community Colleges 

Website California Interscholastic Federation 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 199

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.calstate.edu/#
http://www.universityofcalifornia.edu/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/hs/cy#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/hs/cy#
http://www.serve.org/nche#
http://www.nlchp.org/#
http://www.ed.gov/programs/homeless/index.html#
http://www.ed.gov/programs/homeless/index.html#
http://www.cccco.edu/#
http://www.cifstate.org/#


 

 

Website California Child Welfare Council 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0415 Equity 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113-E(1) District And School Web Sites 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1400 Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies And The 
Schools 

3250 Transportation Fees 

3250 Transportation Fees 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3541 Transportation Routes And Services 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 200

https://www.chhs.ca.gov/home/committees/california-child-welfare-council#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9fOxm6YSOsjBQ7YLPgBzQA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4uOm9WPslsh0HwKjuRwh5qslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qec3Iw1WslshtHfJqvplusOlraHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DcTQeLZeVG26t4voqKhgCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=27plusDH66jJeD8B9wRKlHKDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshFRNdBJStNNVwh2rRboCoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=t9snxp43GGvfEbZ8QVme6g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uYEDmk5Fr2z75plus96hckmhQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KDUyqBYnGCwCDfw2QftILg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NLobErU7hhc9VOjLjaZ3CA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fTpluslcL5iFuLLjmC2l4HbEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4VNpeeLdGX8wrSubvpm0yw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rNSL8slshinCEPQl7ulKKagGg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8EsZBYTyuiVt1v9tIDw5cA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3A7tJUfmrHf9bM489BZt9g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1zDJaxIWlv0mdfzbd8t3lw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CBGe4taGQPdslshzqHPoEja6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eNDmEdm3plusuplus77uyv1iV35w==#


 

 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4131 Staff Development 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4231 Staff Development 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4331 Staff Development 

5111 Admission 

5111 Admission 

5111.1 District Residency 

5111.1 District Residency 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5125.1 Release Of Directory Information 

5125.1 Release Of Directory Information 

5125.1-E(1) Release Of Directory Information 

5125.2 Withholding Grades, Diploma Or Transcripts 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.26 Tuberculosis Testing 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.32 Health Screening For School Entry 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5141.6 School Health Services 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 201

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=p97l9Vg6L6VuXUtUx98Jmw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w3AXoA8vl7AC7HLfttplusmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7dZKTA7YltHaLiqReOqUDA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QTIdHbpzxNquxe6rBplusplusLEw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TdDslshPM3FElcWplus1cDGhZCfQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yb71bRfbKZ84IdbNcRM8slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pluspdmjufS9K5hslshFG25hwQyw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hplusTLp1ko2H2hPw5RS0rmhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Abplusfvw9xWNiOsDUGKupp0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PkgXnAslh2adolJDqdBRow==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oJmDaeMYv7Ek8ydix0OaXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z6rkvP9islshqlxTJHeU6PmTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GnplusEeg4OwP82YslshCfUJFplus8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BSRswan5tzMbq7LMRdlt9A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w2rrFVAmQo4vjeURorkplusDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R2sOzhydv7S3yougeNFlag==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DILuIUSJFtLZbplusslshm4QQhPg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MoM6ufspzw2QWc5WIKKlBw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VVfB24gOjvoyZyuDyy0Exg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vwZ15jLubbv8aAslshgxLjFzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yslshbc2Eyo2OcE9ZRNyySrZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=maGYVEfslshL8O3Cg5ozTfL6A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sZeVy3bCBiVfdAHMZg16eA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsN81evOIfdNLM5PT1incw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6pxjfiENeArHTQ0Lt49UNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MMslshXfslshFhMg7mL69eSUZF3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oWpPevpF0RSfrCMXcZBnJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UNfYzcqh1j6xB9A03C6x5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zRx5hcj21n42GlS90oFK4g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HLAhfmqm0chyHdbqSLcTzg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FSzgGHjlLjQNUZfaqB9DTQ==#


 

 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.2 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

6011 Academic Standards 

6120 Response To Instruction And Intervention 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.1 Procedural Safeguards And Complaints For Special Education 

6159.1 Procedural Safeguards And Complaints For Special Education 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 202

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CyKYplusSV3BFs9rslsh2QUxtPAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhMplusqG6koiIWw233cKrvxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshomslshxRRJ6sOt88rp6Vo0ng==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1dDD5zktSwyOojOfjp9izw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hxEDHslshgH5Sz6cuyQiledww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Dmdslsh9hbtRECaAzEQK5thw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3sWTWgcyt3qIk4BjS3SFw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nFRD4NplusIJG2Jfm31Of07dg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DKYXqVv74EMknNkW5Qzplusaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Zd5keyTeOFsdJyvFb8I2XQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=V6JbLS1Y9v2NrbslshcplusUuOHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NI2tvDgslzr09NJlnALYAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MJQZpvWMfiOe7slshSNWNvKCg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wB3oyPCFWtXKgbLkObOplusCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhGTCA85aOSwplus413BaBpluseQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i7slshs2reTt93slshsCyVZP4slsh8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7SipxldAvMplusBN2DuaqiOrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0GZqEm2GslshEZc45SCR5bKfw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pW68sgrzKSUPuDWHfxmvDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4tVagLqFnUH7UplusEXB5g44g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1CCoun1Bnvfcc9MJVDsj8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6ykDsajB8QSvDwY2aIgGvw==#


 

 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6171 Title I Programs 

6171 Title I Programs 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6190 Evaluation Of The Instructional Program 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 203

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LzuwgJ1w3DeYEBxnV9ZMNA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GWszU9twzA8zAZKMROeKOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Q0j366dzed9oHmPlE950SA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZOZk3Y8BFz7f0U9jOggoJg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=auqK3bZBex4hGZO5qfuMxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xHRiJ97CcSVAjB1hdRdtDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cOHicFEApoSjylE7ucviOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JEQXheHkp1CE8PDRKZcsLQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wgplusBV89WInKZ3kkHOFomYQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lKQtMBkFJlmVslshwvTmvNC9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qqIaj402slsh8xbziO5W71XIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uYgevBzNmrqxVK33EOQfxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8a5RCEWkAYmzQxd1TQVATQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OLHwkplusY4AHr1Y5iZP1wtslshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZu0HaC44A4Wsk19drDyCQ==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 6173: Education For Homeless Children Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 12/01/2014 | Last Revised Date: 03/01/20222023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 103/01/20162023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is mandated pursuant to Education Code 
48851.3, as added by AB 408 (Ch. 914, Statutes of 2022) and 42 USC 11432; see, which require 
districts to establish homeless education program policies. Pursuant to Education Code 48851.3 
districts are required to update these policies at least once every three years. See section on 
"Transportation" below for additional requirements. 

 

Definitions 
 
CSBA NOTE: The federal McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 USC 11434a) and 
Education Code 48859, as amended by AB 27 (Ch. 394, Statutes of 2021), define "homeless 
children and youths" as provided below. Foster youth who are living in emergency or transitional 
shelters are within the definition of homeless students but youth who are awaiting foster care 
placement are not. See BP/AR 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth for state law regarding foster 
children. 

Homeless students or students experiencing homelessness means students who lack a fixed, regular, 
and adequate nighttime residence and includes:  (Education Code 48859; 42 USC 11434a)  

1. Students who are sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic 
hardship, or a similar reason; are living in motels, hotels, trailer parks, or camping grounds 
due to the lack of alternative adequate accommodations; are living in emergency or 
transitional shelters; or are abandoned in hospitals 
  

2. Students who have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not 
designed for or ordinarily used as regular sleeping accommodations for human beings 
  

3. Students who are living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, substandard 
housing, bus or train stations, or similar settings 
  

4. Migratory children who qualify as homeless because they are living in conditions described 
in items #1-3 above 

Unaccompanied youth includes a homeless child or youth not in the physical custody of a parent or 
guardian.  (Education Code 48859; 42 USC 11434a) 

CSBA NOTE: The following definition of "school of origin" generally reflects Education Code 
48852.7, which exceeds the definition in 42 USC 11432 and is consistent with the state 
definition of "school of origin" that applies to foster youth. However, 42 USC 11432 includes 
preschools in the definition as provided below. 

School of origin means the school that the homeless student experiencing homelessness attended 
when permanently housed or the school in which the student was last enrolled, including a 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 204



preschool. If the school the homeless student experiencing homelessness attended when 
permanently housed is different from the school in which the student was last enrolled, or if there 
is some other school that the student attended within the preceding 15 months and with which the 
student is connected, the district liaison for homeless students shall determine, in consultation with 
and with the agreement of the homeless student experiencing homelessness and the person 
holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, andshall determine which school is, 
in the best interests of the homeless student, which school shall be experiencing homelessness, 
deemed the school of origin.  (Education Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 expresses legislative intent that the "best interest" of a 
homeless student experiencing homelessness or foster youth includes educational stability as well 
as placement in the least restrictive educational program, as provided below. Education Code 
48853 further provides that the placement of a foster youth must consider the student's access 
to academic resources, services, and extracurricular and enrichment activities. For consistency 
with the definition of "best interest" applicable to foster youth (see AR 6173.1 - Education for 
Foster Youth), the. The following definition also reflects Education Code 48853. 

Best interest means that, in making educational and school placement decisions for a homeless 
student experiencing homelessness, consideration is given to, among other factors, educational 
stability, the opportunity to be educated in the least restrictive educational setting necessary to 
achieve academic progress, and the student's access to academic resources, services, and 
extracurricular and enrichment activities that are available to all district students.  (Education Code 
48850, 48853; 42 USC 11432) 

District Liaison 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 42 USC 11432, districts are required to designate an appropriate staff 
person, who may also be a coordinator for other federal programs, as a district liaison for 
homeless students. The district should fill in the blanks below with the title or position, address, 
email address, and phone number of the district liaison. 

The Superintendent designates the following staff person as the district liaison for homeless 
students:  (42 USC 11432) 

Director of Student Services 
435 Hillcrest Avenue, Pacific Grove, CA 93950 
831-646-6523 

_ 

CSBA NOTE: The duties of the district liaison for homeless students are listed in Education Code 
48851.3, as added by AB 408, and 42 USC 11432 and are specified below. Also see the U.S. 
Department of Education's (USDOE)), "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program 
Non-Regulatory Guidance"," and the "Homeless Liaison Toolkit"," developed by the National 
Center for Homeless Education. 

The district's liaison for homeless students shall:  (Education Code 48851.3, 48851.5, 48852.5; 42 
USC 11432)  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 205



 

 

1. Ensure that homeless students experiencing homelessness are identified by school 
personnel through outreach and coordination activities with other entities and agencies 
  

2. Ensure that homeless students experiencing homelessness are enrolled in, and have a full 
and equal opportunity to succeed in, district schools 
  

3. Ensure that homeless families and children and youthstudents experiencing homelessness 
have access to and receive educational services for which they are eligible, including 
services through Head Start and Early Head Start programs, early intervention services 
under Part C of the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, and other preschool 
programs administered by the district 
  

4. Ensure that homeless families and students experiencing homelessness receive referrals to 
health care services, dental services, mental health and substance abuse services, housing 
services, and other appropriate services 
  

5. Inform parents/guardians of the educational and related opportunities available to their 
children and ensure that they are provided with meaningful opportunities to participate in 
the education of their children 
  

6. Disseminate public notice of the educational rights of homeless students experiencing 
homelessness in locations frequented by parents/guardians of homeless children and 
youthstudents experiencing homelessness and by unaccompanied youth, including schools, 
shelters, public libraries, and hunger relief agencies (soup kitchens). The rights shall be 
presented in a manner and form understandable to the parents/guardians of homeless 
students and unaccompanied youth. 
  

7. Mediate enrollment disputes in accordance with law and the section "Resolving Enrollment 
Disputes" below 
  

8. Fully inform parents/guardians of homeless students experiencing homelessness and 
unaccompanied youth of all transportation services, including transportation to the school 
of origin, and assist them in accessing transportation to the school of choice 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48852.5, as amended by SB 400 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 
2021), the California Department of Education (CDE) is required to provide training materials to 
district liaisons for homeless students for the purpose of providing required professional 
development and support to school personnel who provide services to homeless students.  
 
Pursuant to Education Code 48851.3, as added by AB 408, the district’s liaison for homeless 
students is required to offer annual training to district employees who provide services to students 
experiencing homelessness and inform such employees of the availability of training and the 
services the liaison provides. While Education Code 48851.3 requires annual training for employees 
who work with students experiencing homelessness, the district’s liaison for homeless students is 
encouraged to offer training to all district employees. 
 
The examples of school personnel listed below reflect CDE's 2021-222022-23 Federal Program 
Monitoring Instrument. 

9. Ensure that Offer annual training related to the district’s homeless education program 
policies to school personnel providingwho provide services to homeless students 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 206



 

 

experiencing homelessness, including principals and other school leaders, attendance 
supervisorsofficers, teachers, enrollment personnel, and specialized instructional support 
personnel, receiveto ensure that such employees are informed of available training, 
professional development, and other support, and the services provided by the district 
liaison for homeless students 
  

10.  Ensure that unaccompanied youth are enrolled in school, have opportunities to meet the 
same challenging state academic standards established for other students, and are informed 
of their status as independent students under 20 USC 1087vv and that they may receive 
assistance from the district liaison to receive verification of their independent student 
status for purposes of applying for federal student aid pursuant to 20 USC 1090 
  

11.  Coordinate and collaborate with state coordinators and community and school personnel 
responsible for the provision of education and related services to homeless students 
experiencing homelessness, including the collection and provision of comprehensive data to 
the state coordinator as required by law 

  
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district liaison must be notified at least 10 
calendar days before the date of the expulsion hearing for a homeless student experiencing 
homelessness, when the student's alleged violation does not require a mandatory 
recommendation for expulsion, and may be notified for mandatory expulsions; see AR 5144.1 - 
Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. When so notified, the district liaison is expected to assist 
the student and, as necessary, advocate on the student's behalf. 
 
Furthermore, pursuant to Education Code 48915.5, if the homeless student experiencing 
homelessness has also been identified as an individual with a disability and the district has 
proposed a change of placement due to an act for which the decision to recommend expulsion is 
discretionary, the district liaison must be invited to participate in the individualized education 
program (IEP) team meeting that makes a manifestation determination pursuant to the Individuals 
with Disabilities Education Act (20 USC 1415(k)). 

In addition, when notified pursuant to Education Code 48918.1, the district liaison shall assist, 
facilitate, or represent a homeless student experiencing homelessness who is undergoing a 
disciplinary proceeding that could result in the student's expulsion. When notified pursuant to 
Education Code 48915.5, the district liaison shall participate in an individualized education program 
(IEP) team meeting to make a manifestation determination regarding the behavior of a student with 
a disability. 
 

CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 requires CDE to publish a list of district liaisons on its web site. CDE 
collects the name and contact information of district liaisons through the consolidated application 
process, along with information about district compliance with federal program requirements. 

The Superintendent or designee shall inform homeless children and youthstudents experiencing 
homelessness, their parents/guardians, school personnel, service providers, and advocates working 
with homeless families of the duties of the district's liaison. The Superintendent or designee shall 
also provide the name and contact information of the district's liaison to the California Department 
of Education (CDE) for publishing on CDE's web site.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
Enrollment 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 207



 

 

The district shall make placement decisions for homeless students experiencing homelessness 
based on the student's best interest.  ((Education Code 48850; 42 USC 11432) 

In determining a student's best interest, a student experiencing homelessness shall, to the extent 
feasible, be placed in the school of origin, unless the student's parent/guardian or the 
unaccompanied youth requests otherwise.  (Education Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 and 42 USC 11432 specifiesspecify factors that must be 
considered in determining a student's best interest, as provided below. 

InWhen determining the best interest of theany student experiencing homelessness, the district 
shall considergive priority to the request of the student's parent/guardian, or in the case of an 
unaccompanied youth, the request of the student. The student's educational stability and 
opportunity to be educated in the least restrictive educational setting necessary to achieve 
academic progress and other student-centered factors related to the student's best interest, 
including factors related to the impact of mobility on the student's achievement, education, health, 
and safety, giving priority to the request of the student's parent/guardian or, in the case of an 
unaccompanied youth, the youth.  (shall also be considered.  (Education Code 48850; 42 USC 
11432)  

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph presents examples of factors that may be 
considered in making placement decisions based on a student's "best interest," and may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Such factors may include, but are not limited to, the age of the student, the distance of the 
commute and the impact it may have on the student's education, personal safety issues, the 
student's need for special instruction, the length of anticipated stay in the temporary shelter or 
other temporary location, likely area of future housing, school placement of siblings, and the time 
remaining in the school year. 
 
However, placement decisions shall not be based on whether a homeless student experiencing 
homelessness lives with the student's homeless parent/guardian or has been temporarily placed 
elsewhere.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
In the case of an unaccompanied youth, the district liaison shall assist in placement or enrollment 
decisions, give priority to the views of the student, and provide notice to the student of the right to 
appeal.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
In determining a student's best interest, a homeless student shall, to the extent feasible, be placed 
in the school of origin, unless the student's parent/guardian or the unaccompanied youth requests 
otherwise.  (Education Code 48852.7; (42 USC 11432) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.7 and 42 USC 11432 require schools to immediately enroll 
homeless students experiencing homelessness as specified below. In itsUSDOE’s, "Non-
Regulatory Guidance Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program," the USDOE 
recommends that the district take steps to facilitate immediate enrollment such as accepting 
school records directly from families, establishing school-based immunization clinics, and training 
staff on the legal requirements for immediate enrollment. See AR 5111.1 - District Residency. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 208



 

 

Once a placement decision has been made, the principal or designee shall immediately enroll the 
student in the school of choice. The student shall be enrolled even if the student:  (Education Code 
48850, 48852.7; 42 USC 11432)  

1. Has outstanding fees, fines, textbooks, or other items or monies due to the school last 
attended 
  

2. Does not have clothing normally required by the school, such as school uniforms 
  

3. Is unable to produce records normally required for enrollment, such as previous academic 
records, proof of residency, and records of immunization and other required health records 
  

4. Has missed application or enrollment deadlines during any period of homelessness 

The principal or designee shall immediately contact the school last attended by the student to 
obtain the relevant records. If the student needs to obtain immunizations or does not possess 
immunization or other required health records, the principal or designee shall immediately refer the 
parent/guardian to the district liaison for homeless students.  The district liaison shall assist the 
parent/guardian, or the student if the student is an unaccompanied youth, in obtaining the 
necessary immunizations, screenings, or records for the student.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
If the student is placed at a school other than the school of origin or the school requested by the 
student's parent/guardian or the student, if an unaccompanied youth, the Superintendent or 
designee shall provide the parent/guardian or the unaccompanied youth with a written explanation 
of the reasons for the decision, including why placement in the student's school of origin or 
requested school is not in the student's best interest, along with a statement regarding the right to 
appeal the placement decision. The written explanation shall be in a manner and form 
understandable to such parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
At the point of any change or subsequent change in the residence of a homeless student 
experiencing homelessness, the student may continue attending the student's school of origin for 
the duration of the homelessness.  (Education Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432) 
 
To ensure that the homeless student experiencing homelessness has the benefit of matriculating 
with the student's peers in accordance with the established feeder patterns, the following shall 
apply:  (Education Code 48852.7; 42 USC 11432)  

1. If the student is transitioning between grade levels, the student shall be allowed to continue 
in the same attendance area. 
  

2. If the student is transitioning to a middle school or high school, and the school designated 
for matriculation is in another school district, the student shall be allowed to continue to the 
school designated for matriculation in that district. 

  
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.7 and 42 USC 11432 require that homeless students who 
become permanently housed during the school year be allowed to remain in the school of origin 
for the remainder of the school year. Additionally, Education Code 48852.7 allows homeless 
students to remain in the school of origin, or matriculate to a feeder school, even if the student is 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 209



 

 

no longer homeless.experiencing homelessness. The district may revise the following list to 
reflect the grade levels and feeder school patterns in the district. 

If the student's housing status changes before the end of the school year so that the student is no 
longer homelessexperiencing homelessness, the student shall be allowed to stay in the school of 
origin:  (Education Code 48852.7)  

1. Through the duration of the school year if the student is in grades K-8 
  

2. Through graduation if the student is in high school 

Resolving Enrollment Disputes 

CSBA NOTE: In the event that a dispute arises over the district's decision related to student 
eligibility, school selection, or enrollment, the district must comply with the requirements of 42 
USC 11432 and the dispute resolution process established by CDE. CDE's process is described in 
its, "Homeless Education Dispute Resolution Process" letter to districts,," available on CDE's web 
site., provides such guidance. CDE's letterguidance does not specify a hearing process or 
timelines for the district-level dispute resolution process. Thus, the district may revise the 
following section to reflect district practice, provided that the process is consistent with law. 

If a dispute arises over student eligibility, school selection, or enrollment in a particular school, the 
matter shall be referred to the district liaison, who shall carry out the dispute resolution process as 
expeditiously as possible.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
The parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth shall be provided with a written explanation of any 
decisions related to eligibility, school selection, or enrollment and of the right of the 
parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth to appeal such decisions.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional list should be modified to reflect district practice. In 
itsUSDOE’s, "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance," 
the USDOE recommends that the written explanation contain the elements specified below. See 
the accompanying exhibits for a sample explanation and appeal form. 

The written explanation shall include:  

1. A description of the action proposed or refused by the district 
  

2. An explanation of why the action is proposed or refused 
  

3. A description of any other options the district considered and the reasons that any other 
options were rejected 
  

4. A description of any other factors relevant to the district's decision and information related 
to the eligibility or best interest determination including the facts, witnesses, and evidence 
relied upon and their sources 
  

5. Appropriate timelines to ensure any relevant deadlines are not missed 
  

6. Contact information for the district liaison and state coordinator, and a brief description of 
those roles 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 210



 

 

The written explanation shall be complete, as brief as possible, simply stated, and provided in 
language that the parent/guardian or student can understand. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is recommended in the USDOE's "Education for 
Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory Guidance." 

The district liaison may use an informal process as an alternative to formal dispute resolution 
procedures, provided that the parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth have access to the more 
formal process if informal resolution is not successful in resolving the matter. 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is recommended in CDE's, "Homeless Education 
Dispute Resolution Process" letter," guidance to districts. CDE recommends that if the 
parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth is an English Learner, the native language and/or an 
interpreter be used, and/or if additional supports are needed because of a disability, such services 
be made available without charge. 

In working with a student's parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth to resolve an enrollment 
dispute, the district liaison shall:  

1. Inform themthe student’s parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth that they may 
provide written and/or oral documentation to support their position may be provided 
  

2. Inform themthe student’s parents/guardians or unaccompanied youth that they may seek 
the assistance of social services, advocates, and/or service providers in having the dispute 
resolved 
  

3. Provide them a simple form that they may use and turn in to the school to initiate the 
dispute resolution process 
  

4. Provide them a copy of the dispute form they submit for their records 
  

5. Provide them the outcome of the dispute for their records 

When a student’s parent/guardian or an unaccompanied youth involved in the enrollment dispute 
is an English learner, Items #1-5 shall be provided either in the native language of the 
parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth or through an interpreter, and any. Any additional 
support needed because of a disability of that parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth shall be 
made available without a charge. 
 
If a parent/guardian or unaccompanied youth disagrees with the district liaison's enrollment 
decision, the decision may be appealed to the Superintendent. The Superintendent shall make a 
determination within five working days.  
 
CSBA NOTE: In itsCDE’s, "Homeless Education Dispute Resolution Process" letter to districts,," 
CDE describes the process for appealing a district's enrollment decision to the county office of 
education (COE) and CDE. Upon receipt of materials describing the dispute from the district, the 
COE liaison will determine the school selection or enrollment decision within five working days. If 
the dispute remains unresolved or is appealed, the COE liaison will forward the documentation to 
CDE's Homeless Education Program. CDE will notify all parties of the final determination of 
eligibility, school selection, or enrollment within five working days of receipt of the appeal. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 211



 

 

If the parent/guardian chooses to appeal the district's placement decision, the district liaison shall 
forward all written documentation and related paperwork to the liaison for homeless students at 
the county office of education. 
 
CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 provides that, during any dispute over a student's enrollment, the 
student must be allowed to be enrolled in the school in which enrollment is sought during the 
period of all appeals. 42 USC 11434a defines "enrollment" as including attendance in classes and 
full participation in school activities. 

Pending final resolution of the dispute, including all available appeals, the student shall be 
immediately enrolled in the school in which enrollment is sought and shall be allowed to attend 
classes and participate fully in school activities.  (42 USC 11432, 11434a) 
 
Transportation 
 
CSBA NOTE: 42 USC 11432 mandates that districts adopt policies and practices to ensure that 
transportation is provided to homeless students experiencing homelessness, at the request of the 
student's parent/guardian or of the district liaison in the case of an unaccompanied youth, to and 
from the school of origin as specified below. 
 
In itsUSDOE’s, "Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program Non-Regulatory 
Guidance," USDOE states that the law imposes an affirmative obligation to transport homeless 
students experiencing homelessness, even if transportation is not provided to other students. The 
Guidance clarifies that, because the State of California receives funds under McKinney-Vento, all 
districts in California are subject to this requirement. 
 
Federal law does not address the authorization provided by Education Code 39807.5 for the 
district to charge for the cost of home-to-school transportation. However, it is likely that most 
homeless students would be identified as indigent and would therefore be exempt from 
transportation costs. See AR 3250 - Transportation Fees. 

 
The district shall provide transportation for a homeless student experiencing homelessness to and 
from the student's school of origin when the student is residing within the district and the 
parent/guardian, or the district liaison in the case of an unaccompanied youth, requests that such 
transportation be provided.  If the student moves outside of district boundaries, but continues to 
attend the student's school of origin within this district, the Superintendent or designee shall 
consult with the superintendent of the district in which the student is now residing to agree upon a 
method to apportion the responsibility and costs of the transportation.  (42 USC 11432) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 39807.5, as amended by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 
2022), the district is required to waive transportation fees for an unduplicated student, as defined 
in Education Code 42238.02, which includes a student who is eligible for free or reduced-price 
meals, who is classified as an English learner, or who is a foster youth. Since it is likely that most 
students experiencing homelessness would be eligible to receive free meals, and would therefore 
qualify as an unduplicated student, such students would most likely be exempt from transportation 
costs. See BP 3540 Transportation and BP/AR 3250 - Transportation Fees. 
Any fees that the district charges for home-to-school transportation and other transportation as 
expressly provided by law shall be waived for students experiencing homelessness.  (Education 
Code 39807.5) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 212



 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.7 requires that the district provide transportation to a 
formerly homeless student with an IEP only if transportation is a necessary related service. 
Education Code 48852.7 does not supersede or exceed other laws governing special education 
services for eligible homeless students experiencing homelessness. 
 
The following paragraph may be revised if the district chooses to provide transportation to other 
formerly homeless students attending their school of origin. 

The district shall not be obligated to provide transportation to students who continue attending 
their school of origin after they cease to be homelesssecure permanent housing, unless the 
formerly homeless student has an IEP that includes transportation as a necessary related service for 
the student.  (Education Code 48852.7) 
 
Transfer of Coursework and Credits 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Education 
Code 51225.2, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 2022), addresses the transferability 
of coursework and credits completed by a student experiencing homelessness, as provided 
below. 
 
Education Code 51225.2, as amended by SB 532, requires the transferring school to include in 
the student’s educational record a determination of days of enrollment and/or seat time and an 
official transcript with full and partial credits earned, or any measure of full or partial coursework 
being satisfactorily completed. 

When a homeless student experiencing homelessness transfers into a district school, the district 
will receive an official transcript from the transferring school or district which reflects full and 
partial credits and grades earned by the student and includes:  (Education Code 51225.2) 

1. A determination of the days of enrollment and/or seat time, if applicable, for all full and 
partial credits earned based on any measure of full or partial coursework being satisfactorily 
completed 

Partial coursework satisfactorily completed includes any portion of an individual course, even 
if the student did not complete the entire course 

2.  Separate listings for credits and grades earned at each school and local educational agency 
so it is clear where credits and grades were earned 

3.  A complete record of the student’s seat time, including both period attendance and days of 
enrollment 

The district shall transfer the credits and grades from the transferring school’s transcript onto an 
official district transcript in the same manner as described in Item #2, above.  (Education Code 
51225.2)  

If the Principal or designee has knowledge that the transcript from the transferring school may not 
include certain credits or grades, the Principal or designee shall contact the prior school within two 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 213



 

 

business days to request that the full or partial credits be issued, which shall then be issued and 
provided by the prior school within two business days of the request.  (Education Code 51225.2) 

The district shall accept and issue full credit for any coursework that the student has satisfactorily 
completed while attending another public school, a juvenile court school, a charter school, a school 
in a country other than the United States, or a nonpublic, nonsectarian school and.  (Education 
Code 51225.2) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.2, districts may not require a student who has 
completed an entire course to retake the course. 
If the entire course was completed, the district shall not require the student to retake the course.   
(Education Code 51225.2) 
 
If the homeless student did not complete the entire course was not completed at the previous 
school, the student shall be issued partial credit for the coursework completed and shall be required 
to take the uncompleted portion of the course that the student did not complete at the previous 
school. However, the district may require the student to retake the portion of the course 
completed if, in consultation with the holder of educational rights for the student, the district finds 
that the student is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate from high 
school. Whenever partial credit is issued to a homeless student in any particular course, the student 
shall be enrolled in the same or equivalent course, if applicable, so that the student may continue 
and complete the entire course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Although Education Code 51225.2 requires districts to award partial credits to 
homeless students who transfer from school to school, there is no uniform system for calculating 
and awarding partial credits. A recommendation for how to award partial credit is available in the 
"California Child Welfare Council's , “Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice 
Recommendations"," and should be revised to reflect district practice. 

Partial credits shall be awarded on the basis of 0.5 credits for every seven class periods attended 
per subject. If the school is on a block schedule, each block schedule class period attended shall be 
equal to two regular class periods per subject.  Partial credits and grades earned by a student shall 
be included on the student's official transcript within two business days of the district's notification 
of the student's transfer, as required under Education Code 49069.5. 
 
In no event shall the district prevent a homeless student experiencing homelessness from taking or 
retaking a course to meet the eligibility requirements for admission to the California State 
University or the University of California.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 
Applicability of Graduation Requirements 
 
CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Also see BP 
6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. 

 
To obtain a high school diploma, a homeless student experiencing homelessness shall complete all 
courses required by Education Code 51225.3 and fulfill any additional graduation requirements 
established by the Governing Board. 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 214



 

 

However, when a homeless student experiencing homelessness who has completed the second 
year of high school transfers into the district from another school district or transfers between high 
schools within the district, the student shall be exempted from all district-adoptedestablished 
coursework and other district-established graduation requirements, unless the district makes a 
finding that the student is reasonably able to complete the additional requirements in time to 
graduate from high school by the end of the fourth year of high school. Within 30 calendar days of 
the homeless student's transfer, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student, the person 
holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, and the district liaison for homeless 
students of the availability of the exemption and whether the student qualifies for it. If the 
Superintendent or designee fails to provide this notification, the student shall be eligible for the 
exemption once notified, even if the notification occurs after the student is no longer homeless.  
(Education Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, to determine whether 
a student with significant gaps in school attendance is in the third or fourth year of high school, the 
student’s age as compared to the average age of students in the third or fourth year of high school 
may be used. 
To determine whether a homeless To determine whether a student is in the third or fourth year of 
high school, the district shall use either the number of credits the student has earned as of the date 
of the transfer or, the length of the student's school enrollment, or, for a student with significant 
gaps in school attendance, the student’s age as compared to the average age of students in the 
third or fourth year of high school, whichever qualifies the student for the exemption.  (Education 
Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, requires the district to exempt a 
student who is grantedqualifies for an exemption andfrom district-established graduation 
requirements, under the circumstances described below. 
The Superintendent or designee shall notify any homeless If a student experiencing homelessness 
was not properly notified of an exemption, declined the exemption, or was not previously 
exempted, the student or the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the 
student may request the exemption and the Superintendent or designee shall exempt the student 
within 30 days of the request. A student may request the exemption even if the student is no 
longer a student experiencing homelessness.  (Education Code 51225.1)  
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required 
to reevaluate a student’s eligibility for an exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements, as described below. 
When the Superintendent or designee determines that a student who transferred into a district 
school is reasonably able to complete district-established graduation requirements by the end of 
the student's fourth year of high school, the student shall not be exempted from those 
requirements. Within 30 calendar days of the following academic year, the student shall be 
reevaluated based on the student's course completion status at the time, to determine if the 
student continues to be reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation 
requirements in time to graduate by the end of the student's fourth year of high school. Written 
notice as to whether the student then qualifies for exemption shall be provided to the student, the 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, and if applicable, to the 
student's social worker or probation officer.  (Education Code 51225.1)  
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 215



 

 

If, upon reevaluation, it is determined that the student experiencing homelessness is not reasonably 
able to complete the district-established graduation requirements in time to graduate from high 
school by the end of the student’s fourth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall 
provide the student with the option to receive an exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements or stay in school for a fifth year to complete the district-established graduation 
requirements upon agreement with the student, or if under 18 years of age, the person holding the 
right to make educational decisions for the student, and provide notifications in accordance with 
Education Code 51225.1.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required 
to consult with a student experiencing homelessness who is granted an exemption from district-
established graduation requirements and the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, as described below. 
When a student experiencing homelessness is exempted from district-established graduation 
requirements, the Superintendent or designee shall consult with the student and the person holding 
the right to make educational decisions for the student about the following:  (Education Code 
51225.1) 

1. Discussion of how any requirements that are waived willmay affect the student's 
student’s postsecondary education or vocation plans, including the ability to gain 
admission to a postsecondary educational institution  
 

2. Discussion and shall provide information about other options available to the 
student, including, but not limited to, a fifth year of high school, possible credit 
recovery, and any transfer opportunities available through the California Community 
Colleges.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

3. Consideration of the student’s academic data and any other information relevant to 
making an informed decision on whether to accept the exemption 

The district shall not require or request a homeless student experiencing homelessness to transfer 
schools in order to qualify for an exemption and no request for a transfer solely to qualify for an 
exemption shall be shall not grant any request made by a homeless student experiencing 
homelessness, the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student, or the 
district liaison on behalf of the student., for a transfer solely to qualify for an exemption.  
(Education Code 51225.1) 
 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from requiring a If a homeless student 
who is exemptedeligible for an exemption from localdistrict-established graduation requirements 
from accepting the exemption or being denied enrollment, as described below. 
The Superintendent or designee shall not require a student experiencing homelessness who is 
eligible for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, and would otherwise 
be entitled to remain in attendance at the school, to accept the exemption or be denied enrollment 
in, or the ability to complete, courses for which the student is otherwise eligible, including courses 
necessary to attend an institution of higher education, regardless of whether such courses are 
required for statewide graduation requirements.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 216



 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from revoking a student’s exemption 
from district-established graduation requirements. 
If a student experiencing homelessness is exempted from district-established graduation 
requirements, the exemption shall not be revoked. Additionally, the exemption shall continue to 
apply after the student is no longer homelessexperiencing homelessness or if the student transfers 
to another school, including a charter school, or school district.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
If the Superintendent or designee determines that a homeless student is reasonably able to 
complete district graduation requirements within the fifth year of high school, the Superintendent 
or designee shall:  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, the district may not require or request a 
student who is exempted from district-established graduation requirements and completes 
statewide coursework requirements before the end of the student’s fourth year of high school to 
graduate early, as described below. 
The Superintendent or designee shall not require or request a student experiencing homelessness 
who is exempted from district-established graduation requirements and who completes the 
statewide coursework requirements before the end of the fourth year of high school, and would 
otherwise be entitled to remain in school, to graduate before the end of the student’s fourth year 
of high school.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, if the district 
determines that a student who is eligible for the exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements is reasonably able to complete those requirements in time to graduate from high 
school by the end of the student’s fifth year, the district is required to provide the following. 
Upon making a finding that a student experiencing homelessness is reasonably able to complete 
district-established graduation requirements within the fifth year of high school, the 
Superintendent or designee shall:  (Education Code 51225.1)  

1. Inform Consult with the student and, if under 18 years of age, the person holding the right 
to make educational decisions for the student, of the option available to the student to 
remain in school for a fifth year to complete the district'sdistrict-established graduation 
requirements and how that will affect the student’s ability to gain admission to a 
postsecondary educational institution 
  

2. ProvideConsult with and provide information to the homeless student about transfer 
opportunities available through the California Community Colleges 
  

3. Upon agreement with the homeless student or with the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the student if under 18 years of age, permit the student to stay in 
school for a fifth year to complete the district'sdistrict-established graduation requirements 

4. Consult with the student or with the person holding the right to make educational decisions 
for the student of the option to remain in the student’s school of origin 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, until January 1, 2028, 
when a student experiencing homelessness who has completed the second year of high school 
transfers into the district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the 
district, and is not reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation requirements, but 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 217



 

 

is reasonably able to complete the statewide coursework requirements, within the student’s fifth 
year of high school, the district is required to exempt the student from the district-established 
graduation requirements and provide the student with the option to remain in school for a fifth year 
to complete the statewide requirements. In such situations, consultation with the student and the 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the student is required, as provided 
below. 
When a student experiencing homelessness who has completed the second year of high school 
transfers into the district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the 
district, and is not reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation requirements 
within the student’s fifth year of high school but is reasonably able to complete the statewide 
coursework requirements within the fifth year of high school, the student shall be exempted from 
all district-established graduation requirements and be provided with the option to remain in school 
for a fifth year to complete the statewide requirements. In such situations, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consult with the student and the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the student, regarding the following:  (Education Code 51225.1) 

1. The student’s option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete statewide 
coursework requirements 
 

2. The effect of waiving the district-established requirements and remaining in school for a 
fifth year on the student’s postsecondary education or vocation plans, including the 
ability to gain admission to an institution of higher education 
 

3. Other options available to the student, including, but not limited to, possible credit 
recovery, and any transfer opportunities available through the California Community 
Colleges 
 

4. The student’s academic data and any other information relevant to making an informed 
decision on whether to accept the exemption and option to remain in school for a fifth 
year to complete the statewide coursework requirements 

Eligibility for Extracurricular Activities 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is required pursuant to Education Code 48850. See BP 
6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities for additional eligibility requirements. 

A homeless student experiencing homelessness who enrolls in any district school shall have access 
to extracurricular and enrichment activities that are available to all students in the school, including 
but not limited to, interscholastic sports administered by the California Interscholastic Federation.  
(Education Code 48850) 
 
Notification, Complaints, and Posting Requirements 
 
Information regarding the educational rights of homeless students experiencing homelessness, as 
specified in Education Code 51225.1 and 51225.2, shall be included in the annual uniform 
complaint procedures notification distributed to students, parents/guardians, employees, and other 
interested parties pursuant to 5 CCR 4622.  (Education Code 51225.1, 51225.2) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 and 51225.2 provide that complaints of noncompliance 
with specified requirements related to the educational rights of homeless students experiencing 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 218



 

 

homelessness may be filed in accordance with the uniform complaint procedures (UCP) specified 
in 5 CCR 4600-4670. As with other complaints covered under the UCP, a complainant may 
appeal the district's decision to CDE and, if the district or CDE finds any merit in the complaint, 
the district must provide a remedy to the affected student. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform 
Complaint Procedures. 

Any complaint that the district has not complied with requirements regarding the education of 
homeless students experiencing homelessness, as specified in Education Code 51225.1 or 51225.2, 
may be filed in accordance with the district's procedures in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint 
Procedures.  

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48852.6, as added by AB 27, requires the district and each district 
school that maintains a web site to post on the district and school web sites information related 
to homeless students' the education of students experiencing homelessness, as specified in the 
following paragraphs. 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a list of the district's liaison(s) and the contact 
information for such liaison(s), as well as specific information on homelessness, including, but not 
limited to, information regarding the educational rights and resources available to personsstudents 
experiencing homelessness, are posted on the district's web site.  (Education Code 48852.6) 
 
Each district school that has a web site shall also post the contact information for the district liaison 
and the name and contact information of any employee or other person under contract with the 
school who assists the district liaison in completing the liaison's duties pursuant to 42 USC 11432.  
(Education Code 48852.6) 
 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

Ed. Code 39807.5 Payment of transportation costs by parents 

Ed. Code 48850 Academic achievement of students in foster care and 
homeless children 

Ed. Code 48850-48859 Education of foster youth and homeless students 

Ed. Code 48851 Identification of homeless children and youths and 
unaccompanied youths; housing questionnaire 

Ed. Code 48851.3 Homeless education program policies; liaison responsibilities 

Ed. Code 48851.5 Local educational agency liaison for homeless children and 
youths 

Ed. Code 48852.3 Monitoring for compliance with chapter 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 219



 

 

Ed. Code 48852.5 Notice of educational rights of homeless students 

Ed. Code 48852.6 Information regarding homelessness 

Ed. Code 48852.7 Education of homeless students; immediate enrollment 

Ed. Code 48859 Definitions 

Ed. Code 48915.5 Recommended expulsion; homeless student with disabilities 

Ed. Code 48918.1 Notice of recommended expulsion 

Ed. Code 48985 Notices to parents in language other than English 

Ed. Code 51225.1-51225.3 Graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 52052 Accountability; numerically significant student subgroups 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1087vv Free Application for Federal Student Aid; definitions 

20 USC 1232g Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) of 1974 

20 USC 1400-1482 Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

20 USC 6311 State plan 

42 USC 11431-11435 McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act 

42 USC 12705 Cranston-Gonzalez National Affordable Housing Act; state 
and local strategies 

Management Resources Description 
California Child Welfare Council 
Publication 

Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations, 
September 2013 

California Department of Education 
Publication 

2021-22 Federal Program Monitoring Instrument, May 2021 

California Department of Education 
Publication 

Homeless Education Dispute Resolution Process, March 
2020 

National Center for Homeless Education 
Publication 

Homeless Liaison Toolkit, 2020 

U.S. Department of Education Guidance Education for Homeless Children and Youths Program, Non-
Regulatory Guidance, August 2018 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website California State University 

Website University of California 

Website California Department of Education, Homeless Children and 
Youth Education 

Website National Center for Homeless Education at SERVE 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 220

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.calstate.edu/#
http://www.universityofcalifornia.edu/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/hs/cy#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/hs/cy#
http://www.serve.org/nche#


 

 

Website National Homelessness Law Center 

Website U.S. Department of Education - Education for Homeless 
Children and Youths Grants for State and Local Activities 

Website California Community Colleges 

Website California Interscholastic Federation 

Website California Child Welfare Council 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0415 Equity 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113-E(1) District And School Web Sites 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1400 Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies And The 
Schools 

3250 Transportation Fees 

3250 Transportation Fees 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3541 Transportation Routes And Services 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 221

http://www.nlchp.org/#
http://www.ed.gov/programs/homeless/index.html#
http://www.ed.gov/programs/homeless/index.html#
http://www.cccco.edu/#
http://www.cifstate.org/#
https://www.chhs.ca.gov/home/committees/california-child-welfare-council#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9fOxm6YSOsjBQ7YLPgBzQA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4uOm9WPslsh0HwKjuRwh5qslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qec3Iw1WslshtHfJqvplusOlraHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DcTQeLZeVG26t4voqKhgCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=27plusDH66jJeD8B9wRKlHKDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshFRNdBJStNNVwh2rRboCoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=t9snxp43GGvfEbZ8QVme6g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uYEDmk5Fr2z75plus96hckmhQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KDUyqBYnGCwCDfw2QftILg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NLobErU7hhc9VOjLjaZ3CA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fTpluslcL5iFuLLjmC2l4HbEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4VNpeeLdGX8wrSubvpm0yw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rNSL8slshinCEPQl7ulKKagGg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8EsZBYTyuiVt1v9tIDw5cA==#


 

 

3550 Food Service/Child Nutrition Program 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4131 Staff Development 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4231 Staff Development 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4331 Staff Development 

5111 Admission 

5111 Admission 

5111.1 District Residency 

5111.1 District Residency 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5125.1 Release Of Directory Information 

5125.1 Release Of Directory Information 

5125.1-E(1) Release Of Directory Information 

5125.2 Withholding Grades, Diploma Or Transcripts 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.26 Tuberculosis Testing 

5141.31 Immunizations 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 222

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3A7tJUfmrHf9bM489BZt9g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1zDJaxIWlv0mdfzbd8t3lw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CBGe4taGQPdslshzqHPoEja6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eNDmEdm3plusuplus77uyv1iV35w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=p97l9Vg6L6VuXUtUx98Jmw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w3AXoA8vl7AC7HLfttplusmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7dZKTA7YltHaLiqReOqUDA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QTIdHbpzxNquxe6rBplusplusLEw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TdDslshPM3FElcWplus1cDGhZCfQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yb71bRfbKZ84IdbNcRM8slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pluspdmjufS9K5hslshFG25hwQyw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hplusTLp1ko2H2hPw5RS0rmhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Abplusfvw9xWNiOsDUGKupp0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PkgXnAslh2adolJDqdBRow==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oJmDaeMYv7Ek8ydix0OaXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z6rkvP9islshqlxTJHeU6PmTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GnplusEeg4OwP82YslshCfUJFplus8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BSRswan5tzMbq7LMRdlt9A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w2rrFVAmQo4vjeURorkplusDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R2sOzhydv7S3yougeNFlag==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DILuIUSJFtLZbplusslshm4QQhPg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MoM6ufspzw2QWc5WIKKlBw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VVfB24gOjvoyZyuDyy0Exg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vwZ15jLubbv8aAslshgxLjFzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yslshbc2Eyo2OcE9ZRNyySrZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=maGYVEfslshL8O3Cg5ozTfL6A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sZeVy3bCBiVfdAHMZg16eA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsN81evOIfdNLM5PT1incw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6pxjfiENeArHTQ0Lt49UNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MMslshXfslshFhMg7mL69eSUZF3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oWpPevpF0RSfrCMXcZBnJA==#


 

 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.32 Health Screening For School Entry 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.2 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

6011 Academic Standards 

6120 Response To Instruction And Intervention 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.1 Procedural Safeguards And Complaints For Special Education 

6159.1 Procedural Safeguards And Complaints For Special Education 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 223

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UNfYzcqh1j6xB9A03C6x5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zRx5hcj21n42GlS90oFK4g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HLAhfmqm0chyHdbqSLcTzg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FSzgGHjlLjQNUZfaqB9DTQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CyKYplusSV3BFs9rslsh2QUxtPAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhMplusqG6koiIWw233cKrvxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshomslshxRRJ6sOt88rp6Vo0ng==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1dDD5zktSwyOojOfjp9izw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hxEDHslshgH5Sz6cuyQiledww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Dmdslsh9hbtRECaAzEQK5thw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3sWTWgcyt3qIk4BjS3SFw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nFRD4NplusIJG2Jfm31Of07dg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DKYXqVv74EMknNkW5Qzplusaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Zd5keyTeOFsdJyvFb8I2XQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=V6JbLS1Y9v2NrbslshcplusUuOHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NI2tvDgslzr09NJlnALYAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MJQZpvWMfiOe7slshSNWNvKCg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wB3oyPCFWtXKgbLkObOplusCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhGTCA85aOSwplus413BaBpluseQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i7slshs2reTt93slshsCyVZP4slsh8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7SipxldAvMplusBN2DuaqiOrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0GZqEm2GslshEZc45SCR5bKfw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pW68sgrzKSUPuDWHfxmvDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#


 

 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6171 Title I Programs 

6171 Title I Programs 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6190 Evaluation Of The Instructional Program 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 224

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4tVagLqFnUH7UplusEXB5g44g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1CCoun1Bnvfcc9MJVDsj8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6ykDsajB8QSvDwY2aIgGvw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LzuwgJ1w3DeYEBxnV9ZMNA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GWszU9twzA8zAZKMROeKOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Q0j366dzed9oHmPlE950SA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZOZk3Y8BFz7f0U9jOggoJg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=auqK3bZBex4hGZO5qfuMxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xHRiJ97CcSVAjB1hdRdtDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cOHicFEApoSjylE7ucviOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JEQXheHkp1CE8PDRKZcsLQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wgplusBV89WInKZ3kkHOFomYQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lKQtMBkFJlmVslshwvTmvNC9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qqIaj402slsh8xbziO5W71XIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uYgevBzNmrqxVK33EOQfxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8a5RCEWkAYmzQxd1TQVATQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OLHwkplusY4AHr1Y5iZP1wtslshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZu0HaC44A4Wsk19drDyCQ==#


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 6173.1: Education For Foster Youth Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2008 | Last Revised Date: 1203/01/20132023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 1203/01/20132023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 42238.02 and 42238.03 provide supplemental and concentration 
grants within the local control funding formula based on the number and concentration of 
unduplicated counts of students who are foster youth, who are English learners, and/or who are 
eligible for free or reduced-price meals; see BP/AR 3100 - Budget. In addition, Education Code 
52060-52077 require districts to develop a local control and accountability plan (LCAP) which 
must be aligned to specific state priorities and any additional local priorities, and which must 
contain annual goals for all students and for each "numerically significant" student subgroup and 
the specific actions to be taken to achieve each goal; see BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and 
Accountability Plan. 
 
Education Code 48850-48859 (the AB 490 Educational Rights and Stability Act of 2003) create 
obligations for districts regarding the education of foster youth, including the right of foster youth 
to continue attending their school of origin and the requirement to ensure that foster youth have 
access to the same academic resources, services, and extracurricular and enrichment activities 
that are available to all students. See the accompanying administrative regulation.  
 
While the requirements of the federal McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 USC 11431-
11435) may apply to foster youth in certain situations, such as when they are living in emergency 
or transitional shelters (see BP/AR 6173 - Education for Homeless Children), Education Code 
48850-48859 extend services to youth at any time when in foster care. The following policy may 
be revised to reflect district practice.  

The Governing Board recognizes that foster youth may face significant barriers to achieving 
academic success due to their family circumstances, disruption to their educational program, and 
their emotional, social, and other health needs.  To enable such students to achieve state and 
district academic standards, the Superintendent or designee shall provide them with full access to 
the district's educational program and implement strategies identified as necessary for the 
improvement of the academic achievement of foster youth in the district's local control and 
accountability plan (LCAP). that may be addressed with the provision of a safe, positive learning 
environment that is free from discrimination and harassment and that promotes students' self-
esteem and academic achievement.   

The Superintendent or designee shall provide foster youth with full access to the district's 
educational program and implement strategies necessary for the improvement of the academic 
achievement of foster youth as identified in the district's local control and accountability plan 
(LCAP). The Superintendent or designee shall also develop strategies to build a foster youth's 
feeling of connectedness with school, including, but not limited to, strategies that promote positive 
discipline and conflict resolution, the development of resiliency and interpersonal skills, and the 
involvement of foster parents, group home administrators, and/or other caretakers in school 
programs and activities. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48850, placement determinations for foster youth 
mustare required to be made in accordance with the student's "best interest." In addition, 
Education Code 48853.5 requires each district to designate a staff person as a foster care liaison 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 225



to help ensure proper school placement and, enrollment., and transfer. See the accompanying 
administrative regulation.  

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that placement decisions for foster youth are based 
on the students' best interests as defined in law and as specified in the accompanying 
administrative regulation.  To that end, he/shethe Superintendent or designee  shall designate a 
staff person as the district liaison for foster youth to help facilitate the enrollment, placement, and 
transfer of foster youth. 
 
The Superintendent or designee and district liaison shall ensure that all appropriate staff, including, 
but not limited to, each principal, school registrar, and attendance clerk, receive training on the 
enrollment, placement, and transfer of foster youth and other related rights. 
 
The Board desires to provide foster youth with a safe, positive learning environment that is free 
from discrimination and harassment and that promotes students' self-esteem and academic 
achievement.  The Superintendent or designee shall develop strategies to build a foster youth's 
feeling of connectedness with his/her school, including, but not limited to, strategies that promote 
positive discipline and conflict resolution, the development of resiliency and interpersonal skills, 
and the involvement of foster parents, group home administrators, and/or other caretakers in 
school programs and activities. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853.5 encourages districts to collaborate with other agencies to 
provide services to foster youth. The following optional paragraph should be modified to reflect 
district practice.  

To address the needs of foster youth and help ensure the maximum utilization of available funds, 
the Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with local agencies and officials including, but not 
limited to, the county placing agency, social services, probation officers, and juvenile court officers.  
The Superintendent or designee shall explore the feasibility of entering into agreements with these 
groups to coordinate services and protect the rights of foster youth. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52060, each district is required to update the LCAP by 
July 1 each year. The following optional paragraph uses the LCAP review timeline and may be 
revised to reflect district practice.  

At least annually and in accordance with the established timelines, the Superintendent or designee 
shall report to the Board on the outcomes for foster youth regarding the goals and specific actions 
identified in the LCAP, including, but not limited to, school attendance, student achievement test 
results, promotion and retention rates by grade level, graduation rates, and suspension/expulsion 
rates. As necessary, evaluation data shall be used to determine and recommend revisions to the 
LCAP for improving or increasing services for foster youth.  

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 
2022), districts are required to annually report to the California Department of Education regarding 
the number of foster youth who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from the 
district-established graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework 
requirements, as specified below. 

Annually, the Superintendent or designee shall report to the California Department of Education, in 
accordance with Education Code 51225.1, the number of foster youth graduating from the fourth 
or fifth year of high school who, for the prior school year, graduated with an exemption from 
district-established graduation requirements that are in addition to statewide coursework 
requirements.   

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 226



Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

Ed. Code 32228-3222839807.5 Student safety and violence preventionPayment of 
transportation costs by parents/guardians; waiver for foster 
youth 

Ed. Code 42238.01-42238.07 Local control funding formula 

Ed. Code 42920-4292542926 Foster children educational services 

Ed. Code 48645-4864648647 Juvenile court schools 

Ed. Code 48850-48859 Education of foster youth and homeless students 

Ed. Code 48915.5 Recommended expulsion; homeless studentfoster youth with 
disabilities 

Ed. Code 48918.1 Notice of recommended expulsion 

Ed. Code 49061 Definitions; directory information 

Ed. Code 49069.5 Students in foster care; grades and credits 

Ed. Code 49076 Access to student records 

Ed. Code 51225.1 Exemption from district graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.2 Course credits 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Ed. Code 56055 Rights of foster parents pertaining to foster child'syouth’s  
education 

H&S Code 120341 Foster youth; school placement and immunization records 

H&S Code 1522.41 Training and certification of group home administrators 

H&S Code 1529.2 Training of licensed foster parents 

W&I Code 16000-16014 Foster care placement 

W&I Code 300 Minors subject to jurisdiction 

W&I Code 309 Investigation and release of child 

W&I Code 317 Appointment of legal counsel 

W&I Code 361 Limitations on parental control 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 227



W&I Code 366.27 Educational decision by relative providing living 
arrangements 

W&I Code 602 Minors violating law; ward of court 

W&I Code 726 Limitations on parental control 

W&I Code 727 Order of care; ward of court 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1415 Procedural safeguards 

20 USC 6311 State plan 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

42 USC 11431-11435 McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act 

42 USC 670-679b Federal assistance for foster care programs 

Management Resources Description 
Alliance for Children's Rights Publication Foster Youth Education Toolkit, December 2016 

California Child Welfare Council 
Publication 

Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations 

California Foster Youth Education Task 
Force Publication 

California Foster Youth Education Law Fact Sheets, January 
2021 

Cities, Counties and Schools Partnership 
Pub.Publication 

Our Children: Emancipating Foster Youth, A Community 
Action Guide 

CSBA Publication Our Foster Youth: What School Boards Can Do, May 2016 

CSBA Publication Foster Youth: Supports for Success, Governance Brief, May 
2016 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Ensuring Educational Stability for Children in Foster Care, 
Non-Regulatory Guidance, June 2016 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website Alliance for Children's Rights 

Website Foster Ed 

Website National Center for Youth Law 

Website California Department of Education, Foster Youth Services 

Website California Department of Social Services, Foster Youth 
Ombudsman Office 

Website California Foster Youth Education Task Force 

Website California Youth Connection 

Website Cities Counties and Schools Partnership 

Website CSBA 

Website California Child Welfare Council 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 228

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.kids-alliance.org/#
http://foster-ed.org/#
https://youthlaw.org/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/pf/fy#
http://www.fosteryouthhelp.ca.gov/#
http://www.fosteryouthhelp.ca.gov/#
http://www.cfyetf.org/#
http://www.calyouthconn.org/site/cyc#
https://www.ca-ilg.org/ccs-partnership#
http://www.csba.org/#
https://www.chhs.ca.gov/home/committees/california-child-welfare-council#


Cross References 

Code Description 
0200 Goals For The School District 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0415 Equity 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1400 Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies And The 
Schools 

3100 Budget 

3100 Budget 

3250 Transportation Fees 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3540 Transportation 

3541 Transportation Routes And Services 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

4131 Staff Development 

4231 Staff Development 

4331 Staff Development 

5111 Admission 

5111 Admission 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 229

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PR2DMZPNTP6thfLtpbD3bQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9fOxm6YSOsjBQ7YLPgBzQA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cUDRpPGq33oE7TVGVbs7UQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VT1THkIzJRxMabQA5MDekg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4uOm9WPslsh0HwKjuRwh5qslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qec3Iw1WslshtHfJqvplusOlraHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uUslsh3GplusdkFV3JQ4gsdaQVvA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusqbNfnXnpWElcGBEwkM0Jg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KDUyqBYnGCwCDfw2QftILg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NLobErU7hhc9VOjLjaZ3CA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fTpluslcL5iFuLLjmC2l4HbEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4VNpeeLdGX8wrSubvpm0yw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zsmfw6wNxm7mDZVOY77g5A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rNSL8slshinCEPQl7ulKKagGg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1zDJaxIWlv0mdfzbd8t3lw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CBGe4taGQPdslshzqHPoEja6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w3AXoA8vl7AC7HLfttplusmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TdDslshPM3FElcWplus1cDGhZCfQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hplusTLp1ko2H2hPw5RS0rmhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Abplusfvw9xWNiOsDUGKupp0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PkgXnAslh2adolJDqdBRow==#


5111.1 District Residency 

5111.1 District Residency 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5116.1 Intradistrict Open Enrollment 

5116.1 Intradistrict Open Enrollment 

5117 Interdistrict Attendance 

5117 Interdistrict Attendance 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5123 Promotion/Acceleration/Retention 

5123 Promotion/Acceleration/Retention 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5125.2 Withholding Grades, Diploma Or Transcripts 

5131 Conduct 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5137 Positive School Climate 

5138 Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.26 Tuberculosis Testing 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.32 Health Screening For School Entry 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5141.6 School Health Services 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 230

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oJmDaeMYv7Ek8ydix0OaXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z6rkvP9islshqlxTJHeU6PmTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GnplusEeg4OwP82YslshCfUJFplus8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BSRswan5tzMbq7LMRdlt9A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w2rrFVAmQo4vjeURorkplusDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ihWnqbSkI1slshkh6mAES9inA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KyPqS3GitJApmkEwXyg68Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DSTciBcnlZxMcG4DuhePeA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5vFnaFC1iqEHZWBVC1nJJw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8uSrrmfzuPYOLH6fdRslshCIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dfqSopq8B9jy5hkP64NyGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pC07hRm5OTVNBTFziA2t0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6e105aIWDx9V9B8GBslsh0OHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R2sOzhydv7S3yougeNFlag==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DILuIUSJFtLZbplusslshm4QQhPg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yslshbc2Eyo2OcE9ZRNyySrZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mVu5zcV6CslshzyAlplus67gnICg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYNplus5ZjslshT9lZ83gplusqks3slshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dml8peO3bkBelUMzEToBig==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YsXVVuDMJqLl9k7d04hpTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yVSqxgOvlWVwpCrBB5jICA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=maGYVEfslshL8O3Cg5ozTfL6A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sZeVy3bCBiVfdAHMZg16eA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FbLkRReAyqkprjye9UnWZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9f4iWVyXtiTXFIZlxRsXOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsN81evOIfdNLM5PT1incw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6pxjfiENeArHTQ0Lt49UNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MMslshXfslshFhMg7mL69eSUZF3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oWpPevpF0RSfrCMXcZBnJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UNfYzcqh1j6xB9A03C6x5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zRx5hcj21n42GlS90oFK4g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HLAhfmqm0chyHdbqSLcTzg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FSzgGHjlLjQNUZfaqB9DTQ==#


5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.2 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

6011 Academic Standards 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 
Special Education 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 
Special Education 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 231

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CyKYplusSV3BFs9rslsh2QUxtPAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhMplusqG6koiIWw233cKrvxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pdkfplusVd4aCLKEuPfNY5dslshg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i3Ze0fvagIDL9VHHWyJjOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=h94TPKkDBYT22l40plusWVBwg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1QEeplusxMdOsIYdSCedXofTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshomslshxRRJ6sOt88rp6Vo0ng==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1dDD5zktSwyOojOfjp9izw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hxEDHslshgH5Sz6cuyQiledww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Dmdslsh9hbtRECaAzEQK5thw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ac5UAppluswlfDnAW06l1yNNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3sWTWgcyt3qIk4BjS3SFw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kmepecduPHoiwuwUZw4nrQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=N3h66HEkPzMkVVzPyT2qRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=V6JbLS1Y9v2NrbslshcplusUuOHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NI2tvDgslzr09NJlnALYAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MJQZpvWMfiOe7slshSNWNvKCg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wB3oyPCFWtXKgbLkObOplusCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhGTCA85aOSwplus413BaBpluseQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i7slshs2reTt93slshsCyVZP4slsh8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7SipxldAvMplusBN2DuaqiOrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=soqgbyMbgUslshaql65hslshc2mQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=soqgbyMbgUslshaql65hslshc2mQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=is7rTqlZfCWBCgCwq2e6slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=is7rTqlZfCWBCgCwq2e6slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#


6159.4 Behavioral Interventions For Special Education Students 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6164.4 Identification And Evaluation Of Individuals For Special 
Education 

6164.4 Identification And Evaluation Of Individuals For Special 
Education 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6184  Continuation Education 

6190 Evaluation Of The Instructional Program 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 232

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UeNHcYKo3khhYjo4y3CAHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4tVagLqFnUH7UplusEXB5g44g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1CCoun1Bnvfcc9MJVDsj8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6ykDsajB8QSvDwY2aIgGvw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hRRzim9xQ09lkyUll1yyZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hRRzim9xQ09lkyUll1yyZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u8Niv1RQpluslJaVp3XlhkOLg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u8Niv1RQpluslJaVp3XlhkOLg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kzw1xBMajLydvyUH73nR0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=AqvvLX58MhDZU5pluscdL0ohQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=auqK3bZBex4hGZO5qfuMxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xHRiJ97CcSVAjB1hdRdtDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jt9mkoQRBFlXCVaGWzKNiA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lNZnrRBRVUhzXlKE8pIZlQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mTG9PgOthslsha517kslshsQ9M7g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j5LGCGjBsNWPz2OXPZIslshxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wgplusBV89WInKZ3kkHOFomYQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lKQtMBkFJlmVslshwvTmvNC9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qqIaj402slsh8xbziO5W71XIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OLHwkplusY4AHr1Y5iZP1wtslshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZu0HaC44A4Wsk19drDyCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Fu4yQLBRZxTqW3v8pbl0A==#


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 6173.1: Education For Foster Youth Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 12/01/2013 | Last Revised Date: 0603/01/20222023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0603/01/20222023 

 

 
Definitions 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 42238.01 and 48853.5, as amended by AB 1055181 
(Ch. 28752, Statutes of 2021),2022), define "foster youth" has the same meaning," as the term is 
definedreflected in Education Code 42238.01, as amended by AB 167 (Ch. 252, Statutes of 2021).   
See Items #4 and 5 belowthe following paragraph.  

Foster youth, foster child, or student in foster care means any of the following:  (Education Code 
42238.01, 48853.5)  

1. 1. A child who is the subject of a petition filed pursuant to Welfare and Institutions 
Code 300, whether or not the child has been removed from the child’s home by the juvenile 
court pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 319 or 361. 
  

2.  A child who is the subject of a petition filed pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 602, 
whether or not the child has been removed from the child’s home 

2. 3. A child who is the subject of a petition filed pursuant to Welfare and Institutions 
Code 602, has been removed from the child’s home by the juvenile court pursuant to 
Welfare and Institutions Code 727, and is in foster care as defined by Welfare and 
Institutions Code 727.4(d). )  

3. 4. A nonminor who is under the transition jurisdiction of a juvenile court, as described 
in Welfare and Institutions Code 450, and satisfies the criteria specified in Education Code 
42238.01.   

5. A child who has been removed from the youth’s home pursuant to Welfare and Institutions 
Code 309   

4. 6. A dependent child of the court of an Indian tribe, consortium of tribes, or tribal 
organization who is the subject of a petition filed in the tribal court pursuant to the court’s 
jurisdiction in accordance with the tribe’s law 
 

5. 7. A child who is the subject of a voluntary placement agreement, as defined in 
Welfare and Institutions Code 11400(p) 
 

CSBA NOTE: In instances where the rights of the parent/guardian have been limited, the court 
may appoint an educational representative on a temporary or long-term basis to make educational 
decisions for the student. 

Person holding the right to make educational decisions means a responsible adult appointed by a court 
pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 361 or 726. 
 

School of origin means the school that the foster youth attended when permanently housed or the 
school in which the foster youth was last enrolled. If the school the foster youth attended when 
permanently housed is different from the school in which the foster youth was last enrolled, or if 
there is another school that the foster youth attended within the preceding 15 months and with 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 233



which the foster youth is connected and that the foster youth attended within the preceding 15 
months, the district liaison for foster youth shall determine, in the best interests of the foster youth, 
which school shall be deemed the school of origin. This determination shall be made in consultation 
with, and with the agreement of, the foster youth and the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the foster youth. shall determine, in the best interests of the foster youth, 
the school that shall be deemed the school of origin.  (Education Code 48853.5) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 expresses the legislative intent that the "best interests" of a 
foster youth include educational stability as well as placement in the least restrictive educational 
programsetting necessary to achieve academic progress, as provided below. 

In addition, pursuant to 20 USC 6311, determination of a student's "best interest" requires 
consideration of all factors relating to the student's best interest, including the appropriateness of 
the current educational setting and the proximity to the school in which the student is enrolled at 
the time of placement. 

Best interests of a foster youth means that, in making educational and school placement decisions for 
a foster youth, consideration is given to, among other factors, the proximity to the school at the 
time of placement, appropriateness of the educational setting, educational stability, the opportunity 
to be educated in the least restrictive educational setting necessary to achieve academic progress, 
and the foster youth's access to academic resources, services, and extracurricular and enrichment 
activities that are available to all district students.  (Education Code 48850, 48853; 20 USC 6311) 

District Liaison 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, districts are required to designate a staff 
person as the educational liaison for foster youth. The person may be the same individual 
designated as the liaison for homeless students as required by 42 USC 11432; see AR 6173 - 
Education for Homeless Children. In addition, Education Code 48853.5 requires that, for districts 
operating a foster youth services program, the liaison be affiliated with that program. The duties 
of the liaison are as specified below. 

The Superintendent designates the following position as the district's liaison for foster youth:  
(Education Code 48853.5) 

Director of Student Services 
435 Hillcrest Avenue, Pacific Grove, CA 93950
831-646-6523________________________________________________ 

The liaison for foster youth shall:  

1. 1. Ensure and facilitate the proper educational placement, enrollment in school, and 
checkout from school of students in foster care  (Education Code 48853.5) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 234



CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48645.5 requires districts to accept for credit full or partial 
coursework completed in a public school or nonpublic nonsectarian school or agency in addition 
to a juvenile court school; see the section below entitled "Transfer of Coursework and Credits." 

 

2. 2. Ensure proper transfer of credits, records, and grades when students in foster care 
transfer from one school to another or from one district to another  (Education Code 
48645.5, 48853.5) 
 
When a student in foster care is enrolling in a district school, the liaison shall contact, within 
two business days of the student’s request for enrollment, the school last attended by the 
student to obtain, within two business days, all academic and other records.  When a foster 
youth is transferring to a new school, the liaison shall provide the student's records to the 
new school within two business days of receiving the new school's request.  (Education 
Code 48853.5) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48915.5, and 48918.1, the district 
liaison is required to invite or notifyas amended by AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), a foster 
youth'syouth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and the appropriate official of the county child 
welfare agency in certain circumstances when social worker have the same rights as a 
parent/guardian to receive a suspension notice, expulsion- notice, manifestation determination 
notice, involuntary transfer notice, and other documents and related proceedings are pending 
against the foster youth. For specific situations requiring such invitation or notice, seeinformation. 
See AR 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process, AR 5144.2 – Suspension/Expulsion 
(Students with Disabilities), and BP/AR 6184 – Continuation Education. 

3. 3. Notify a foster youth's educational rights holder, attorney, and the representative of 
the appropriate county child welfare agency,social worker when required by law for a foster 
youth who is undergoing any expulsion or other disciplinary proceeding including a 
manifestation determination for a foster youth who is a student with a disability, prior to a 
change in the foster youth's placement.  (Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48915.5, 
48918.1) 

CSBA NOTE: Items #4-8 below are optional and should be modified to reflect district practice. 

4. 4. As needed, make appropriate referrals to ensure that students in foster care receive 
necessary special education services and services under Section 504 of the federal 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 
  

5.  5. As needed, ensure that students in foster care receive appropriate school-based 
services, such as counseling and health services, supplemental instruction, and after-school 
services 
  

6.  6. Develop protocols and procedures for creating awareness for district staff, including 
principals, school registrars, and attendance clerks, of the requirements for the proper 
enrollment, placement, and transfer of foster youth 

CSBA NOTE: Optional itemItem #7 establishes the responsibility of the district liaison to 
collaborate with other local agencies to coordinate services for foster youth. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 42920.5-42921 establish, the Foster Youth Services Coordinating 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 235



Program and provideprovides funding for a county office of education or consortium of county 
offices of education to coordinate educational support for foster youth among the districts within 
their jurisdiction. As part of the program, such county offices must develop and implement a 
coordinating plan for purposes of establishing guiding principles and protocols to provide supports 
for foster care students. To the extent possible, such a plan must include, but is not limited to, a 
description of how the program will establish ongoing collaboration among local educational 
agencies, county child welfare agencies, and county probation departments to determine the 
proper educational placement of foster youth. In addition, pursuant to Education Code 42921, if a 
district annually certifies in writing that it is unable, using any other state, federal, local, or private 
funds, to provide tutoring, mentoring, and counseling for foster youth, it may enter into a 
temporary agreement with the foster youth services coordinating program to provide those 
services, if the program has established such services. 

7. 7. Collaborate with the county office of education, county placing agency, county child 
welfare agency, county probation department, juvenile court, and other appropriate 
agencies to help coordinate instruction, counseling, tutoring, mentoring vocational training, 
and other related services for the district's foster youth 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional item facilitates the annual update of the local control and 
accountability plan required pursuant to Education Code 52060; see BP/AR 0460 - Local Control 
and Accountability Plan. 

8. 8. Monitor the educational progress of foster youth and provide reports to the 
Superintendent or designee and the Governing Board based on indicators identified in the 
district's local control and accountability plan 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall regularly monitor the liaison’s caseload, as well as additional 
duties outside of the foster youth program, to ensure that adequate time and resources are 
provided to meet the needs of foster youth in the district. 
 

Enrollment 
 

A student placed in a licensed children's institution or foster family home within the district shall 
attend programs operated by the district unless one of the following circumstances applies:  
(Education Code 48853, 48853.5)  

1. 1. The student has an individualized education program requiring placement in a 
nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency or in another local educational agency. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853, a district is required to educate foster youth in 
the least restrictive environment necessary for their educational achievement. However, a district 
may be discharged from this obligation when the parent/guardian or other person holding the 
right to make educational decisions for the foster youth unilaterally decides to place the foster 
youth in another educational program and provides the district a written statement as specified in 
item #2 below. 

2. 2. The parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make educational decisions 
for the student determines that it is in the best interests of the student to be placed in 
another education program and submits a written statement to the district indicating that 
determination and an awareness of the following: 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 236



a. a. The student has a right to attend a regular public school in the least 
restrictive environment. 

b. b. The alternate education program is a special education program, if applicable. 

c. c. The decision to unilaterally remove the student from the district school and 
to place the student in an alternate education program may not be financed by the 
district. 

d. d. Any attempt to seek reimbursement for the alternate education program 
may be at the expense of the parent/guardian or other person holding the right to 
make educational decisions for the student. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, the education of a foster youth may continue 
in the school of origin under the circumstances stated below. Elementary and high school districts 
should delete any itemItem (#3b or c) that is not applicable to the grade levels served by the 
district. 

3. 3. At the initial placement or any subsequent change in placement, the student 
exercises the right to continue in the school of origin, as defined above.  In any such 
circumstance, the following shall apply: 

a. a. The student may continue in the school of origin for the duration of the 
court's jurisdiction. 

b. b. If the court's jurisdiction over a grade K-8 student is terminated prior to the 
end of a school year, the student may continue in the school of origin for the 
remainder of the school year. 

c. c. If the court's jurisdiction is terminated while the student is in high school, the 
student may continue in the school of origin through graduation. 

d. d. If the student is transitioning between school grade levels, the student shall 
be allowed to continue in the district in the same attendance area to provide the 
student the benefit of matriculating with the student’s peers in accordance with the 
established feeder patterns of school in the district. A student who is transitioning 
to a middle school or high school shall be allowed to enroll in the school designated 
for matriculation in another school district. 

The role of the liaison shall be advisory with respect to placement decisions and determination of 
the school of origin.  (Education Code 48853.5) 
 

The district liaison may, in consultation with and with the agreement of the foster youth and the 
person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, recommend that the 
foster youth's right to attend the school of origin be waived and the foster youth be enrolled in any 
school that students living in the attendance area in which the foster youth resides are eligible to 
attend. All decisions shall be made in accordance with the foster youth's best interests.  (Education 
Code 48853.5) 
 

Prior to making any recommendation to move a foster youth from the school of origin, the liaison 
shall provide the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for 
the youth with a written explanation of the basis for the recommendation and how the 
recommendation serves the youth's best interests.  (Education Code 48853.5) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 237



 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, a district is required to immediately enroll any 
foster youth transferring into the district even when the foster youth has outstanding fees or, 
fines, textbooks, or other moneys due to the last school attended or the district has not received 
the foster youth's academic andor medical records, as listed in Items #1-3 below. However, 
pursuant to Health and Safety Code 120341, if a district does not receive a foster youth's 
immunization records prior to enrollment, the district must take steps, after the foster youth is 
enrolled, to obtain the immunization records or ensure that the foster youth is properly 
immunized. See BP/AR 5141.31 - Immunizations. 

 

If the liaison, in consultation with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the foster youth, agrees that the best interests of the foster youth would 
be served by a transfer to a school other than the school of origin, the principal or designee of the 
new school shall immediately enroll the foster youth, regardless of whether the foster youth:  
(Education Code 48853.5)   

1. 1. Has outstanding fees, fines, textbooks, or other items or monies due to the school 
last attended 

2. 2. Does not have clothing normally required by the school, such as school uniforms 

3. 3. Is unable to produce records normally required for enrollment, such as previous 
academic records, proof of residency, and medical records, including, but not limited to, 
immunization records or other documentation 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853 and 48853.5 specify that, if a dispute arises regarding school 
placement, then the district shall use an existing dispute resolution process available to any district 
student. The following paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice. 

 

If the foster youth or a person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth 
disagrees with the liaison's enrollment recommendation, an appeal may be filed with the 
Superintendent. The Superintendent shall make a determination within 30 calendar days of receipt 
of the appeal. Within 30 calendar days of receipt of the Superintendent's decision, the foster youth 
or the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth may appeal that 
decision to the Board. The Board shall consider the issue at its next regularly scheduled meeting. 
The Board's decision shall be final. 
 

If any dispute arises regarding the request of a foster youth to remain in the school of origin, the 
foster youth has the right to remain in the school of origin pending resolution of the dispute.  
(Education Code 48853.5) 
 
Transportation 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, a district may, but is not required to, provide 
transportation to enable a foster youth to attend a school or school district of origin, except when 
it is otherwise required by federal law or pursuant to the individualized education program of a 
student with a disability. In accordance with 20 USC 6312, districts are mandated to collaborate 
with the local child welfare agency to develop clear written procedures governing how 
transportation will be provided, arranged, and funded to enable foster youth to attend their school 
of origin, when it is in their best interest to do so. The local child welfare agency may reimburse 
the district for any additional costs of such transportation, or the district may agree to pay for or 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 238



share the costs with the child welfare agency. The following section may be revised to reflect the 
procedures established in collaboration with the child welfare agency, or such procedures may be 
incorporated into a memorandum of understanding or other document. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with the local child welfare agency to determine 
how transportation will be provided, arranged, and funded in a cost-effective manner to enable a 
foster youth to remain in the school of origin, for the duration of the time spent in foster care, 
when it is in the foster youth’s best interest to do so. Such transportation costs may be paid by 
either the child welfare agency or the district, or shared by both.  (20 USC 6312) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 39807.5, as amended by AB 181, districts that provide 
home-to-school transportation and other transportation as expressly provided by law, and charge 
fees for such transportation, are required to waive transportation fees for foster youth. See BP 
3250 – Transportation Fees and AR 3260 – Fees and Charges. 

Any fees that the district charges for home-to-school transportation and other transportation as 
expressly provided by law shall be waived for foster youth.  (Education Code 39807.5) 
 
Effect of Absences on Grades 
 
The grades of a student in foster care shall not be lowered for any absence from school that is due 
to either of the following circumstances:  (Education Code 49069.5)   

1. 1. A decision by a court or placement agency to change the student's placement, in 
which case the  grades shall be calculated as of the date the student left school 

2. 2. A verified court appearance or related court-ordered activity 

Transfer of Coursework and Credits 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Education 
Code 51225.2, as amended by SB 532 (Ch. 918, Statutes of 2022), addresses the transferability of 
coursework and credits completed by foster youth, as provided below. 
 
Education Code 51225.2, as amended by SB 532, requires the transferring school to include in the 
foster youth’s educational record a determination of days of enrollment and/or seat time and an 
official transcript with full and partial credits and grades earned, or any measure of full or partial 
coursework being satisfactorily completed. 

 

When a foster youth transfers into a district school, the district will receive an official transcript 
from the transferring school or district which reflects full and partial credits and grades earned by 
the foster youth and includes:  (Education Code 51225.2) 

1. A determination of the days of enrollment and/or seat time, if applicable for all full and 
partial credits earned based on any measure of full or partial coursework being satisfactorily 
completed 

Partial coursework satisfactorily completed includes any portion of an individual course, even 
if the student did not complete the entire course 

2. Separate listings for credits and grades earned at each school and local educational agency so 
it is clear where credits and grades were earned 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 239



3.  A complete record of the student’s seat time, including both period attendance and days of 
enrollment 

The district shall transfer the credits and grades from the transferring school’s transcript onto an 
official district transcript in the same manner as described in Item #2, above.  (Education Code 
51225.2)  

If the Principal or designee has knowledge that the transcript from the transferring school may not 
include certain credits or grades, the Principal or designee shall contact the prior school within two 
business days to request that the full or partial credits be issued, which shall then be issued and 
provided by the prior school within two business days of the request.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

The district shall accept and issue full or partial credit for any coursework that the foster youth has 
satisfactorily completed while attending another public school, a juvenile court school, a charter 
school, a school in a country other than the United States, or a nonpublic, nonsectarian school or 
agency and.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.2, districts are not authorized to require a foster 
youth who has completed an entire course to retake the course. 
 

If the entire course was completed, the district shall not require the foster youth to retake the 
course.   (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

If the entire course was not completed at the previous school, the foster youth shall be issued 
partial credit for the coursework completed and shall be required to take the uncompleted portion 
of the course.  However, the district may require the foster youth to retake the portion of the 
course completed if, in consultation with the holder of educational rights for the foster youth, the 
district finds that the foster youth is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to 
graduate from high school. Whenever partial credit is issued to a foster youth in any particular 
course, the foster youth shall be enrolled in the same or equivalent course, if applicable, to enable 
the completion of the entire course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Although Education Code 51225.2 requires districts to award partial credits to foster 
youth who transfer from school to school, there is no uniform system for calculating and awarding 
partial credits. To ensure consistency in the treatment of foster youth, the California Child Welfare 
Council (CCWC), in its, "Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations," available on 
its web site, recommends the approach specified in the following optional paragraph, which may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 
 

Partial credits shall be awarded on the basis of 0.5 credits for every seven class periods attended 
per subject. If the school is on a block schedule, each block schedule class period attended shall be 
equal to two regular class periods per subject.  Partial credits and grades earned by a student shall 
be included on the student's official transcript within two business days of the district's notification 
of the student's transfer, as required under Education Code 49069.5. 
 

In no event shall the district prevent a foster youth from taking or retaking a course to meet the 
eligibility requirements for admission to the California State University or the University of 
California.  (Education Code 51225.2) 
 

Applicability of Graduation Requirements 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 240



CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Also see BP 
6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. 

 

To obtain a high school diploma, a foster youth shall complete all courses required by Education 
Code 51225.3 and fulfill any additional graduation requirements prescribed by the Board. 
 

However, when a foster youth who has completed the second year of high school transfers into the 
district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, the foster 
youth shall be exempted from all district-adoptedestablished coursework and other district-
established graduation requirements, unless the district makes a finding that the student is 
reasonably able to complete the additional requirements in time to graduate from high school by 
the end of the fourth year of high school.  Within 30 calendar days of the foster youth's transfer, 
the Superintendent or designee shall notify the foster youth, the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the foster youth, and the foster youth's social worker of the availability of 
the exemption and whether the foster youth qualifies for it.  If the Superintendent or designee fails 
to provide this notification, the student shall be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if the 
notification occurs after the student is no longer a foster youth.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, to determine whether 
a foster youth with significant gaps in school attendance is in the third or fourth year of high 
school, the student’s age as compared to the average age of students in the third or fourth year of 
high school may be used. 

To determine whether a foster youth is in the third or fourth year of high school, the district shall 
use either the number of credits the foster youth has earned as of the date of the transfer or, the 
length of school enrollment, or for a foster youth with significant gaps in school attendance, the 
foster youth’s age as compared to the average age of students in the third or fourth year of high 
school, whichever qualifies the foster youth for the exemption.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall notify any foster youth who is granted an exemption and 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, requires the district to exempt a 
foster youth who qualifies for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements, 
under the circumstances described below. 

If a foster youth was not properly notified of an exemption, declined the exemption, or was not 
previously exempted, the foster youth or the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the foster youth may request the exemption and the Superintendent or designee shall 
exempt the foster youth within 30 days of the request.  A student who at one time qualified for the 
exemption may request the exemption even if the student is no longer eligible.  (Education Code 
51225.1)  
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required 
to reevaluate a foster youth’s eligibility for an exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements, as described below. 

When the Superintendent or designee determines that a foster youth who transferred into a 
district school is reasonably able to complete district-established graduation requirements by the 
end of the foster youth’s fourth year of high school, the foster youth shall not be exempted from 
those requirements. Within 30 calendar days of the following academic year, the foster youth shall 
be reevaluated based on the foster youth's course completion status at the time, to determine if 
the student continues to be reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 241



requirements in time to graduate by the end of the foster youth's fourth year of high school. 
Written notice as to whether the foster youth then qualifies for the exemption shall be provided to 
the foster youth, the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, 
and if applicable, to the foster youth's social worker or probation officer.  (Education Code 
51225.1)  

If, upon reevaluation, it is determined that the foster youth is not reasonably able to complete the 
district-established graduation requirements in time to graduate from high school by the end of the 
foster youth’s fourth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall provide the foster 
youth with the option to receive an exemption from district-established graduation requirements or 
stay in school for a fifth year to complete the district-established graduation requirements upon 
agreement with the foster youth, or if under 18 years of age, the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the foster youth, and provide notifications in accordance with Education 
Code 51225.1.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, the district is required 
to consult with a foster youth who is granted an exemption from district-established graduation 
requirements and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, 
as described below. 

When a foster youth is exempted from district-established graduation requirements, the 
Superintendent or designee shall consult with the foster youth and the person holding the right to 
make educational decisions for the foster youth about the following:  (Education Code 512251.) 

1. Discussion of how any requirements that are waived willmay affect the foster youth's 
postsecondary education or vocation plans, including the ability to gain admission to a 
postsecondary educational institution  
 

2. Discussion and shall provide information about other options available to the student, 
including, but not limited to, a fifth year of high school, possible credit recovery, and any 
transfer opportunities available through the California Community Colleges.  (Education 
Code 51225.1) 
 
Consideration of the foster youth’s academic data and any other information relevant to 
making an informed decision on whether to accept the exemption 
 

The district shall not require or request a foster youth to transfer schools in order to qualify for an 
exemption and shall not grant any request made by a foster youth or any person acting on behalf of 
a foster youth for a transfer solely to qualify the foster youth for an exemption.  (Education Code 
51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from requiring a foster youth who is 
eligible for an exemption from district-established graduation requirements from accepting the 
exemption or being denied enrollment, as described below. 

The Superintendent or designee shall not require a foster youth who is eligible for an exemption 
from district-established graduation requirements, and would otherwise be entitled to remain in 
attendance at the school, to accept the exemption or be denied enrollment in, or the ability to 
complete, courses for which the foster youth is otherwise eligible, including courses necessary to 
attend an institution of higher education, regardless of whether such courses are required for 
statewide graduation requirements.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 242



CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 prohibits the district from revoking a foster youth’s 
exemption from district-established graduation requirements. 

If a foster youth is exempted from localdistrict-established graduation requirements the exemption 
shall not be revoked. Additionally, the exemption shall continue to apply after the termination of 
the court's jurisdiction over the student while still enrolled in school or if the foster youth transfers 
to another school or school district.  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

Upon making a finding that a foster youth is reasonably able to complete district graduation 
requirements within the fifth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall:  (Education 
Code 51225.1)  (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, the district may not require or request a foster 
youth who is exempted from district-established graduation requirements and completes statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the foster youth’s fourth year or high school to 
graduate early, as described below. 

The Superintendent or designee shall not require or request a foster youth who is exempted from 
district-established graduation requirements and who completes the statewide coursework 
requirements before the end of the fourth year of high school, and would otherwise be entitled to 
remain in school, to graduate before the end of the foster youth’s fourth year of high school.  
(Education Code 51225.1) 
 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, if the district 
determines that a foster youth who is eligible for the exemption from district-established 
graduation requirements is reasonably able to complete those requirements in time to graduate 
from high school by the end of the foster youth’s fifth year, the district is required to provide the 
following. 

Upon making a finding that a foster youth is reasonably able to complete district-established 
graduation requirements within the fifth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall:  
(Education Code 51225.1)   

1. 1. Inform Consult with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make 
educational decisions for the foster youth of the option to remain in school for a fifth year 
to complete the district'sdistrict-established graduation requirements and how that will 
affect the foster youth’s ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational institution 
  

2. Provide2. Consult with and provide information to the foster youth about transfer 
opportunities available through the California Community Colleges 
  

3. 3. Upon agreement with the foster youth or, if under 18 years of age, the person 
holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth, permit the foster youth 
to stay in school for a fifth year to complete the district'sdistrict-established graduation 
requirements 

4. Consult with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the foster youth of the option to remain in the foster youth’s school of origin 

 
CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, as amended by SB 532, until January 1, 2028, 
when a foster youth who has completed the second year of high school transfers into the district 
from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, and is not 
reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation requirements, but is reasonably 
able to complete the statewide coursework requirements within the foster youth’s fifth year of 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 243



high school, the district is required to exempt the foster youth from the district-established 
graduation requirements and provide the foster youth with the option to remain in school for a fifth 
year to complete the statewide requirements. In such situations, consultation with the foster youth 
and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth is required, as 
provided below. 

When a foster youth who has completed the second year of high school transfers into the district 
from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, and is not 
reasonably able to complete the district-established graduation requirements within the foster 
youth’s fifth year of high school but is reasonably able to complete the statewide coursework 
requirements within the fifth year of high school, the foster youth shall be exempted from all 
district-established graduation requirements and provided with the option to remain in school for a 
fifth year to complete the statewide requirements. In such situations, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consult with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational 
decisions for the foster youth, regarding the following:  (Education Code 51225.1) 

1. The foster youth’s option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete statewide 
coursework requirements 

2. The effect of waiving the district-established requirements and remaining in school for a 
fifth year on the foster youth’s postsecondary education or vocation plans, including the 
ability to gain admission to an institution of higher education 

3.   Other options available to the foster youth, including but not limited to, possible credit 
recovery, and any transfer opportunities available through the California Community 
Colleges 

4.   The foster youth’s academic data and any other information relevant to making an 
informed decision on whether to accept the exemption and option to remain in school 
for a fifth year to complete the statewide coursework requirements 

Eligibility for Extracurricular Activities 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48850 provides that, when a foster youth's residence changes 
pursuant to a court order or decision of a child welfare worker, the student shall be immediately 
deemed to meet all residency requirements for participation in extracurricular activities and 
interscholastic sports. For additional information about eligibility requirements, see BP 6145 - 
Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities. 

 

A foster youth whose residence changes pursuant to a court order or decision of a child welfare 
worker shall be immediately deemed to meet all residency requirements for participation in 
interscholastic sports or other extracurricular activities.  (Education Code 48850) 
 

Notification and Complaints 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853, 49069.5, 51225.1, and 51225.2 require that the district's 
annual uniform complaint procedures notification include specified information regarding the 
educational rights of foster youth. See AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures for further 
information regarding this notification. Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5 requires, the 
California Department of Education (CDE), in consultation with the California Foster Youth 
Education Task Force, to developdeveloped a standardized notice of the educational rights of 
foster youth and to post that notice, available on itsCDE’s web site. 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 244



Information regarding the educational rights of foster youth shall be included in the annual uniform 
complaint procedures notification distributed to students, parents/guardians, employees, and other 
interested parties pursuant to 5 CCR 4622.  (Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 51225.1, 
51225.2) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 51225.1, and 51225.2 provide that 
complaints of noncompliance with specified requirements related to the education of foster youth 
may be filed in accordance with the uniform complaint procedures specified in 5 CCR 4600-4670. 
As with other complaints covered under the uniform complaint procedures, a complainant may 
appeal the district's decision to CDE and, if the district or CDE finds any merit in the complaint, 
the district must provide a remedy to the affected student. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform 
Complaint Procedures. 

 

Any complaint alleging that the district has not complied with requirements regarding the education 
of foster youth may be filed in accordance with the district's procedures in AR 1312.3 - Uniform 
Complaint Procedures. If the district finds merit in a complaint, the district shall provide a remedy 
to the affected student. A complainant not satisfied with the district's decision may appeal the 
decision to the California Department of Education (CDE) and shall receive a written decision 
regarding the appeal within 60 days of CDE's receipt of the appeal. If CDE finds merit in an appeal, 
the district shall provide a remedy to the affected student.  (Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 
49069.5, 51225.1, 51225.2)  
 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

Ed. Code 32228-32228.5 Student safety and violence prevention 

Ed. Code 42238.01-42238.07 Local control funding formula 

Ed. Code 42920-42925 Foster children educational services 

Ed. Code 48645-48646 Juvenile court schools 

Ed. Code 48850-48859 Education of foster youth and homeless students 

Ed. Code 48915.5 Recommended expulsion; homeless student with disabilities 

Ed. Code 48918.1 Notice of recommended expulsion 

Ed. Code 49061 Definitions; directory information 

Ed. Code 49069.5 Students in foster care; grades and credits 

Ed. Code 49076 Access to student records 

Ed. Code 51225.1 Exemption from district graduation requirements 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 245



Ed. Code 51225.2 Course credits 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Ed. Code 56055 Rights of foster parents pertaining to foster child's education 

H&S Code 120341 Foster youth; school placement and immunization records 

H&S Code 1522.41 Training and certification of group home administrators 

H&S Code 1529.2 Training of licensed foster parents 

W&I Code 16000-16014 Foster care placement 

W&I Code 300 Minors subject to jurisdiction 

W&I Code 309 Investigation and release of child 

W&I Code 317 Appointment of legal counsel 

W&I Code 361 Limitations on parental control 

W&I Code 366.27 Educational decision by relative providing living 
arrangements 

W&I Code 602 Minors violating law; ward of court 

W&I Code 726 Limitations on parental control 

W&I Code 727 Order of care; ward of court 

Federal Description 
20 USC 1415 Procedural safeguards 

20 USC 6311 State plan 

29 USC 794 Rehabilitation Act of 1973; Section 504 

42 USC 11431-11435 McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act 

42 USC 670-679b Federal assistance for foster care programs 

Management Resources Description 
Alliance for Children's Rights Publication Foster Youth Education Toolkit, December 2016 

California Child Welfare Council 
Publication 

Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations 

Cities, Counties and Schools Partnership 
Pub. 

Our Children: Emancipating Foster Youth, A Community 
Action Guide 

CSBA Publication Our Foster Youth: What School Boards Can Do, May 2016 

CSBA Publication Foster Youth: Supports for Success, Governance Brief, May 
2016 

U.S. Department of Education 
Publication 

Ensuring Educational Stability for Children in Foster Care, 
Non-Regulatory Guidance, June 2016 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website Alliance for Children's Rights 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 246

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.kids-alliance.org/#


Website Foster Ed 

Website National Center for Youth Law 

Website California Department of Education, Foster Youth Services 

Website California Department of Social Services, Foster Youth 
Ombudsman Office 

Website California Foster Youth Education Task Force 

Website California Youth Connection 

Website Cities Counties and Schools Partnership 

Website CSBA 

Website California Child Welfare Council 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0200 Goals For The School District 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0415 Equity 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1400 Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies And The 
Schools 

3100 Budget 

3100 Budget 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

3515.4 Recovery For Property Loss Or Damage 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 247

http://foster-ed.org/#
https://youthlaw.org/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/pf/fy#
http://www.fosteryouthhelp.ca.gov/#
http://www.fosteryouthhelp.ca.gov/#
http://www.cfyetf.org/#
http://www.calyouthconn.org/site/cyc#
https://www.ca-ilg.org/ccs-partnership#
http://www.csba.org/#
https://www.chhs.ca.gov/home/committees/california-child-welfare-council#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PR2DMZPNTP6thfLtpbD3bQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9fOxm6YSOsjBQ7YLPgBzQA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cUDRpPGq33oE7TVGVbs7UQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VT1THkIzJRxMabQA5MDekg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4uOm9WPslsh0HwKjuRwh5qslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qec3Iw1WslshtHfJqvplusOlraHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dplJmkH8UXCJgPsxmvfLNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7uOdhMplus7PbAqDslshYgslshdun2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uUslsh3GplusdkFV3JQ4gsdaQVvA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusqbNfnXnpWElcGBEwkM0Jg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KDUyqBYnGCwCDfw2QftILg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NLobErU7hhc9VOjLjaZ3CA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fTpluslcL5iFuLLjmC2l4HbEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4VNpeeLdGX8wrSubvpm0yw==#


3540 Transportation 

3541 Transportation Routes And Services 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

4131 Staff Development 

4231 Staff Development 

4331 Staff Development 

5111 Admission 

5111 Admission 

5111.1 District Residency 

5111.1 District Residency 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5116.1 Intradistrict Open Enrollment 

5116.1 Intradistrict Open Enrollment 

5117 Interdistrict Attendance 

5117 Interdistrict Attendance 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5123 Promotion/Acceleration/Retention 

5123 Promotion/Acceleration/Retention 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5125.2 Withholding Grades, Diploma Or Transcripts 

5131 Conduct 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5132 Dress And Grooming 

5137 Positive School Climate 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 248

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zsmfw6wNxm7mDZVOY77g5A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rNSL8slshinCEPQl7ulKKagGg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1zDJaxIWlv0mdfzbd8t3lw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CBGe4taGQPdslshzqHPoEja6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w3AXoA8vl7AC7HLfttplusmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TdDslshPM3FElcWplus1cDGhZCfQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hplusTLp1ko2H2hPw5RS0rmhA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Abplusfvw9xWNiOsDUGKupp0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PkgXnAslh2adolJDqdBRow==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oJmDaeMYv7Ek8ydix0OaXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z6rkvP9islshqlxTJHeU6PmTA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GnplusEeg4OwP82YslshCfUJFplus8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BSRswan5tzMbq7LMRdlt9A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w2rrFVAmQo4vjeURorkplusDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ihWnqbSkI1slshkh6mAES9inA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KyPqS3GitJApmkEwXyg68Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DSTciBcnlZxMcG4DuhePeA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5vFnaFC1iqEHZWBVC1nJJw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8uSrrmfzuPYOLH6fdRslshCIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dfqSopq8B9jy5hkP64NyGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pC07hRm5OTVNBTFziA2t0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6e105aIWDx9V9B8GBslsh0OHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=R2sOzhydv7S3yougeNFlag==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DILuIUSJFtLZbplusslshm4QQhPg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yslshbc2Eyo2OcE9ZRNyySrZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mVu5zcV6CslshzyAlplus67gnICg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYNplus5ZjslshT9lZ83gplusqks3slshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dml8peO3bkBelUMzEToBig==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YsXVVuDMJqLl9k7d04hpTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yVSqxgOvlWVwpCrBB5jICA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=maGYVEfslshL8O3Cg5ozTfL6A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sZeVy3bCBiVfdAHMZg16eA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FbLkRReAyqkprjye9UnWZA==#


5138 Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.26 Tuberculosis Testing 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.32 Health Screening For School Entry 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.2 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

6011 Academic Standards 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 249

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9f4iWVyXtiTXFIZlxRsXOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsN81evOIfdNLM5PT1incw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6pxjfiENeArHTQ0Lt49UNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MMslshXfslshFhMg7mL69eSUZF3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oWpPevpF0RSfrCMXcZBnJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UNfYzcqh1j6xB9A03C6x5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zRx5hcj21n42GlS90oFK4g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HLAhfmqm0chyHdbqSLcTzg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FSzgGHjlLjQNUZfaqB9DTQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CyKYplusSV3BFs9rslsh2QUxtPAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhMplusqG6koiIWw233cKrvxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pdkfplusVd4aCLKEuPfNY5dslshg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i3Ze0fvagIDL9VHHWyJjOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=h94TPKkDBYT22l40plusWVBwg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1QEeplusxMdOsIYdSCedXofTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshomslshxRRJ6sOt88rp6Vo0ng==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1dDD5zktSwyOojOfjp9izw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hxEDHslshgH5Sz6cuyQiledww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Dmdslsh9hbtRECaAzEQK5thw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ac5UAppluswlfDnAW06l1yNNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3sWTWgcyt3qIk4BjS3SFw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kmepecduPHoiwuwUZw4nrQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=N3h66HEkPzMkVVzPyT2qRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=V6JbLS1Y9v2NrbslshcplusUuOHA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NI2tvDgslzr09NJlnALYAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MJQZpvWMfiOe7slshSNWNvKCg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wB3oyPCFWtXKgbLkObOplusCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhGTCA85aOSwplus413BaBpluseQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=i7slshs2reTt93slshsCyVZP4slsh8w==#


6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 
Special Education 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 
Special Education 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6159.3 Appointment Of Surrogate Parent For Special Education 
Students 

6159.4 Behavioral Interventions For Special Education Students 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6164.4 Identification And Evaluation Of Individuals For Special 
Education 

6164.4 Identification And Evaluation Of Individuals For Special 
Education 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6164.6 Identification And Education Under Section 504 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6174 Education For English Learners 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6190 Evaluation Of The Instructional Program 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 250

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7SipxldAvMplusBN2DuaqiOrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=soqgbyMbgUslshaql65hslshc2mQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=soqgbyMbgUslshaql65hslshc2mQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=is7rTqlZfCWBCgCwq2e6slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=is7rTqlZfCWBCgCwq2e6slshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7KJyqKhdmzCmOVGE6ri2ww==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FXbeTlWoVuXoLwOhINq5CQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=UeNHcYKo3khhYjo4y3CAHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4tVagLqFnUH7UplusEXB5g44g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1CCoun1Bnvfcc9MJVDsj8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6ykDsajB8QSvDwY2aIgGvw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hRRzim9xQ09lkyUll1yyZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hRRzim9xQ09lkyUll1yyZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u8Niv1RQpluslJaVp3XlhkOLg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u8Niv1RQpluslJaVp3XlhkOLg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kzw1xBMajLydvyUH73nR0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=AqvvLX58MhDZU5pluscdL0ohQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=auqK3bZBex4hGZO5qfuMxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xHRiJ97CcSVAjB1hdRdtDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jt9mkoQRBFlXCVaGWzKNiA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lNZnrRBRVUhzXlKE8pIZlQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mTG9PgOthslsha517kslshsQ9M7g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j5LGCGjBsNWPz2OXPZIslshxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wgplusBV89WInKZ3kkHOFomYQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lKQtMBkFJlmVslshwvTmvNC9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qqIaj402slsh8xbziO5W71XIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OLHwkplusY4AHr1Y5iZP1wtslshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZu0HaC44A4Wsk19drDyCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Fu4yQLBRZxTqW3v8pbl0A==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Policy 6177: Summer Learning Programs Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 04/01/2013 | Last Revised Date: 123/01/20152023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 123/01/20152023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 46120, as amended by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022) and AB 
185 (Ch. 571, Statutes of 2022), provides for the Expanded Learning Opportunities (ELO) 
Program, which includes expanded learning opportunities beyond the regular school day, including 
summer, vacation, and/or intersessional programs for students in grades transitional kindergarten 
(TK)-6.  

Pursuant to Education Code 46120, on non-school days, intersessional programs of specified 
lengths of time must include in-person before or after school programs as described in BP/AR 
5148.2 – Before/After School Programs.  

A district may not opt out of an ELO program; however, student participation in an ELO program 
is optional. For additional requirements about ELO programs see BP/AR 5148.2 – Before/After 
School Programs. 

The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice.  

The Governing Board recognizes that an extended break from the instructional program may result 
in significant learning loss, especially among disadvantaged and low-achieving students, and desires 
to provide opportunities during the summer for students to practice essential skills and, make 
academic progress, and develop social, emotional, and physical needs and interests through hands-
on engaging learning experiences. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52060-52077, as added by AB 97 (Ch. 47, Statutes of 2013), 
require districts to develop a local control and accountability plan (LCAP) which includes goals 
aligned with state and local priorities, specific actions aligned to meet those goals, and a budget 
aligned to fund those specific actions; see BP/AR 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan. 
The purposes and content of the district's summer programs should be aligned with the priorities 
and goals as outlined in the LCAP and other applicable district and school plans.  

Summer programs offered by the district shall be aligned with the district's local control and 
accountability plan (LCAP), other applicable district and school plans, and the educational program 
provided during the school year. When feasible, summer programs shall blend high-quality 
academic instruction in core curricular and/or elective subjects with recreation, nutrition programs, 
social and emotional development, and support services that encourage attendance, student 
engagement in learning, and student wellness. 
 
Summer School 

CSBA NOTE: Summer school programs may be funded through a variety of sources that include, 
but are not limited to, Title I funding (20 USC 6311-6322), After School Education and Safety 
Program supplemental funds (Education Code 8482-8484.6), and 21st Century Community 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 251



 

 

Learning Center supplemental funds (Education Code 8484.7-8484.9; 20 USC 7171-7176). ), and 
ELO programs (Education Code 46120); see BP/AR 5148.2 – Before/After School Programs.  
 
Pursuant to Education Code 46120, as amended by AB 181 and AB 185, ELO programs must 
include at least nine hours of in-person expanded learning opportunities per day for at least 30 
non-school days, inclusive of extended school year days provided pursuant Education Code 
56345. 
 
In addition, Education Code 54444.3 requires agencies receiving Title I Migrant Education funding 
to conduct summer school for eligible migrant students in grades K-12; see BP/AR 6175 - Migrant 
Education Program.  
 
Option 1 is for districts that are not required to offer summer school. Option 2 is for districts that 
are required to offer ELO programs on at least 30 non-school days pursuant to Education Code 
46120. 

OPTION 1 (District is not required to offer summer school) 

The Superintendent or designee, with Board approval, may establish summer school day and/or 
evening classes. 

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE 
 
OPTION 2 (District is required to offer summer school pursuant to Education Code 46120) 

The Superintendent or designee shall establish summer school classes pursuant to Education Code 
46120. 

OPTION 2 ENDS HERE 
 
The district's summer school program may be used to provide supplemental instruction to students 
needing remediation and/or enrichment in core academic subjects. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional list establishes enrollment priorities for the provision of 
summer school instruction and may be revised to reflect district practice. Item #1 should be 
deleted by districts that do not maintain high schools.  

As appropriate, priority for enrollment in summer school programs shall be given to district 
students who: 
   

1. Need course credits in order to graduate from high school before the beginning of the next 
school year 
  

2. Have been retained or are at risk of being retained at their grade level 
  

1.3. Demonstrate academic deficiencies in core curriculum areas  
 
 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 252

Executive Assistant
Cross-Out



 

 

CSBA NOTE: Optional itemItem #4 establishes priority for summer school enrollment to at-risk 
student groups identified in the district's LCAP. Pursuant to Education Code 52060, the LCAP must 
include annual goals to be achieved for all students and for each numerically significant subgroup as 
defined in Education Code 52052. Pursuant to Education Code 52052, as amended by AB 104 (Ch. 
13, Statutes of 2015), numerically significant subgroups include ethnic subgroups, 
socioeconomically disadvantaged students, English learners, students with disabilities, foster youth, 
and homeless students experiencing homelessness if there are at least 30 students in the subgroup 
(or at least 15 foster youth or homeless students experiencing homelessness) in the school or 
district. For schools or districts with 11-99 students, numerically significant student subgroups are 
defined by the Superintendent of Public Instruction with approval by the State Board of Education. 

3.4.Are in targeted student groups identified in the district's LCAP as needing increased or 
improved services to succeed in the educational program 

 
CSBA NOTE: For the 2022-23 school year, districts receiving ELO funds are required to offer 
access to ELO programs to all unduplicated students in grades TK-6 and to provide access to such 
programs to at least 50 percent of enrolled unduplicated students. 
 
Commencing with the 2023-24 school year, districts with a prior fiscal year local control funding 
formula (LCFF) unduplicated pupil percentage (UPP) of at least 75 percent are required to offer 
access to ELO programs to all classroom-based students in grades TK-6 inclusive, and to ensure 
that access is provided to any student whose parent/guardian requests placement in an ELO 
program. Districts with a prior fiscal year LCFF UPP of less than 75 percent are required to offer 
access to ELO programs to all unduplicated students in grades TK-6, inclusive, and ensure that 
access is provided to any unduplicated student whose parent/guardian requests placement in an 
ELO program. 

5. Are in grades transitional kindergarten (TK)-6 and are required to be offered or provided 
access to Expanded Learning Opportunities Programs pursuant to Education Code 46120 
and BP/AR 5184.2 – Before/After School Programs 

 
CSBA NOTE: Option 1 below is for districts that permit remaining students to enroll in summer 
school on a first-come first-served basis. Option 2 is for districts that utilize a lottery to select 
remaining students to enroll in summer school. 

 
OPTION 1:  (First-come first-served) 

The remaining openings shall be offered to other district students on a first-come first-served basis. 
 
OPTION 1 ENDS HERE 
 
OPTION 2:  (Lottery)  

The remaining openings shall be offered to other district students on a lottery basis. 
 
OPTION 2 ENDS HERE 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 253

Executive Assistant
Cross-Out



 

 

Because summer courses cover extensive instructional content in a relatively short time period, 
students who have more than three excused absences or one unexcused absence may not receive 
credit for summer session class(es) unless they make-up missed work in accordance with law, Board 
policy, and administrative regulation. 

CSBA NOTE: State funding is not available for transportation to summer school. To accommodate 
students and parents/guardians who need to provide their own transportation, some districts 
rotate the sites at which summer sessions are offered, as provided in the following optional 
paragraph.  

Sites for summer school programs may be rotated in an effort to make summer school programs 
more accessible to all students, regardless of residence or regular attendance area, and to 
accommodate the maintenance needs of district schools. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph should be revised to reflect indicators for program 
evaluation that have been agreed upon by the Board and Superintendent, as well as a timeline for 
reports to the Board.  

The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board on summer school enrollment in 
the current year and previous year for the program as a whole and disaggregated by grade level, 
school that the students attend during the regular school year, and student population.  In addition, 
he/shethe Superintendent or designee may report on the extent to which students successfully 
achieved the outcomes established for the program. 
 
Additional Summer Learning Opportunities 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice and may be 
adapted for use during intercessions other than summer break. For further information about 
summer learning opportunities, see BP/AR 5148.2 – Before/After School Programs and CSBA's 
Summer Learning and Wellness Resource Guide.  
 
Districts are prohibited from charging a fee for summer school programs. However, it is 
permissible for third parties that offer a summer school program to charge a fee for such program. 
CDE's, "Fiscal Management Advisory 22-01, Summer School, Third Parties, and Tuition Fees," 
provides that if a third party that is affiliated with a district charges tuition for a summer program, 
the district should make an individualized inquiry as to the relationship between the district and 
the third party to determine whether the educational activities are being offered by the district. In 
making this determination, districts may consider factors listed in Fiscal Management Advisory 22-
01. Districts with questions as to whether a fee may be charged for summer school should consult 
CSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel. See also 
BP/AR 3260 – Fees and Charges. 

The Superintendent or designee may collaborate with parents/guardians, city and county agencies, 
community organizations, child care providers, and/or other interested persons to develop, 
implement, and build awareness of organized activities that support summer learning. 
 
Strategies to support summer learning may include, but are not limited to: 
   

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 254



 

 

1. Providing information to students and parents/guardians about summer reading programs 
scheduled to be conducted by public libraries or community organizations 
  

2. Collaborating with the local parks and recreation agency and/or community organizations to 
provide day camps, sports programs, or other opportunities for physical education and 
activity 
  

3. Collaborating with workforce development agencies, businesses, and community 
organizations to provide summer job training opportunities that include an academic 
component 
  

4. Encouraging reading in the home, such as providing lists of recommended reading to 
students and parents/guardians, establishing a target number of books or pages, and 
providing prizes for achievement of reading goals 
  

5. Assigning summer vacation homework in core curricular subject(s) for extra credit 
  

6. Conducting occasional, interactive "fun days" during the summer to provide activities 
related to art, music, science, technology, mathematics, environmental science, multicultural 
education, debate, or other subject 
  

7. Arranging opportunities for community service 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 11470-11472 Summer school 

5 CCR 3043 Extended school year; special education students 

Ed. Code 37252-37254.1 Supplemental instruction 

Ed. Code 39837 Transportation to summer employment program 

Ed. Code 41505-41508 Pupil Retention Block Grant 

Ed. Code 41976.5 Summer school programs; substantially disabled persons or 
graduating high school seniors 

Ed. Code 42238.01-42238.07 Local control funding formula 

Ed. Code 46120 Expanded Learning Opportunities 

Ed. Code 48070-48070.5 Promotion and retention 

Ed. Code 51210 Course of study for grades 1-6 

Ed. Code 51220 Course of study for grades 7-12 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 255



 

 

Ed. Code 51730-51732 Powers of governing boards (authorization for elementary 
summer school classes); admissions of adults and 
minorsElementary school special day and evening classes; 
summer school 

Ed. Code 52052 Accountability; numerically significant student subgroups 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Ed. Code 54444.3 Summer program for migrant students 

Ed. Code 56345 Individualized education program contents 

Ed. Code 58700-58702 Credit towards summer school apportionments for tutoring 
and homework assistance 

Ed. Code 58806 Summer school apportionments 

Ed. Code 8482-8484.6 After School Education and Safety Program 

Ed. Code 8484.7-8484.9 21st Century Community Learning Centers 

Federal Description 
20 USC 6311-6322 Improving basic programs for disadvantaged students 

20 USC 7171-7176 21st Century Community Learning Centers 

Management Resources Description 
CSBA Publication School's Out, Now What? How Summer Programs Are 

Improving Student Learning and Wellness, Policy Brief, April 
2013 

CSBA Publication Summer Learning and Wellness Resource Guide 

California Department of Education 
Publication 

Summer School, Third Parties, and Tuition Fees, Fiscal 
Management Advisory 22-01, September 2022 

National Summer Learning Association 
Publication 

New Vision for Summer School, 2010 

National Summer Learning Association 
Publication 

Healthy Summers for Kids: Turning Risk into Opportunity, 
May 2012 

Rand Corporation Publication Making Summer Count: How Summer Programs Can Boost 
Children's Learning, 2011 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website National Summer Learning Association 

Website RAND Corporation 

Website Summer Matters 

Website Partnership for Children and Youth 

Website California Department of Education 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 256

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.summerlearning.org/#
http://www.rand.org/#
http://summermatters2you.net/#
http://www.partnerforchildren.org/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/#


 

 

Website CSBA 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0200 Goals For The School District 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

1330.1 Joint Use Agreements 

1400 Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies And The 
Schools 

1700 Relations Between Private Industry And The Schools 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3552 Summer Meal Program 

3552 Summer Meal Program 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

3553 Free And Reduced Price Meals 

5030 Student Wellness 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5123 Promotion/Acceleration/Retention 

5123 Promotion/Acceleration/Retention 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

6011 Academic Standards 

6020 Parent Involvement 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 257

http://www.csba.org/#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PR2DMZPNTP6thfLtpbD3bQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=aqVfT4q6SzeRFKNeMi39cg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3vxtsHgsfrslshlkHYaD1Aaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KDUyqBYnGCwCDfw2QftILg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NLobErU7hhc9VOjLjaZ3CA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KBV0iAhFbuzVTqV8plusEWnYQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=I3avhcoXyHSeGV4c4OvSTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1zDJaxIWlv0mdfzbd8t3lw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CBGe4taGQPdslshzqHPoEja6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GMyplus5iXp79Re8ozSaRPPNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Z4eCZBRaqfzFM5sHCQJY9A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1uE1SYeARCrEZOYqXHAUzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=XG1pluskrXRJJSuVvplusWQsP6jA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lC1CFdRiHAMIxjQEjDM2zA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pC07hRm5OTVNBTFziA2t0w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6e105aIWDx9V9B8GBslsh0OHw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HLAhfmqm0chyHdbqSLcTzg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FSzgGHjlLjQNUZfaqB9DTQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1QEeplusxMdOsIYdSCedXofTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshomslshxRRJ6sOt88rp6Vo0ng==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1dDD5zktSwyOojOfjp9izw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ac5UAppluswlfDnAW06l1yNNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3sWTWgcyt3qIk4BjS3SFw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kmepecduPHoiwuwUZw4nrQ==#


 

 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6111 School Calendar 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.91 Reading/Language Arts Instruction 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6154 Homework/Makeup Work 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6171 Title I Programs 

6171 Title I Programs 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 258

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=N3h66HEkPzMkVVzPyT2qRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IPWcsrKPaq1unXytkM92YQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5PWqjruE1HkARTur8HDIaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OpNmy4Rxlb8r8Fgslsh57pdZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MPT1qz5G1rslshP1flClI3DOQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jBSn7S6X2ciUA0MreHk5Hw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DKYXqVv74EMknNkW5Qzplusaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Zd5keyTeOFsdJyvFb8I2XQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhGTCA85aOSwplus413BaBpluseQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=AV4KywxKW6SqCEwamcGJRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LzuwgJ1w3DeYEBxnV9ZMNA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GWszU9twzA8zAZKMROeKOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Q0j366dzed9oHmPlE950SA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZOZk3Y8BFz7f0U9jOggoJg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jt9mkoQRBFlXCVaGWzKNiA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lNZnrRBRVUhzXlKE8pIZlQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mTG9PgOthslsha517kslshsQ9M7g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j5LGCGjBsNWPz2OXPZIslshxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cOHicFEApoSjylE7ucviOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JEQXheHkp1CE8PDRKZcsLQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0dYNLgYnQ1aPLo92m8emBg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JqAsHZEoR2fN4zBncN7chg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5QSqHJ2Bi8bXFHOEvK40dQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5ZslshfmplusvDu3SMplusiy37XYqIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nvXAM4Hpc9x1sMAWslshaKCCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OLHwkplusY4AHr1Y5iZP1wtslshQ==#


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Regulation 6184: Continuation Education Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/1989 | Last Revised Date: 0403/01/20142023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0403/01/20142023 

 

 
Program Components 
 
The district's continuation education program shall include the following components: 
   

1. 1. Curriculum that prepares students to meet the course requirements for graduation 
prescribed in Education Code 51224-51225.3  (5 CCR 11004) 
  

2. 2. A plan to coordinate instruction and training in the continuation education program 
with students' parents/guardiansthe student’s home, employment, and other agencies  (5 
CCR 11003) 
  

3. 3. Instruction based on individual student needs as determined by counseling and 
coordination services  (5 CCR 11002) 
  

4. 4. Personal guidance in matters affecting students' personal, social, and educational 
adjustment  (5 CCR 11001) 
  

5. 5. Occupational guidance to prepare students for future employment opportunities  (5 
CCR 11001) 
  

6. 6. Placement in suitable employment whenever students can benefit from such 
employment, and follow-up visitations at places of employment to determine the 
effectiveness of the guidance and placement services  (5 CCR 11001) 
  

7. 7. Regular home contacts and parent conferences when students are not succeeding in 
the continuation program  (5 CCR 11001) 
  

8. 8. Regular contacts with students enrolled for only four hours per week and all 
students suspended from continuation education, with the intent of eventually returning 
them to the full-time continuation education program  (5 CCR 11001) 

CSBA NOTE: Items #9-13 are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice 

9. 9. Regular communication with all parents/guardians regarding their child's progress in 
the educational program 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 259



10. 10. Opportunities for parent/guardian and community involvement in school activities 
and program planning 
  

11. 11. Student support services that may include, but are not limited to, academic support 
services, health services or referrals, child care and development services for the children of 
enrolled students, and/or prevention and intervention services for alcohol or substance 
abuse 
  

12. 12. Professional development that includes opportunities for teachers to continually 
improve their instructional and classroom management skills 
  

13. 13. Efforts to ensure school safety and promote a positive school climate 
  

Involuntary Transfer 

CSBA NOTE: Districts that assign students to continuation schools are mandated by Education 
Code 48432.5 to adopt rules and regulations governing procedures for involuntary transfer. 
Pursuant to Education Code 48432.5, districts may only involuntarily transfer students who meet 
one of the conditions specified in itemsItems #1-2 below and may not establish additional criteria 
for involuntary transfers. However, districts are not required to involuntarily transfer such 
students, and may delete itemItem #1 or 2 below to reflect district practice. 

A decision to transfer a student involuntarily into continuation education classes shall be based on 
a finding that the student meets either of the following conditions:  (Education Code 48432.5) 
   

1. The student committed1. Committed an act enumerated in Education Code 48900. 
  

2. The student has2. Has been habitually truant or irregular in attendance from instruction 
he/shethe student is lawfully required to attend. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48432.5 requires that involuntary transfer to a continuation school 
be made only when other means fail to bring about student improvement, as provided below. In 
Nathan G. v. Clovis Unified School District, the court of appeals court upheld the district's decision 
to transfer a high school student to continuation school for an act enumerated in Education Code 
48900, rejecting the student's argument that the district was first required to exhaust all other 
means of correction to bring about student improvement and concluding that an involuntary 
transfer to continuation school does not substantially affect a student's fundamental right to an 
education. 

Involuntary transfer to a continuation school shall be made only when other means fail to bring 
about student improvement. However, a student may be involuntarily transferred the first time 
he/she commits an act enumerated in Education Code 48900 is committed if the principal 
determines that the student's presence causes a danger to persons or property or threatens to 
disrupt the instructional process.  (Education Code 48432.5) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48432.5, as amended by AB 740 (Ch. 400, Statutes of 2022), 
mandates that the district's rules and regulations pertaining to involuntary transfer of students to 
continuation schools contain the following provision regarding notice to the student and 
parent/guardian.provide written notice to the student and the student’s parent/guardian, or, if the 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 260



student is a foster youth, to the foster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and social 
worker, or, if the student is an Indian child, the Indian child’s tribal social worker, and if applicable, 
county social worker, of the opportunity to request a meeting with the Superintendent or 
designee, as provided below. 

Prior to an involuntary transfer, the student and the student’s parent/guardian, or a foster youth’s 
educational rights holder, attorney and social worker, or an Indian child’s tribal social worker, and if 
applicable, county social worker, shall be given written notice that they may request a meeting may 
be requested with the Superintendent or designee.  (Education Code 48432.5) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48432.5, as amended by AB 740, a foster youth’s 
educational right’s holder, attorney, and county social worker, and an Indian child’s tribal social 
worker, and, if applicable, a county social worker, have the same rights as a parent at the meeting 
with the Superintendent or designee. 

At the meeting, the student or and the student’s parent/guardian, or, if the student is a foster 
youth, the foster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the 
student is an Indian child, the Indian child’s tribal social worker, or, if applicable, county social 
worker, shall be informed of the specific facts and reasons for the proposed transfer. The student 
or parent/guardian shall, and have the opportunity to inspect all documents relied upon, question 
any evidence and witnesses presented, and present evidence on the student's behalf. The student 
may designate one or more representatives and witnesses to be present with him/herthe student 
at the meeting.  (Education Code 48432.5) 
 
A written decision to transfer, stating the facts and reasons for the decision, shall be sent to the 
student and parent/guardian.the student’s parent/guardian or, if the student is a foster youth, the 
foster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the student is an 
Indian child, the Indian child’s tribal social worker, or, if applicable, county social worker. It shall 
indicate whether the decision is subject to periodic review and the procedure for such review.  
(Education Code 48432.5) 
 
The persons making the final decision for involuntary transfer shall not be members of the staff of 
the school in which the student is enrolled at the time.  (Education Code 48432.5) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48432.5, involuntary transfers cannot extend beyond 
the end of the semester following the semester in which the acts leading to the transfer occurred, 
unless the district adopts a procedure for conducting yearly review at the student's orrequest of 
the student,  the student’s parent/guardian's request.guardian, or, if the student is a foster youth, 
the foster youth’s educational rights holder, attorney, and county social worker, or, if the student 
is an Indian child, the Indian child’s tribal social worker, or, if applicable, county social worker. The 
following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

No involuntary transfer to a continuation school shall extend beyond the end of the semester 
following the semester when the acts leading to the involuntary transfer occurred.  (Education 
Code 48432.5) 
 
Voluntary Enrollment 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is for use by districts that allow students to voluntarily enroll 
in continuation education classes; see the accompanying Board policy. for more information 
regarding voluntary enrollment. Pursuant to Education Code 48432.3, as added by AB 570 (Ch. 
365, Statutes of 2013), such districts are mandated to adopt policy and procedures containing 
specified provisions and governing the identification, placement, and intake procedures for 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 261



students who voluntarily enroll. The district should revise the following section should be revised 
to reflect district practice. 

As space permits, students who meet the eligibility criteria specified in Board policy may voluntarily 
enroll in a continuation school. A student may be considered for placement in the continuation 
school whenever his/herthe student’s parent/guardian submits a written request to the 
Superintendent or designee or the student is referred by a counselor or school administrator. 
 
Approval of a student's voluntary transfer shall be based on a finding that the placement will 
promote the educational interests of the student.  (Education Code 48432.3) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 48432.3, as added by AB 570 (Ch. 365, Statutes of 2013), mandates 
that the district's procedures ensure all of the conditions specified in itemsItems #1-62 and 4-7, 
below. 

Voluntary enrollment shall be subject to the following conditions:  (Education Code 48432.3, 
48432.5) 
   

1. 1. A student's voluntary placement in continuation education shall not be used as an 
alternative to expulsion unless alternative means of correction have been attempted 
pursuant to Education Code 48900.5. 
  

2. 2. The district shall strive to ensure that no specific group of students, including a 
group based on race, ethnicity, language status, or special needs, is disproportionately 
enrolled in continuation education within the district. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph implements the above requirement and may be 
revised to reflect district practice. 

3. 3. The Superintendent or designee shall annually review disaggregated student 
enrollment data and report such data to the Governing Board.  If it is determined that one 
or more student groups are enrolled in continuation education at a significantly higher level 
than their proportional enrollment in the district, the Superintendent or designee shall 
conduct a review of enrollment criteria and procedures to determine the reason for the 
disproportionate enrollment. 
  

4. 4. A copy of this administrative regulation and accompanying Board policy shall be 
provided to a student whose voluntary transfer to a continuation school is under 
consideration and to his/herthe student’s parent/guardian. 
  

5. 5. Before a student is transferred and upon request by his/herthe student’s 
parent/guardian, the parent/guardian may meet with a counselor, principal, or administrator 
from both the school that the student is currently attending and the continuation school to 
determine if transferring is the best option for the student. 
  

6. 6. To the extent possible, voluntary transfer to a continuation school shall occur within 
the first four weeks of each semester. 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 262



7. The transfer is voluntary, and the student has a right to return to the student’s previous 
school. 

7. 8. A student who is voluntarily enrolled in continuation education may return to the 
regular high school at the beginning of the following school year, or at any other time with 
the consent of the Superintendent or designee. 

 
Intake and Orientation 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48432.3, as added by AB 570 (Ch. 365, Statutes of 
2013), districts that allow students to voluntarily enroll in continuation education are mandated to 
adopt intake procedures for such students. The following section addresses intake and orientation 
for all students enrolled in continuation education and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Upon voluntary or involuntary transfer to a continuation education program, an intake meeting 
shall be conducted with each student and his/herthe student’s parent/guardian.  At this meeting, 
the principal or counselor shall provide information about each course and the number of credits 
that the student needs to complete in order to graduate and shall develop an individualized 
academic plan for the student. The student, and his/herthe student’s parent/guardian as 
appropriate, shall sign a contract indicating their commitment to these objectives. 
 
In addition, at the beginning of each school year, the district coordinator for continuation 
education, school counselor(s), or other designee(s) shall provide an orientation session for all 
incoming students and their parents/guardians in order to help them understandexplain the credit 
recovery process and establish expectations for student conduct and participation. As appropriate, 
extended orientation sessions may be provided to assist students in developing academic, social, 
communication, anger management, or other skills necessary to success in school. 
 
Minimum Attendance Requirement 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46170, the minimum school day for continuation high 
schools and classes is 180 minutes and no student will be credited with more than 15 hours of 
attendance per school week for apportionment purposes. However, the California Department of 
Education's web site reports that many continuation high schools provide full-day programs that 
exceed the minimum daily requirement. The following section may be revised to reflect district 
practice. 

In continuation high schools and classes, a day of attendance shall be at least 180 minutes. 
(Education Code 46170) 
 
Each student shall attend classes for not less than 15 hours per week.  However, if a student gives 
satisfactory proof of regular employment, he/shethe student may attend classes for not less than 
four hours per week for the regular school term.  These requirements may be met by any 
combination of attendance in a continuation education class and/or regional occupational center or 
program.  (Education Code 46170, 48402, 48400) 
 
Leaves of Absence 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 48416, students age 16-18 years may take leaves of 
absence in accordance with law provided that the Board has adopted policy allowing such leaves 
of absence; see BP/AR 5112.3 - Student Leave of Absence. The following optional section is for 
use by districts that allow such leaves of absence for students in compulsory continuation 
education classes. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 263



A student enrolled in compulsory continuation education classes may take a leave of absence for 
up to two semesters for the purpose of supervised travel, study, training, or work in accordance 
with law, Board policy, and administrative regulation.  (Education Code 48416) 
 
Reenrollment 
 
Any person age 16 or 17 years who terminated his/her enrollment in continuation school after 
obtaining a certificate of proficiency may reenroll in the district once without prejudice.  If the 
student leaves a second time, the Superintendent or designee may deny reenrollment until the 
beginning of the next semester.  (Education Code 48414)  

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
5 CCR 11000-11010 Continuation education 

Ed. Code 46170 Continuation schools; minimum day 

Ed. Code 48400 Weekly minimum attendance requirement 

Ed. Code 48400-48454 Compulsory continuation education 

Ed. Code 48402 Enrollment in continuation education; minors not regularly 
employed 

Ed. Code 48410-48416 Compulsory continuation education; exempt students 

Ed. Code 48430-48438 Continuation classes 

Ed. Code 48450-48454 ViolationViolations 

Ed. Code 48900 Grounds for suspension or expulsion 

Ed. Code 48900.5 Suspension, limitation on imposition; exception 

Ed. Code 48903 Limitations on days of suspension 

Ed. Code 51224-51225.351220-51230  Courses of study; graduation requirements 

Fam. Code 7000-7002 Emancipation of minors law 

Fam. Code 7050 Purposes for which emancipated minor considered an adult 

Management Resources Description 
Court Decision Nathan G. v. Clovis Unified School District (2014) 224 

Cal.App.5th (No. F065485)1393 

John W. Gardner Center Publication Raising the Bar, Building Capacity: Driving Improvement in 
California's Continuation High Schools, May 2012 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 264



John W. Gardner Center Publication Intake Processes at Continuation High Schools: Shaping 
School Climate Through Selection and Enrollment Strategies, 
February 2011 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website John W. Gardner Center for Youth and Their Communities, 
Stanford School of Education 

Website California Continuation Education Association 

Website California Department of Education 

Cross References 

Code Description 
0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1240 Volunteer Assistance 

1240 Volunteer Assistance 

1400 Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies And The 
Schools 

3515 Campus Security 

3515 Campus Security 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

4131 Staff Development 

5030 Student Wellness 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.1 Exemptions From Attendance 

5112.3 Student Leave Of Absence 

5112.3 Student Leave Of Absence 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 265

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://jgc.stanford.edu/#
http://jgc.stanford.edu/#
http://www.cceanet.org/#
http://www.cde.ca.gov/#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Gkdo9plusDt6Vyplusttm90K5WHg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=reI1K7XIeObnehrNUMDz6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cUDRpPGq33oE7TVGVbs7UQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VT1THkIzJRxMabQA5MDekg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=D4uOm9WPslsh0HwKjuRwh5qslshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qec3Iw1WslshtHfJqvplusOlraHQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qtmyiml4l7GvDTy6r17JMw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zzASb7clCzcCyplus88RtsvplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NJ8BCzsWlEWUKsJ7slshAuTsQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1j7GplusxgyW53mvdX2B0DS8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LnWplustabLCpluso8djB62LhlXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hd8gOBcuJw78wjJkEdLSAQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3XIplusPfslsh74xaYSKbXfkZEXQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w3AXoA8vl7AC7HLfttplusmjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GMyplus5iXp79Re8ozSaRPPNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3VQ2SRxrPvtRlcHjgcPvQg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=01vlz3wyD9ntCgvJmCnrpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TnU3AbwFtiLTw6a8ZYPmWQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r64yEpc9iLuIUslshuxFfUMaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Z4eCZBRaqfzFM5sHCQJY9A==#


5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.11 Attendance Supervision 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5131 Conduct 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.2 Bullying 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.4 Student Disturbances 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.6 Alcohol And Other Drugs 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5131.7 Weapons And Dangerous Instruments 

5136 Gangs 

5136 Gangs 

5137 Positive School Climate 

5138 Conflict Resolution/Peer Mediation 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5141.6 School Health Services 

5144 Discipline 

5144 Discipline 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.2 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process (Students With 
Disabilities) 

5145.6 Parent/Guardian Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parent/Guardian Notifications 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 266

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1uE1SYeARCrEZOYqXHAUzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GnplusEeg4OwP82YslshCfUJFplus8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BSRswan5tzMbq7LMRdlt9A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=w2rrFVAmQo4vjeURorkplusDw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=XG1pluskrXRJJSuVvplusWQsP6jA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lC1CFdRiHAMIxjQEjDM2zA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8uSrrmfzuPYOLH6fdRslshCIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dfqSopq8B9jy5hkP64NyGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8iYONVu4bnDJZOAPzBZYZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nWloMxsuTDjkt87K72FiWQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mVu5zcV6CslshzyAlplus67gnICg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYNplus5ZjslshT9lZ83gplusqks3slshw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dml8peO3bkBelUMzEToBig==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5fEYNMFzplus6o8FmrUrIEuKQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dujffGbh8UMxamslshWudSYSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YsXVVuDMJqLl9k7d04hpTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yVSqxgOvlWVwpCrBB5jICA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hmemznLBHnlFSmWlmSQQAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DoSNOOTFFB7OS9BEVSrfAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5gFvHqy3pq3nJG6LI0oHLA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vGslshiR6d1lj8Vmv32iiplusZEg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FbLkRReAyqkprjye9UnWZA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9f4iWVyXtiTXFIZlxRsXOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=HLAhfmqm0chyHdbqSLcTzg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=FSzgGHjlLjQNUZfaqB9DTQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r77J1ONeLGkkxUBQVaaImA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9VUkwhXHJSu8Uplus1CrKYapQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CyKYplusSV3BFs9rslsh2QUxtPAw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhMplusqG6koiIWw233cKrvxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=v43G7O5kj3OPoSmEDLAPlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg==#


5146 Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

5148 Child Care And Development 

5148 Child Care And Development 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

6011 Academic Standards 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6111 School Calendar 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6152 Class Assignment 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6173.1 Education for Foster Youth 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 267

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=64NnEXaRSOZYYmplus7SqykSQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1QEeplusxMdOsIYdSCedXofTw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=coozP01IbSWjplusCco0KS21g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7aX0M5z8FFhdRjqqkvAPTQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ac5UAppluswlfDnAW06l1yNNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3sWTWgcyt3qIk4BjS3SFw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kmepecduPHoiwuwUZw4nrQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=N3h66HEkPzMkVVzPyT2qRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IPWcsrKPaq1unXytkM92YQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yUxJDPiiohSl4Rv9LzsiAg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yskvyl598JZOFolJWdQnmQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DKYXqVv74EMknNkW5Qzplusaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Zd5keyTeOFsdJyvFb8I2XQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MhGTCA85aOSwplus413BaBpluseQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TXxQ68VyGLOjaKHmQeMVkg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=lDslshpluslEvBAt9QrslshQ8rhl0HQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pNV3bT9HswcW33cMd3DAxw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Td57hYEslsheplusSslshRPE3I9slshSmg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KpbplusRy0tHlzD8uYsVbNsow==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T0qW8h3b5ehrI6sPMdcuQg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=T1ZkK7CYAfDPrxX7sNEb2w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=I7sGGHWCNi2n3cgRSDBoJQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eslshibSSl4GNlTrVHxMFVWjQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=z0scplAKvmn8plusix845xedw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vSaIYHEI9dUdkxplustRWkjwQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=4tVagLqFnUH7UplusEXB5g44g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1CCoun1Bnvfcc9MJVDsj8g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6ykDsajB8QSvDwY2aIgGvw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=LzuwgJ1w3DeYEBxnV9ZMNA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GWszU9twzA8zAZKMROeKOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=auqK3bZBex4hGZO5qfuMxQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xHRiJ97CcSVAjB1hdRdtDg==#


6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6183 Home And Hospital Instruction 

6185 Community Day School 

6185 Community Day School 

6190 Evaluation Of The Instructional Program 

6200 Adult Education 

6200 Adult Education 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 268

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5QSqHJ2Bi8bXFHOEvK40dQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uYgevBzNmrqxVK33EOQfxA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8a5RCEWkAYmzQxd1TQVATQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5ZslshfmplusvDu3SMplusiy37XYqIA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nvXAM4Hpc9x1sMAWslshaKCCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jN8bO55slshuBplusMHKXpL0kHplusg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OLHwkplusY4AHr1Y5iZP1wtslshQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pGlLEc8cqs7IzrZmzlwYjg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=g5IajbiO2Wini07igRFzKQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ajBjgq5SZRRCmXsnphtraQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=izgusJg8hU1O1q0O2N9f7Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusn6clQYhd39g8RwejslshvXzQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZu0HaC44A4Wsk19drDyCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hTGuRqdZwgOfpDQgc4TJjw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RVua3SY1ABVVCPgl80lYLA==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Bylaw 9270: Conflict Of Interest Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/2010 | Last Revised Date: 0503/01/20162023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 0503/01/20162023 

 

 

CSBA NOTE: The determination as to whether a conflict of interest exists must be analyzed under 
two separate sets of statutes: (1) the conflict of interest provisions of the Political Reform Act 
(PRA) (Government Code 87100-87505), detailed in the section below entitled "Conflict of 
Interest under the Political Reform Act," and (2) Government Code 1090-1098, detailed in the 
section below entitled "Conflict of Interest under Government Code 1090 - Financial Interest in a 
Contract." Even when a conflict does not exist pursuant to those statutes, a violation might still 
occur under the common law doctrine against conflict of interest; see the section below entitled 
"Common Law Doctrine Against Conflict of Interest."  
 
Because the law and definitions are quite complex, it is strongly recommended that districts 
consult with CSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal 
counsel, and staff from the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC)), as soon as a potential 
conflict is presented. 

The Governing Board desires to maintain the highest ethical standards and help ensure that 
decisions are made in the best interest of the district and the public. Accordingly, no Board 
member, district employee, or other person in a designated position shall participate in the making 
of any decision for the district when the decision will or may be affected by his/herthe Board 
member’s, district employee’s, or other designated persons financial, family, or other personal 
interest or consideration. 
 
Even if a prohibited conflict of interest does not exist, a Board member shall abstain from voting on 
personnel matters that uniquely affect his/herthe Board member’s relatives. However, a Board 
member may vote on collective bargaining agreements and personnel matters that affect a class of 
employees to which his/herthe Board member’s relative belongs.  Relative means an adult who is 
related to the Board member by blood or affinity within the third degree, as determined by the 
common law, or an individual in an adoptive relationship within the third degree.  (Education Code 
35107) 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph reflects the common law definition of "relative within the 
third degree." 

A relationship within the third degree includes an individual's parents, grandparents, great-
grandparents, children, grandchildren, great-grandchildren, brothers, sisters, aunts, uncles, nieces, 
nephews, and the similar family of the individual's spouse/registered domestic partner unless the 
individual is widowed or divorced. 

CSBA NOTE: The Governing Board is required to adopt a conflict of interest code in compliance 
with Government Code 87300-87313. Board members and employees designated in the district's 
conflict of interest code are required by Government Code 87500 to annually file a Statement of 
Economic Interest/Form 700 to disclose any assets and income which may be materially affected 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 269



 

 

by official actions. Under the PRA, there are two separate categories of Form 700 disclosure 
requirements. For the first category pursuant to Government Code 87302, which is applicable to 
most school districts, the disclosure requirements are determined by the district and set forth in 
the district's conflict of interest code. The second category, pursuant to Government Code 87200, 
is only applicable to Board members and designated employees who "manage public investments"; 
see section below entitled "Additional Requirements for Boards that Manage Public Investments." 
Those Board members and designated employees, referred to by the FPPC as Government Code 
87200/Article 2 filers, must file broader disclosure statements pursuant to the disclosure 
requirements specified in law and FPPC regulation. 
 
Pursuant to Government Code 87303, the district's conflict of interest code must be approved by 
the appropriate code reviewing body. For districts located entirely in one county, the code 
reviewing body is the board of supervisors of the county in which the district is located. The FPPC 
is the code reviewing body for those school districts located in more than one county. 
 
Pursuant to 2 CCR 18730, the requirements of the Government Code are satisfied if a district 
adopts a conflict of interest code that incorporates 2 CCR 18730 by reference, along with a list of 
designated positions and disclosure categories. The accompanying exhibit (E 9270) contains a 
sample resolution that includes an appendix with designated positions and disclosure categories 
which, once adopted by the Board, will comprise the terms of the district's conflict of interest 
code that should be submitted to the code reviewing body.  

The Board shall adopt for the district a conflict of interest code that incorporates the provisions of 
2 CCR 18730 by reference, specifies the district's designated positions, and provides the disclosure 
categories required for each position. The conflict of interest code shall be submitted to the 
district's code reviewing body for approval, in accordance with Government Code 87303 and 
within the deadline for submission established by the code reviewing body.  (Government Code 
87303) 
 
Upon direction by the code reviewing body, the Board shall review the district's conflict of interest 
code and submit any changes to the code reviewing body or, if no change is required, the Board 
shall submit a written statement to that effect.  (Government Code 87306.5) 
 
When a change in the district's conflict of interest code is necessitated due to changed 
circumstances, such as the creation of new designated positions, changes to the duties assigned to 
existing positions, amendments, or revisions, the amended code shall be submitted to the code 
reviewing body within 90 days after the changed circumstances necessitating the amendments 
have become apparent.  (Government Code 87306) 
 
When reviewing and preparing the district's conflict of interest code, the Superintendent or 
designee shall provide officers, employees, consultants, and members of the community adequate 
notice and a fair opportunity to present their views.  (Government Code 87311) 
 
Board members and designated employees shall annually file a Statement of Economic 
Interest/Form 700 in accordance with the disclosure categories specified in the district's conflict of 
interest code. A Board member who leaves office or a designated employee who leaves district 
employment shall, within 30 days, file a revised statement covering the period of time between the 
closing date of the last required statement and the date of leaving office or district employment.  
(Government Code 87302, 87302.6) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 270



 

 

 
Conflict of Interest under the Political Reform Act 

CSBA NOTE: The FPPC has adopted an eight-step analysis, detailed in Government Code 87100-
87500, 2 CCR 18700-18755, and interpretive opinions, to determine whether a conflict of 
interest exists under the PRA. When such a conflict exists, the affected Board memberdistrict 
official must disclose the interest and disqualify himself/herself from participatingnot participate 
in the decision, as specified below. Because Family Code 297.5 grants a registered domestic 
partner the same rights, protections, and benefits as a spouse under state law, analysis of a 
conflict of interest with regards to a Board member's spouse is also applicable to a registered 
domestic partner.  

AA district official, including a Board member, designated employee, or other person in a 
designated position shall not make, participate in making, or in any way use or attempt to use 
his/heran official position to influence a governmental decision in which he/shethe district official 
knows or has reason to know that he/she hasthere is a disqualifying conflict of interest. A 
disqualifying conflict of interest exists if the decision will have a "reasonably foreseeable material 
financial effect," which is distinguishable from the effect on the public generally, on the Board 
member, designated employee, or other person in a designated position, his/herdistrict official, the 
district official’s immediate family, or any financial interest described in 2 CCR 18700.  
(Government Code 87100, 87101, 87103; 2 CCR 18700-18707) 
 
A Board member, designated employee, or other person in a designated positiondistrict official 
makes a governmental decision when he/she, acting, within the authority of his/herthe office or 
position, the district official authorizes or directs any action on a matter, votes or provides 
information or opinion on it, contacts or appears before aanother district official for the purpose of 
affecting the decision, or takes any other action specified in 2 CCR 18704. 

CSBA NOTE: 2 CCR 18705 permits a Board member who is financially interested in a contract to 
participate in making a decision on the contract if (1) he/shethe Board member discloses the 
existence of the conflict and describes with particularity the nature of his/her economicthe 
financial interest in the contract; (2) gives a summary description of the circumstances under 
which he/shethe Board member believes the conflict may arise; and (3) either he/shethe Board 
member, another Board member, or a district employee discloses the legal basis for concluding 
that no alternative source of decision exists for the district. In general, this rule will permit a 
district to acquire an essential supply or service. CSBA strongly recommends that CSBA’s District 
and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel be consulted when 
situations arise involving the rule of necessity, as strict compliance is required. 

However, a Board memberdistrict official shall participate in the making of a contract in which 
he/shethe district official has a financial interest if his/hersuch participation is required by the rule 
of necessity or legally required participation pursuant to Government Code 87101 and 2 CCR 
18705. 
 
Conflict of Interest from Campaign Contributions  

 

CSBA NOTE:  Pursuant to Government Code 84308, as amended by SB 1439 (Ch. 848, Statutes 
of 2022), elected district officers, such as Board members, and “agency heads”, which likely 
include Superintendents, are prohibited from participating in decisions involving parties who have 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 271



 

 

provided campaign contributions of more than $250 in the prior 12 months to the officer’s 
campaign committee. Such officers are also prohibited from accepting, soliciting, or directing 
campaign contributions of more than $250 from a party or participant who has a financial interest 
in a Board decision, to any campaign committee while the decision is pending and for 12 months 
after the decision is made. These provisions do not apply to labor contracts, competitively bid 
contracts, and personal employment contracts. 

To avoid improper influence over the Board’s decision-making involving the issuance of a license, 
permit, or other entitlements for use, including a contract, district officers, which includes Board 
members or agency heads, shall comply with Government Code 84308, including the following: 
(Government Code 84308) 

1.   A district officer is prohibited from accepting, soliciting, or directing a contribution of more 
than $250 from any party or participant to a proceeding involving a license, permit, or other 
entitlement for use, including a contract, or from that person’s agent, while the proceeding is 
pending before the Board and for 12 months following the date a final decision is rendered in 
the proceeding, if the Board member knows or has reason to know that the party or participant 
has a financial interest in the Board’s decision. 

2.   Any district officer who received a contribution of more than $250 from a party or 
participant in the preceding 12 months shall disclose that fact on the record of the proceeding 
prior to the Board rendering a decision in the proceeding. If the district officer willfully or 
knowingly received the contribution and knows or has reason to know that the participant has 
a financial interest in the Board’s decision, the district officer shall not make, participate in 
making, or in any way attempt to use the official position to influence the Board’s decision. 

3.   A district officer who receives a contribution that would otherwise require disqualification 
as described in Item #2 above may participate in the proceeding if the contribution is returned 
within 30 days from the time the district officer knows or should have known about the 
contribution and the proceeding. 

4.   A district officer who unknowingly accepts, solicits, or directs a contribution of more than 
$250 during the 12 months after the date of the Board’s final decision on the proceeding may 
cure the violation by returning the contribution, or the portion exceeding $250, within 14 days 
of accepting, soliciting, or directing the contribution, provided the district officer did not 
knowingly or willfully accept, solicit, or direct the prohibited contribution. The district officer 
shall maintain records of curing the violation. 

The provisions in Government Code 84308 as specified above do not apply to labor contracts, 
competitively bid contracts, and personal employment contracts.  (Government Code 84308)  

Additional Requirements for Boards that Manage Public Investments 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use only by districts in which the Board and/or 
designated employees are considered to be "officials who manage public investments" and who 
are required to file a full financial disclosure statement in accordance with Government Code 
87200. It should be deleted by all other districts. See the accompanying exhibit for further 
information. 
 
According to the FPPC, officials who manage public investments are boards or designated 
employees who manage the investment of district surplus or special reserve funds in permitted 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 272



 

 

securities and investments pursuant to Education Code 41015. Those boards that direct the 
investment of these funds, formulate or approve policies for the investment of these funds, even 
if they delegate day-to-day investment decisions to staff, or approve investment transactions 
involving these funds are considered officials who manage public investments.  
 
The Board does not manage public investments when the district does not have any surplus or 
special reserve funds to invest and merely deposits all funds it receives (1) in the county treasury 
pursuant to Education Code 41001-41002.5 or (2) in a fund where a Tax and Revenue 
Anticipation Note (TRANs) is issued. Board members and superintendents in these types of 
situations are not considered to have discretion regarding the investment of the district's money 
and are therefore not officials who manage public investments. 

Any Board member who manages public investments pursuant to Government Code 87200 and 
who has a financial interest in a decision shall, upon identifying a conflict or potential conflict of 
interest and immediately prior to the consideration of the matter, do all of the following:  
(Government Code 87105; 2 CCR 18707)  

1. 1. Publicly identify each financial interest that gives rise to the conflict or potential 
conflict of interest in detail sufficient to be understood by the public, except that disclosure 
of the exact street address of a residence is not required. 
  

2. Recuse himself/herself from discussing and voting2. Not discuss or vote on the matter, or 
otherwise actingact in violation of Government Code 87100. The Board member shall not 
be counted toward achieving a quorum while the item is discussed. 
 
However, the Board member may speak on the issue during the time that the general public 
speaks on it and may leave the dais to speak from the same area as members of the public. 
He/sheThe Board member may listen to the public discussion and deliberations of the 
matter with members of the public. 
  

3. 3. Leave the room until after the discussion, vote, and any other disposition of the 
matter is concluded, unless the matter has been placed on the portion of the agenda 
reserved for uncontested matters. 
 
If the item is on the consent calendar, the Board member must recuse himself/herselfshall 
either make a motion to remove the item from the consent calendar or the Board member 
shall abstain from voting on the consent calendar. In any event, the Board member shall 
refrain from discussing or voting on that matter, butthe item. However, the Board member 
is not required to leave the room during consideration of the consent calendar. 
  

4. 4. If the Board's decision is made during closed session, disclose his/herthe interest 
orally during the open session preceding the closed session. This disclosure shall be limited 
to a declaration that his/herthe recusal is because of a conflict of interest pursuant to 
Government Code 87100. He/sheThe Board member shall not be present when the item is 
considered in closed session and shall not knowingly obtain or review a recording or any 
other nonpublic information regarding the Board's decision 

Conflict of Interest under Government Code 1090 - Financial Interest in a Contract 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 273



 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 1090, if a Board member has a financial interest in a 
contract, it is an absolute bar for that district to enter into the contract. The Attorney General has 
opined in 69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 255 (1986) that, unlike the PRA, the prohibitions in Government 
Code 1090 cannot be resolved by having the financially interested Board member abstain from 
participating in the matter. However, there are two categories of exceptions. If a financial interest 
meets the definition of a "noninterest" as specified in Government Code 1091.5, then the 
restrictions in Government Code 1090 do not apply and the district can enter into the contract. 
Secondly, if a Board member's interest is deemed a "remote interest" pursuant Government Code 
1091, then the district can enter into the contract as long as certain conditions are satisfied, as 
specified below. 
 
While the prohibitions in the PRA only apply to designated employees, the prohibitions in 
Government Code 1090 apply to all district employees and consultants. California appellate 
courts have ruled in McGee v. Balfour Beatty Construction LLC and Davis v. Fresno Unified School 
District that Government Code 1090 applies to consultants, including corporate consultants, who 
fill the roles and positions of officers, employees, and agents of the district. However, the 
Attorney General has opined in 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 868 (1980) that an employee's financial 
interest would not prohibit the district from entering into a contract as long as the employee has 
not participated in the making of the contract, such as in discussions and planning, as detailed 
below. 
 
Government Code 1090 does not define financial interest, but courts have held that, for the 
purposes of this statute, the definition of "financial interest" is not the same as the definition in 
the PRA which requires a "material financial effect" in order for a conflict to exist. Because the 
determination of whether a financial interest exists involves a review of statutes, court decisions, 
and Attorney General opinions as they apply to the particular facts at issue, the analysis can be 
complex and CSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal 
counsel should be consulted as appropriate. 

Board members, employees, or district consultants shall not be financially interested in any contract 
made by the Board on behalf of the district, including in the development, preliminary discussions, 
negotiations, compromises, planning, reasoning, and specifications and solicitations for bids. If a 
Board member has such a financial interest in a contract made by the Board, the contract is void.  
(Government Code 1090) 

CSBA NOTE: The district may enter into a contract when a Board member'smember’s interest is a 
"“remote interest"” as defined in Government Code 1091. Generally, this issue arises when the 
district wishes to enter into a contract with the Board member'smember’s employer. When the 
conditions specified in Government Code 1091 are satisfied (e.g., Board member is an employee 
of a nonprofit organization, the employer has at least 10 employees, and the Board member has 
been employed more than three years), then the district may enter into the contract as long as the 
affected Board member discloses the remote interest and abstains from the matter. 
 
Board members who willfully fail to disclose a remote interest in a contract may be subject to a 
fine or imprisonment pursuant to Government Code 1097. 

A Board member shall not be considered to be financially interested in a contract in which he/she 
hasthere is only a "remote interest," as specified in Government Code 1091, if the interest is 
disclosed during a Board meeting and noted in the official Board minutes.  The affected Board 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 274



 

 

member shall not vote or debate on the matter or attempt to influence any other Board member or 
district official to enter into the contract.  (Government Code 1091) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 1091.5, certain financial interests are defined as 
"noninterests," meaning a conflict of interest does not exist and the district can enter into the 
contract. One of the noninterests listed in Government Code 1091.5 is when a Board member's 
spouse has been employed by the district for at least one year prior to the Board member's 
election or appointment. If the spouse has not been employed by the district for at least one year 
prior to the Board member's election or appointment, the exception does not apply and 
Government Code 1090 prohibits the district from entering into a new contract to hire the 
spouse. (80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 320 (1997)) 
 
Attorney General opinions and case law have further clarified the application of this noninterest 
exception when a previously employed spouse changes to a different position during the Board 
member's term. Generally, these opinions have held that a lateral transfer or change of 
classification that does not require Board approval (e.g., second year probationary teacher 
automatically achieving permanent status, step increase) is the same employment not requiring a 
new contract and thus constitutes a noninterest. (92 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 26 (2009), 87 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 23 (2004)) However, when a new contract is involved (e.g., promotion from 
classroom teacher to principal, substitute employee becoming a probationary employee), the 
exception in Government Code 1091.5 does not apply and the action would be prohibited under 
Government Code 1090 because Board approval of the contract is required. (Thorpe v. Long Beach 
Community College District, 69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 255 (1986)) 
 
Because this area of law is complex, it is strongly recommended that CSBA’s District and County 
Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel be consulted if a Board member's 
spouse is an employee of the district or when analyzing whether an interest is a noninterest or 
remote interest. 

In addition, a Board member shall not be considered to be financially interested in a contract in 
which his/herthe interest is a "noninterest" as defined in Government Code 1091.5.  Noninterest 
includes a Board member's interest in being reimbursed for his/her actual and necessary expenses 
incurred in the performance of his/her official duties, in the employment of his/hera 
spouse/registered domestic partner who has been a district employee for at least one year prior to 
the Board member's election or appointment, or in any other applicable circumstance specified in 
Government Code 1091.5. 
 
Common Law Doctrine Against Conflict of Interest 

CSBA NOTE: Even when there is not a conflict pursuant to the PRA (Government Code 87100-
87505) or Government Code 1090, the Attorney General has found that special situations may 
still exist under the common law doctrine against conflict of interest which, unlike the statutes, 
extends to noneconomic interests. In 92 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 19 (2009), the Attorney General 
opined that a redevelopment board member should abstain from voting on a loan agreement 
where the recipient of the loan was a corporation owned by the board member's adult son. 
Although the board member was not financially interested in the contract under the PRA or 
Government Code 1090, the Attorney General determined that abstention was necessary in order 
to avoid a conflict between the member's official and personal interests and to avoid the 
appearance of impropriety. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 275



 

 

 
Districts are encouraged to consult CSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services 
or legal counsel if situations arise that raise the question as to whether such a conflict exists. 

A Board member shall abstain from any official action in which his/herthe Board member’s private 
or personal interest may conflict with his/her official duties. 
 
Incompatible Offices and Activities 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 1099 and 1126 prohibit Board members and employees from 
engaging in any employment or activity which is inconsistent, incompatible, in conflict with, or 
inimical to their duties with the district. Government Code 1126 mandates the district to adopt 
procedures regarding this prohibition. See BP 4136/4236/4336 - Nonschool Employment for 
language implementing this mandate relative to employees. 
 
Attorney General opinions have indicated that it would be incompatible for Board members to 
serve on other elected or appointed boards, councils, or commissions that have interests which 
may conflict with the interests of the district (105 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 69 (2022), 85 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 60 (2002); 68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 171 (1985); 65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 606 (1982)). 
If a Board member is sworn into an incompatible office, then his/herthe Board member’s position 
in the prior office is automatically terminated. 
 
Pursuant to Education Code 35107, an employee of a school district may not be sworn into office 
as an elected or appointed member of that district's Board unless he/shethe Board member 
resigns as an employee. If the employee does not resign, the employment automatically 
terminates when he/she is sworn into office. See BB 9220 - Governing Board Elections. 
 
The determination as to whether an activity or office is incompatible is complex and requires a 
case-by-case analysis of the particular activities or duties of the office; therefore, it is 
recommended that CSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal 
counsel be consulted as appropriate. 

Board members shall not engage in any employment or activity or hold any office which is 
inconsistent with, incompatible with, in conflict with, or inimical to the Board member'smember’s 
duties as an officer of the district.  (Government Code 1099, 1126) 
 
Gifts 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 2 CCR 18730, the gift limitation is currently $460590. This amount is 
adjusted in odd-numbered years by the FPPC. Pursuant to Government Code 89503, Board 
members and candidates are subject to gift limitation for gifts from all sources except when 
exempted by law or regulation. For those Board members who file a Form 700 based on the 
disclosure categories specified in the district'sdistrict’s conflict of interest code pursuant to 
Government Code 87302 (see the accompanying exhibit), the gift limit is only applicable as to 
those individuals and entities that are disclosed on the Form 700. 
 
Several exceptions exist within the Government Code'sCode’s definitions of gifts, income, interest 
in real property, and investment; see Government Code 82028, 82030, 82033, and 82034. If 
questions arise as to such exceptions, the district may seek clarification from the FPPC through 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 276



 

 

email to advice@fppc.ca.gov or consult CSBA’s District and County Office of Education Legal 
Services or district legal counsel. 

Board members and designated employees may accept gifts only under the conditions and 
limitations specified in Government Code 89503 and 2 CCR 18730. 
 
The limitation on gifts does not apply to wedding gifts and gifts exchanged between individuals on 
birthdays, holidays, and other similar occasions, provided that the gifts exchanged are not 
substantially disproportionate in value.  (Government Code 89503) 
 
In addition, the limitation on gifts does not apply to informational materials such as books, reports, 
pamphlets, calendars, and periodicals.  (Government Code 82028) 

CSBA NOTE: Board members and designated employees may, in the circumstances described in 
Government Code 89506, receive payments, advances, or reimbursements for travel and related 
lodging and subsistence, which will not be subject to the gift limit set in Government Code 89503. 

Gifts of travel and related lodging and subsistence shall be subject to the current gift limitation, 
except when:  (Government Code 89506)  

1. 1. The travel is in connection with a speech given by a Board member or designated 
employee, provided the lodging and subsistence expenses are limited to the day 
immediately preceding, the day of, and the day immediately following the speech and the 
travel is within the United States. 
  

2. 2. The travel is provided by a person or agency specified in Government Code 89506, 
including a government, governmental agency or authority, bona fide public or private 
educational institution, as defined in Revenue and Taxation Code 203, or nonprofit 
organization exempt from taxation under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Gifts of travel exempted from the gift limitation, as described in itemsItems #1 and 2 above, shall 
nevertheless be reportable on the recipient's Statement of Economic Interest/Form 700 as required 
by law. 
 
A gift of travel does not include travel provided by the district for Board members and designated 
employees.  (Government Code 89506) 
 
Honoraria 
 
Board members and designated employees shall not accept any honorarium, which is defined as 
any payment made in consideration for any speech given, article published, or attendance at any 
public or private conference, convention, meeting, social event, meal, or like gathering.  
(Government Code 89501, 89502) 
 
The term honorarium does not include:  (Government Code 89501)  

1. 1. Earned income for personal services customarily provided in connection with a bona 
fide business, trade, or profession, unless the sole or predominant activity of the business, 
trade, or profession is making speeches 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 277



 

 

2. 2. Any honorarium which is not used and, within 30 days after receipt, is either 
returned to the donor or delivered to the district for donation into the general fund without 
being claimed as a deduction from income for tax purposes 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
2 CCR 18110-18997 Regulations of the Fair Political Practices Commission 

2 CCR 18700-18760 Conflicts of Interest 

2 CCR 18722-18740 Disclosure of interests 

2 CCR 18753-18756 Conflict of interest codes 

2 CCR 18438.1-18438.8 Campaign contribution-based conflicts of interest 

Ed. Code 1006 Prohibition against school district employees serving on 
county board of education 

Ed. Code 35107 School district employees 

Ed. Code 35230-35240 Corrupt practices 

Ed. Code 35233 Prohibitions applicable to members of governing boards 

Ed. Code 41000-41003 Moneys received by school districts 

Ed. Code 41015 Investments 

Fam. Code 297.5 Rights, protections, and benefits of registered domestic 
partners 

Gov. Code 1090-1099 Prohibitions applicable to specified officers 

Gov. Code 52334-53235.2 Ethics training 

Gov. Code 1125-1129 Incompatible activities 

Gov. Code 81000-91014 Political Reform Act of 1974 

Gov. Code 82011 Code reviewing body 

Gov. Code 82019 Definition; designated employee 

Gov. Code 82028 Definition; gift 

Gov. Code 82030 Definition; income 

Gov. Code 82033 Definition; interest in real property 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 278

https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Browse/Home/California/CaliforniaCodeofRegulations?guid=I48791770D49311DEBC02831C6D6C108E&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)#
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Browse/Home/California/CaliforniaCodeofRegulations?guid=I9A9FF9B0D49311DEBC02831C6D6C108E&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)#
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Browse/Home/California/CaliforniaCodeofRegulations?guid=IAC505380D49311DEBC02831C6D6C108E&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)#
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Browse/Home/California/CaliforniaCodeofRegulations?guid=IB9657A50D49311DEBC02831C6D6C108E&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)#
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=1006.&lawCode=EDC#
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=1006.&lawCode=EDC#
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=82019.&lawCode=GOV#


 

 

Gov. Code 82034 Definition; investment 

Gov. Code 84308 Campaign disclosure 

Gov. Code 87100-87103.6 General prohibitions 

Gov. Code 87200-87210 Disclosure 

Gov. Code 87300-87313 Conflict of interest code 

Gov. Code 87500 Statement of economic interests 

Gov. Code 89501-89503 Honoraria and gifts 

Gov. Code 89506 Ethics; travel 

Gov. Code 91000-91014 Enforcement 

Public Contract Code 6102 Awarding of contracts 

Pen. Code 85-88 Bribes 

Rev. & Tax Code 203 Taxable and exempt property -; colleges 

Management Resources Description 
Attorney General Opinion 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 868 (1980) 

Attorney General Opinion 65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 606 (1982) 

Attorney General Opinion 68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 171 (1985) 

Attorney General Opinion 69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 255 (1986) 

Attorney General Opinion 80 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 320 (1997) 

Attorney General Opinion 81 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 327 (1998) 

Attorney General Opinion 82 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 83 (1999) 

Attorney General Opinion 85 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 60 (2002) 

Attorney General Opinion 86 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 138 (2003) 

Attorney General Opinion 89 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 217 (2006) 

Attorney General Opinion 92 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 19 (2009) 

Attorney General Opinion 92 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 26 (2009) 

Attorney General Opinion 105 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.69 (2022) 

Court Decision Davis v. Fresno Unified School District (2015) 237 
Cal.App.4th 261 

Court Decision Klistoff v. Superior Court, (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 469 

Court Decision Kunec v. Brea Redevelopment Agency, (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 
511 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 279

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?chapter=7.&lawCode=GOV&title=9.&article=3.#


 

 

Court Decision McGee v. Balfour Beatty Construction, LLC, et al. (2016) 247 
Cal. App. 4th 235 

Court Decision Thorpe v. Long Beach Community College District, (2000) 83 
Cal.App.4th 655 

CSBA Publication Conflict of Interest:  Overview of Key Issues for Governing 
Board Members, Fact Sheet, July 2010 

Fair Political Practices Commission 
Publication 

Can I Vote? A Basic Overview of Public Officials' Obligations 
Under the Conflict-of-Interest Rules, 2005 

Institute For Local Government 
Publication 

Understanding the Basics of Public Service Ethics: Personal 
Financial Gain Laws, 2009 

Institute for Local Government 
Publication 

Understanding the Basics of Public Service Ethics: 
Transparency Laws, 2009 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website Institute for Local Government 

Website Fair Political Practices Commission 

Website CSBA 

Cross References 

Code Description 
1340 Access To District Records 

1340 Access To District Records 

1700 Relations Between Private Industry And The Schools 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3300 Expenditures And Purchases 

3311 Bids 

3311 Bids 

3430 Investing 

3430 Investing 

3470 Debt Issuance And Management 

3600 Consultants 

4112.8 Employment Of Relatives 

4117.2 Resignation 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 280

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
http://www.ca-ilg.org/#
http://www.fppc.ca.gov/#
http://www.csba.org/#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hslshtfFFM2BG51vDhPrmslshC5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yCSSkBTbSTOT2JV5ITsePw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m3vxtsHgsfrslshlkHYaD1Aaw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OmRW7DZwmhv7QplusgwNmVQMA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dxgWbeettLg4plusRjRCHJjuw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dqNxc7CvuaNvLlFpDWzf8w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=X6exiqTENk1sFX9dfagU9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cJ9VE9WVdIw1OQCOlc3C5g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=abVplus2yPmfhHQx6Bx9w5yrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lq5iprlpFSt1bvALmjO5WA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=a98feHxslshMAZNwvCAAK62AQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jqUQFDWQei8Sh71OqaeGGA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cJbEbkctWAZsHp90MYYz0g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IN2RmFFciNg7i0pHpnA5zg==#


 

 

4136 Nonschool Employment 

4212.8 Employment Of Relatives 

4217.2 Resignation 

4236 Nonschool Employment 

4312.8 Employment Of Relatives 

4317.2 Resignation 

4336 Nonschool Employment 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1-E(1) Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

7140 Architectural And Engineering Services 

7140 Architectural And Engineering Services 

7214 General Obligation Bonds 

7214 General Obligation Bonds 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9005 Governance Standards 

9140 Board Representatives 

9200 Limits Of Board Member Authority 

9220 Governing Board Elections 

9222 Resignation 

9230 Orientation 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

9323 Meeting Conduct 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 281

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WQyyX4yT8lnRbjXplusp1Sq2A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NQSMpb660TDNs6ByNd7OaA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vS3p9BKC3zctlc9Eh9Mcbg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0csElIICKC6dE9LQIoQuAA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dz3vYzxXnHNvb6MashyQ0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fplusUUVzFKk5RWfNcMs6T4DA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QmjPbfeyLiMx2MwvyAKk3g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=W8jBdPjQ6kmnMkKemM01Gg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0plusPO9doDKFJPslsh8ghxK3qjA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=oS4jDvWyzT8H979UsslshfRAQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=X9KwpuCnslshjY3TuslshswQSUXw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=MbxjSslshNUUxDNuplusPnJD8wuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wo0ln4hEcINL1NQwu1CWrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=POrERfofnVfxhVnZmQwxog==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rZOJ87t1zaViVSr32aaX9w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DpyplusdpUURhJ1VjyKzVmGXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8sb18yRcWrxmeMqJCZplusJCQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=93I5rplus1VCwWCrGUSPcIKZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kBcvt9WSj7plusVd3tAWFnhlQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CJjXUN8IKsFNsslshNpSjAfxg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Fu4yQLBRZxTqW3v8pbl0A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r2NMUoOTIslsh5NEAo9nsCaplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bqGfY4qCGCTAqurzrGplusmlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8ILtDSKgUM2bL4YbwyAzaQ==#


 

 

CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 
CSBA Sample Manual Site 

Bylaw 9320: Meetings And Notices Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2008 | Last Revised Date: 123/01/20212023 | Last Reviewed 
Date: 123/01/20212023 

 

 
Meetings of the Governing Board are conducted for the purpose of accomplishing district business. 
In accordance with state open meeting laws (Brown Act), the Board shall hold its meetings in public 
and shall conduct closed sessions during such meetings only as authorized by law. To encourage 
community involvement in the schools, Board meetings shall provide opportunities for questions 
and comments by members of the public. All meetings shall be conducted in accordance with law 
and the Board's bylaws, policies, and administrative regulations. 
 
A Board meeting exists whenever a majority of Board members gather at the same time and 
location, including teleconference location as permitted by Government Code 54953, to hear, 
discuss, deliberate, or take action upon any item within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board 
or district.  (Government Code 54952.2) 

CSBA NOTE: The Brown Act prohibits serial meetings, defined under Government Code 54952.2 
as a series of communications of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, to discuss, 
deliberate, or take action on any item of district business. 
 
This prohibition against serial meetings also applies to communications via technology. Email 
exchanges, text/chat room threads, or comments posted on a blog or social media account that 
result in a majority of the Governing Board "discussing among themselves" an item within the 
subject matter jurisdiction of the Board could result in a Brown Act violation. Pursuant to 
Government Code 54952.2, as amended by AB 992 (Ch. 89, Statutes of 2020), Board members 
may engage in separate conversations or communications with members of the public on an 
Internet-based social media platform that is open and accessible to the public as long as a majority 
of the Board does not use the platform to discuss among themselves business within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the Board and members do not comment on or use digital icons (e.g., "likes" 
or emojis) to express reactions to communications made by other Board members. Consequently, 
a Board member is prohibited from responding directly to any communication from other 
members of the Board on a social media platform regarding matters that are within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the Board. See BB 9012 - Board Member Electronic Communications. 
 
In 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 30 (2001), the Attorney General opined that Government Code 54952.2 
prohibits a majority of the Board from sending emails to each other to develop a collective 
concurrence as to action to be taken by the Board even if the emails are (1) sent to the secretary 
and chairperson, (2) posted on the district's web site, and (3) distributed (in a printed version) at 
the next meeting. Although the Attorney General recognized that those three conditions would 
allow the deliberations to be conducted, to some extent, "in public," the emails were prohibited by 
the Brown Act because all debate would be completed before the meeting and members of the 
public who did not have Internet access would be excluded from the debate. 

A majority of the Board shall not, outside of an authorized meeting, use a series of communications 
of any kind, directly or through intermediaries, including social media and other electronic 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 282



communications, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the Board.  (Government Code 54952.2) 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 54952.2 specifies that briefings between staff and Board 
members are permissible in order to answer questions or to provide information, as long as the 
briefing is not used to communicate the comments or position of any other Board member. 

However, an employee or district official may engage in separate conversations or communications 
with Board members in order to answer questions or provide information regarding an item within 
the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board, as long as that employee or district official does not 
communicate the comments or position of any Board members to other Board members.  
(Government Code 54952.2) 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 54953.2 requires that all Board meetings meet the protections of 
the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) (42 USC 12132) and implementing regulations (28 CFR 
35.160, 36.303). Such protections require the district to ensure that the meeting is accessible to 
persons with disabilities and, upon request, to provide disability-related accommodations, such as 
auxiliary aids and services. Auxiliary aids and services may include accommodations at the actual 
meeting, such as a sign-language interpreter, or accommodations to the supporting 
documentation, such as Braille translation of the agenda packet. Government Code 54954.2 
requires that the agenda specify how, when, and to whom a request for accommodation should be 
made; see BB 9322 - Agenda/Meeting Materials. 

Government Code 54953, as amended by AB 2449 (Ch. 285, Statutes of 2022), requires boards to 
maintain and implement a procedure for receiving and swiftly resolving requests for reasonable 
accommodation for individuals with disabilities, consistent with the ADA, and to resolve any doubt 
in favor of accessibility. 

In order to help ensure the participation of individuals with disabilities at Board meetings, the 
Superintendent or designee shall provide appropriate disability-related accommodations or 
modifications upon request in accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act.  Any doubt 
about a request for accommodation shall be resolved in favor of accessibility.  (Government Code 
54953, 54953.2, 54954.1, 54954.2)  

Notice of the procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation described above 
shall be given in each instance in which notice of the time of a meeting is otherwise given or the 
agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted.  (Government Code 54953) 

Regular Meetings 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35140 and Government Code 54954 mandate the Board to fix the 
time and place for its regular meetings by rule and regulation. 

The Board shall hold two regular meeting(s) each month. Regular meetings shall be held at 
_6:30 p.m. on the first  and third Thursday of each month (day) at the District Office, 435 Hillcrest 
Avenue, Pacific Grove, CA 93950, and virtually. Zoom links are available at www.pgusd.org  
____________________________________. CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 54954.2, the agenda for a regular meeting must be 
posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting, at a location that is freely accessible to the public. 
Government Code 54954.2 also requires that the agenda be posted on the district's web site, if it 
has one. Any district that does not have a web site should delete the reference to it in the 
following paragraph. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 283

Executive Assistant
Cross-Out



 

 

 
The Attorney General has determined in 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 327 (1995) that weekend hours 
may be counted as part of the 72-hour period for posting of the agenda prior to a regular meeting. 
In the same opinion, the Attorney General found that the term "freely accessible" requires that the 
agenda be posted in a location where it can be read by the public at any time during the 72 hours 
immediately preceding the meeting. For example, if a building where the agenda is posted is 
closed during the evening hours, the agenda must also be posted in a location accessible during 
evening hours, such as a lighted display case outside of the building. The Attorney General also 
opined in 88 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 218 (2005) that the agenda may be posted on a touch screen 
electronic kiosk, in lieu of a paper copy on a bulletin board, as long as the kiosk is accessible 
without charge to the public 24 hours a day, seven days a week. 

At least 72 hours prior to a regular meeting, the agenda shall be posted at one or more locations 
freely accessible to members of the public and on the district's web site.  (Government Code 
54954.2) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 54957.5, the agenda must list anythe address where 
the public can inspect agenda materials that are distributed to Board members less than 72 hours 
before a regular meeting;. Pursuant to Government Code 54957.5, as amended by AB 2647 (Ch. 
971, Statutes of 2022), when agenda materials are distributed to all or a majority of the Board less 
than 72 hours before a regular meeting and outside of regular business hours, the materials may 
be posted on the district’s web site in satisfaction of the Brown Act if specified requirements are 
met. Districts with questions regarding this exception are encouraged to consult CSBA’s District 
and County Office of Education Legal Services or district legal counsel. Also see BB 9322 - 
Agenda/Meeting Materials.  
 
In addition, pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Government Code 6252-62707920.000 
- 7930.170), agenda materials related to an open session of a Board's regular meeting are "public 
records" and are subject to the inspection of any member of the public. For a list of documents 
subject to disclosure by the district, see BP/AR 1340 - Access to District Records. 

Whenever agenda materials relating to an open session of a regular meeting are distributed to the 
Board less than 72 hours before the meeting, the Superintendent or designee shall make the 
materials available for public inspection at a public office or location designated for that purpose or 
on the district web site, consistent with Government Code 54957.5, at the time the materials are 
distributed to all or a majority of the Board.  (Government Code 54957.5) 
 
Special Meetings 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 35144 and Government Code 54956 allow the Board to hold 
special meetings to address any matter that requires timely action. For example, the Board may 
hold a special meeting to discuss the need for an emergency state apportionment when the 
district is in financial distress; see BP 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability. However, 
pursuant to Government Code 54956, certain specified matters, as described below, may not be 
addressed in a special meeting. 

Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time by the presiding officer or a majority of the 
Board members. However, a special meeting shall not be called regarding the salary, salary 
schedule, or other compensation of the Superintendent, assistant superintendent, or other 
management employee as described in Government Code 3511.1.  (Government Code 54956) 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 284



 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 54956, written notice of a special meeting may be 
delivered personally or by other means, including email or fax. Government Code 54956 requires 
any district that has its own web site to also post the notice on its web site. Any district that does 
not have its own web site should delete reference to it in the following paragraph. 

Written notice of special meetings shall be delivered personally or by any other means to all Board 
members and the local media who have requested such notice in writing. The notice also shall be 
posted on the district's web site. The notice shall be received at least 24 hours before the time of 
the meeting. The notice shall also be posted at least 24 hours before the meeting in a location 
freely accessible to the public. The notice shall specify the time and location of the meeting and the 
business to be transacted or discussed. No other business shall be considered at this meeting.  
(Education Code 35144; Government Code 54956) 
 
Any Board member may waive the 24-hour written notice requirement prior to the time of the 
meeting by filing a written waiver of notice with the clerk or secretary of the Board or by being 
present at the meeting at the time it convenes.  (Education Code 35144; Government Code 54956) 
 
Every notice of a special meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly 
address the Board concerning any item that has been described in the meeting notice, before or 
during the item's consideration.  (Government Code 54954.3) 
 
Emergency Meetings 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 54956.5 authorizes a closed session during emergency meetings, 
as long as two-thirds of the members present at the meeting agree on the need for the closed 
session or, if less than two-thirds of the members are present, by unanimous vote of the members 
present.  See BB 9321 - Closed Session and E(1) 9323.2 - Actions by the Board. 

In the case of an emergency situation for which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or 
threatened disruption of public facilities, the Board may hold an emergency meeting without 
complying with the 24-hour notice and/or 24-hour posting requirement for special meetings 
pursuant to Government Code 54956. The Board shall comply with all other requirements for 
special meetings during an emergency meeting.  (Government Code 54956.5) 
 
An emergency situation means either of the following:  (Government Code 54956.5)  

1. 1. An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, or other 
activity that severely impairs public health and/or safety as determined by a majority of the 
members of the Board 
  

2. 2. A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass destruction, 
terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so immediate and significant 
that requiring the Board to provide one-hour notice before holding an emergency meeting 
may endanger the public health and/or safety as determined by a majority of the members 
of the Board 

Except in the case of a dire emergency, the Board president or designee shall give notice of the 
emergency meeting by telephone at least one hour before the meeting to the local media that have 
requested notice of special meetings. All telephone numbers provided by the media in the most 
recent request for notification mustshall be exhausted. If telephone services are not functioning, 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 285



 

 

the notice requirement of one hour is waived and, as soon after the meeting as possible, the Board 
shall notify those media representatives of the meeting and shall describe the purpose of the 
meeting and any action taken by the Board. In the case of a dire emergency, the Board president or 
designee shall give such notice at or near the time notification is given to the other members of the 
Board about the meeting.  (Government Code 54956.5) 
 
The minutes of the meeting, a list of persons the Board president or designee notified or attempted 
to notify, a copy of the roll call vote, and any actions taken at the meeting shall be posted for at 
least 10 days in a public place as soon after the meeting as possible.  (Government Code 54956.5) 
 
Adjourned/Continued Meetings 
 
The Board may adjourn/continue any regular or special meeting to a later time and location that 
shall be specified in the order of adjournment. Less than a quorum of the Board may adjourn such a 
meeting. If no Board members are present, the secretary or the clerk may declare the meeting 
adjourned to a later time and place and shall give notice in the same manner required for special 
meetings.  (Government Code 54955) 
 
Within 24 hours after the time of adjournment, a copy of the order or notice of 
adjournment/continuance shall be conspicuously posted on or near the door of the place where the 
meeting was held.  (Government Code 54955) 
 
Study Sessions, Retreats, Public Forums, and Discussion Meetings 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 
Pursuant to Government Code 54954.2, the Board must still comply with the public notice 
requirements when holding a study session, retreat, public forum or other such meeting. 

The Board may occasionally convene a study session or public forum to study an issue in more 
detail or to receive information from staff or feedback from members of the public. 
 
The Board may also convene a retreat or discussion meeting to discuss Board roles and 
relationships. 
 
Public notice shall be given in accordance with law when a quorum of the Board is attending a 
study session, retreat, public forum, or discussion meeting. All such meetings shall comply with the 
Brown Act and shall be held in open session and within district boundaries. Action items shall not 
be included on the agenda for these meetings. 
 
Other Gatherings 
 
Attendance by a majority of Board members at any of the following events is not subject to the 
Brown Act provided that a majority of the Board members do not discuss specific district business 
among themselves other than as part of the scheduled program:  (Government Code 54952.2)  

1. 1. A conference or similar public gathering open to the public that involves a discussion 
of issues of general interest to the public or to school board members 
  

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 286



 

 

2. 2. An open, publicized meeting organized by a person or organization other than the 
district to address a topic of local community concern 
  

3. 3. An open and noticed meeting of another body of the district 
  

4. 4. An open and noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency 
  

5. 5. A purely social or ceremonial occasion 
  

6. 6. An open and noticed meeting of a standing committee of the Board, provided that 
the Board members who are not members of the standing committee attend only as 
observers 

Individual contacts or conversations between a Board member and any other person are not 
subject to the Brown Act.  (Government Code 54952.2) 
 
Location of Meetings 
 
Meetings shall not be held in a facility that prohibits the admittance of any person on the basis of 
ancestry or any characteristic listed in Government Code 11135.  In addition, meetings shall not be 
held in a facility which is inaccessible to individuals with disabilities or where members of the public 
must make a payment or purchase in order to be admitted.  (Government Code 54961) 
 
Meetings shall be held within district boundaries, except to do any of the following:  (Government 
Code 54954)  

1. 1. Comply with state or federal law or court order or attend a judicial or administrative 
proceeding to which the district is a party 
  

2. 2. Inspect real or personal property which cannot conveniently be brought into the 
district, provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items directly related to the 
property 
  

3. 3. Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance, provided these 
meetings are held within one of the other agencies' boundaries, with all participating 
agencies giving the notice required by law 
  

4. 4. Meet in the closest meeting facility if the district has no meeting facility within its 
boundaries or if its principal office is located outside the district 
  

5. 5. Meet with elected or appointed state or federal officials when a local meeting would 
be impractical, solely to discuss legislative or regulatory issues affecting the district over 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 287



 

 

which the state or federal officials have jurisdiction 
  

6. 6. Meet in or near a facility owned by the district but located outside the district, 
provided the meeting agenda is limited to items directly related to that facility 
  

7. 7. Visit the office of the district's legal counsel for a closed session on pending 
litigation, when doing so would reduce legal fees or costs 
  

8. 8. Attend conferences on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques 
  

9. 9. Interview residents of another district regarding the Board's potential employment 
of an applicant for Superintendent of the district 
  

10. 10. Interview a potential employee from another district 

Meetings exempted from the boundary requirements, as specified in itemsItems #1-10 above, shall 
still be subject to the notice and open meeting requirements for regular and special meetings when 
a quorum of the Board attends the meeting. 
 
If a fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency renders the regular meeting place unsafe, meetings 
shall be held for the duration of the emergency at a location designated by the Board president or 
designee, who shall so inform all news media who have requested notice of special meetings by the 
most rapid available means of communication.  (Government Code 54954) 
 
Traditional Teleconferencing 
 
A teleconference is a meeting of the Board in which Board members are in different locations, 
connected by electronic means through audio and/or video.  (Government Code 54953) 
 
All teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and 
constitutional rights of the parties or the public appearing before the Board.   (Government Code 
54953) 

The Board may use teleconferences for all purposes in connection with any meeting within the 
Board's subject matter jurisdiction.   

All votes taken during a teleconference meeting shall be by roll call.  (Government Code 54953) 
 
During the teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the Board shall participate from 
locations within district boundaries.  (Government Code 54953) 
 
Agendas  

Unless a Board member participates by teleconference pursuant to the provisions described in the 
sections “Teleconferencing During a Personal Emergency,” “Teleconferencing For ‘Just Cause’” or 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 288



 

 

“Teleconferencing During a Proclaimed State of Emergency” below, agendas shall be posted at all 
teleconference locations and shall list all teleconference locations whenever they are posted 
elsewhere.   

All teleconference locations shall be accessible to the public and the public shall have the right to 
address the Board directly at each teleconference location. Additional teleconference locations 
may be provided to the public.  (Government Code 54953)  

Teleconferencing During a Personal Emergency 
 
CSBA NOTE: Government Code 54953, as amended by AB 2449, authorizes a Board member, 
from January 1, 2023 until January 1, 2026, to attend meetings by teleconference due to 
emergency circumstances, as described below. 

Until January 1, 2026, with approval from the majority of the Board, a Board member may be 
permitted to participate in a meeting remotely when a physical or family medical emergency 
prevents the Board member from attending in person. The Board member requesting to appear 
remotely shall notify the Board of the emergency situation as soon as possible, and provide a 
concise general description of the circumstances relating to the Board member’s need to appear 
remotely. The Board member shall not be required to disclose any disability, medical diagnosis, or 
personal medical information exempt under existing law.  (Government Code 54953) 

A Board member may not appear remotely under emergency circumstances for more than 20 
percent of the Board’s regular meetings or for more than three consecutive months. If the Board 
meets less than 10 times in a calendar year, a Board member may not appear remotely under 
emergency circumstances for more than two meetings.  (Government Code 54953) 

When a Board member is approved to participate remotely due to emergency circumstances, the 
Board member is not required to participate from a location which is accessible to the public and 
the location does not need to be identified on the agenda.  (Government Code 54953) 

If permitted to participate remotely, the Board member shall utilize both audio and visual 
technology and publicly disclose, before any action is taken, whether any other individuals 18 years 
or older are present in the remote location with the Board member, and the general nature of the 
member’s relationship with such individuals.  (Government Code 54953) 

The district shall also provide public access to the meeting via a two-way audiovisual platform or a 
two-way audio service and a live webcast, with public comment being allowed via the remote 
platform as well as in person and the public shall be able to offer comments in real time. The 
agenda shall include information describing how members of the public can access the platform.  
(Government Code 54953) 

If a disruption prevents broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option 
or internet-based service option, or a disruption that is within the Board’s control prevents 
members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in option or internet-based 
service option, the Board shall not take action on agenda items until public access to the meeting is 
restored.  (Government Code 54953) 

Teleconferencing for “Just Cause” 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 289



 

 

 
CSBA NOTE: Government Code 54953, as amended by AB 2449, authorizes a Board member, 
from January 1, 2023 until January 1, 2026, to attend meetings by teleconference for just cause, 
as described below. 

A Board member may be permitted to appear remotely, pursuant to the provisions below, for just 
cause for no more than two meetings per calendar year. A Board member appearing for just cause 
shall notify the Board at the earliest possible opportunity of the need to participate in the meeting 
remotely, including at the start of a regular meeting.  (Government Code 54953)   

Just Cause may exist for any of the following:  (Government Code 54953) 

1. A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, sibling, spouse, or 
domestic partner that requires a Board member to participate remotely 

2. A contagious illness prevents a Board member from attending in person 

3. A Board member has a need related to a physical or mental disability not otherwise 
reasonably accommodated 

4. A Board member is traveling while on official business of the Board or another state or local 
agency 

When a Board member participates remotely for just cause, the Board member is not required to 
participate from a location which is accessible to the public and the location does not need to be 
identified on the agenda.  (Government Code 54953) 

If the Board member participates remotely, the Board member shall utilize both audio and visual 
technology and publicly disclose, before any action is taken, whether any other individuals 18 years 
or older are present in the remote location with the Board member, and the general nature of the 
member’s relationship with such individuals.  (Government Code 54953) 

The district shall also provide public access to the meeting via a two-way audiovisual platform or a 
two-way audio service and a live webcast, with public comment being allowed via the remote 
platform as well as in person and the public shall be able to offer comments in real time. The 
agenda shall include information describing how members of the public can access the platform. 
(Government Code 54953) 

If a disruption prevents broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option 
or internet-based service option, or a disruption that is within the Board’s control prevents 
members of the public from offering public comments using the call-in option or internet-based 
service option, the Board shall not take action on agenda items until public access to the meeting is 
restored.  (Government Code 54953) 

Teleconferencing During a Proclaimed State of Emergency 

CSBA NOTE: In 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 181 (2001), the Attorney General opined that a city is not 
required under the ADA to provide, as an accommodation for city council member with disabilities 
who was unable to attend a regularly scheduled meeting, a teleconference connection to the 
member's house where the public would not be permitted to be present. According to the 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 290



 

 

Attorney General, Government Code 54953 requires that members of the public be permitted to 
be present at any teleconference location.CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 54953, 
boards are authorized, until January 1, 2024, to conduct board meetings by teleconference as 
specified below when holding a board meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency pursuant 
to Government Code 8625-8629 when any of the following circumstance exist:  (1) state or local 
officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (2) to determine 
whether, as a result of an emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the 
health or safety of attendees; or (3) when it has been determined, as a result of an emergency, 
that meeting in person would impose such risks. 
 
California’s COVID-19 State of Emergency ended on February 28, 2023. However, a Board may 
continue to conduct Board meetings by teleconference until January 1, 2024 if there is a 
proclaimed state of emergency (e.g. a natural disaster) and it meets all of the necessary 
requirements of Government Code 54953. 
 
While a resolution is not required by law to make findings required by Government Code 54953, 
CSBA offers sample resolutions available on its web site for (1) recognizing a state of emergency 
and authorizing teleconferenced meetings and (2) recognizing a state of emergency and re-
authorizing teleconferenced meetings. CSBA recommends that if resolutions are not utilized, the 
motion and findings to authorize or reauthorize emergency teleconferenced meetings are included 
in the meeting minutes. 

All teleconference locations shall be accessible to the public. All teleconferenced meetings shall be 
conducted in a manner that protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the 
public appearing before the Board, including the right of the public to address the Board directly at 
each teleconference location.   
 
Teleconferencing During a Proclaimed State of Emergency 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 54953, as amended by AB 361 (Ch. 165, Statutes of 
2021), boards are authorized, until January 1, 2024, to conduct board meetings by teleconference 
as specified below when holding a board meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency pursuant 
to Government Code 8625-8629 when any of the following circumstance exist:  (1) state or local 
officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (2) to determine 
whether, as a result of an emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the 
health or safety of attendees; or (3) when it has been determined, as a result of an emergency, that 
meeting in person would impose such risks. 
 
While a resolution is not required by law to make findings required by Government Code 54953, as 
amended by AB 361, CSBA offers sample resolutions available on its web site for (1) recognizing a 
state of emergency and authorizing teleconferenced meetings and (2) recognizing a state of 
emergency and re-authorizing teleconferenced meetings. CSBA recommends that if resolutions are 
not utilized, the motion and findings to authorize or reauthorize emergency teleconferenced 
meetings are included in the meeting minutes. 

The Until January 1, 2024, the Board may conduct Board meetings by teleconference without 
posting agendas at all teleconference locations, identifying teleconference locations in meeting 
notices and agendas, allowing public access to each teleconference location, providing an 
opportunity for members of the public to address the Board directly at each teleconference 
location, and ensuring that at least a quorum of the Board participate from locations within district 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 291



 

 

boundaries, during a proclaimed state of emergency pursuant to Government Code 8625-8629 in 
any of the following circumstances:  (Government Code 54953)  

1. 1. State or local officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social 
distancing 
  

2. 2. For the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as the result of the 
emergency meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of 
attendees 
  

3. 3. When it has been determined, by majority vote as described in Item #2 above, that 
as a result of the emergency meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health 
or safety of attendees 

To conduct a teleconference meeting for these purposes the following requirements shall be 
satisfied:  (Government Code 54953)  

1. 1. The notice and agenda shall be given and posted as otherwise required by the 
Brown Act 
  

2. 2. The notice and agenda of the meeting shall specify the means by which members of 
the public may access the meeting and offer public comments, including via a call-in or 
internet-based service option 
 
Members of the public may be required to register to log in to a meeting when making 
public comments through an internet web site or other online platform that is operated by a 
third-party and not under the control of the Board. 
  

3. 3. Members of the public shall be allowed to access the meeting, and the agenda shall 
provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the Board directly pursuant to 
Government Code 54954.3 
  

4. 4. Members of the public shall not be required to submit public comments in advance 
of a Board meeting and shall be provided an opportunity to address the Board and offer 
comments in real time 
  

5. 5. Public comment periods shall not be closed until the timed public comment period, if 
such is offered by the Board, has elapsed or, if not timed, until a reasonable amount of time 
per agenda item has been allowed 
  

6. 6. If during a Board meeting a disruption occurs which prevents the district from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or forinternet-
based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the district's control that 
prevents members of the public to offerfrom offering public comments, the Board shall take 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 292



 

 

no further action on any agenda item until public access via the call-in or internet-based 
service option to the meeting is restored  

The district may, in its discretion, provide a physical location from which the public may attend or 
comment.  (Government Code 54953) 
 
The Board may continue to conduct meetings by teleconference, as specified above for 
teleconferencing during proclaimed states of emergency, by a majority vote finding within 30 days 
after teleconferencing for the first time, and every 30 days thereafter, that either:  (Government 
Code 54953)  

1. 1. The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the Board to meet 
safely in person 
  

2. 2. State or local officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social 
distancing 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2023 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 
 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 
These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority 
for the board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in 
the subject matter of the policy.  

State Description 
Ed. Code 35140 Time and place of meetings 

Ed. Code 35143 Annual organizational meetings; date and notice 

Ed. Code 35144 Special meeting 

Ed. Code 35145 Public meetings 

Ed. Code 35145.5 Agenda; public participation and regulations 

Ed. Code 35146 Closed sessions; student matters 

Ed. Code 35147 Open meeting laws exceptions 

Gov. Code 11135 Prohibition of discrimination 

Gov. Code 3511.1 Local agency executives 

Gov. Code 54950-54963 The Ralph M. Brown Act 

Gov. Code 54953 Oral summary of recommended salary and benefits of 
superintendentMeetings to be open and public; 
teleconferencing 

Gov. Code 54954 Time and place of regular meetings 

Gov. Code 54954.2 Agenda posting requirements; board actions 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 293

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=11135.&lawCode=GOV#


 

 

Gov. Code 54956 Special Meetings 

Gov. Code 54956.5 Emergency meetings 

Gov. Code 6252-6270 California Public Records Act 

Gov. Code 7920.000 - 7930.170 California Public Records Act 

Gov. Code 8625-8629 California Emergency Services Act 

Federal Description 
28 CFR 35.160 Effective communications for individuals with disabilities 

28 CFR 36.303 Nondiscrimination on the basis of disability,; public 
accommodations,; auxiliary aids and services 

42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

Management Resources Description 
Attorney General Opinion 78 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 327 (1995) 

Attorney General Opinion 79 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 69 (1996) 

Attorney General Opinion 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 181 (2001) 

Attorney General Opinion 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 30 (2001) 

Attorney General Opinion 88 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 218 (2005) 

Court Decision Knight First Amendment Institute at Columbia University v. 
Trump, (2019) 928 F.3d 226 

Court Decision Garnier v. Poway Unified School District, (S.D. Cal. 
September 26, 2019) No. 17-cv-2215-W (JLB), 2019 WL 
4736208 

Court Decision Wolfe v. City of Fremont, (2006) 144 Cal.App. 4th 533 

CSBA Publication The Brown Act:  School Boards and Open Meeting Laws, rev. 
2019 

Institute for Local Government 
Publication 

The ABCs of Open Government Laws, 2015 

League of California Cities Publication Open and Public V: A Guide to the Ralph M. Brown Act, 2016 

Website CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

Website CSBA, GAMUT Meetings 

Website Institute for Local Government 

Website League of California Cities 

Website California Attorney General's Office 

Website CSBA 

Cross References 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 294

https://legalservices.csba.org/#
https://www.csba.org/ProductsAndServices/AllServices/GamutMeetingsPolicy#
http://www.ca-ilg.org/#
http://www.cacities.org/#
http://oag.ca.gov/#
http://www.csba.org/#


 

 

Code Description 
0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0420.43 Charter School Revocation 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113 District And School Web Sites 

1113-E(1) District And School Web Sites 

1160 Political Processes 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1330 Use Of School Facilities 

1330 Use Of School Facilities 

1330-E(1) Use Of School Facilities 

1340 Access To District Records 

1340 Access To District Records 

1431 Waivers 

2000 Concepts And Roles 

2111 Superintendent Governance Standards 

2121 Superintendent's Contract 

2210 Administrative Discretion Regarding Board Policy 

3100 Budget 

3100 Budget 

3280 Sale Or Lease Of District-Owned Real Property 

3280 Sale Or Lease Of District-Owned Real Property 

3311 Bids 

3311 Bids 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 295

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Gkdo9plusDt6Vyplusttm90K5WHg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=reI1K7XIeObnehrNUMDz6w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eGu5b5433isbW0vuGq8SFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cUDRpPGq33oE7TVGVbs7UQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VT1THkIzJRxMabQA5MDekg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OXPZsjHvbL3oOYWkdsGdBA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=U4slshey4jZ7740ovjPXRdFpg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DcTQeLZeVG26t4voqKhgCw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=27plusDH66jJeD8B9wRKlHKDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=slshFRNdBJStNNVwh2rRboCoA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NupKX1kKeUMuiu8plusUlYvug==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j9IPLBD9FY8u6aXvwPDGplusA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pluswNOUND0AXcsgcDN5ZLoNg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5M2Tk91tuviGoLuOm4RHJA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jGhHAPWQ3OyetaM3k8a8Hw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=1H7NDKoJeiESIxlxslsh9PIDg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=hslshtfFFM2BG51vDhPrmslshC5Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yCSSkBTbSTOT2JV5ITsePw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DYtN4QkUY0bsLh5O0ZfBwg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3kvAkfIRcDnIxuSTncCCNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OxHFTOJQslshRAZ9J0Oe9plusrlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=mA4BndTJI1y8OKfuLslshO7kQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=l0dPXlEHKjMoWuMrPYtieg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uUslsh3GplusdkFV3JQ4gsdaQVvA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusqbNfnXnpWElcGBEwkM0Jg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=djY4za1ErQdHhSm1PEmYslshg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RytjvuMV2qON8aVNlplusVehA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=X6exiqTENk1sFX9dfagU9Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cJ9VE9WVdIw1OQCOlc3C5g==#


 

 

3312 Contracts 

3314 Payment For Goods And Services 

3314 Payment For Goods And Services 

3516 Emergencies And Disaster Preparedness Plan 

3516 Emergencies And Disaster Preparedness Plan 

4117.14 Postretirement Employment 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4312.1 Contracts 

4317.14 Postretirement Employment 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6117 Year-Round Schedules 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

7150 Site Selection And Development 

7150 Site Selection And Development 

7214 General Obligation Bonds 

7214 General Obligation Bonds 

7310 Naming Of Facility 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9005 Governance Standards 

9012 Board Member Electronic Communications 

9100 Organization 

9121 President 

9130 Board Committees 

9140 Board Representatives 

9220 Governing Board Elections 

9230 Orientation 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 296

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=NZocxSF1S7thTyGslshPhP4Mw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qXsImNwplusW9GhJ5G63D9ISA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plusdyDEZRshsNkcmTwlGkllA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JaJ6Bpn1doAxasxfqRvEiQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9Rr0ivMkoWE18g2UxwX2zQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5sIkEEsteMpbkW6YFwHpQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QrazxKXNJ1N3vlcJwUIJ7g==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus1dW1lHIoAPkTrFQs1DP2Q==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YtF553ve9DslshwxW1EvBoNyg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gdciuglfaBtQMYHJJukDsw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r6bFeQMiGLioDI9xjd5plusyw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=pYSGm33fvlDxADsipluseaDOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yUxJDPiiohSl4Rv9LzsiAg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yskvyl598JZOFolJWdQnmQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=c05UQMRNP1dGWXzr5bZu2w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cOHicFEApoSjylE7ucviOg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JEQXheHkp1CE8PDRKZcsLQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xAQqv6MVy2cTAQicVIyetQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TwBoN5lbXNLVfFukhDRPsg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=wo0ln4hEcINL1NQwu1CWrw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=POrERfofnVfxhVnZmQwxog==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yzPjhEYwFQITWVnlT8aGjw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rZOJ87t1zaViVSr32aaX9w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Y3Ft8UpTCmWYosQOLRsiRA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rV56hVF1mMIPqmTAzBEjNw==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KzrvMw3TEZphnX1mvmQQ6A==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=gvhuThjMzGBMpwMeHTNfUA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DpyplusdpUURhJ1VjyKzVmGXg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=93I5rplus1VCwWCrGUSPcIKZQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CJjXUN8IKsFNsslshNpSjAfxg==#


 

 

9270 Conflict Of Interest 

9270-E(1) Conflict Of Interest 

9310 Board Policies 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E(1) Closed Session 

9321-E(2) Closed Session 

9322 Agenda/Meeting Materials 

9323 Meeting Conduct 

9323.2 Actions By The Board 

9323.2-E(1) Actions By The Board 

9323.2-E(2) Actions By The Board 

9324 Minutes And Recordings 

9400 Board Self-Evaluation 

 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 297

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=iOYDE80SWyU1upX3KILKGg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=nYslshigzK9GSBhplusBDBCcIslshHg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bzFYslshq9sCdqATyBoHslshjRbQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r2NMUoOTIslsh5NEAo9nsCaplusQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bqGfY4qCGCTAqurzrGplusmlg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jx83iFgyM8plusb9VCWcYjezA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=8ILtDSKgUM2bL4YbwyAzaQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yf1fj1BxHPTzF8PSpbU75w==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jYZVRGiddlvcjQPMgYQvYA==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QKi2rJlLpub2fYavltJxyQ==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=73kFAV00rhSrlL9vMkaLcg==#
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cjo5s1Do5e9YvEo1fMULslshA==#


Pacific Grove Unified School Districts 
 

Business  Regulations # 3350 
 
TRAVEL EXPENSES  
 

 
Page 1 of 3 Issued: January 4, 1996 
All Rights Reserved by PGUSD Revised: September 7, 2023 

District Employees and Board members shall be reimbursed for expenses when performing authorized 
services for the School District. A Request to Attend form must be submitted at least fifteen days prior to 
the travel and a copy of the approved form must be attached to the Request for Reimbursement after the 
travel is completed.  
 
All rates for travel and expense reimbursement will be reviewed when the new rates are published, using 
the U.S. General Services Administration Privately Owned Vehicle Mileage Reimbursement Rates (GSA) 
and the adjusted Continental U.S. Per Diem Rates. 
 
The district will reimburse for the actual cost of meals up to the per diem limit, including tip.  This amount 
is reduced if meals are provided as part of the registration.  Itemized receipts for meals are required. The 
back of the Request to Attend form lists the current GSA per diem rates for the most traveled counties in 
California. Out of state travel will be reimbursed at the per diem rate for Monterey County Reimbursement 
for Actual and Necessary meal expense does require itemized meal receipts be attached. 
 
 
A. Travel Within the District 
 

With prior written approval from the Site Administrator or Supervisor, or as noted in the job 
description, employees may claim mileage at the current GSA-approved rate. Reimbursement will 
occur when the employee submits an approved Request for Reimbursement form. All claims must 
be made in the fiscal year that they occurred. 
 
 

B. Travel Outside the District 
 

An employee attending a conference or meeting at District expense must have prior written 
approval by the Site Administrator/Supervisor on the appropriate authorization form.  

 
Attendance will be subject to funds availability as verified by the Assistant Superintendent, 
Business. 

 
 
C. Reimbursement for Travel 

 
Travel by privately owned automobile 
 
Employees who travel by automobile will be reimbursed according to the actual miles traveled in 
a private vehicle at the current GSA rate. Evidence of mileage shall be attached to the Request to 
Attend form and the Request for Reimbursement form (i.e. Mapquest or Google maps printout 
reflecting mileage from the employee’s school site to the event venue, not from the employee’s 
residence) The maximum amount allowed shall not exceed the cost of travel by ordinary coach air 
fare. 
 
When two or more District employees or Board members are attending the same event on the same 
days, every effort should be made to rideshare. Only the driver may claim mileage reimbursement.  
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 298



Pacific Grove Unified School Districts 
 

Business  Regulations # 3350 
 
TRAVEL EXPENSES  
 

 
Page 2 of 3 Issued: January 4, 1996 
All Rights Reserved by PGUSD Revised: September 7, 2023 

Travel by airplane 
 
An employee or Board member may choose to travel by commercial airline as a reasonable option. 
Making the flight reservation as early as possible is encouraged. Airfare (coach class) 
reimbursement will be for whichever is less, the cost of the flight or point-to-point round trip 
mileage. 
 
 

D. Reimbursement for Expenses  
 
It is advisable to submit purchase orders in advance for registration and hotel accommodations. 
Arrangements can be made for prepayment of the purchase orders directly to the event sponsor or 
hotel if this is a requirement. All other reimbursement expenses are to be submitted on a Request 
for Reimbursement form after the event. 
 
The following are allowable reimbursements: 
 
o lodging  
o program materials (books, etc.) 
o roundtrip mileage 
o work related phone calls 
o parking (receipt required) 
o bridge tolls (receipt required) 
o taxi, airport bus, shuttle (receipts required) 
o meals, actual receipts required up to per diem rates 
o Internet connections (if conducting school district business) 
o tips and gratuities (reasonable rate around 20%) 

 
The following are not allowable reimbursements: 
 
o alcoholic beverages 
o personal services 
o Internet connections (for personal use) 
o entertainment 
o gifts 
o mileage cost in excess of coach airfare 
o expenses for non-employees 

 
 
E. Actual and Necessary or Unanticipated, Unusual or Exceptional Circumstances 

 
If while traveling or attending a conference, an unanticipated, unusual or exceptional expense 
occurs, the employee may, upon returning to the District, request reimbursement. The request must 
have the receipt attached to the written notification for payment.  If approved by the Site 
Administrator/Supervisor, the reimbursement request will be forwarded to the Business Office for 
budget verification and payment. 
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 299



Pacific Grove Unified School Districts 
 

Business  Regulations # 3350 
 
TRAVEL EXPENSES  
 

 
Page 3 of 3 Issued: January 4, 1996 
All Rights Reserved by PGUSD Revised: September 7, 2023 

In the event a dispute develops as to whether expenses are actual, and/or necessary, the employee 
may request a decision from the Superintendent.  If the employee is not satisfied with the 
Superintendent’s decision, the employee may request that the Board review the matter and issue a 
decision, which shall be final. 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 300



Exhibit 3541.1 
OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY FORM OCA-1 

RELEASE OF DRIVER RECORD INFORMATION 

Form-OCA-1       Pacific Grove Unified School District 

This form is required and must be completed and returned to PGUSD Business Office. 
The information below will be submitted to the Department of Motor Vehicle 

(DMV) in accordance with Title 8, California Code of Regulations. 
 

I ________________________ authorize Pacific Grove Unified School District to review 
driving, motor vehicle related information periodically for the duration of being a volunteer 
driver. I understand that my driving privileges for the District and District related trips are 
contingent upon the Pacific Grove Unified School District’s review of such information. 
 
I understand my signature is confirmation that I have read and understand the above information. 
 
Organization: Pacific Grove Unified School District  
 
Signature: ______________________________ Date:_______________________________ 
Printed Name (as it appears on driver license): ________________________________________ 
Driver License Number: ________________  State:________ Circle Gender: M or F 
Birth Date (Month/Day/Year): ___________   Contact Phone:_______________________ 
Department/Site:______________________  Title:_____________________________________ 
Volunteer: _______                 Substitute/Per Diem:_______ 
 
Please submit a clear copy of the driver license with this form. Be aware of timelines and plan 
for the necessary preparation time prior to submitting this form. 
 
*This form must be submitted (6) weeks in advance for all trips requiring drivers. The sole 
purpose of the information is to verify driver license validity. All other information is not 
relevant to driving privileges. This form is confidential and may be privileged. The 
information is intended solely for Pacific Grove Unified School District use or entity outlined 
for audit purposes and review or disclosure by anyone else is unauthorized.  
 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 301



Exhibit 3541.1 
OFF CAMPUS ACTIVITY FORM - OCA-2 

VOLUNTEER PERSONAL AUTOMOBILE USE FORM 
[One Form Required for Each Driver to be Approved] 

 

Form-OCA-2         Pacific Grove Unified School District 

Thank you for volunteering your time and your automobile to help transport our students to off-site events or activities.  In order 
to protect the health and safety of our students, our District requires that anyone (employee or volunteer) using their personal 
automobile to transport students to and from sanctioned activities must receive prior approval. Before we can issue such approval, 
certain information must be obtained at least 6 weeks before you transport our students. You must also agree to abide by certain 
rules regarding the operation of the vehicle as set forth below. 
REQUIRED INFORMATION: 

Name of Driver:  

Drivers License No and Expiration:  

Vehicle(s) Year/Make/Model:  

Vehicle(s) License Plate No:  

Insurance Carrier:  

Insurance Policy # and Expiration Date:  

Liability Coverage Limits:  

 
The District also requires a photocopy of  your driver’s license. Should your driver’s license expire during the school year, an 
updated photocopy showing the renewal is required before you will again be eligible to transport students. By signing below, you 
are also authorizing the District to (a) obtain a copy of your driver record history and status of your driver’s license, (b) conduct a 
criminal background check, and (c) contact your insurance company to confirm your insurance status. Also, please be advised that 
pursuant to Insurance Code Section 11580.9(d), in the case of an accident, your insurance will provide the primary coverage for 
any accident resulting in bodily injury or property damage. The District’s automobile liability coverage will apply, if at all, only 
after your insurance coverage is exhausted through the payment of covered claims. The District does not cover, nor is the District 
responsible for, comprehensive, uninsured motorists, or collision coverage for your vehicle. 
 
VEHICLE SAFETY AND TRANSPORTATION PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS 
For the safety of our Students, by signing below, you are also agreeing to the following rules and requirements: 

1. I will not operate an automobile while impaired, whether due to alcohol, drugs (prescription or nonprescription), lack of 
sleep, or distraction of any kind. I will at all times comply with California law regarding proper operation of the vehicle, 
including compliance with all speed limits and posted signs and placards. 

2. I will not transport students in a vehicle I have reason to believe may be mechanically unsafe or that may become unsafe 
due to weather or other natural conditions. I will not transport students unless I have a working seatbelt for each student. 
Seatbelts are to be used at all times by myself and all transported students. The vehicle(s) may be inspected by a District 
representatives. 

3. I am over the age of 21 and will be the sole driver of the vehicle for any given activity, event or competition. I will not let 
anyone other than myself and authorized students ride in the vehicle. However, I may seek written permission from the 
District to allow another child of mine to ride in the vehicle to a specific activity, event, or competition if the destination 
involves an activity, event or competition generally available 
_______________________________  ______________________________________  ______________________ 
Printed Name    Signature    Date 

CONSENT H

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 302



☐Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability, and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT:  Surplus of Facilities Trailer 

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Jon Anderson, Director of Maintenance, Operations, and Transportation 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends that the Board review and approve the surplus sale of District 
owned trailer to allow for the purchase of a new trailer. 

BACKGROUND: 

A trailer was purchased for the transportation of District owned tractor and lawn mowing equipment from 
the facilities corporate yard to school sites. The trailer is unfortunately too large and is not able to be 
towed legally without a commercial license.  

INFORMATION: 

Funds from the sale of the trailer will be used to purchase a replacement trailer of the appropriate size, 
which will not require a commercial license to tow.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The trailer to be surplus sold has a value of approximately $8,344.44 retail. The replacement trailer 
should cost Approximately $7,600.00. This should result in a small net gain to be returned to the Measure 
D fund.  

CONSENT I

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 303



  

 

 
 
Trailer to be surplus sold. 

 
 
Suggested replacement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSENT I

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 304



  

 

CONSENT I

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 305



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☐Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☒Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Contract with Positive Behavior Supports Corp. for 2023-24 

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Yolanda Cork-Anthony, Director of Student Services 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends the Board review and approve the amended contract between 
Pacific Grove Unified School District and Positive Behavioral Supports Corp. 

BACKGROUND: 

By amending the contract, we will increase Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA) hours to provide 
Functional Behavior Analysis (FBA) assessments, Behavior Intervention Plans (BIP) and consultation to 
special education and general education staff.  PBS, Corp will provide the district BCBA to collaborate 
with staff on behavioral strategies (for four hours per month for ten students).  During the 23-24SY, the 
District is contracting with PBS Corp for paraprofessional support, BCBA supervision of Registered 
Behavior Technicians (RBT), FBA, BIP and additional time for data analysis and IEP meeting 
attendance.   

INFORMATION: 

The original contract was approved by the board during the August 3, 2023 board meeting.  Due to 
increased need of students with behavioral challenges, the district will increase the contract with PBS to 
provide behavioral support and strategies to students.  The contract is being increased to reflect the need 
to provide 550 hours of FBA/BIP assessment, BCBA consultation to general education and special 
education classroom staff on effective behavior support strategies for the 23-24SY. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

$305,220 Previous approved contract 
$  16,500 Increase to contract (4 hours monthly behavior services for 10 students - $110/hr) 
$    4,400  Increase to contract (15 hours per FBA/BIP assessment for 10 students - $110/hr) 
$326,120 Total Amended Contract 

CONSENT J

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 306



Positive Behavior Supports, Corp 1  
 

Form Effective 3/13/2023 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT AGREEMENT 

 

CONSULTANT  Positive Behavior Supports, Corp 

SITE/DEPARTMENT  Student Services  

SUBMITTED BY  Yolanda Cork-Anthony 

FUNDING SOURCE   Special Ed NPS Contracts and One-Time Federal Funds 

AGREEMENT TOTAL AMOUNT   $326,120 

 
 
The District employee providing the attached Independent Consultant Agreement to the person or entity 
who will be providing special services to the District should first do the following:  
 

1. Provide only the Pacific Grove Unified School District’s approved Independent Consultant 
Agreement. The Independent Consultant Agreement should be completed in lieu of signing any 
vendor contract for services.  

2. Review the insurance requirements for the person or entity and revise the insurance provisions of 
the agreement accordingly.  

3. Review the forms under Section 20 and determine which of those documents should be attached 
to the agreement.  

 
This Independent Consultant Agreement for Special Services (“Agreement”) is made between the Pacific 
Grove Unified School District (“District”) and Positive Behavior Supports, Corp (“Consultant”) (together, 
“Parties”).  
 
WHEREAS, the District is authorized by Section 53060 of the California Government Code to contract 
with and employ any persons for the furnishing of special services and advice in financial, economic, 
accounting, engineering, legal, transportation, administrative matters or other specialized services, if 
those persons are specially trained and experienced and competent to perform the special services 
required; and  
 
WHEREAS, the District is in need of those services and/or advice; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Consultant is specially trained and experienced and competent to perform the services 
required by the District, and those services are needed on a limited basis;  
NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:  
 
1. Services and/Scope of work. The Consultant shall furnish to the District the following services 

herein by this reference (“Services” or “Work”): Consultant shall serve as providing the district with 4 
Registered Behavior Technicians (RBT) and a Board Certified Behavior Analyst (BCBA).. 
Consultant shall use their specialized experience and skills to organize, maintain to serve in this 
capacity.  Services shall include but not be limited to: supporting the needs of students with IEPs, 
supervision of each RBT, conduct Functional behavior Analysis (FBA) and Behavior 
Intervention Plans (BIP), collaborate with staff on behavioral strategies, and additional time for 
data analysis and consultation for IEP meetings. 

 
2. Term. Consultant shall commence providing services under this Agreement on 8/9/2023, and will 

diligently perform as required and complete performance by 5/31/2024. 
 

CONSENT J

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 307



Positive Behavior Supports, Corp 2  
 

Form Effective 3/13/2023 

3. Compensation. District agrees to pay $326,120 to Consultant for Services satisfactorily rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement. This is not to exceed $326,120 during the term of this Agreement. District 
shall pay Consultant according to the following terms and conditions:  

 
3.1. Payment for the Services shall be made for all undisputed amounts in installment payments 

within thirty (30) days after the Consultant submits an invoice to the District for Services actually 
completed. 
 

4. Expenses. District shall not be liable to Consultant for any costs or expenses paid or incurred by 
Consultant in performing Services for District.  

 
5. Independent Consultant. Consultant, in the performance of this Agreement, shall be and act as an 

Independent Consultant. Consultant understands and agrees that he/she shall not be considered an 
officer, employee, agent, partner, or joint venture of the District, and is not entitled to benefits of any 
kind or nature normally provided employees of the District and/or to which District's employees are 
normally entitled, including, but not limited to, State Unemployment Compensation or Worker's 
Compensation. Consultant shall assume full responsibility for payment of all federal, state and local 
taxes or contributions, including unemployment insurance, Social Security and income taxes with 
respect to Consultant. In the performance of the Services herein contemplated, Consultant is an 
independent Consultant or business entity, with the sole authority for controlling and directing the 
performance of the details of the Services, District being interested only in the results obtained.  

 
6. Performance of Services.  

6.1. Standard of Care. Consultant represents that Consultant has the qualifications and ability to 
perform the Services in a professional manner, without the advice, control or supervision of the 
District. Consultant's Services will be performed, findings obtained, reports and 
recommendations prepared in accordance with generally and currently accepted principles and 
practices of his/her profession for services to California school districts.  
 

6.2. District Approval. The Services completed herein must meet the approval of the District and 
shall be subject to the District’s general right of inspection and supervision to secure the 
satisfactory completion thereof. 

 
6.3. Licenses. Consultant’s represents that s/he possesses all required licenses to perform the 

Services provided in this Agreement.  
 
7. Termination.  

7.1. Without Cause by District. District may, at any time, with or without reason, terminate this 
Agreement and compensate Consultant only for services satisfactorily rendered to the date of 
termination. Written notice by District shall be sufficient to stop further performance of services 
by Consultant. Notice shall be deemed given when received by the Consultant or no later than 
three days after the day of mailing, whichever is sooner.  

 
7.2. Without Cause by Consultant. Consultant may, upon thirty (30) days’ notice, with or without 

reason, terminate this Agreement. Upon this termination, District shall only be obligated to 
compensate Consultant for services satisfactorily rendered to the date of termination. Written 
notice by Consultant shall be sufficient to stop further performance of services to District. 
Consultant acknowledges that this thirty (30) day notice period is acceptable so that the District 
can attempt to procure the Services from another source.  

 
7.3. With Cause by District. District may terminate this Agreement upon giving of written notice of 

intention to terminate for cause. Cause shall include:  
7.3.1. Material violation of this Agreement by the Consultant; or  
7.3.2. Any act by Consultant exposing the District to liability to others for personal injury or 

property damage.  

CONSENT J

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 308



Positive Behavior Supports, Corp 3  
 

Form Effective 3/13/2023 

Written notice by District shall contain the reasons for such intention to terminate and unless within 
three (3) calendar days after that notice the condition or violation shall cease, or satisfactory 
arrangements for the correction thereof be made, this Agreement shall upon the expiration of the 
three (3) calendar days cease and terminate. In the event of this termination, the District may secure 
the required services from another Consultant. If the expense, fees, and/or costs to the District 
exceeds the cost of providing the services pursuant to this Agreement, the Consultant shall 
immediately pay the excess expense, fees, and/or costs to the District upon the receipt of the 
District’s notice of these expense, fees, and/or costs. The foregoing provisions are in addition to and 
not a limitation of any other rights or remedies available to District.  

 
8. Compliance. Consultant shall, at all times while providing the Services, comply with all federal, state, 

local and District laws, statutes, codes, ordinances, rules, regulations, policies, and requirements, as 
well as all state executive orders and all public health orders regarding student health and safety, 
including but not limited to, policies and procedures related to social distancing, the use of personal 
protective equipment (“PPE”) such as face coverings and gloves, and the sanitization of facilities to 
help prevent the spread of COVID-19 and other contagious diseases. 
 

9. District’s Evaluation of Consultant. The District may evaluate the Consultant’s performance. In no 
event shall an evaluation of Consultant be considered a prerequisite to the District exercising its rights 
under paragraph 7 above.  

 
10. Limitation of District Liability. Other than as provided in this Agreement, District’s financial 

obligations under this Agreement shall be limited to the payment of the compensation provided in this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in no event shall District be liable 
to Consultant, regardless of whether any claim is based on contract or tort, for any special, 
consequential, indirect or incidental damages, including, but not limited to, lost profits or revenue, 
arising out of or in connection with this Agreement for the services performed in connection with this 
Agreement.  

 
11. Indemnity.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless District and its agents, 

representatives, officers, consultants, employees, Board of Trustees, members of the Board of 
Trustees (collectively, the “District Parties”), from and against any and all claims, demands, liabilities, 
damages, losses, suits and actions, and expenses (including, but not limited to attorney fees and 
costs including fees of consultants) of any kind, nature and description (collectively, the “Claims”) 
directly or indirectly arising out of, connected with, or resulting from any act, error, omission, 
negligence, or willful misconduct of Consultant, its agents, subcontractors, employees, material or 
equipment suppliers, invitees, or licensees (collectively, the “Consultant Parties”) in the performance 
of or failure to perform Consultant’s or Consultant Parties’ obligations under this Agreement, 
including, but not limited to Consultant’s or Consultant Parties’ use of District sites, performance of 
the Services, breach of any of the representations or warranties contained in this Agreement, or for 
injury to or death of persons or damage to property or delay or damage to the District or the District 
Parties.  Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or 
obligations of indemnity, which would otherwise exist as to a party, person, or entity described in this 
paragraph. The indemnification provided for in this Section includes, without limitation to the 
foregoing, claims that may be made against District by any taxing authority asserting that an 
employer-employee relationship exists by reason of this Agreement, and any claims made against 
District alleging civil rights violations by Consultant or Consultant Parties under the California Fair 
Employment and Housing Act (“FEHA”). 

 
12. Confidentiality. The Consultant and all Consultant’s agents, personnel, employee(s), and/or Sub-

consultant(s) shall maintain the confidentiality of all information received in the course of performing 
the Services. This requirement to maintain confidentiality shall extend beyond the termination of this 
Agreement. 

  
13. Notice. Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be deemed to have 

been given, served, and received if given in writing and either personally delivered or deposited in the 

CONSENT J

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 309



Positive Behavior Supports, Corp 4  
 

Form Effective 3/13/2023 

United States mail, registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt required, or sent by 
overnight delivery service, or facsimile transmission, addressed as follows:  

 
 
 

District      Consultant  
 

Pacific Grove Unified School District   Name: Positive Behavior Supports, Corp   

435 Hillcrest Avenue     Address: 95 3rd Street, 2nd Floor 

Pacific Grove, CA 93950     City/State/Zip: San Francisco, CA 94103 

ATTENTION: Joshua Jorn     Business Phone: 831-747-7439   

Assistant Superintendent/CBO    Email (Optional): NPostma@teampbs.com 
 

Any notice personally given or sent by facsimile transmission shall be effective upon receipt. Any 
notice sent by overnight delivery service shall be effective the business day next following delivery 
thereof to the overnight delivery service. Any notice given by mail shall be effective three (3) days 
after deposit in the United States mail.  
 

14. Integration/Entire Agreement of Parties. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between 
the Parties and supersedes all prior discussions, negotiations, and agreements, whether oral or 
written. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by both 
Parties.  
 

15. California Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and the rights, duties and obligations of the 
Parties shall be determined and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California. The 
Parties further agree that any action or proceeding brought to enforce the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement shall be maintained in Monterey County, California.  

 
16. Waiver. The waiver by either party of any breach of any term, covenant, or condition herein contained 

shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term, covenant, condition, or any subsequent breach of 
the same or any other term, covenant, or condition herein contained. 

  
17. Severability. If any term, condition or provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions will nevertheless continue in 
full force and effect, and shall not be affected, impaired or invalidated in any way.  

 
18. Attorney Fees/Costs. Should litigation be necessary to enforce any terms or provisions of this 

Agreement, then each party shall bear its own litigation and collection expenses, witness fees, court 
costs and attorney’s fees. 

  
19. Counterparts. This Agreement and all amendments and supplements to it may be executed in 

counterparts, and all counterparts together shall be construed as one document. 
  
20. Incorporation of Recitals and Exhibits. The Recitals and each exhibit attached hereto are hereby 

incorporated herein by reference. 
  
21. Non-Assignability. Consultant may not, without the written permission of the District, use other 

consultants within Consultant’s own firm, or outside experts to perform the services for the District.  
 
22. Fingerprinting. When the Consultant is working directly with students, the Consultant shall not 

commence Services under this Agreement until the Consultant has submitted and the District has 
approved the following document:  

☐DOJ Clearance Previously Received by District 

CONSENT J

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 310



Positive Behavior Supports, Corp 5  
 

Form Effective 3/13/2023 

☒Fingerprinting done by the organization independently (declare under perjury)-   
Consultant’s Employee(s) 
☐No direct contact or interaction with students 
 
 

23. W-9. Consultant has provided a completed:  
☒W-9 Form  

 
24. Type of Business Entity:  

 ☒Corporation, State  
 ☐Individual  
 ☐Partnership  
 ☐Limited Liability Company  
 ☐Sole Proprietorship  
 ☐Limited Partnership  
 ☐Other: ______________________________  

 
*Federal Code of Regulations sections 6041 and 6209 require non-corporate recipients of $600.00 or 
more to furnish their taxpayer identification number to the payer. The regulations also provide that a 
penalty may be imposed for failure to furnish the taxpayer identification number. In order to comply with 
these regulations, the District requires your federal tax identification number or Social Security number, 
whichever is applicable. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date indicated 
below.  
 
Pacific Grove Unified School District     Consultant  
Site representative or Assistant Superintendent   (Can sign BEFORE Board’s approval) 
(Signed AFTER Board approval) 
 

Signature: ____________________________   Signature: _______________________  

Name: Yolanda Cork-Anthony     Name: _____Nicole Postma______ 

Title: Director of Student Services    Date: ___________________________ 

Date: ________________________________ 

 
Human Resources 
(Signed AFTER Board approval) 
 
☐Contracted work was not assigned using District’s normal employment recruitment process.   
Signature          Date     
 Director of Human Resources 
 

CONSENT J

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 311



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☒Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☒Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing of Pacific Grove Teachers Association Sunshine List for 2023-24 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Administration recommends that the Board hold a public hearing for the sunshine topics for the 
2023-24 Pacific Grove Teachers Association negotiations. [A copy of the sunshine list was posted at each 
school site ten business days prior to the Board meeting.] 

INFORMATION: 

Government Code Section 3457 provides the basis and procedures for the recognition of the  
Pacific Grove Teachers Association’s initial proposal for negotiations with the Pacific Grove Unified 
School District for the 2023-24 school year. The public hearing will provide an opportunity for the 
community to comment on the following: 

Item 1: Section II. Wages 

Item 2: Section III. Benefits 

Item 3: Section V. Leaves 

Item 4: Section VIII. Hours of Employment 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

To be assessed during negotiations. 

PUBLIC HEARING I

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 312



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 
 
At the Board of Education meeting to be held at 6:30 p.m. on Thursday, September 21, 2023 (In 
Person and Virtual- see www.pgusd.org for the virtual link), a public hearing is scheduled in 
compliance with the requirements of Government Code Section 3457 to provide an opportunity for 
the community to comment on the following: 
 

Initial Proposal for Negotiations Submitted by the Pacific Grove 
Teachers Association Affiliate of the California Teachers Association 

for the 2023-24 School Year. 
 
The Pacific Grove Teachers Association, California Teachers Association, has submitted an initial 
proposal for the collective bargaining agreement between the Board of Education of Pacific Grove 
Unified School District and their association. 
 
Government Code Section 3457 provides the basis and procedures for the recognition of the 
Pacific Grove Teachers Association, California Teachers Association’s Initial Proposal for 
Negotiations with the Pacific Grove Unified School District for the 2023-24 school year. New 
subjects of meeting and negotiating arising after approval of this initial proposal shall be made 
public within 24 hours.  
 
The Pacific Grove Teachers Association is proposing to negotiate the following sections of the 
Certificated Bargaining Unit Agreement: 
 

Item 1: Section II. Wages 
 
Item 2: Section III. Benefits 
 
Item 3: Section V. Leaves 
 
Item 4: Section VIII. Hours of Employment 
 

Posted: Monday, September 11, 2023 at the PGUSD District Office and school sites 
 

 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
435 Hillcrest Avenue     Pacific Grove, CA  93950 

Joshua Jorn 
Interim Superintendent 
(831) 646-6509 
josh.jorn@pgusd.org 

www.pgusd.org 

PUBLIC HEARING I

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 313

http://www.pgusd.org/


Pacific Grove Teachers’ Association (PGTA)
Sunshine List 2023-2024

September 8, 2023

To PGUSD School Board Members:

In addition to Articles II and III, Wages and Benefits, of the Master Contract Agreement, Pacific Grove
Teachers’ Association wishes to renegotiate the following articles of our contract:

Section V. Leaves

Section VIII. Hours of Employment

Please contact me at srichmond@pgusd.org if you have any questions.

Sincerely

Sally A. Richmond
PGTA Negotiations Team

PUBLIC HEARING I

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 314

mailto:srichmond@pgusd.org


☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☒Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☒Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Approval of the Pacific Grove Teachers Association Sunshine List for 2023-24 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Administration recommends that the Board review and approve the sunshine topics for the 2023-
2024 Pacific Grove Teachers Association negotiations. 

INFORMATION: 

Government Code Section 3457 provides the basis and procedures for the recognition of the  
Pacific Grove Teachers Association’s initial proposal for negotiations with the Pacific Grove Unified 
School District for the 2023-2024 school year. The public hearing will provide an opportunity for the 
community to comment on the following: 

Item 1: Section II. Wages 

Item 2: Section III. Benefits 

Item 3: Section V. Leaves 

Item 4: Section VIII. Hours of Employment 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

To be assessed during negotiations. 

ACTION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 315



Pacific Grove Teachers’ Association (PGTA)
Sunshine List 2023-2024

September 8, 2023

To PGUSD School Board Members:

In addition to Articles II and III, Wages and Benefits, of the Master Contract Agreement, Pacific Grove
Teachers’ Association wishes to renegotiate the following articles of our contract:

Section V. Leaves

Section VIII. Hours of Employment

Please contact me at srichmond@pgusd.org if you have any questions.

Sincerely

Sally A. Richmond
PGTA Negotiations Team

ACTION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 316

mailto:srichmond@pgusd.org


☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☒Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☒Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing of Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association 
Negotiations Sunshine Topics – 2023-2024 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Buck Roggeman, Pacific Grove Unified School District Lead Negotiator 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District recommends that the Board hold a public hearing for the sunshine topics for 2023-2024 
Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association negotiations.  

INFORMATION: 

Based on Government Code 3547, Section A, the Pacific Grove Unified School District administration 
presents (“sunshines”) the following bargaining proposals/topics for inclusion in contract negotiations 
with Pacific Grove Teachers Association for the 2023-2024 school year.   

Item 1. Section II. Wages 

Item 2. Section III. Employee Benefits 

Item 3. Section VI. Transfers/Assignments 

Item 4. Section IX. Evaluation 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Any adjustment to wages and/or benefits will impact the general fund. Until a settlement is reached, the 
extent of the impact remains unknown. 

PUBLIC HEARING II

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 317



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 
 
At the Board of Education meeting to be held at 6:30 p.m. on Thursday, September 21, 2023 
(In Person and Virtual- see www.pgusd.org for the virtual link), a public hearing is scheduled 
in compliance with the requirements of Government Code Section 3457 to provide an 
opportunity for the community to comment on the following: 
 
Initial Proposal for Negotiations Submitted by the Pacific Grove 

Unified School District and the Pacific Grove Teachers 
Association Affiliate of the California Teachers Association for 

the 2023-24 School Year. 
 
The Pacific Grove Teachers Association, California Teachers Association, has submitted an 
initial proposal for the collective bargaining agreement between the Board of Education of 
Pacific Grove Unified School District and their association. Government Code Section 3457 
provides the basis and procedures for the recognition of the Pacific Grove Teachers 
Association, California Teachers Association’s Initial Proposal for Negotiations with the 
Pacific Grove Unified School District for the 2023-24 school year. New subjects of meeting 
and negotiating arising after approval of this initial proposal shall be made public within 24 
hours.  
 
The Pacific Grove Unified School District is proposing to negotiate the following sections of 
the Certificated Bargaining Unit Agreement: 
 

Item 1: Section II. Wages 
 
Item 2: Section III. Employee Benefits 
 
Item 3: Section VI. Transfers/Assignments 
 
Item 4: Section IX. Evaluation 

 
Posted: Monday, September 11, 2023 at the PGUSD District Office and school sites 

 

PACIFIC GROVE UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
435 Hillcrest Avenue     Pacific Grove, CA  93950 

Joshua Jorn 
Interim Superintendent 
(831) 646-6509 
josh.jorn@pgusd.org 

www.pgusd.org 

PUBLIC HEARING II

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 318

http://www.pgusd.org/


2/18/21 

 

 
 

PGUSD Sunshine List for negotiation with the Pacific Grove Teachers 
Association 
2023-2024 

 
Item 1. Section II. Wages 
 
Item 2. Section III. Employee Benefits 
 
Item 3. Section VI. Transfers/Assignments 
 
Item 4. Section IX. Evaluation 

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING II

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 319



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☒Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☒Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Approval of Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association 
Negotiations Sunshine Topics – 2023-2024 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Buck Roggeman, Pacific Grove Unified School District Lead Negotiator 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District recommends that the Board approve the sunshine topics for 2023-2024 Pacific Grove Unified 
School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association negotiations.  

INFORMATION: 

Based on Government Code 3547, Section A, the Pacific Grove Unified School District administration 
presents (“sunshines”) the following bargaining proposals/topics for inclusion in contract negotiations 
with Pacific Grove Teachers Association for the 2023-2024 school year.   

Item 1. Section II. Wages 

Item 2. Section III. Employee Benefits 

Item 3. Section VI. Transfers/Assignments 

Item 4. Section IX. Evaluation 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Any adjustment to wages and/or benefits will impact the general fund. Until a settlement is reached, the 
extent of the impact remains unknown. 

ACTION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 320



2/18/21 

 

 
 

PGUSD Sunshine List for negotiation with the Pacific Grove Teachers 
Association 
2023-2024 

 
Item 1. Section II. Wages 
 
Item 2. Section III. Employee Benefits 
 
Item 3. Section VI. Transfers/Assignments 
 
Item 4. Section IX. Evaluation 

 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 321



☐Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☒Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 
SUBJECT: Resolution #1114 for the Gann Limits for 2023-24 

DATE: September 21, 2022 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE:   Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends that the Board review and approve Resolution #1114 for the 
Gann Limit calculations for 2023-24. 

BACKGROUND: 

In 1979, the voters in California adopted Proposition 4, which added an amendment to the State 
Constitution regarding maximum appropriation limitations for public agencies. Each year, school districts 
in California are required to compute a final Gann Limit for the preceding fiscal year and to adopt an 
estimated appropriations limit for the current year. Although districts are required to compute their Gann 
Limits, legislation regarding Proposition 4 exempted school districts from the requirements of the limit, 
by allowing any increase in a school district’s Gann Limit to be offset by a reduction in the State of 
California’s Gann Limit. 

INFORMATION: 

This resolution summarizes the District’s newly computed Gann Limit for 2022-23, and the estimated 
appropriation for 2023-24. 

The calculation is an adjustment of the prior year limit with inflation and Average Daily Attendance 
(ADA) factors applied.  

In 2022-23, Pacific Grove USD experienced a decline in ADA by 39.66 therefore, the District is required 
to have an adjustment to the limit per Government Code Section 7902.1 

● 2022-23 Gann Limit was allowed to use 1,558.48 ADA
● 2022-23 Gann Limit’s ADA was 1,558.48 which equates to a ratio of 1,518.82/1,558.48 = 0.974,

resulting in $779,356.14 over the Gann Limit. The normal ratio is 1.0 which means no declining
in ADA

The District has sent a letter to the California State Department of Finance (DOF) requesting an increase 
of the 2022-23 Appropriation Limit pursuant to Government Code Section 7902.1. The template letter 
was provided by the Monterey County Office of Education (MCOE). 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

No fiscal impact. 

ACTION/DISCUSSION C

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 322



Pacific Grove Unified School District 
Board of Education 

Resolution Number 1114 
 

RESOLUTION #1114 FOR ADOPTING THE “GANN” LIMIT 
(With Increase to Limit pursuant to G.C. 7902.1 

 
 
WHEREAS, in November of 1979, the California electorate did adopt Proposition 4, commonly 

called the Gann Amendment, which added Article XIII-B to the California Constitution; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, the provisions of that Article establish maximum appropriation limitations, 

commonly called “Gann Limits,” for public agencies, including school districts; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the District must establish a revised Gann limit for the 2022-23 fiscal year and a 

projected Gann Limit for the 2023-24 fiscal year in accordance with the provisions of 
Article XIII-B and applicable statutory law; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Government Code Section 7902.1 provides that school districts may increase their 

Gann Limits under specified circumstances; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that this Board does provide public notice that the 

attached calculations and documentation of the Gann limits for the 2022-23 and 2023-24 
fiscal years are made in accord with applicable constitutional and statutory law; 

 
AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this board does provide public notice that the 

attached calculations and documentation of the Gann Limits for the 2022-23 and 2023-24 
fiscal years include an increase of $ 779,356.14 to the 2022-23 Gann Limit pursuant to 
the provisions of Government Code Section 7902.1; 

 
AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Superintendent notifies the Director of the State 

Department of Finance of the increase to the 2022-23 Gann Limit; 
 
AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Board does hereby declare that the 

appropriations in the Budget for the 2022-23 and 2023-24 fiscal years do not exceed the 
limitations imposed by Proposition 4; 

 
AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Superintendent provides copies of this resolution 

along with the appropriate attachments to interested citizens of this district. 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION C

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 323



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Governing Board of the Pacific Grove Unified School District on this 
this 21st day of September 2023, by the following vote:  

  

AYES:           NOES:                ABSENT:   

  
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                   
Carolyn Swanson, President                                                   Jennifer McNary, Clerk 
   
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                   
Elliott Hazen, Board Member                                              Laura Ottmar, Board Member 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________                                                                                                
Brian Swanson, Board Member                                              Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION C

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 324



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☒Credibility and Communication
☐Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☒Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Resolution #1115 Recognizing National Hispanic Heritage Month 

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON RESPONSIBLE:  Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Administration recommends the Board adopt Resolution #1115 recognizing September 15, 2023 
through October 15, 2023 as National Hispanic Heritage Month. 

INFORMATION AND BACKGROUND: 

Pacific Grove Unified School District recognizes September 15 through October 23 as National Hispanic 
Heritage Month, and appreciates the community’s history, heritage, and contributions of the ancestors of 
American citizens who came from Mexico, Spain, the Caribbean, and South- and Central America.  

Pacific Grove Unified School District prioritizes valuing and embracing all educational partner voices, 
and at PGUSD there is no more important collaboration that that of students, families, and staff to build a 
stronger education community through the acknowledgement, recognition, and celebration of the 
significant contributions of Hispanics.  

Pacific Grove Unified School District  honors National Hispanic Heritage Month and recognizes that 
Hispanic Americans have been integral to the prosperity of the U.S. Their contributions to the nation are 
immeasurable, and they embody the best of American values. The Hispanic-American community has left 
an indelible mark on the U.S. culture and economy. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None 

ACTION/DISCUSSION D

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 325



  

Pacific Grove Unified School District 
Board of Education 

Resolution Number 1115 
 

Recognizing September 15, 2023 through October 15, 
2023 as National Hispanic Heritage Month 

 
WHEREAS, the Pacific Grove Unified School District recognizes from September 15 to October 15 as 
National Hispanic Heritage Month, and appreciates the community’s history, heritage, and contributions 
of the ancestors of American citizens who came from Mexico, Spain, the Caribbean, and South- and 
Central America; and 
 
WHEREAS, Pacific Grove Unified School District prioritizes valuing and embracing all educational 
partner voices, and at PGUSD there is no more important collaboration that that of students, families, and 
staff to build a stronger education community through the acknowledgement, recognition, and celebration 
of the significant contributions of Hispanics; and 
 
WHEREAS, according to 2020 Census data, there are 62.1 million Hispanics living in the United States. 
This group represents 18.9 percent of the total U.S. population, the nation's second largest racial or ethnic 
group after non-Hispanic whites. In 2020, among Hispanic subgroups, Mexicans ranked as the largest at 
61.6 percent; and 
 
WHEREAS, the word Hispanic is typically used to describe people with a heritage rooted in Spanish-
speaking Latin America. The word Latino typically refers to people of Latin American (Mexico, South 
and Central America, the Caribbean) origin or descent; and 
 
WHEREAS, Hispanic Heritage Month was first introduced by Congressman George E. Brown in 1968. 
With the civil rights movement, the need to recognize the contributions of the Latin community gained 
traction in the 1960s, and awareness of the multicultural groups living in the United States was 
simultaneously growing; and 
 
WHEREAS, Congressman Brown’s aim was to recognize the integral roles of the Hispanic communities 
in American history. Observation of Hispanic Heritage Week started in 1968 under President Lyndon B. 
Johnson and later extended to a 30-day celebration by President Ronald Reagan, starting on September 15 
and ending on October 15. It was enacted into law on August 17, 1988; and  
 
WHEREAS, September 15 is set as the starting date for the month as it is important for many reasons. It 
is the independence anniversary for Latin American countries El Salvador, Guatemala, Costa Rica, 
Nicaragua, and Honduras. From here onwards, the independence days of Mexico and Chile fall on 
September 16 and September 18, respectively. Dia de la Raza or Columbus Day also falls within this 
month, on October 12; and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Education of the Pacific Grove Unified 
School District hereby honors National Hispanic Heritage Month and recognizes that Hispanic Americans 
have been integral to the prosperity of the U.S. Their contributions to the nation are immeasurable, and 
they embody the best of American values. The Hispanic-American community has left an indelible mark 
on the U.S. culture and economy. 

ACTION/DISCUSSION D

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 326



  

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Governing Board of the Pacific Grove Unified School District on this 
this 21st day of September 2023, by the following vote:  
 

AYES:   NOES: ABSENT:  

 
    
Carolyn Swanson, President  Jennifer McNary, Clerk 
 
 
    
Elliott Hazen, Board Member  Laura Ottmar, Board Member 
   
 
_____________________________   
Brian Swanson, Board Member  Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION D

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 327



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☒Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☒Action/Discussion
☐Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Board Calendar/Future Meetings  

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE:  Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Administration recommends that the Board review and possibly modify the schedule of meeting 
dates on the attached calendar and determine, given information from the Administration, whether 
additional Board dates or modifications need to be established.  

BACKGROUND: 

The Board has approved Bylaw 9320, which states that regular Board meetings be held on the first and 
third Thursday of each month, from August through June. At the annual organizational meeting held in 
December, Trustees approve the meeting calendar as presented. The calendar is reviewed at each Board 
meeting.  

INFORMATION: 

Changes to the Board meeting dates must be approved by a majority vote of the Trustees. 

ACTION/DISCUSSION E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 328



  

Board Meeting Calendar August-December 2023 
Closed session times vary. Open session begins at 6:30 p.m. 

 
Thursday, August 3 Regular Board Meeting  

 Quarterly Facilities Project Updates* 
 Review of Legal Services Costs 

Thursday, August 17 Regular Board Meeting   
 Student Enrollment Update 
 Property Tax Report 

Thursday, September 7 Regular Board Meeting   
 Quarterly District Safety Update* (Superintendent Report) 
 CSBA Policy Update 
 Cultural Proficiency/Equity Presentation 

Thursday, September 14 
Closed session 5:30 p.m. 

Special Board Meeting  
 Unaudited Actuals 
 Board Goals Discussion 

Thursday, September 21 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting  
 Williams Uniform Complaint Report 
 Resolution for the GANN Limit for 2023-2024 

Monday, October 2 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
No open session 

Special Board Meeting- Closed Session  
 Candidate selection- Superintendent 

Thursday, October 5 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting  
   Superintendent Goals                                                                    
 Week of the School Administrator 
 CAASPP/ELPAC Review of Data 
 Board Goals check-in 

Tuesday, October 10 
Closed session: 9am-5pm 
No open session 

Special Board Meeting- Closed Session  
 Candidate interviews- Superintendent  

Thursday, October 26 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
   Quarterly District Safety Update* (Superintendent Report)     
 Budget Revision #1 on 2023-24 working budget 

(preliminary First Interim)    
 CSBA Policy Update                                       

Thursday, November 2 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting   
 Board Goals Study Session  

Thursday, November 16 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 

Regular Board Meeting   
 Intent Form Due (to serve as Board President/Clerk)   
 Review of Special Education Contracts                                           
 Quarterly Facilities Project Updates* 
 PGHS Course Bulletin Information/Discussion 

Thursday, December 7 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 
 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
 District Goals Update      

 
 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 329



  

Thursday, December 14 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 
 

Organizational Meeting  
 Election of 2023-24 Board President and Clerk 
 First Interim Report 
 PGHS Course Bulletin Action/Discussion 
 Williams Uniform Complaint Report 
 LCAP Update 
 Employee Recognition 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 330



  

TENTATIVE Board Meeting Calendar January-June 2024 
Closed session times vary. Open session begins at 6:30 p.m. 

 
Thursday, January 11 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting   
 Superintendent Goals- midyear check-in 
 Preliminary Enrollment Projection for 2024-25 
 Property Tax Update 

Thursday, January 25 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting   
 CSBA Policy Update 
 School Accountability Report Cards       
 School Resource Officer Contract    
 Resolution recognizing February as Black History Month    
 Approve Aug.- Dec. 2024-25 Board Meeting Calendar                                                                             

Thursday, February 8 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
 Report on Governor’s Budget Proposal                                             
 Budget Development Calendar 
 Possible Personnel Action Presented as Information (RIF) 
 Preliminary Review of Site Master Schedules 
 2023-24 Audit Report 
 Quarterly Facilities Project Updates* 
 Resolution recognizing March as Women’s History Month 

Thursday, March 7 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
 Second Interim 
 TRAN Resolution  
 Williams/Valenzuela Uniform Complaint Report 
 Board considers legislative action at local and state levels 

Thursday, March 21 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting   
 Board Goals Study Session  

Thursday, April 4 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting   
 Review of Strategic Plan and LCAP (as needed) 
 Quarterly District Safety Update (Superintendent Report) 
 District Goals Update 

Thursday, April 18 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting   
 Review of Strategic Plan and LCAP (as needed) 
 Begin Superintendent Evaluation 
 CSBA Policy Update  
 Resolution recognizing May as Asian American Pacific 

Islander Heritage Month 
Thursday, May 9 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting   
 Continue Superintendent Evaluation 
 Board Goals for 2024-25 
 Review of Site Master Schedules 
 California Day of the Teacher 
 Week of the CSEA Employee 

 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 331



  

Thursday, May 23 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
 Complete Superintendent’s Evaluation 
 2024-25 Board Goals 
 Review Governor’s Revised Budget 
 Suspensions/Expulsions Annual Report 
 Retiree Recognition 
 2024-25 Budget Public Hearing 
 LCAP Public Hearing  
 Resolution recognizing June as LGBTQ+ Month 

Thursday, June 6 
Closed session: 5:30 p.m. 
Open session: 6:30 p.m. 
 

Regular Board Meeting  
 Williams/Valenzuela Uniform Complaint Report 
 2024-25 Budget Public Adoption 
 LCAP and Local Indicators Adoption 
 Approval of Contracts and Purchase Orders for 2024-25 
 Resolution recognizing Juneteenth 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION/DISCUSSION E

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 332



☐Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability, and Integrity

☐Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☒Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT:  Elementary Campus Shade Structures  

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Jon Anderson, Director of Maintenance, Operations, and Transportation 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends that the Board review and discuss the proposed options for 
Shade Structures at Forest Grove Elementary and Robert H. Down Elementary Schools. 

BACKGROUND: 

In April of 2023 PGUSD entered into an agreement with Derivi, Castellanos Architects (DCA) for the 
purpose of researching available shade structures and to propose the best shade structure combinations for 
each site.  

INFORMATION: 

A short power point presentation will be made to demonstrate the options proposed by DCA.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The costs associated with the procurement and installation of the shade structure vary by design. Based on 
the outcome of the discussion a future action item will be brought to the board for consideration. 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 333



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 334



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 335



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 336



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 337



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 338



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 339



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 340



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 341



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 342



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 343



  
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 344



  

 

 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 345



  

 

 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 346



  

 
 
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION A

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 347



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☐Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☐Credibility and Communication
☐Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☒Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Summer School Review 2023 

DATE:  September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE: Buck Roggeman, Director Curriculum and Special Projects 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The District Administration recommends the Board review the attached information about Summer 
School 2023. 

BACKGROUND: 

Pacific Grove Unified School District has historically offered a summer school program for students. The 
program serves three groups of students: 1) Secondary students who enroll in credit recovery courses to 
make up for non-passing grades, 2) elementary general education students who benefit from continued 
instruction during the summer, and 3) special education students throughout the district who participate in 
the PGUSD’s extended school year program. In 2021, the elementary summer school classes became an 
extension of the reading intervention program in place at both elementary schools to help mitigate 
learning gaps resulting from the pandemic. 

INFORMATION: 

In 2023, PGUSD’s summer school program continued the model established in 2021 with three distinct 
programs in operation. The elementary general education program focused on reading intervention; the 
secondary credit recovery program allowed students to make up classes they did not pass during the 
school year, and PGUSD offered its extended school year (ESY) to special education students who have 
ESY as part of their individualized education program. 

Elementary Summary – This year’s elementary program served 36 students in grades K (13), 1 (19), and 
2 (4). At the beginning of the program five students demonstrated grade level reading fluency. That 
number improved to 31 students at the end of the program. 
Secondary Credit Recovery Summary - The secondary credit recovery program included students from 
Pacific Grove Middle School and Pacific Grove High School. All 13 Middle School completed at least 
one course. At the high school level 46 out of 47 students completed at least one class. 
Special Education Extended School Year Summary – PGUSD provides an extended school year for 
students with mild to moderate and moderate to severe disabilities. This year’s program served 38 
students in preschool through the transition program. 

Our Summer School success is attributable to our certificated and classified staff whose dedication and 
service to our students produced these outstanding results. General Education Summer School Principal 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 348



  

Linda Williams and ESY Principal Clare Davies provided outstanding leadership and organization for the 
program. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
General Education - $39,336.20 from the general fund; $93,008.42 from ESSER funds. 
Special Education - $89,516.03 from special education summer school fund. 
 
 
 

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 349



PGUSD 2023 Gen Ed. SUMMER SCHOOL
Linda Williams, Summer School Principal

Summative Report

Dates: June 2-30, 2023
Grades & Number of Students Served:
K, 1, 2- Reading Intervention- 36 students
Middle School Credit Recovery- 13 students
High School Credit Recovery- 47 students

Class Sample:
11 of 13 students achieved grade level work fluency.

● One student was absent during the last week of Summer School–unable to test.
● Students C & D were within 3 points of grade level fluency. Student D had a 0 on pretest– reason for no blue graph.)

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 350



Summer Reading Program- All elementary students participated
in the PG Library summer reading
program.

454 Books were read by Summer
School Students in the month of
June– an average of 12.6 books per
student. Miss Mary, PG Librarian,
came to Forest Grove to read with
students and check on their summer
reading logs.

Three high school volunteers and one adult
volunteer from DLI assisted daily in the K, 1, 2
classrooms.

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 351



14 students were invited. 1 student moved the first week of the Summer School
program; 13 students attended.

13 of 13 students enrolled completed a single semester course and received
credit. 5 students completed an additional class to complete a total of two
semesters courses during summer school.

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 352



Pacific Grove High School

Summer
School
Year

Total
Enrolled

Single
Course

Completion

% Single
Course

Completion

Two course
completion

2021 49 21 42.9% 2

2022 55 44 80% 17

2023 47
(51 invited)

46* 98%

*Due to health reasons, one student was not able to complete the course during
summer school and was given an extension

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION B

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 353



☒Student Learning and Achievement
☒Health and Safety of Students and Schools
☒Credibility and Communication
☒Fiscal Solvency, Accountability and Integrity

☐Consent
☐Action/Discussion
☒Information/Discussion
☐Public Hearing

______________________________________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Future Agenda Items 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE:  Joshua Jorn, Interim Superintendent 

RECOMMENDATION: 
The Administration recommends that the Board review the list of future agenda items and direct 
Administration to add items to the list and/or schedule items for a particular agenda. 

BACKGROUND:  
Board Bylaw 9322 states in part that “Any member of the public or any Board member may request that a 
matter within the jurisdiction of the Board be placed on the agenda of a regular meeting.  The request 
[from a member of the public] must be …. submitted to the Superintendent or designee with supporting 
documents and information …” 

INFORMATION: 
Board members have the opportunity at the end of Open Session in a Regular Board meeting to request 
that items be added to the list for a future meeting.  Depending upon the timeliness of the item, it may 
also be assigned a particular meeting date. 

The following is a list of future agenda items as of the September 21, 2023 Regular Board Meeting: 

• Added April 26, 2023: Sub Committee with the City of Pacific Grove (December 14, 2023)
• Added April 26, 2023: Board Site Visits/Measure D Walk Abouts (Fall 2023)
• Added May 4, 2023: Equine Healing Collaborative (October 2023)
• Added June 1, 2023: Review of the business contracts fingerprinting section (January 2024)
• Added August 3, 2023: Human Resources Organizational Review Plan (December 2023)
• Added September 7, 2023: Board Cultural Proficiency Training

INFORMATION/DISCUSSION C

PGUSD Regular Meeting of September 21, 2023 354


	AGENDA AND ORDER OF BUSINESS
	CONSENT
	Minutes of September 7, 2023 Board Meeting
	Personnel Report
	Cash Receipts #4
	Revolving Cash Report #2
	Out of County or Overnight Activities
	Acceptance of Donations
	Warrant Schedule 659
	Board Policy Updates
	Policy Updates DOC.pdf
	0420.4 P Charter School Authorization
	0420.4 R Charter School Authorization V2
	3555 P Nutrition Program Compliance
	3555-E(1) Nutrition Program Compliance
	4030 P Nondiscrimination In Employment
	4218 P Dismissal_Suspension_Disciplinary Action
	4218 R Dismissal_Suspension_Disciplinary Action
	5113 R Absences And Excuses
	5131.41 R Use Of Seclusion And Restraint
	5144 R Discipline
	5144.1 R Suspension And Expulsion_Due Process
	5144.2 R Suspension And Expulsion_Due Process (Students With Disabilities)
	6115 R Ceremonies And Observances
	6146.1 P High School Graduation Requirements
	6173 P Education For Homeless Children
	6173 R Education For Homeless Children
	6173.1 P Education For Foster Youth
	6173.1 R Education For Foster Youth
	6177 P Summer Learning Programs
	6184 R Continuation Education
	9270 B Conflict Of Interest
	9320 B Meetings And Notices V2
	3350 R Travel Expenses 
	3541.1 E Transportation for School-Related Trips


	Surplus of Facilities Trailer
	Contract with Positive Behavior Supports Corp. for 2023-24

	PUBLIC HEARING I
	Public Hearing of Pacific Grove Teachers Association Sunshine List for 2023-24

	ACTION/DISCUSSION A
	Approval of the Pacific Grove Teachers Association Sunshine List for 2023-24

	PUBLIC HEARING II
	Public Hearing of Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association Negotiations Sunshine Topics – 2023-2024

	ACTION/DISCUSSION B
	Approval of Pacific Grove Unified School District/Pacific Grove Teachers Association Negotiations Sunshine Topics – 2023-2024

	ACTION/DISCUSSION C-F
	Resolution #1114 for the Gann Limit for 2023-2024
	Resolution #1115 Recognizing National Hispanic Heritage Month
	Board Calendar/Future Meetings

	INFORMATION/DISCUSSION
	Elementary Campus Shade Structures
	Summer School Review 2023
	Future Agenda Items




